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Disclaimer

This document contains forward-looking statements relating to future events and the operating, economic and financial results of Campari
Group. These statements contain an element of risk and uncertainty since, by their very nature, they depend on future events and
developments. Actual results may vary significantly from those forecast for a number of reasons, most of which are beyond the Group's control.
The official text is the Italian version of the document. Any discrepancies or differences arisen in the translation are not binding and have no
legal effect. In case of any dispute on the content of the document, the Italian original shall always prevail.
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Highlights

31 December 2019 31 December 2018 change
total organic
€ million € million % %
Net sales 1,842.5 1,711.7 7.6% 5.9%
Contribution margin 801.3 738.9 8.5% 6.7%
EBITDA 458.1 4345 5.4%
EBITDA adjusted 479.8 432.6 10.9% 9.6%
EBIT 386.3 380.7 1.5%
EBIT adjusted 408.0 378.8 7.7% 6.7%
Group net profit 308.4 296.3 4.1%
Adjusted Group net profit 267.4 249.3 7.3%
ROS % (EBIT/net sales) 21.0% 22.2%
ROS (EBIT adjusted/net sales) 22.1% 22.1%
ROI % (Operating income / fixed assets) 12.6% 12.8%
ROI % (Operating income adjusted/ fixed assets) 13.3% 12.8%
Basic earning per share (€) 0.27 0.26
Diluted earning per share (€) 0.26 0.25
Basic earning per share adjusted (€) 0.23 0.22
Diluted earning per share adjusted (€) 0.23 0.21
Average number of employees 3,701 3,625
(Acquisition) sale of companies or business division 110.8 22.2
Free cash flow 258.5 235.6
Adjusted free cash flow 267.3 267.7
Net financial debt 777.4 846.3
Shareholders' equity - Group and non-controlling interests 2,391.6 2,162.8
Invested capital 3,169.0 3,009.1

Information on the figures presented

For ease of reference, all the figures in this annual report are expressed in million of Euro to one decimal place, whereas the original data is
recorded and consolidated by the Group in Euro. Similarly, all percentages relating to changes between two periods or to percentages of net
sales or other indicators are always calculated using the original data in Euro. The use of values expressed in millions of Euro may therefore
resultin apparent discrepancies in both absolute values and data expressed as a percentage. For information on the definition of the alternative
performance measures, see paragraph ‘Alternative performance indicators’ in the next part of this annual report.
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of the Board of Directors for the same three-year period.
The Board of Directors, which met after the Shareholders’ meeting, confirmed Robert Kunze-Concewitz as Chief Executive Officer and Paolo Marchesini as
Chief Financial Officer for the three-year period 2019-2021. It appointed Eugenio Barcellona, Annalisa Elia Loustau and Catherine Gérardin Vautrin as members
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Report on operations for the year ending 31 December 2019

Significant events during the period

Main brand-building activities

The brand portfolio represents a strategic asset for Campari Group. One of the main pillars of its mission is to
build and develop brands. The Group has an ongoing commitment to investing in marketing aimed at
strengthening the recognition and reputation of iconic and distinctive brands in the key markets, as well as
launching and developing them in new high-potential geographical regions. The Group is developing its strategies
with an increasing focus on the on-premise distribution channel, which is considered to be the key to brand-
building activities, and on new communications tools, especially digital media channels, which are strategic for
their interactive, customisable and measurable properties.

The main marketing initiatives carried out in 2019, which focused on global and regional priority brands, are set
out below.

Global priority brands

Aperol
In March 2019, the new global campaign Together We Joy, was launched, introducing the brand as a universal

language that can connect people through the emotion of joy. Directed by the French duo Gregé&Lio, the campaign
takes its inspiration from their musical experience, introducing a new way of communicating with colour and pop,
to portray a joyful mood and the idea of connections between people.

From May 2019, a number of events were arranged to celebrate the centenary of Aperol, which was created
in Padua, Italy, in 1919. At the end of June 2019, a unique event, Aperol Happy Together Live, was held in St.
Mark’s square in Venice, Italy, involving numerous artists with different styles but united by the same passion for
music. The event recorded a total attendance of over 6,000 people and was subsequently broadcast on the Sky
TV channel. In Germany, Cologne was the scene of the Aperol City Takeover in July 2019, a 360° activation
with events and entertainment involving the whole city. Further celebrations were held during the summer in trendy
venues in Madrid and Barcelona, as well as in London and Manchester.

Other Aperol initiatives included the sponsorship of major music festivals in the United States, such as Camp Flog
Gnaw in Los Angeles and Riptide in Miami.

Campari
With the aim of cementing the indissoluble link with cinema culture, Campari, as main sponsor, was the star of

the show at the 76th Venice International Film Festival. During the ten days of the festival, Campari was a
reference point for celebrities, influencers, directors and new talents, with its many activations, including the
Campari Lounge, the red carpet, the floating Venetika cinema and the secret closing party of the festival, Entering
Red. Moreover, in September 2019, Campari was the exclusive spirits partner of the 57th New York Film
Festival, hosted by the Lincoln Center Film Society, where it presented its Campari Red Diaries platform.

June 2019 saw the launch of the seventh edition of Negroni Week, a global initiative held in bars, restaurants
and shops around the world to raise funds for charitable causes. In 2019, the event gained over 12,000 venues,
2,000 more than the previous year, in over 60 international markets. To celebrate the cocktail's centenary, the
launch of Negroni Week took place in Florence, where Negroni was created by the Count of the same name.
For 2019, Entering Red, a short movie in the Campari Red Diaries campaign, directed by Matteo Garrone, was
unveiled in Milan featuring film star Ana De Armas.

wild Turkey
In October 2019, Wild Turkey's creative director, Matthew McConaughey, and Complex Media announced the

launch of the first series of advertainments dedicated to the brand of the same name, entitled Talk Turkey. These
are conversations between Matthew McConaughey and influencers on issues of particular social interest, aimed
at emphasizing the authenticity of the stories and experiences told.

The limited edition Master Keep Cornerstone Rye was launched in August 2019. It is the fourth release in the
multiple award-winning Master Keep series, skilfully created by master blender Eddie Russell with liquid from
among the oldest barrels of rye whiskey in the Wild Turkey distillery.
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SKYY

In June 2019, SKYY Vodka was the official vodka partner of the WorldPride festivals in New York City and Los
Angeles, showing its ongoing commitment to supporting diversity. In addition, to commemorate the 50th
anniversary of the Stonewall movements, SKYY partnered with a group of Vogue artists to pay homage to the
people and history that shaped the LGBT+ culture.

The new SKYY Vodka label was launched in its core US market and in other markets, including Germany, Brazil
and South Africa, in 2019. Bearing the slogan Born in San Francisco, it is designed to strengthen the link with
the history and heritage of the brand, which was born in San Francisco, a city with a welcoming spirit and home
to progressive thinking.

Grand Marnier

In January 2019, the new premium variant Grand Marnier Cuvée Louis Alexandre was launched in the United
States. Created by Patrick Raguenaud, Grand Marnier master blender, the hallmark of the cuvée is the new VSOP
liquid, the result of a careful selection of cognacs, enriched with the highly aromatic essence of bitter oranges,
and launched in a new premium packaging.

Jamaican rums

In December 2019, the first limited edition 23 Year Old Journey Rum in the Appleton Estate’s Journey series
was launched.

In October 2019, the new Brand Visual Identity of Appleton Estate, designed to strengthen the brand’s premium
aspects and evoking the iconic symbols of Jamaica, was launched globally.

In September 2019, the Everyday People series of events were launched in Miami and New York, featuring funky
music, food tasting and cocktails, with the aim of introducing Appleton Estate in locations of cultural relevance
to the target audience. In June 2019, CNN also celebrated the Appleton Estate brand in the ‘100 Club’ programme,
which is dedicated exclusively to brands that have remained innovative for over 100 years.

Regional priority brands

Initiatives involving the regional priority brands included the launch in Spain, Belgium and Germany of the new
integrated global campaign for Bulldog, ‘Shine in Your Own Light’, and the relaunch in South Africa and Belgium
of the super premium brand Bisquit&Dubouché, which combines tradition in the brand name with the rebellious
nature of the new and innovative packaging.

Regarding Averna, temporary pop-up stores were opened in Italy’s main railway stations over the Christmas
period aimed at strengthening the brand’s links with Sicily, its territory of origin. The brand’s partnership with
Sicilian master chocolatier Andrea Bonajuto, representing Sicilian excellence in the chocolate industry, was further
developed with tastings of Averna paired with Bonajuto chocolate.

GlenGrant Single Malt 15-Year-Old Batch Strength was honoured with the Spirit of Speyside Whisky Award in
the 13 to 20 year-old category. GlenGrant 18-Year-Old, the rarest of the GlenGrant single malts range, was again
named Scotch Whisky of the Year, Single Malt of the Year and Best Single Malt Scotch Aged 16-21 Years by
writer and whisky critic Jim Murray, bringing home first prize in the category for the fourth year in a row.

Forty Creek 22-Year-Old Rye was named Best Whisky in Canada in 2019, at the ninth Canadian Whisky Awards.
In April 2019, the new Cinzano vermouth super premium 1757, available in ‘rosso’ and ‘extra dry’, was launched
as a tribute to the birth of the brand in 1757. Lastly, in February 2019, Cinzano vermouth classico was relaunched
with a brand restyling that reinterprets the iconic Cinzano blue and red. A temporary exhibition was held at the
Museo del Risorgimento (the Renaissance Museum), Turin, with some key pieces from the Cinzano historic
archives, to celebrate the elements and colours of the new Cinzano logo.

Brand houses
In November 2019, an exclusive event was held to mark the re-opening of the iconic Camparino bar, the
birthplace of the Milanese aperitif, which had been renovated to preserve and emphasize its historical heritage

and art nouveau style. The bar serves a menu with drinks and gastronomic specialties encompassing traditional
creations and more contemporary, original ones, with a particular emphasis on gastronomic quality.
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Acquisitions and commercial agreements

Acquisition of Trois Rivieres and La Mauny French rums

On 1 October 2019, Campari Group completed the acquisition of French company Rhumantilles S.A.S.
(‘Rhumantilles’), owner of 96.5% of Bellonnie&Bourdillon Successeurs S.A.S., headquartered in Martinique.
Reported net sales of Rhumantilles were €24.1 million in 2018.

The enterprise value of the deal was €60.5 million, corresponding to a multiple of around 9.5 times the contribution
margin (contribution after advertising and promotion, or CAAP), restated in accordance with IFRS accounting
standards. The CAAP of the acquired company was €6.5 million in 2018. The scope of the transaction included
the Trois Rivieres and La Mauny brands (strategic brands with premium positioning) and Duquesne (a brand
destined for the local market in Martinique), as well as holdings in land, distilleries and visitor centres, and a
warehouse for maturing high-quality liquids. As a result of this acquisition, Campari Group has added prestigious
agricole rhum brands to its portfolio, strengthening its position in the rums category, where demand for premium
products is continuing to rise, and which is currently benefiting from the growing trend in mixology and the
increasing popularity of the cocktail culture.

Trois Rivieres and La Mauny give Campari Group significant critical mass in France, key country set to become
one of the Group’s strategic markets.

Controlling interest in the Ancho Reyes and Montelobos brands

On 20 November 2019, Campari Group completed the acquisition, from a group of Mexican entrepreneurs, of
controlling interests in the share capital of (i) Licorera Ancho Reyes y Cia S.A.P.l. de C.V. (‘Ancho Reyes’) and
(ii) Casa Montelobos S.A.P.l. de C.V. (‘Montelobos’).

The total overall consideration for 51% interest in the two companies is USD35.7 million, and is subject to the
customary price adjustment mechanisms. Under the agreement, the remaining capital of both companies are
subject to the customary call and put options, estimated at USD26.4 million on the closing date, which may be
exercised from 2024.

The two companies are the owners of the super premium brands Ancho Reyes, a spicy liqueur, and Montelobos,
an artisanal mezcal, respectively. In 2018, net sales of the two brands totalled around USD7 million. The United
States is the main market for both brands, with about two-thirds of sales. The remaining portion of sales occurs
in Mexico, the UK and other international markets.

The aim of the acquisition is to expand the Group’s offer of super premium brands, with strong exposure on the
strategic on-premise channel and a specific focus on the key US market. Ancho Reyes is a liqueur with a unique
and versatile spicy taste and strong international potential. It is ideally positioned to benefit from the trend in
mixology. Montelobos, a handcrafted product experiencing strong growth, will enable Campari Group to enter the
premium mezcal segment.

Agreement to acquire Baron Philippe de Rothschild France Distribution S.A.S.

On 20 December 2019, Campari Group signed an agreement to acquire 100% of French distributor Baron Philippe
de Rothschild France Distribution S.A.S. (RFD), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Baron Philippe de Rothschild S.A.
RFD specialises in the distribution of a diversified portfolio of international premium spirits, wine and champagne
brands in France. It is also the sole distributor for the French market of Campari Group, whose brand portfolio is
the main contributor to RFD’s sales and growth. With regard to the rest of the portfolio, RFD is the sole distributor
for the French market of the seller’s premium and super premium wines, which includes the Mouton Rothschild
and Mouton Cadet brands. The total enterprise value of the deal is €60.0 million, and is subject to the customary
price adjustment mechanisms set out in the contract. In 2018, RFD’s total sales were €145.1 million (based on
local accounting principles). The transaction is due to be completed in the first quarter of 2020, subject to approval
by the competition authorities. The transaction will be financed using available resources.

The integration of RFD’s distribution structure in Campari network and the possibility of operating directly in France
(a high-potential market for the Group) represents a unique opportunity to enhance the focus on its key own
brands, benefitting from the increased critical mass for the aperitifs business and the newly-acquired Trois
Rivieres and La Mauny rhum agricole premium brands.

Disposals

Sale of Villa ‘Les Cédres’

On 30 October 2019, Campari Group finalised the agreement to sell Villa Les Cédres real estate located in Saint-
Jean-Cap-Ferrat, France, at a price of €200 million. The villa had become part of the Campari Group perimeter
on the acquisition of Grand Marnier in 2016. It had been put available for sale immediately after the transaction
had been completed, in accordance with an agreement reached with the sellers of Société des Produits Marnier-
Lapostolle S.A., as specified in the Tender Offer of 13 May 2016. As part of the Tender Offer, Davide Campari-
Milano S.p.A. had agreed to pay all the shareholders of Société des Produits Marnier-Lapostolle S.A., in addition
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to the offer price, a potential price supplement in the event of a positive outcome of the agreement to sell the villa,
subject to certain conditions. The price supplement, calculated in accordance with the terms of the public offer,
was €52.7 million or €619.89 for each security transferred that is eligible for the price supplement. Davide Campari
Milano S.p.A. paid, through CACEIS Corporate Trust, the price supplement to all the beneficiaries taking up the
public purchase offer. CACEIS Corporate Trust paid the supplement to some of the beneficiaries on 4 November
2019 or, alternatively, withheld as a guarantee the uncleared sums, based on the procedures laid down in the
legislation applicable to the French regulated stock market.

Following this sale, the process to sell off non-core activities relating to the acquisition of Grand Marnier was
basically complete.

Reorganisation and restructuring activities

Outsourcing of the financial and administrative activities of countries in the Southern Europe, Middle East
and Africaregion and the Northern, Central and Eastern Europe region

As part of the project to outsource the Group’s accounting and administrative functions, the activities previously
carried out for the countries in the Southern Europe, Middle East and Africa region and the Northern, Central and
Eastern Europe region by the European Shared Services Centre, managed by Campari Services S.r.l. located in
Sesto San Giovanni, were outsourced to an external provider from 1 October 2019. After a detailed evaluation,
based as well from the positive experiences in the American region in 2018, the Group concluded that this change
could result in improved efficiency of its accounting and administrative procedures, including in terms of
automation and technological innovation. A dedicated Global Business Service function was established within
the Parent Company, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A., to manage the external provider for the geographical regions
indicated above, which will include monitoring and organisation activities. Campari Services S.r.I. was therefore
placed in liquidation.

Other significant events

Purchase of own shares

Between 1 January and 31 December 2019, the Group purchased 9,036,356 own shares, at an average price of
€8.33, and sold 10,314,114 treasury shares after the exercise of stock options, for a total outlay of €28.0 million.
At 31 December 2019, the Parent Company held 13,704,200 treasury shares, equivalent to 1.18% of the share
capital.

Financial debt management

On 23 April 2019, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. successfully placed an unrated bond issue with a five-year term,
reserved for Italian and international institutional investors only. Banca IMI S.p.A. (Intesa Sanpaolo Group) acted
as sole lead manager for the issue of the new bond. This transaction enabled the Group to optimise its debt
structure by extending the average maturity of liabilities, thereby benefiting from the low interest rates on the
market. The new bond was issued for a total nominal amount of €150 million, with a fixed annual coupon of
1.655%, an issue price of 100% and a maturity of 30 April 2024. On 30 April 2019, the new bond was admitted to
trading on the unregulated market (Third Market) of the Vienna Stock Exchange; payment for the bond was
completed on the same day.

On 31 July 2019, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. subscribed to a term loan with a nominal amount of €250 million,
maturing on 31 July 2024, at an interest rate of 3-month Euribor plus a 1.25% spread. The loan was accompanied
by a new revolving credit facility of the same amount and maturity, at an interest rate of 3-month Euribor plus a
0.75% spread, as well as drawdown fees. At 31 December 2019, this credit line had not been used.

The proceeds of the above transactions will be used for general corporate purposes, including but not limited to
the refinancing of existing debt. On 31 July 2019, the term loan taken out on 3 August 2016 for a nominal amount
of €300 million and accompanied by a revolving credit facility of €200 million, both with ordinary maturities of
August 2021, was repaid; on 25 October 2019, the Eurobond issued on 25 October 2012 for a nominal amount
of €219.1 million, which had matured, was repaid.
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Economic and financial results of Campari Group

Sales performance

Overall performance

In 2019, the Group’s net sales totalled €1,842.5 million, an overall increase of +7.6%. The organic component
continued to show a positive trend, and contributed +5.9% to growth. The exchange-rate variation, which was
positive at +2.1%, was only partly offset by the negative perimeter effect of -0.4%.

change %

2019 2018 total change 12 months change, of which fourth

quarter

€ million % € million % € million total organic perimeter exch;r:gg organic

Americas 821.5 44.6% 7447  43.5% 76.8 10.3% 5.8% -0.1% 4.5% 4.3%
Sa‘-;’]‘g'ﬁincaE“mpe' Middle East 4987 27.1% 4798  28.0% 189  39%  53% 13%  -0.1% -1.8%
Ess)tece”tra' and Eastern 3038 21.4% 3589 21.0% 349  97%  88% - 1.0% 9.9%
Asia-Pacific 128.5 7.0% 128.3 7.5% 0.2 0.2% 0.8% - -0.7% 0.6%
Total 1,842.5 100.0% 1,711.7 100.0% 130.8 7.6% 5.9% -0.4% 2.1% 3.6%

®lIncludes the effects associated with hyperinflation in Argentina.

Organic change

Organic growth in 2019 was +5.9% and recorded a positive trend in all quarters; this was driven by the favourable
growth of global priority brands, despite the selective destocking carried out by the Group in some markets in the
last few months of the year, ahead of route-to-market changes.

Overall, sales recorded an organic increase in all the Group’s geographical regions, particularly in Europe, where
growth was driven by the high-margin key markets. The Americas region, in turn, showed a positive trend, with a
favourable sales mix, supported by good performances in the United States, one of the Group’s highly profitable
core markets. The emerging markets, especially Latin America and Eastern Europe, saw positive growth, despite
the continuing macroeconomic and political instability, and partly thanks to the favourable comparison base in the
previous year.

Growth in sales of brands was mainly driven by the global priority brands segment, especially aperitifs, in line with
the Group’s growth strategy of continuously strengthening its high-margin brands in the major developed markets.
Performance was positive despite the destocking carried out by the Group, which affected the sales of some high-
margin global priority brands, such as Campari, Wild Turkey and SKYY. The regional priority brands recorded
positive growth, driven by the excellent results of Espolon. Overall, the local priority brands made an efficient
contribution to growth in the period in question.

With regard to the methodology for calculating organic growth, it should be noted that, in tandem with the first
application of accounting standard IAS 29-Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies starting from
publication of the additional financial statements for the quarter ending 30 September 2018, the hyperinflationary
effects relating to the Argentine market were excluded from the consolidated organic growth component, as a
prudent measure. Specifically, the organic change in this market includes just the component attributable to
volumes sold, while the price variation, which includes inflation, is represented in the exchange-rate effect. The
change in methodology had a negative effect on the Group’s organic sales growth, equivalent to 70 basis points,
in 2019.

The main trends by region and by priority brand are shown below.
% Geographical regions

- The Americas region recorded organic growth of +5.8% (+4.3% in the fourth quarter); this performance
was attributable mainly to the United States (+5.3%), the Group’s largest market, and Jamaica (+17.6%).

- The Southern Europe, Middle East and Africa region reported organic growth of +5.3% (-1.8% in the
fourth quarter), led by the performance of Italy, its core market, where sales increased by +5.8%. The other
countries in the region showed a positive performance overall, driven mainly by France and Nigeria, which
more than offset the negative performance in South Africa due to the destocking carried out ahead of some
route-to-market changes.

- The Northern, Central and Eastern Europe region recorded organic growth of +8.8% (+9.9% in the fourth
quarter), with most of the markets making a positive contribution, especially the United Kingdom and
Russia, which reported double-digit growth.

- The Asia-Pacific region recorded growth of +0.8% (+0.6% in the fourth quarter), driven by Australia, the
region’s core market, where sales rose by +2.0%, and by China; this was partly offset by the substantial
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fall in Japan due to the destocking carried out in the last few months of the year ahead of a route-to-market
change.
« Brands

- The Group’s global priority brands recorded total organic growth of +7.3% (+4.7% in the fourth quarter),
continuing to outperform the Group's average organic growth. This was despite the destocking activity that
impacted the sales of some brands, such as Campari, Wild Turkey and SKYY. Performance was supported
by Aperol, which continued to report double-digit growth (+20.5%), as well as the good performance by
Jamaican rums (+7.5%). Campari and the Wild Turkey portfolio reported sales growth of +4.6% and 2.9%
respectively. Grand Marnier sales were broadly stable at -0.9%, while SKYY sales fell by -3.8%.

- Theregional priority brands reported total organic growth of +4.3% (+2.6% in the fourth quarter). In 2019,
the strong performance of Espolon (+32.4%) and healthy growth of Riccadonna enabled the Group to offset
the fall in sales of Cinzano, Forty Creek, Bulldog and GlenGrant, while sales in the rest of the portfolio were
broadly stable.

- The local priority brands showed growth of +1.8% (-6.5% in the fourth quarter), driven by healthy growth
in nearly all brands, with particularly impressive performances by the high-margin, single-serve aperitifs
Campari Soda and Crodino, and by the Wild Turkey ready-to-drink portfolio and Cabo Wabo.

Perimeter variation
The impact of the marginal perimeter variation in 2019, equal to -0.4% of sales in the previous year, is analysed
in the table below.

breakdown of the perimeter effect € million % on 2018
acquisitions (Rhumantilles, Ancho Reyes and Montelobos) 4.6 0.3%
disposals (0.2) -
total acquisitions and disposals of business 4.3 0.3%
new agency brands distributed 0.2 -
discontinued agency brands (11.4) -0.7%
total distribution contracts (11.2) -0.7%
total perimeter effect (6.9) -0.4%

- Business acquisitions and disposals

In 2019, the perimeter variation due to acquisitions and disposals of businesses was neutral overall. The
acquisition of Bisquit Dubouché et Cie. S.A. (‘Bisquit’), owner of the homonymous brand, contributed to the
Group’s results from 1 February 2018; the acquisition of Rhumantilles, owner of the Trois Riviéres and La Mauny
brands, contributed to the Group’s results from 1 October 2019; the acquisition of Ancho Reyes and Montelobos,
owners of homonymous brands, contributed to the Group’s results from 20 November 2019. The result of these
acquisitions was only marginally offset by the change attributable to the sales of businesses, particularly
Lemonsoda, which took place in January 2018.

- Brands distributed
In 2019, the perimeter variation due to brands distributed by the Group was mainly due to the termination of the
distribution agreement for the Brown Forman product portfolio in Italy, which expired in April 2018.

Exchange-rate effects

The positive exchange-rate effect on net sales in 2019 was +2.1%, due to the strengthening of the US Dollar, the
Group’s main currency, against the Euro, as well as the Jamaican Dollar, the Mexican Peso and the Canadian
Dollar, which, overall, more than offset the weakness of the South American currencies. In addition, the financial
results for the year ending 31 December 2019 include the effects of applying the accounting standard IAS 29-
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies in Argentina. The exchange-rate effect includes both the
impact of applying the standard (including the conversion to Euros at the spot exchange rate at the end of the
period of all the income statement items expressed in Argentine Pesos) and the new method of calculating organic
growth for the Argentine market.
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The table below shows the average exchange rates for 2019 and spot rates at 31 December 2019 for the Group’s
key currencies, together with the percentage change against the Euro, compared with the same period in 2018
and with 31 December 2018.

average exchange rates spot exchange rates
revaluation/(devaluation revaluation/(devaluation
AU ( Vs. 20152 S Prgmesy 200 vs. 31 Deéember 20152
1 Euro % 1 Euro %
US Dollar 1.120 5.5% 1.123 1.9%
Canadian Dollar 1.486 3.0% 1.460 6.9%
Jamaican Dollars 149.201 2.0% 148.887 -2.0%
Mexican peso 21.558 5.4% 21.220 6.0%
Brazilian Real 4.413 -2.4% 4.516 -1.6%
Argentine Peso 67.275 -35.8% 67.275 -35.8%
Russia Rubles 72.459 2.2% 69.956 14.0%
Australian Dollar 1.611 -1.9% 1.600 1.4%
Yuan Renminbi 7.734 1.0% 7.821 0.7%
Great Britain Pounds 0.877 0.9% 0.851 5.1%
Switzerland Francs 1.113 3.8% 1.085 3.8%

® The average exchange rate of the Argentine Peso for both 2019 and 2018 was equal to the spot exchange rate at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018
respectively.

Sales by region
Sales for 2019 are analysed by geographical region and key market below. Unless otherwise stated, the
comments relate to the organic change in each market.

e Americas
The region, broken down into its core markets below, recorded overall organic growth of +5.8% (+4.3% in the
fourth quarter of 2019).

% of total ) change %

Group 2019 2018 change 12 months change, of which fourth

total quarter

€ million % € million % € million total organic perimeter exch;?egg organic

us 26.9% 495.1 60.3% 4456  59.8% 49.5 11.1% 5.3% - 5.8% 3.3%
Jamaica 5.9% 108.0 13.1% 90.1 12.1% 17.8 19.8% 17.6% -0.2% 2.4% 18.3%
Canada 3.1% 58.0 7.1% 54.8 7.4% 3.1 5.7% 2.6% - 3.1% 0.8%
Brazil 2.8% 52.0 6.3% 51.5 6.9% 0.4 0.8% 3.3% - -2.4% -2.4%
Mexico 2.3% 41.8 5.1% 37.8 5.1% 4.0 10.6% 5.9% -0.8% 5.6% 13.7%
Other countries of the region 3.6% 66.7 8.1% 64.8 8.7% 1.9 29% -1.9% -0.1% 4.9% -5.4%
Americas 44.6% 821.5 100.0% 744.7 100.0% 76.8 10.3% 5.8% -0.1% 4.5% 4.3%

®lIncludes the effects associated with hyperinflation in Argentina.

The United States, the Group’s largest market with 26.9% of sales, closed the period with organic growth of
+5.3%, with a positive fourth quarter (+3.3%). The positive performance was achieved thanks to the double-digit
growth of Espolon and Aperol, as well as the good performances of the Wild Turkey portfolio, Campari and
Wray&Nephew Overproof. Grand Marnier recorded a positive performance for the year (+2.2%), after the
expected realignment of orders in the last quarter. SKYY sales continue to suffer from the competitive pressure
in the category, especially in the flavoured vodkas segment, while the gap to more favourable consumption trends
is progressively reducing.

Jamaica recorded a highly positive increase in sales of +17.6% (+18.3% in the fourth quarter) due to the double-
digit growth of the Jamaican rums portfolio, including Wray&Nephew Overproof (+22.2%) and Appleton Estate
(+50.4%), as well as the positive performances of Campari (+8.8%) and other local brands, especially Magnum
Tonic (+26.4%).

Canada recorded a 2.6% increase in sales during the period (+0.8% in the fourth quarter); this was achieved
thanks to the contribution of Aperol, Espolon and Campari, which posted double-digit growth, and more than offset
the slight fall in sales of Appleton Estate and Forty Creek, while Grand Marnier sales were broadly stable despite
significant price repositioning.

In Brazil, the positive performance of +3.3% in the period (-2.4% in the fourth quarter) was mainly driven by the
double-digit growth of Campari and Aperol, which offset the fall in sales of Cynar, SKYY and the local priority
brands. Although there are some signs of recovery, the market is still suffering from a difficult macroeconomic
situation, political instability and high unemployment rates.
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Mexico recorded sales growth of +5.9% (+13.7% in the fourth quarter) thanks to the positive performances of
Aperol, Cinzano sparkling wines and Riccadonna, SKYY ready-to-drink and SKYY; this was only partly offset by
the fall in sales of the Jamaican rum brands.

The other countries recorded an overall fall in sales of -1.9%. The positive performance of Argentina, Peru and
Chile was unable to offset the fall in sales in the other markets. In Argentina, sales showed positive organic growth
of +9.7%, driven by Aperol, Campari, Cinzano vermouth, Cinzano sparkling wines and SKYY, and also benefited
from a favourable comparison base in the same period in 2018 (-32.4%). The market continues to be affected by
an unstable economy, high inflation and a low propensity to spend. It should be noted that, as a prudent measure,
the organic change in this market includes the component attributable to volumes sold only, in order to strip out
the effects of inflation.

e Southern Europe, Middle East and Africa
The region, which is broken down by core market in the table below, reported organic growth of +5.3% (-1.8% in
the fourth quarter of 2019).

% of change

Group 2019 2018 total change 12 months change, of which % fourth

total quarter

€ million % € million % € million total  organic perimeter exchapegg organic
Italy 19.9% 367.0 73.6% 356.1 74.2% 109 3.1% 5.8% -2.7% - -0.7%
France 2.2% 40.3 8.1% 33.7 7.0% 6.6 19.5% 14.2% 5.3% - 28.2%
Duty Free 1.6% 30.1 6.0% 29.6 6.2% 04 14% 4.1% -2.6% -0.1% 18.6%
Other countries of the region 3.3% 61.3 12.3% 60.3 12.6% 1.0 1.7% -2.0% 4.2% -0.6% -28.9%

Southern Europe, Middle East

and Africa 27.1% 498.7 100.0% 479.8 100.0% 18.9 3.9% 5.3% -1.3% -0.1% -1.8%

Italy, the Group’s second-largest market, and largest in the region, reported a good performance of +5.8% (-0.7%
in the fourth quarter), driven by the double-digit growth in sales of Aperol (+12.8%), the excellent performance by
Campari, and the positive results of Campari Soda and Crodino. Of the Italian bitters and liqueurs, Cynar posted
growth, despite the generalised slowdown in the Italian bitters market.

In France, sales grew by +14.2% (+28.2% in the fourth quarter), driven by Aperol and Riccadonna, which offset
the decline recorded by Campari, GlenGrant and Grand Marnier.

The Global Travel Retail channel reported organic growth of +4.1% (+18.6% in the fourth quarter), driven by the
double-digit growth of Aperol, Campari and GlenGrant, which wholly offset the temporary fall in sales of Grand
Marnier.

Sales in the other countries in the region decreased by -2.0% (-28.9% in the fourth quarter); this was due to
the combination of a sharp fall in sales in South Africa, caused by the destocking carried out by the Group in the
last part of the year ahead of route-to-market changes that affected the performance of the main brands, including
SKYY and GlenGrant. Spain was in slight decline as well: Aperol’'s excellent performance was more than offset
by the weakness in Bulldog sales due to the ongoing competition in the gin category, as well as to Campari and
Frangelico. On the contrary, Nigeria showed very strong growth thanks to the double-digit performance of
Campari and American Honey. The Nigerian market is still affected by ongoing volatility, due to the socio-
economic conditions.

e Northern, Central and Eastern Europe
This region reported overall organic growth of +8.8% (+9.9% in the fourth quarter of 2019), broken down as follows
in the main markets.

% of total change %

Group 2019 2018 change 12 months change, of which fourth

total 9 quarter

€ million % € million % € million total organic perimeter excharnagtg organic
Germany 9.4% 172.6 43.8% 167.2 46.6% 55 3.3% 3.3% - - -2.2%
Russia 3.0% 55.9 14.2% 489 13.6% 7.0 14.4% 11.9% - 2.5% 12.3%
United Kingdom 2.5% 46.2 11.7% 32.8 9.2% 13.4 40.8% 39.6% - 1.2% 67.8%
Other countries of the region 6.5% 119.0 30.2% 110.0 30.6% 9.0 8.2% 6.5% -0.1% 1.8% 9.7%

North, Central and Eastern

Europe 21.4% 393.8 100.0% 358.9 100.0% 34.9 9.7% 8.8% - 1.0% 9.9%

In Germany, sales grew by +3.3% (-2.2% in the fourth quarter). Of particular note was the double-digit growth of
Aperol, which continues to benefit from the trend of consumers finding new occasions of consumptions, as well
as the positive performances of SKYY and Averna. These trends offset the weakness in Cinzano sparkling wines
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and vermouth, and in Campari, with the latter penalised by an unfavourable comparison base in the same period
in the previous year (+13.9%), which experienced advance orders in the last few months, ahead of the expected
price repositioning implemented in early 2019.

Russia recorded an increase in sales of +11.9% (+12.3% in the fourth quarter), which benefited from a favourable
comparison base in the same period in the previous year (-11.4%). Growth was driven by Aperol, followed by
Cinzano vermouth, Cinzano sparkling wines and Mondoro. The macroeconomic environment remains volatile and
affected by a low propensity to spend.

The United Kingdom showed a very strong increase of +39.6% (+67.8% in the fourth quarter), despite the
political and economic uncertainty associated with the Brexit negotiations. Growth in the period under review was
supported by the excellence performance of Aperol (+23.0%), as well as the Jamaican brands (+42.0%), driven
by Magnum Tonic and Wray&Nephew Overproof.

The other countries in the region grew by +6.5% in the period (+9.7% in the fourth quarter), with positive
performances in nearly all the markets, including Austria, driven by sales of Aperol and Campari, the Scandinavian
markets, and Eastern Europe, driven mainly by sales of Aperol.

e Asia-Pacific
This region, which is broken down by core market in the table below, recorded an organic increase of +0.8%
(+0.6% in the fourth quarter of 2019).

% of total change

Group 2019 2018 change 12 months change, of which % fourth

total 9 quarter

€ million % € million % € million total organic perimeter exchange rate  organic
Australia 4.8% 88.4 68.7% 88.3 68.8% 0.1 0.1% 2.0% - -1.9% -1.3%
Other countries of the region 2.2% 40.2 31.3% 40.1 31.2% 0.1 03% -1.8% - 2.1% 5.5%
Asia-Pacific 7.0% 128.5 100.0% 128.3 100.0% 0.2 0.2% 0.8% - -0.7% 0.6%

In Australia, the region’s largest market, organic growth in the period was +2.0% (-1.3% in the fourth quarter).
The main positive performances are attributable to Aperol, Wild Turkey ready-to-drink, SKYY and Espolon.

Sales in the other countries in the region fell by -1.8% (+5.5% in the fourth quarter); this was mainly due to the
negative trend in sales in Japan as a result of the destocking carried out by the Group in the last part of the year
ahead of route-to-market changes in the region. New Zealand and China, however, recorded positive
performances.

Sales by major brands at consolidated level

The following table summarises growth (split into its various components) in the Group’s main brands in 2019,
broken down into the categories identified by the Group based on the priority (global, regional, local and other)
assigned to them.

With regard to the recent acquisitions, it should be noted that French rum brands Trois Riviéres and Maison La
Mauny were included in the regional priority brands, while the Dugquesne brand was assigned to the local priority
brands. Ancho Reyes and Montelobos brands, arising from the acquisition completed on 20 November 2019,
were included in the regional priority brands. The effects of the above acquisitions are shown in the external
growth components represented by the perimeter variations and contributed to Group’s results starting from the
day following the closing date of the acquisitions.
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Percentage o

of Group 12 months change, of which change % fourth
sales quarter

. . exchange f
total organic perimeter rate organic
Aperol 18.3% 21.4% 20.5% - 0.9% 15.9%
Campari 10.0% 5.3% 4.6% - 0.8% 3.5%
SKYY®W 7.8% -0.3% -3.8% - 3.5% -6.6%
Grand Marnier 7.3% 3.8% -0.9% - 4.6% 8.1%
Wild Turkey portfolio®®@ 7.9% 7.5% 2.9% - 4.6% -5.8%
Jamaican rums portfolio® 5.5% 10.4% 7.5% - 2.9% 10.2%
global priority brands 56.9% 9.7% 7.3% - 2.5% 4.7%
Espolon 3.8% 38.9% 32.4% - 6.5% 54.0%
Bulldog 0.7% -3.8% -3.2% - -0.6% -8.6%
GlenGrant 1.1% -6.0% -6.7% - 0.7% 0.4%
Forty Creek 1.1% -1.0% -4.2% - 3.2% -14.5%
Bitter and Italian liquors® 3.8% 0.2% -0.9% - 1.1% -1.9%
Cinzano 3.4% -6.2% -6.9% - 0.7% -10.4%
Bisquit 0.3% 6.0% 6.7% 0.9% -1.7% -34.6%
other® 2.7% 17.6% 8.5% 7.1% 1.9% 5.7%
regional priority brands 16.8% 7.4% 4.3% 1.1% 2.1% 2.6%
Campari Soda 3.2% 1.6% 1.6% - - -10.3%
Crodino 3.2% 2.5% 2.4% - 0.1% -7.1%
Wild Turkey portfolio ready-to-drink® 1.9% 3.0% 5.0% - -2.0% 7.7%
Dreher and Sagatiba 1.3% -7.3% -5.1% - -2.2% -21.6%
other 1.8% 6.1% 3.2% 0.6% 2.3% 3.5%
local priority brands 11.5% 1.6% 1.8% 0.1% -0.2% -6.5%
rest of the portfolio 14.8% 4.9% 6.2% -3.9% 2.6% 9.0%
total 100.0% 7.6% 5.9% -0.4% 2.1% 3.6%

@ Excludes ready-to-drink.

@ Includes American Honey.

® Includes Appleton Estate and Wray&Nephew Overproof rum.

@ Includes Braulio, Cynar, Averna and Frangelico.

®) Includes Riccadonna, Mondoro, Trois Riviéres, Maison La Mauny, Ancho Reyes and Montelobos.
© Includes American Honey ready-to-drink.

Organic growth in the Group’s global priority brands (56.9% of sales) was +7.3%; overall growth of +9.7% was
boosted by exchange-rate effects of +2.5%.

The comments below relate to the organic performance of the brands.

Aperol continued to record double-digit organic growth of +20.5%, due to highly positive results in both the core
markets and those where the brand is in the development phase. Of particular note is the double-digit growth in
the brand’'s three core markets by value, namely Italy (+12.8%), Germany (+18.2%) and the United States
(+33.9%), third largest market by value for the brand. Moreover, double-digit sales growth was confirmed in
Russia, France, the United Kingdom, Spain, Australia, the Global Retail channel, the Scandinavian markets and
Eastern Europe.

Campari closed the period with organic growth of +4.6%, with very strong results achieved in Italy, the United
States (the brand’s second-largest market by value), Brazil, Jamaica, Canada and Nigeria. The good overall
performance was achieved despite the substantial contraction in sales in Japan, due to the destocking carried out
ahead of the route-to-market changes (which resulted in a negative impact of -1.4% on the organic performance
of the brand), and the decline recorded in Germany, attributable to the price repositioning introduced in the first
half of the year as well as to an unfavourable comparison base in the previous year, driven by the price increase
done in the last quarter of 2018.

The Wild Turkey portfolio, which includes American Honey, reported organic growth of +2.9% in the period,
thanks both to its core US market (which also benefited from improvements in the sales mix as a result of the
excellent overall performance of premium versions, such as Wild Turkey Longbranch and Russell’s Reserve) and
the markets in which it has recently been introduced, where volumes are still modest (Germany, Italy, Nigeria,
New Zealand and China). This result enabled the Group to fully offset the decline in Japan, which was adversely
affected by the destocking carried out ahead of the route-to-market changes (which resulted in a negative impact
of -0.5% on the organic performance of the brand), as well as in Australia and the Global Travel Retail channel.
SKYY closed 2019 with sales down by -3.8%, mainly associated with the weakness in the United States (-5.1%)
due to the competitive pressure in the category, particularly the flavoured vodka segment; while the gap with the
consumption figures is gradually reducing. In contrast, the international markets (27% of the brand’s total sales)
were broadly stable and were penalised by the substantial destocking in South Africa, connected with the route-
to-market changes that completely offset the positive results registered in the remaining markets.

Grand Marnier recorded a stable performance (-0.9%): the positive performance in the US, after the expected
realignment of sales in the fourth quarter, was offset by a temporary decline in the Global Travel Retail Channel
and by the weakness in some European markets. In Canada, the brand’s second-largest market by size, sales
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were broadly stable, despite significant price repositioning. A double digit growth was registered in Mexico, albeit
from a small volume base.

The Jamaican rums portfolio (Appleton Estate and Wray&Nephew Overproof) recorded organic growth of
+7.5% during the period. Specifically, Wray&Nephew Overproof achieved double-digit growth, thanks to excellent
performances in the brand’s core markets of Jamaica, the United States and the UK. Sales of Appleton Estate
declined slightly: the good performance in Jamaica was more than offset by the fall recorded in North America.

The regional priority brands (16.8% of the Group’s sales) posted organic growth of +4.3%; the overall increase
was +7.4%, boosted by an exchange-rate effect of +2.1% and a perimeter effect of +1.1%.

The comments below relate to the organic performance of individual brands.

Espoldon maintained its double-digit growth (+32.4%) thanks to an excellent performance in its core market, the
United States, where the brand continues to show highly positive growth figures that are above the average for
its category. The brand also recorded highly encouraging results — albeit with volumes that are still low — in the
international markets in which it was recently introduced, including Australia, Russia, Italy, Canada and the UK.
Bulldog sales fell (-3.2%), mainly due to Spain, Belgium and the UK; this is the result of strong competition in the
gin category.

GlenGrant recorded a negative performance of -6.7% in the period. The decline reflects the gradual repositioning
involving the shift of high-volume varieties that have a short ageing period to a premium higher-margin range.
Performance also suffered from the destocking carried out in South Africa. In contrast, the brand recorded positive
results in Italy, Germany, the United States and the Global Travel Retail Channel.

Sales of Forty Creek fell by -4.2%, attributable to its core markets of Canada and the United States.

Sales of Italian bitters and liqueurs declined slightly (-0.9%). The positive performances of Averna (Germany and
United States) and Cynar (United States and Italy) did not fully offset the temporary weakness of Frangelico and
Braulio. The latter suffered from an unfavourable comparison base in the same period the previous year
(+22.3%).

Cinzano reported an overall fall of -6.9%, due to the decline in both of the brand’s segments. With specific
reference to vermouth, the positive trends in the core markets of Russia and Argentina were unable to offset the
fall recorded due to the price repositioning. The sparkling wines segment declined due to the fierce competitive
pressure in the core markets of Germany and lItaly; this was partly mitigated by growth in Russia, China and
Japan.

Of the other brands, Riccadonna recorded an excellent performance in the French market, partly boosted by
Aperol’s positive trend, and Mondoro recorded healthy performance thanks to its core Russian market.

Bisquit, which contributed to the Group’s organic sales from February 2019, recorded an organic increase of
+6.7%, albeit with volumes that are still low.

The local priority brands (11.5% of the Group’s portfolio) showed organic sales growth of +1.8%, with an overall
increase of +1.6%, which was only marginally offset by the exchange-rate component. The perimeter effect was
not material.

The comments below relate to the organic performance of individual brands.

The organic performance of the local priority brands is the result of healthy growth by almost the entire portfolio.
With specific reference to Italian single-serve aperitifs, Campari Soda (+1.6%) benefited from the new advertising
campaign in its key Italian market. Increased sales of Crodino (+2.4%) were driven both by the Italian market and
by the international market, which represents 13.0% of the brand’s total sales, where growth was positive,
although volumes are still low. Sales of Wild Turkey ready-to-drink rose by +5.0% and of Cabo Wabo by +3.7%,
driven by their core markets of Australia and the US respectively. The Brazilian Brands (Dreher and Sagatiba)
showed an overall decline due to the difficult local market conditions in Brazil.

The rest of the portfolio (14.8% of the Group’s sales) showed positive organic growth of +6.2%, driven
specifically by SKYY ready-to-drink in Mexico and Magnum Tonic in Jamaica and the UK.
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Income statement

Highlights

In the income statement for 2019, all the profitability indicators monitored by the Group showed a positive organic
performance that was higher than net organic sales growth. This result reflects the continuous strengthening of
the underlying business and the improvement in the product/market sales mix, in line with the Group’s growth
strategy.

Specifically, the gross margin showed organic growth of +7.0%, while contribution margin and adjusted result
from recurring activities (adjusted EBIT) showed an organic growth of +6.7%. These performances were higher
than organic sales growth (+5.9%), showing the positive growth of the business in terms of its key parameters,
from both sales growth and an improvement in margins.

Focusing on organic growth’s main components, it is possible to ascertain how the achievement of 60 basis points
expansion in the gross margin, as a percentage of sales, has been particularly satisfying, despite the pressure of
agave price increase and the destocking activities carried out on certain high-margin brands ahead of changes to
the route-to-market. This result allowed to fully offset the greater investment in brand-building activities and the
continued strengthening of the distribution structure via selected initiatives in key markets.

The perimeter variations relate to the recent acquisitions of Rhumantilles, Ancho Reyes and Montelobos, which
were completed in the latter part of the year, as well as the termination of some low-margin distribution
agreements.

With regard to the total changes in the sales and profitability indicators, the favourable exchange rate effect, driven
by the strengthening of the US dollar, which was only partly mitigated by emerging markets currencies
depreciation, more than offset the negative impact of the perimeter, generated by the termination of some
distribution contracts, net of the effect of the new acquisitions.

The income statement for 2019 reflects the application of the new accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’. Under
this standard, the recognition of in-scope operating lease costs on a straight-line basis is replaced with
depreciation of the right of use asset and the financial expenses relating to the lease liabilities. The new standard
was introduced on 1 January 2019, and the figures for the comparative period have not been restated. For more
details about the adoption of this standard, see note 4-Changes in accounting standards of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2019 of this annual financial report.

With reference to the main levels of operating profitability, the application of the new methodology for presenting
lease transactions generated a positive effect of €1.4 million on adjusted EBIT and €15.0 million on adjusted
EBITDA in 2019, corresponding to an impact of 10 and 90 basis points respectively, both on total and organic
growth.

Lastly, it should be noted that the methodology for presenting the figures for the Argentine business in compliance
with 1AS 29-‘Financial reporting in Hyperinflationary economies’, was changed starting from publication of the
additional financial information for the quarter ending 30 September 2018, with the effect calculated from 1
January 2018. The figures shown for 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019 are therefore comparable.
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The table below shows the income statement® for 2019 and a breakdown of the total change by organic growth,
external growth and exchange rate effects.

31 December 31 December total of which of which gig]r;ﬁgg:;;z
2019 2018 change organic external and hyperinflation
€ € € € € €
million % million % million % million % million % million %
Net sales 18425 1000 1,711.7 100.0 130.8 76% | 1015 5.9% (6.9) -0.4% 36.1 2.1%
Cost of goods sold (721.3) (39.1) (683.6) (39.9) (37.6) 5.5% (29.6) 4.3% 5.8 -0.8% (13.9) 2.0%
g
Gross margin 1,121.2 60.9 1,028.1 60.1 93.1 9.1% 719 7.0% 1.1) -0.1% 22.3 2.2%
9

Advertising and promotional costs (319.9) (17.4) (289.2) (16.9) (30.7) 10.6% | (22.3) 7.7% 0.4) 0.1% 8.0) 2.8%
Contribution margin 801.3 43.5 738.9 43.2 62.5 8.5% 49.6 6.7% 1.4) -0.2% 14.3 1.9%
Overheads (393.3) (21.3) (360.1) (21.0) (33.3) 9.2% | (24.4) 6.8% (1.1) 0.3% (7.7) 21%
Result from recurring activities 4080 221 3788 221 29.2 77%| 252 6.7% (2.6) -0.7% 65 1.7%
(EBIT adjusted)

Adjustments to operating income (21.7) 1.2) 1.9 0.1 (23.5) -1,264.5%

(expenses)

Operating result 386.3 21.0 380.7 22.2 5.7 1.5%

Financial income (expenses) (33.0) (1.8) (33.8) (2.0) 0.8 -2.4%

Adjustments to financial 5.8 03 18 01 4.0 222 8%

income (expenses)

Profit (loss) rglated to companies 0.1 _ 0.2) R 03 -148.8%

valued at equity

Put option, earn out income

(expenses) and hyperinflation 4.7 (03 23 01 (7.0)  -302.6%

effects

Profit before tax and non- 3546 192 3508 205 38 1.1%

controlling interests

Taxes (46.2) (2.5) (54.5) (3.2) 8.2 -15.1%

Net profit 308.4 16.7 296.3 17.3 12.0 4.1%

Non-controlling interests o o - - - -

Group net profit 308.4 16.7 296.3 17.3 12.0 4.1%

Group profit before tax adjusted 370.4 20.1 347.1 20.3 23.3 6.7%

Group net profit adjusted 267.4 14.5 249.3 14.6 18.1 7.3%

0, 0, 0, 0,

Total depreciation and amortisation (71.8) 3.9) (53.8) 3.1) (18.0) 33.4% | (16.2) 30.1% (0.8) 1.5% (1.0) 1.8%
EBITDA adjusted 479.8 26.0 432.6 25.3 47.2 10.9% 414  9.6% 1.7) -0.4% 7.5 1.7%
EBITDA 458.1 24.9 434.5 25.4 23.6 5.4%
@ For information on the definition of alternative performance indicators, see the ‘Alternative performance indicators’ section in the next part of this report on

operations.

The increase in profitability in 2019 shown by the operating profitability indicators, expressed as a percentage
(basis points) of net sales at total and organic level, and including the effects of the first-time adoption of the
standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’, as commented on above, is shown in the following table.

margin accretion (dilution) in basis point® Total Organic
Cost of goods sold 80 60
Gross margin 80 60
Advertising and promotional costs (50) (30)
Contribution margin 30 30
Overheads (30) (20)
Result from recurring activities (EBIT adjusted)® - 20

@ There may be rounding effects given that the corresponding basis points have been rounded to the nearest ten.
@ For information on the definition of alternative performance indicators, see the ‘Alternative performance indicators’ section in the next part of this report on
operations.

Income statement in detail
The most important income statement items are analysed below.
See the previous section for a detailed analysis of sales for the year.

The gross margin for the period was €1,121.2 million, an increase of +9.1% as compared with the previous
financial year. The organic growth component of +7.0% was higher than organic sales growth (+5.9%), while the
exchange rate variation (+2.2%) was only slightly offset by a negative perimeter effect (-0.1%).

As a percentage of sales, profitability rose overall from 60.1% in 2018 to 60.9%, an increase of 80 basis points,
of which 60 related to organic growth and 20 to the perimeter effect. The exchange rate effect was neutral.

The organic accretion effect recorded in the year was driven by a highly favourable product/market mix and
supported by the performance of high-margin brands, especially the aperitifs business, in the key developed
markets. This result widely absorbed the dilutive effects generated by the negative impact of agave price, which
growing trend persists; the lower contribution of some high-margin brands, due to the selective destocking carried
out by the Group in some markets in the last few months of the year due to changes in the distribution structure;
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and the impact of the recovery in the low-margin emerging markets.

The net effect deriving from the external component is mainly associated with the termination of low-margin
distribution contracts, which although generating a negative impact on the gross margin value, made a positive
contribution to the increase in profitability. The impact of the acquisitions of Rhumantilles, as well as of Ancho
Reyes and Montelobos, which were completed on 1 October and 20 November 2019 respectively, was still
relatively limited.

Advertising and promotional costs came in at €319.9 million, up by +10.6% overall compared with 2018. As a
percentage of sales, these costs totalled 17.4%, with a resulting dilutive effect on profitability of 50 basis points.
Organic marketing costs increased by +7.7%, partly due to the acceleration seen in the fourth quarter of the year,
which, along with the second quarter, represents the seasonal peak for advertising costs; this resulted in a dilutive
effect of 30 basis points on profitability for the year. During 2019, the Group continued with its marketing
investment programme aimed at global priority brands, mainly Aperol and Campari, as well as Jamaican rums
portfolio and selected regional priority brands, particularly Espolon. The growth component attributable to
exchange rate effects and perimeter variations together totalled +2.9% and generated a dilutive effect on margins
of 20 basis points. This was mainly due to the termination of distribution agreements for which advertising
investments typically have a lower incidence than the Group average.

The contribution margin was €801.3 million, a rise of +8.5% overall. As percentage of sales, these costs were
43.5%, with an overall increase of 30 basis points compared with 2018.

The organic growth component of +6.7%, which was higher than organic sales growth (+5.9%), generated an
improvement in profitability of 30 basis points. The perimeter effect was negative at -0.2%. This had a positive
impact on profitability of 10 basis points, mainly due to sales of businesses with a low contribution. The effect of
exchange rate variations was positive, at +1.9%, with a negative impact on profitability of 10 basis points.

Overheads amounted to €393.3 million, an increase of +9.2% compared with 2018. As a percentage of sales,
overheads were 21.3%, compared with 21.0% totalled in 2018, with a resulting dilutive effect on margins of 30
basis points.

The organic growth component of +6.8%, which was higher than organic sales growth (+5.9%), generated a
resulting dilutive effect on margins of 20 basis points. This was mainly driven by initiatives to strengthen
commercial presence, especially in the on-premise distribution channel, in selected key markets. Growth due to
perimeter and exchange rate effects, totalling +2.4%, generated a dilutive effect on margins of 10 basis points.
This was mainly due to the termination of distribution agreements with minimal overheads.

The result from recurring activities (EBIT adjusted) was €408.0 million in 2019, an overall increase of +7.7%
compared with 2018. Adjusted return on sales (ROS), which measures the impact on sales in 2019, was 22.1%,
unchanged on 2018. The adoption of the new accounting rules relating to lease operations in the period generated
a positive effect of €1.4 million on EBIT adjusted, corresponding to 10 basis points on both overall and organic
growth.

The organic growth component of +6.7%, which was higher than organic sales growth (+5.9%), generated a
resulting improvement in profitability of 20 basis points.

The resulting impact of the perimeter variations on adjusted EBIT was -0.7% and is mainly due to the termination
of distribution agreements net of the recent acquisitions; the component arising from exchange rate variations
was, however, positive at +1.7%, and mainly relates to the strengthening of the US dollar against the Euro.

Adjustments to operating income and expenses showed a net expense of €21.7 million. Expenses relating to
restructuring operations launched in 2018 and still in progress in 2019, which are mainly due to initiatives to
outsource the Group’s accounting, administrative and selected IT services, as well as the transfer of the Campari
America offices from San Francisco to New York City, were only partly offset by the positive adjustment arising
from the recognition of a refund of indirect taxes following a favourable ruling from the Brazilian constitutional
court received in the second part of the year.

The operating result in 2019 was €386.3 million, an increase of +1.5% on 2018; this was mainly due to different
impacts of adjustments made to operating income and expenses in the period in question. The ROS, operating
result as a percentage of net sales, came in at 21.0% (22.2% in 2018).

Depreciation and amortisation totalled €71.8 million, an increase of +33.4% on 2018. The increase reflects
€13.7 million relating to amortization and depreciation of rights of use recognised following the adoption of the
new accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’.

EBITDA adjusted came in at €479.8 million, an increase of +10.9% of which +9.6% at organic level.
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Exchange rate effects made a positive contribution of +1.7%, while perimeter effects recorded a negative impact
of -0.4%. The adoption of the new IFRS 16-‘Leases’, had a positive effect on adjusted EBITDA of €15.0 million in
2019, corresponding to 90 basis points on both overall and organic growth.

EBITDA amounted to €458.1 million, an increase of +5.4% compared with 2018 (€434.5 million).

Net financial expenses stood at €33.0 million and were in line with 2018.

Average debt at 31 December 2019 was €865.8 million, lower than the value at 31 December 2018, which was
€925.4 million.

The average cost of debt in 2019 was 4.1%, an increase on the 3.3% for the same period in 2018, due to the
recognition of notional interest payable, coming from the IFRS 16-‘Leases’ adoption, at an average rate higher
than that paid by the Parent Company for financing transactions (for more details relating the adoption of the
standard, please refer to note 4- Changes in accounting standards of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ending 31 December 2019 of this annual report).

It also need to be noted a significant negative carry, due to excess of interest paid on existing medium- and long-
term debt compared with that accrued on available liquidity.

The cost of debt, as described above, excludes the effects of exchange rate differences and adjustments for
financial components.

The component relating to exchange rate differences, which is included in total net financial expenses, had a
positive impact of €2.8 million.

In 2019, adjustment to financial income of €5.8 million were recorded. This value is mainly due to the
recognition of interest income on receivables related to the settlement of a tax dispute in Brazil. The comparative
period benefited from a positive effect of €1.8 million, for the most part attributable to the sale of financial assets.

In 2019, the item income (expenses) relating to put options, earn outs and hyperinflation effects was
negative and totalled €4.7 million. It includes net expenses of €1.1 million attributable to the non-cash effects of
the remeasurement and discounting to present value of payables for future commitments relating to earn-outs
and the purchase of minority shareholdings in acquired businesses. The item also includes liabilities arising from
the application of IAS 29-‘Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies’ in Argentina, totalling €3.6 million.

Net profit before tax and non-controlling interests was €354.6 million, an increase of +1.1% compared with
2018. Profit as a percentage of sales was 19.2% (20.5% in 2018).

Excluding the adjustments, the Group’s profit before tax amounted to €370.4 million, an increase of +6.7% on the
figure for 2018, which was also adjusted in the same manner. The adoption of the new standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’
generated a negative effect of €1.8 million on the Group’s profit before tax in 2019.

Income tax totalled €46.2 million. The overall tax rate in 2019 was 13.0%, compared with a tax rate of 15.5% in
the previous year. The reduction was due to the different impact of the operating and financial adjustments.

The normalised tax rate, i.e. the ratio of normalised income tax to the Group’s profit before tax excluding
adjustments to operating, financial and tax income and expenses for the period, was 27.8% in 2019, down from
a rate of 28.2% in 2018. Excluding the impact of the non-cash component relating to the tax effects of the
amortisation of goodwill and brands, the tax rate for the cash components alone is 23.5%, substantially aligned
on the rate of 23.4% at 31 December 2018.

The financial year 2019 includes tax adjustments totalling €56.8 million (€43.4 million in 2018). These adjustments
include tax effects connected with the operating and financial adjustments as well as other purely fiscal
adjustments, totalling €31.4 million; they also include a benefit of €25.4 million arising from the Patent Box tax
regime (€26.0 million in 2018). 2019 was the last year of the five years granted for tax relief based on the
agreements signed with the tax authorities: the cumulative total of the benefit recognised in the Group’s financial
accounts for the tax years from 2014 to 2019 was €96.2 million.

Profit relating to non-controlling interests for the period in question was marginal as it relates to minority
interests in recently-acquired companies, which contributed to the Group’s results only in the last part of the year.

The Group’s net profit was €308.4 million in 2019, an increase of +4.1% compared with 2018, with a sales
margin of 16.7%, unchanged compared with 2018. However, after excluding adjustments to operating, financial,
related tax effects and tax components, net profit before tax was €267.4 million, an increase of +7.3% compared
with 2018, which was also adjusted in the same manner.
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The Group’s profit before tax and Group net profit, total and adjusted to take account of adjustments to operating
and financial income and expenses, together with the related tax effects and other tax adjustments, are shown

below.
31 December 2019 31 December 2018 changes
€ million reported  adjustments  adjusted reported  adjustments  adjusted reported adjusted
Group profit before tax 354.6 (15.8) 370.4 350.8 3.7 347.1 1.1% 6.7%
Taxes (46.2) 56.8 (103.1) (54.5) 43.4 (97.8) -15.1% 5.3%
Group net profit 308.4 41.0 267.4 296.3 47.0 249.3 4.1% 7.3%
Tax rate (nominal and adjusted) -13.0% -27.8% -15.5% -28.2%
Deferred taxes on goodwill and trademarks (15.8) (15.8) (16.5) (16.5)
Cash tax rate -23.5% -23.4%
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ million € million
Total adjustments to operating income (expenses), of which: (21.7) 1.9
restructuring and reorganization costs (9.5) (34.6)
gain on sale of business - 38.5
other adjustments to operating income (expenses) (12.2) (2.0)
Total adjustments to financial income (expenses), of which: 5.8 1.8
other adjustments to financial income (expenses) 5.8 1.8
Total tax adjustments, of which: 56.8 43.4
Patent Box 25.4 26.0
fiscal effects on operating and financial adjustments 5.4 12.6
other fiscal adjustments 26.0 4.8
Total net adjustments 41.0 47.0

® For more detail refer to section 17-Income taxes of the consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2019.

Basic and diluted earnings per share, of €0.27 and €0.26 respectively, both amounted to €0.23 once adjusted
for the above components. Adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share were both up by +8.2% respectively
compared with 2018.

Profitability by business area

A breakdown of the four geographical regions in which the Group operates is given below and shows each
segment’s percentage of sales and of the operating result in the two periods under comparison.

Please refer to the ‘Sales performance’ section of this Report on Operations for a more detailed analysis of sales
by business area for the year.

2019 2018
o result from o result from

net sales % of total recurring activities % of total net sales % of total recurring activities % of total

€ million % € million % € million % € million %
Americas 8215  44.6% 1714 42.0% 7447  435% 1615  42.6%
Southern Europe, Middle East 4987  27.1% 88.1  21.6% 4798  28.0% 836  22.1%
and Africa
El‘jg;g” Central and Eastern 3938  21.4% 1329  32.6% 3589  21.0% 1151 30.4%
Asia-Pacific 1285 7.0% 156 3.8% 128.3 7.5% 18.7 4.9%
Total 1,8425  100.0% 4080  100.0% 1,711.7  100.0% 378.8  100.0%

e Americas

The Americas region makes the largest contribution to the Group in terms of both sales and the result from
recurring activities, at 44.6% and 42.0% respectively.

The direct markets in the US, Jamaica, Canada, Brazil, Mexico, Argentina and Peru together represent nearly all
of the region’s sales. The results for 2019 are shown below.

organic
2019 2018 total change organic change accretion/dilution of
profitability
€ million % € million % € million % € million % basis points

Net sales 821.5 100.0 744.7 100.0 76.8  10.3% 435 5.8%
Gross margin 479.7 58.4 434.8 58.4 448  10.3% 23.6 5.4% (20)
Advertising and promotional costs (157.3) (19.1) (136.4) (18.3) (20.9) 15.3% (13.1) 9.6% (70)
Overheads (151.0) (18.4) (137.0) (18.4) (14.0) 10.2% (6.4) 4.7% 20
Result from recurring activities 171.4 20.9 161.5 21.7 9.9 6.1% 4.1 2.5% (70)

The result from recurring activities rose by +6.1% overall and recorded a sales margin of 20.9%. Organic growth
was +2.5%, generating a dilutive effect of 70 basis points on profitability. The main factors that affected these
organic results were as follows:

- the gross margin rose by +5.4% at organic level and, as this was slightly lower than sales growth (+5.8%),
resulted in a consequent dilution of profitability of 20 basis points. The decline in gross profitability was generated
by the rise in the price of agave, which continued its unfavourable trend during the year, together with the
counter-dilutive effect due to the recovery of the less profitable emerging markets. These effects more than
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offset the favourable market/product mix driven by the main global brands, including Aperol, Campari and Grand
Marnier;

- advertising and promotional costs reported an organic increase of +9.6%, mainly due to the increased
marketing activity for the main global priority brands, especially Aperol, Campari, Grand Marnier, and selected
regional priority brands, particularly Espolon. The more than proportional progression of these costs compared
with organic sales growth generated a dilutive effect of 70 basis points;

- overheads increased by +4.7% at organic level, lower than organic sales growth, which it resulted in an
improvement in profitability of 20 basis points, mainly due to the streamlining of some local structures in South
America.

e Southern Europe, Middle East and Africa

The Southern Europe, Middle East and Africa region is the Group’s second-largest region in terms of net sales,
and the third-largest in terms of profitability, at 27.1% and 21.6% respectively. The markets in Italy, France, Spain,
South Africa and Nigeria, together with the Global Travel Retail channel, account for nearly all the sales in this
region. The results for 2019 are shown below.

organic
2019 2018 total change organic change accretion/dilution of
profitability
€ million % € million % € million % € million % basis points

Net sales 498.7 100.0 479.8 100.0 18.9 3.9% 254 5.3%
Gross margin 333.1 66.8 312.8 65.2 20.2 6.5% 21.7 6.9% 100
Advertising and promotional costs (89.2) (17.9) (83.7) (17.4) (5.5) 6.6% (5.3) 6.4% (20)
Overheads (155.8) (31.2) (145.6) (30.3) (10.2) 7.0% 9.3) 6.4% (30)
Result from recurring activities 88.1 17.7 83.6 17.4 4.6 5.5% 7.1 8.4% 50

The result from recurring activities increased by +5.5% overall; profit as a percentage of sales was 17.7%, an
increase of 30 basis points compared with 2018. The organic component grew by +8.4%, despite the lower
contribution of the south African market due to the destocking carried out ahead of changes to distribution. Organic
growth, which was higher than sales growth, generated a positive impact on profitability of 50 basis points, mainly
driven by the sales mix. The effects that led to this improvement were as follows:

- the gross margin showed an organic increase of +6.9%, equivalent to 100 basis points, supported by the
excellent performance of the high-margin aperitifs category, especially Aperol and Campari, in nearly all markets
in the region;

- advertising and promotional costs rose by +6.4% at organic level, more than proportionally to sales growth,
mainly due to the sustained investment in global priority brands, especially Aperol, generating a dilutive effect
of 20 basis points;

- overheads rose by +6.4% at organic level, generating a dilution in profitability of 30 basis points, caused by the
strengthening of the Group’s central structures.

e Northern, Central and Eastern Europe

The Northern, Central and Eastern Europe region represents the Group’s third-largest region in terms of net sales,
and the second-largest in terms of profitability, at 21.4% and 32.6% respectively.

The region includes the direct markets in Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Benelux, the UK, Russia and Ukraine,
which represent nearly all the sales in the region, and the markets served by third-party distributors. The results
for 2019 are shown below.

organic
2019 2018 total change organic change accretion/dilution of
profitability
€ million % € million % € million % € million % basis points

Net sales 393.8 100.0 358.9 100.0 34.9 9.7% 31.5 8.8%
Gross margin 248.5 63.1 220.7 61.5 277 12.6% 251  11.4% 150
Advertising and promotional costs (55.6) (24.1) (51.3) (14.3) (4.3) 8.4% (3.8) 7.5% 20
Overheads (60.0) (15.2) (54.4) (15.2) (5.6) 10.3% (4.9 9.0% -
Result from recurring activities 132.9 33.7 115.1 32.1 17.8  15.5% 164  14.3% 160

The result from recurring activities rose by +15.5% overall and recorded a sales margin of 33.7%, an increase of
170 basis points compared with 2018. Organic growth was +14.3%, which generated an improvement in
profitability of 160 basis points due to the following:

- the gross margin showed solid organic growth of +11.4%; this boosted profitability by 150 basis points due to
the excellent improvement in the geographic/product mix, in turn driven by the aperitifs, especially Aperol, which
recorded a strongly positive performance in Germany, the UK, Switzerland and Austria, and Campari, mainly in
Austria and Switzerland;

- advertising and promotional costs increased by +7.5% at organic level during, slightly below sales growth,
generating an improvement in profitability of 20 basis points;

- overheads increased by +9.0% at organic level, with a neutral effect on profitability.
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e Asia-Pacific

The Asia-Pacific region includes the direct markets in Australia and New Zealand, as well as markets served by
third-party distributors. The region’s contribution to the Group’s net sales and result from recurring activities in
2019 was 7.0% and 3.8% respectively. The results for 2019 are shown below.

organic
2019 2018 total change organic change accretion/dilution of
profitability
€ million % € million % € million % € million % basis points

Net sales 128.5 100.0 128.3 100.0 0.2 0.2% 11 0.8%
Gross margin 60.0 46.6 59.6 46.5 0.3 0.5% 1.4 2.4% 70
Advertising and promotional costs (17.8) (13.9) (17.9) (14.0) 0.1 -0.4% - 0.1% 10
Overheads (26.5)  (20.6) (23.1)  (18.0) (35) 15.1% (3.7) 16.2% (270)
Result from recurring activities 15.6 12.1 18.7 14.5 (3.1) -16.5% (2.3) -12.5% (190)

The result from recurring activities decreased by -16.5% overall and recorded a sales margin of 12.1%, showing
a total decrease of 240 basis points. The organic variation was negative and equal to -12.5%, generating a dilution
in profitability of 190 basis points, caused by the following effects:

- the gross margin grew by +2.4% at organic level, generating an improvement on profitability of 70 basis points,
thanks to the improved geographic/product mix driven by the Australian market; this more than offset the lower
contribution of sales of high-margin brands (Campari and Wild Turkey) in Japan, as a result of the destocking
activities carried out in the last part of the year ahead of changes in the distribution structure.

- advertising and promotional costs were broadly stable at organic level, with a positive effect on profitability
of 10 basis points;

- overheads increased by +16.2% at organic level and, compared with a broadly stable organic change in sales,
generated a dilutive effect on profitability of 270 basis points. The increase is due mainly to the changes
introduced in the region’s distribution structure, as well as costs incurred relating to the move of the main offices
of the Asia-Pacific region from Sydney to Singapore, planned for early 2020, in order to benefit from a more
central location for the offices with regard to the main Asian markets.
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Reclassified statement of cash flows

The table below shows a simplified and reclassified version of the cash flow statement in the consolidated financial
statements.

The main classification consists of the representation of the change in net financial debt at the end of the period
as the final result of the total cash flow generated (or used). Therefore, cash flows relating to changes in short-
and long-term debt, and in investments in marketable securities are not shown.

2019 of wh_ich 2018 of wh_ich
recurring recurring
€ million € million € million € million
EBITDA Adjusted 479.8 479.8 432.6 432.6
Effects from hyperinflation accounting standard adoption 4.5 4.5 3.0 3.0
Accruals and other changes from operating activities (46.4) (17.3) (34.1) 2.6
Income taxes paid (45.3) (81.1) (48.5) (72.5)
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 392.5 385.9 353.0 365.7
Changes in net operating working capital (29.6) (29.6) (25.5) (25.5)
Cash flow from operating activities 363.0 356.3 3275 340.2
Net interests paid (27.9) (27.9) (22.8) (22.8)
Adjustments to financial income (expenses) 5.8 - 1.8 -
Capital expenditure (82.4) (61.1) (70.9) (49.7)
Free cash flow 258.5 267.3 235.6 267.7
(Acquisition) disposal of business 110.8 - 22.2 -
Dividend paid out by the Parent Company (57.3) - (57.5) -
Other chanaes (net purchase of own shares included) (54.3) - (62.0) -
Total cash flow used in other activities (0.8) - (97.3) -
Exchange rate differences and other changes (13.9) - (4.0) -
Change in net financial debt due to operating activities 243.7 134.3
Put option and earn-out changes® (77.6) - 1.0 -
Effect of IFRS 16-'Leases' application® (81.4) - - -
Increase in investments for lease right of use® (15.8) - - -
Net cash flow of the period = change in net financial debt 68.9 - 135.3 -
Net financial debt at the end of the period (846.3) - (981.5) -
Net financial debt at the end of the period (777.4) - (846.3) -

@ This item includes the full effects of the acquisitions and sales of companies, businesses or strategic assets during the period, which impacted the Group’s net
financial debt and liquidity flows.

@ This item, which is a non-cash item, was included purely to reconcile the change in financial debt relating to activities in the period with the overall change in net
financial debt.

© For information on the value shown, please see note 33-Leases, to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report at 31 December 2019.

Highlights

In 2019, net cash flow reflected cash flow generation of €68.9 million, corresponding to a decrease in financial
debt from 31 December 2018, and compares with cash flow generated of €135.3 million recorded in the same
period of the previous year.

Total free cash flow generated in 2019 was €258.5 million, increasing from €235.6 million in 2018. The generation
of operating cash flow was boosted by income from sales of non-core assets, net of business acquisitions, totalling
€110.8 million; cash flow was absorbed by a liquidity requirement of €57.3 million for the payment of dividends
and by the purchase of own shares to service stock option plans for €47.3 million (included under other changes
item for an amount of €54.3 million), and other variations, including changes in the financial liabilities for put
options and earn-out overall totalling €195.8 million.

Cash generation in terms of recurring free cash flow amounted to €267.3 million in 2019, broadly in line with
the figure of €267.7 million generated in 2018 in absolute terms, and a decrease as a percentage of adjusted
EBITDA (55.7% in 2019 compared with 61.9% in 2018).

The adoption of the new accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’ led to an increase in the Group’s net financial
debt, together with a notional increase in tangible assets due to the recognition of rights of use. The notional
financial payables and receivables, which were recorded to represent future commitments associated with
transactions regarding the use of third-party assets, did not, however, have any impact on the Group’s actual cash
flows, which are still linked to the timing of the payment of rent as set out in the agreements. Also in terms of
investment flows, the new methodology for representing the figures did not entail any real financial movements.
In order to exclude the effects that did not generate a cash flow from the reclassified cash flow statement, a
separate line called ‘effect of IFRS 16-'Leases' application’ was inserted for an amount of €81.4 million, which
shows the effect of the first-time adoption of the standard, purely for the purposes of reconciling net financial debt
at 31 December 2019.
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Analysis of the consolidated statement of cash flows

The following factors contributed to the generation of free cash flow in 2019:

- adjusted EBITDA rose by €47.2 million compared with the same period in the previous year;

- non-cash liabilities arising from the application of the accounting standard IAS 29-‘Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies’, totalled €4.5 million;

- in 2019, provisions net of utilisations of reserves and other non-cash changes, and other miscellaneous
operating changes, such as indirect taxation and excise duties absorbed cash of €46.4 million.

- The cash requirement highlighted in 2019 is mainly due to restructuring projects launched in 2018 and under
way in 2019. The recurring component of €17.3 million excludes the operating adjustments and payments
relating to restructuring projects and is related to payments for certain benefits accrued by employees for
medium-term incentive plans, indirect taxation and excise duties;

- the actual financial impact arising from tax payments made in 2019 amounted to €45.3 million; excluding the
non-recurring tax components attributable to the tax relief obtained under the Patent Box regime, taxes paid
came to €81.1 million and were broadly in line with the recurring payments made in 2018; the tax effects
relating to the sale of non-core assets, completed in the latter part of the year, will determine an impact on
cash flows after the close of 2019, based on payments schedule provided by the referenced tax regulation.

- working capital recorded cash absorption of €29.6 million in 2019 (€25.5 million in 2018);

- net interest paid totalled €22.1 million in 2019, of which €27.9 million related to recurring interest. Excluding
interest paid on lease operations totalling €3.4 million, shown under the item in question in 2019 based on the
provisions of the new accounting standard IFRS16-Leases, interest would have been €24.5 million;

- net investment amounted to €82.4 million, of which the recurring component was €61.1 million.

Cash flow used in other activities was negative at €0.8 million, compared with a still negative value of €97.3

million in 2018.

The increase mainly reflects the effect of extraordinary sales and acquisitions of businesses carried out by the

Group in the two periods under comparison:

- in 2019, the sale of some non-core real estate attributable mainly to the acquisition of Grand Marnier, net of the
acquisition of Rhumantilles, Ancho Reyes and Montelobos, generated positive net cash flow totalling €110.8
million. However, considering all the financial effects related to the sale of Villa Les Cédres and business
acquisitions, the positive impact on the net financial debt is €28.9 million at 31 December 2019, or negative for
€ 31.3 million, excluding the effect correlated to the payment of the related tax expenses expected to be paid
after 2019. For more details see the table below;

- in 2018, the sale of the Lemonsoda range more than offset the cash requirement for completing the acquisition
of Bisquit, generating total net cash flow of €22.2 million.

acquisition
(Rhumantilles,
Ancho Reyes and
Montelobos)

Disposal of non-
core assets (Villa
Les Cédres)®

total

€ million € million € million

Collection (payment) at closing date 200.0 (86.5) 1135
Net financial asset (net financial debt) of acquired businesses - 2.7) 2.7)
Total payments received (paid) on closing date 200.0 (89.2) 110.8
Other payables - put option and earn-out included: (52.7) (23.9) (76.6)
of which paid after the closing date of transaction (42.0) - (42.0)

of which represented as financial debt (10.7) (23.9) (34.6)

Other net debt arising from the transaction, paid after the closing date (5.4) - (5.4)
Net effect of (acquisitions) disposals on net financial debt 141.9 (113.1) 28.9
Tax payables arising from the transaction) (60.1) - (60.1)
Total net consideration for (acquisitions) disposals 81.8 (113.1) (31.3)

(OThe total net value of the sale of the real estate property Villa Les Cédres includes €80 million contractually agreed as pertaining to Campari Group, as well as
€1.8 million relating to the price supplement pertaining to Campari Group, as minority shareholder of Société des Produits Marnier-Lapostolle S.A. at the time
of the public purchase offer.

(™The tax payable arising from the disposal of Villa Les Cédres will be paid after the end of 2019 accordingly to payments schedule provided by the referenced
tax regulation.

Lastly, cash flow used in other activities was further affected by dividend payments of €57.3 million (€57.5 million
in 2018) and other decreases totalling €54.3 million (€62.0 million in 2018) arising mainly from the purchase of
own shares to service stock option plans.

Exchange rate differences and other changes had a negative impact of €13.9 million on the 2019 net cash flow
(decrease of €4.0 million in 2018); this reflects the effect of exchange rate differences on operating working capital,
as well as the recognition of some non-cash components, which were included for the purposes of reconciling the
changes in cash flow with the change in net financial debt.

The effects of the first-time adoption of the new standard on leases totalling €81.4 million, to which is added the
change of leases equal to €15.8 million for the year and the change in payables for put options and earn-out,
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totalling €77.6 million, are attributable, respectively, to the impact of transitioning to the new accounting standard
on leases commented on above, and the change in payables arising in connection with acquisitions (Société des
Produits Marnier Lapostolle S.A., as well as Ancho Reyes and Montelobos). These effects are shown purely for
the purposes of reconciling the financial debt for the period with the total net financial debt.

Operating working capital

The breakdown of the total change in operating working capital compared with 31 December 2019 is as follows.
change of which:

31 December 31 December exchange rates
2019 2018 total organic and external
hyperinflation

€ million € million € million € million € million € million
Trade receivables 316.9 285.9 31.0 19.2 39 79
Total inventories, of which: 618.6 566.1 52.5 23.7 7.5 21.3
- maturing inventory 364.7 340.1 24.6 19.1 5.6 B
- biological assets 0.9 0.8 - - - N
- other inventory 253.0 225.2 27.8 4.6 19 21.3
Trade payables (240.7) (216.0) (24.7) (13.3) (0.9) (10.5)
Operating working capital 694.8 636.0 58.8 29.6 10.5 18.8
net sales of the period 1,842.5 1,711.7
\é\(/achir(l:(ljng capital as % of net sales of the 37.7 372

Operating working capital at 31 December 2019 was €694.8 million, an increase of €58.8 million. Organic growth
of €29.6 million was amplified by a positive exchange rate effect of €10.5 million and by inclusion of the growth
component arising from the two acquisitions completed in the last part of the year (Rhumantilles, Ancho Reyes
and Montelobos), for more details please see the section ‘Significant events in the period’.

With regard to the organic change in working capital, the most significant component was the increase in
inventories, totalling €23.7 million, as well as an increase in receivables from customers, of €19.2 million; this was
only partly offset by an increase in payables to suppliers of €13.3 million.

With particular reference to inventories, the organic change has been generated for €4.6 million from rising in
stocks of finished products and for €19.1 million from the natural increase in products supporting the maturation
process. It should be noted that, due to its nature, working capital represented by products supporting the
maturation process is similar to invested capital, and the growth trend is planned.

The positive exchange rate component, totalling €10.5 million, is attributable to receivables due from customers
totalling €3.9 million. The effect on inventories was €7.5 million and is mainly due maturing inventory in the
Americas region (particularly the United States and Jamaica). The effect on trade payables was marginally
negative at €0.9 million.

Lastly, with regard to the perimeter effect, totalling €18.8 million, it should be noted that the acquisition of
Rhumantilles made a significant contribution to the stocks of rum undergoing the maturing process.

At 31 December 2019, operating working capital as a percentage of net sales in the last 12 months was 37.7%,
with an overall increase in the percentage of sales of +0.6% compared to the previous year, attributable to the
organic change. The exchange rate effect (which also includes the hyperinflationary effects in Argentina) had a
marginal impact. However, given that the acquisitions of Rhumantilles, Ancho Reyes and Montelobos occurred
on 1 October and 20 November 2019 respectively, the statement of financial position figures at 31 December
2019 include the working capital of the acquired companies, while the sales reported in the previous 12 months
include the contribution of the brands acquired only for the period from the date the transactions were completed
(i.e. for one quarter and one month only, respectively). If the statement of financial position and income statement
figures were adjusted to take account of the consolidation of the acquired companies, operating working capital
would be reduced to 36.7% of net sales.
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Breakdown of net financial debt

At 31 December 2019, consolidated net financial debt was €777.4 million, a decrease of €68.9 million on figure
at 31 December 2018 (€846.3 million). The value at 31 December 2019 was affected by the adoption of the
accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’, which involved the recognition of notional payables and receivables to
represent future commitments related to transactions concerning the use of third-party assets, resulting in a total
net exposure for leases of €90.4 million at 31 December 2019. Excluding the effects of applying the above-
mentioned accounting standard, the Group’s net financial debt in 2019 would have shown an overall reduction of
€159.2 million, despite the outlay of €57.3 million for the payment of dividends and the purchase of own shares
to service stock option plans in the amount of €47.3 million.

Lastly, consolidated net financial debt at 31 December 2019 includes the effects arising from the acquisitions of
Rhumantilles and Ancho Reyes and Montelobos (please see the ‘Significant events of the period’ section for more
information), which were completed in the last part of 2019.

The table below shows how the debt structure changed during the two periods under comparison.

of which perimeter

31 December 2019 31 December 2018 change effect for acquisitions
€ million € million € million € million
cash and cash equivalents 704.4 613.9 90.5 6.0
bond (580.0) (219.1) (360.9) -
payables to banks (34.4) 9.3) (25.2) (6.8)
lease payables® (15.4) (0.5) (14.9) -
lease receivables® 2.3 0.3 2.0
other financial receivables and payables (5.4) 18.1 (23.6)
other financial assets-Joint venture - 0.6 (0.6)
short-term net financial debt 71.5 404.1 (332.6) 0.7)
bonds® (349.4) (790.8) 4415 -
payables to banks (249.3) (300.0) 50.7 (0.6)
lease payables® (82.1) (1.0) (81.1) (1.4)
lease receivables® 4.8 0.8 4.0
other financial receivables and payables 9.8 15.0 (5.2) -
medium/long-term net financial debt (666.1) (1,076.0) 409.9 (2.0)
net financial debt relating to operating activities (594.6) (672.0) 77.3 (2.7)
liabilities for put option and earn-out payments (182.8) (174.3) (8.5) (23.9)
net financial debt (777.4) (846.3) 68.9 (26.6)

@ Total net financial exposure to leases at 31 December 2019 was €90.4 million. For more information on the effects of the first-time adoption of this standard,
see note 4-Changes in accounting standards of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019.
@ Including the relevant derivatives.

In terms of structure, net financial debt at 31 December 2019 continued to comprise a larger medium/long-term
debt component compared with the short-term portion.

A summary of the effects of the business acquisitions and sales of the Group’s non-core assets completed during

the year is shown below (see the summary table shown in the comments to the cash flow statement for more

information):

- the acquisitions of Rhumantilles, Ancho Reyes and Montelobos impacted the net financial debt by an amount of
€113.1 million;

- the completion of sales of the Group’s non-core assets arising from the acquisition of Grand Marnier, including
the sale of its real estate property Villa Les Cédres, made a positive contribution to the net financial debt in the
amount of €141.9 million (€81.8 million net of the related deferred tax effect).

The short-term net financial debt was positive at €71.5 million and consists mainly of cash and cash equivalents
(€704.4 million), net of bonds (€580.0 million). Net cash decreased by €332.6 million compared with the net
position recorded at 31 December 2018, owing to the recognition of the bond of €580.0 million, maturing in
September 2020, under current items (previously classified under the long-term component). This change more
than offset the increase in cash and cash equivalents of €90.5 million. To the figure of €34.4 million for payables
to banks is added a notional short-term financial debt relating to lease, this comprises €15.4 million for payables
and €2.3 million for receivables. Other financial payables and receivables include a net payable of €5.4 million,
which mainly relates to payables for interest routinely accrued on existing bonds (in an amount of €8.7 million).
The Parent Company’s maturing cash investments and financial assets relating to joint ventures, shown under
this item at 31 December 2018, were also collected in the period.

The medium/long-term items comprise bonds of €349.4 million; this figure includes €150.0 million from the

placement of an unrated bond with a five-year term, reserved exclusively for institutional investors and issued on
23 April 2019. Bank payables totalled €249.3 million, a decrease of €50.7 million compared with 31 December
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2018: on 31 July 2019, the term loan with a nominal amount of €300.0 million was repaid early and, at the same
time, a term loan with a nominal amount of €250.0 million, maturing in 2024, was taken out. For more details on
both transactions, see the section ‘Significant events during the period’.

Notional payables and receivables relating to long-term leases, in amounts of €82.1 million and €4.8 million
respectively, were also recorded. Lastly, medium/long-term net financial debt includes other financial payables
and receivables of various types, represented by a net receivable of €9.8 million relating to various financial assets
(€6.6 million) and restricted deposits for the payment of earn-out associated with business acquisitions (€3.3
million).

Separately, the Group’s net financial debt shows a payable of €182.8 million, which comprises the payable for
future commitments to purchase shareholdings in acquired businesses and earn-out.

With regards to the debt management, the Group pursues objectives based on the achievement of an optimal
level of financial soundness, while maintaining an appropriate level of liquidity that enables it to make an economic
return and, at the same time, gives it sufficient flexibility in terms of how it finances acquisitions. The Group
monitors changes to its net debt/EBITDA adjusted ratio on an ongoing basis. This multiple was 1.6 times at 31
December 2019 decreasing from 2.0 at 31 December 2018, with same calculation criteria.

Investments

In 2019, net investments totalled €82.4 million, of which €61.1 million were recurring and €21.3 million were non-
recurring.

Recurring investments relate to initiatives aimed at continually improving the production efficiency of the Group’s

industrial plants, offices and infrastructure. Specifically, they relate to the following projects:

e maintenance operations at the Group’s structures, plants and offices, which are not material individually, but
amounted to €31.8 million in total;

e the purchase of barrels for maturing bourbon and rum totalling €13.0 million, net of the related sales;

e investments to develop biological assets, totalling €2.1 million;

e investments in intangible assets with a finite life of €14.2 million mainly related to projects to continuously
upgrade and integrate the Group’s IT systems.

Non-recurring investments, totalling €21.3 million, relate to initiatives such as the opening of new offices, and
activities aimed at creating brand houses.

Another non-recurring item not included in the above-mentioned investment value consisted of gross cash-in flow
of €200.0 million! from the sale of the Group’s non-core assets, mainly relating to the acquisition of Grand Marnier.

With regard to the type of investment, the net purchases comprised tangible assets of €68.2 million and intangible
assets of €14.2 million.

Lastly, the investments for rights of use of third-party assets are related to tangible assets at 31 December 2019.
The increase during the year amounted to €15.8 million and was attributable to offices and vehicles.

The total net value of the sale of Villa Les Cédres includes €80 million contractually agreed as pertaining to Campari Group, as well as €1.8 million relating to the
price supplement pertaining to Campari Group, as minority shareholder in the Société des Produits Marnier-Lapostolle S.A.at the time of the public purchase offer.
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Reclassified statement of net financial debt

The Group’s balance sheet is shown in the table below in summary and in reclassified format, to highlight the
structure of invested capital and financing sources.

of which perimeter

31 December 2019 31 December 2018 change effect for

acquisitions

€ million € million € million € million

fixed assets 3,063.5 2,962.5 101.0 88.3
other non-current assets and (liabilities) (441.4) (484.8) 43.4 (6.7)
operating working capital 694.8 636.0 58.8 18.7
other current assets and (liabilities) (147.9) (104.7) (43.1) (1.6)
total invested capital 3,169.0 3,009.1 159.9 98.7
Group shareholders' equity 2,389.7 2,162.8 226.9 86.2
non controlling interests 1.9 - 1.9 9.7
net financial debt 777.4 846.3 (68.9) 2.7
total financing sources 3,169.0 3,009.1 159.9 98.7

Invested capital at 31 December 2019 was €3,169.0 million, €159.9 million higher than at 31 December 2018.
The most significant change in invested capital relates to the increase of €58.8 million (of which €29.6 million
relates to organic growth) in operating working capital, as well as the increase in fixed assets (€101.0 million),
mainly due to the effects of the first-time adoption of the new IFRS 16-‘Leases’, from 1 January 2019.

Please see the section entitled ‘Operating working capital’ for further details about changes in net working capital.

The acquisitions of Rhumantilles, Ancho Reyes and Montelobos, completed in the latter part of the year, entailed
an increase in all invested capital items with the recognition of the following items, whose values have been
determined provisionally:

- fixed assets of €88.3 million;

- non-current liabilities (net of other non-current assets) of €6.7 million;

- operating working capital of €18.7 million;

- other current liabilities (net of other current assets) of €1.6 million;

- non-controlling interests of €9.7 million.

For more details on the figures recorded in relation to the acquisition, please see note 7-Business combinations,
of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019.

Regarding financing sources, the increase of €226.9 million in shareholders’ equity was mainly due to profit for
the period, the dividend paid by the Parent Company, and hyperinflationary and translation differences on assets
held in currencies other than the Euro. The changes in net financial debt, totalling €68.9 million, are commented
in the section ‘Breakdown of net financial debt’.

As a result of the changes mentioned above, the Group’s financial structure showed a ratio of debt to own funds
at the end of the period of 32.5%, a decrease on the figure of 39.1% recorded at 31 December 2018.
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Alternative performance indicators (non-GAAP measures)

These financial statements present and comment on certain financial performance indicators that are not defined in the IFRS
(non-GAAP measures).

These indicators, which are described below, are used to analyse the Group's business performance in the 'Highlights' and
'Report on operations' sections, in compliance with the requirements of Consob communication (DEM 6064293) of 28 July
2006 as subsequently amended and supplemented (Consob communication 0092543 of 3 December 2015, which
incorporates the Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures ESMA/2015/1415).

The alternative performance indicators listed below should be used to supplement the information required by IFRS to help
readers of the annual financial statements gain a better understanding of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities, and cash
flows. In addition, alternative performance indicators may be used to facilitate comparison with groups operating in the same
sector, although in some cases the calculation method could differ from those used by other companies.

- Financial indicators used to measure Group operating performance

Organic change: the Group shows organic changes to comment on its underlying business performance. By using this

indicator, it is possible to focus on the business performance common to both periods under comparison and which

management can influence. The organic changes are calculated by excluding both the impact of currency movement against
the Euro (expressed at average exchange rates for the same period in the previous year) and the effects of business
acquisitions and disposals as well as the signing or termination of distribution agreements. Specifically:

- the exchange rate effects are calculated by converting the figures for the current period at the exchange rates applicable in
the comparative period of the previous year;

- the results due to businesses acquired during the current year are excluded from the organic change for 12 months from the
date on which the transaction closed;

- the results due to businesses acquired during the previous year are wholly included in the figures for the previous year as
from the closing date of the transaction, and are only included in the current period’s organic change 12 months after the
acquisition;

- the results due to business disposals or the termination of distribution agreements during the previous year are wholly
excluded from the figures for that year and, therefore, from the organic change;

- the results due to business disposals or the termination of distribution agreements during the current year are excluded from
the figures for the previous year from the corresponding date of disposal or termination of the agreement.

The percentage organic change is the ratio of the absolute value of the organic change, calculated as described above, to the

absolute value of the indicator in question for the previous period being compared.

Gross margin: calculated as the difference between net sales and the cost of goods sold (in terms of their materials,
production and distribution).

Contribution margin: calculated as the difference between net sales, the cost of goods sold (in terms of their materials,
production and distribution cost components) and advertising and promotional costs.

Adjustments to operating income (expenses) relate to certain transactions or events identified by the Group as adjustment
components to the operating result, such as:

- capital gains (losses) on the disposal of tangible and intangible assets;

- capital gains (losses) on the disposal of businesses;

- penalties arising from the settlement of tax disputes;

- impairment losses on fixed assets;

- restructuring and reorganisation costs;

- ancillary expenses associated with acquisitions/disposals of businesses or companies;

- other non-recurring income (expenses).

The above-mentioned items were deducted from or added to the following indicators: operating result, EBITDA, result before
tax for the period, net result and basic/diluted earnings per share. For a detailed reconciliation of the items that had an impact
on the above-mentioned alternative performance indicators in the current and comparison years, see the appendix shown at
the end of this section.

The Group believes that properly adjusted indicators help both management and investors to assess the Group’s results and
cash flows against those of other companies in the sector, as they exclude the impact of some items that are not relevant for
assessing performance.

Operating result (EBIT): calculated as the difference between net sales, the cost of goods sold (in terms of their materials,
production and distribution), advertising and promotional costs, and overheads.

Result from recurring activities (EBIT adjusted): the operating result for the period before the above-mentioned adjustments
to operating income (expenses).

EBITDA: the operating result before depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible fixed assets and leased assets.
EBITDA adjusted: EBITDA as defined above, excluding the above-mentioned adjustments to operating income (expenses).

Adjustments to financial income (expenses): certain transactions or events identified by the Group as components
adjusting the net profit/loss related to events covering a single period or financial year, such as:
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e expenses related to the early settlement of financial liabilities or liability management operations;
e financial expenses arising from acquisitions/disposals of businesses or companies;
e other non-recurring financial income (expenses).

Tax adjustments: these include the tax effects of transactions or events identified by the Group as components adjusting the
net tax liability related to events covering a single period or financial year, such as:

- positive (negative) tax effects associated with the operating and financial adjustments described above;

- non-recurring positive (negative) tax effects.

Result before tax adjusted: the result for the period before tax, before the above-mentioned adjustments to operating income
(expenses) and to financial income (expenses), and before the tax effect.

Group’s net result adjusted: the result for the period before the above-mentioned adjustments to operating income
(expenses) and to financial income (expenses), before the related tax effect and before other positive/negative tax adjustments
for the period

Adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share (Adjusted basic/diluted EPS): basic/diluted earnings per share (EPS)
before the above-mentioned adjustments to operating income (expenses) and to financial income (expenses), before the
related tax effect and before other positive/negative tax adjustments for the period.

ROS (return on sales): the ratio of the operating result to net sales for the period.
ROS adjusted: the ratio of the result from recurring activities (EBIT adjusted) to net sales for the period.

ROI (return on investment): the ratio of the operating result for the period to fixed assets at the end of the period (see the
definition of fixed assets below).

ROI adjusted: the ratio of the result from recurring activities for the period (EBIT adjusted) to fixed assets at the end of the
period (see the definition of fixed assets below).

¢ Reclassified statement of financial position

The items included in the reclassified statement of financial position are defined below as the algebraic sum of specific items
contained in the financial statements:

Fixed assets: calculated as the algebraic sum of:

- net tangible fixed assets;

- right-of-use assets;

- biological assets;

- investment property;

- goodwill and brands;

- intangible assets with a finite life;

- non-current assets held for sale;

- investments in affiliates and joint ventures;

Other non-current assets and liabilities: calculated as the algebraic sum of:

- deferred tax assets;

- other non-current assets, net of financial assets (classified under net financial debt);
- deferred tax liabilities;

- defined benefit plans;

- provisions for risks and charges;

- other non-current liabilities, net of financial liabilities (classified under net financial debt);
Operating working capital: calculated as the algebraic sum of:

- inventories;

- trade receivables;

- payables to suppliers;

Other current assets and liabilities: calculated as the algebraic sum of:

- current tax receivables;

- other current receivables, net of financial assets (classified under net financial debt);
- current tax payables;

- other current payables, net of financial liabilities (classified under net financial debt).
Invested capital: calculated as the algebraic sum of the items listed above and in particular:
- fixed assets;

- other non-current assets and liabilities;

- operating working capital;

- other current assets and liabilities.

e Net financial debt

Net financial debt is calculated as the algebraic sum of:

- cash and cash equivalents;

- non-current financial assets, recorded under Other non-current assets;
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- current financial assets, recorded under Other receivables;

- receivables for leases;

- payables to banks;

- payables for leases;

- other financial payables;

- bonds;

- non-current financial liabilities, recorded under Other non-current liabilities;
- payables for put option and earn-out.

Investments in fixed assets
This item includes the cash flow from the purchase of tangible and intangible fixed assets net of disposals made during the
period.

Recurring investments
This item shows the net cash flow from purchases/disposals relating to projects managed in the ordinary course of business.

e Reclassified statement of cash flows

The main restatement was the exclusion of cash flows relating to changes in short-term and long-term debt, and in investments
in marketable securities. The total cash flow generated (or used) in the period thus corresponds to the change in net financial
debt.

Recurring free cash flow: cash flow that measures the Group’s self-financing capacity, calculated on the basis of cash flow
from operations, before the above-mentioned adjustments to operating income and expenses, and adjusted for interest, net
direct taxes paid and cash flow used in investments attributable to ordinary business before income from the sale of fixed
assets.

Recurring provisions and operating changes: these include provisions and operating changes with the exclusion of the
above-mentioned adjustments to operating income and expenses.

Recurring taxes paid: these include taxes paid excluding cash flows from tax incentives and from disposal of the Group's
non-strategic assets.

Free cash flow: cash flow that measures the Group’s self-financing capacity calculated on the basis of cash flow from
operations, net of interests, direct taxes paid and cash flow used in investments, excluding income from the sale of fixed
assets.

- Appendix of alternative performance indicators

In 2019, EBITDA, the result from recurring activities (EBIT) and Group profit were adjusted to take account of the items shown
in the table below.

To ensure the figures are fully comparable with those of the same period in 2018, Campari Group will continue to provide
alternative performance indicators for 2019, as if IFRS 16-‘Leases’ had not been applied.
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Group profit basic diluted
31 December 2019 EBITDA EBIT beforz Faxes Group net profit earing per earning
share per share
0, 0, 0, 0,
€ million % € million % ¢ million % emiion % € €
on sales on sale on sale on sale
alternative performance indicator reported 458.1 24.9% 386.3 21.0% 354.6 19.2% 308.4 16.7% 0.27 0.26
gains (losses) from disposals of tangible and o o o 020 : :
intangible fixed assets 2.2 0.1% 22 01% 22 0.1% 2.2 -0.4%
g%iﬂﬁﬁs%@%ﬂ% assets, goodwill, trademarks 66  -0.4% 6.6) -0.4% (6.6) -0.4% 6.6) 0.1% (0.01) (0.01)
fees fror_n acquisition/disposals of business or 13 0.1% 13) -01% 13) -0.1% 13) -0.1% : :
companies
restructuring and reorganisation costs (10.2) -0.6% (10.2) -0.6% (10.2) -0.6% (10.2) -0.6% (0.01) (0.01)
other adjustments of operating income (expenses) (5.8) -0.3% (5.8) -0.3% (5.8) -0.3% (5.8) -0.3% (0.01) -
adjustments to financial income (expenses) - - - - 58 0.3% 58 0.3% 0.01 -
fiscal effects of Patent Box - - - - - - 254 1.4% 0.02 0.02
other fiscal adjustments - - - - - - 314 1.7% 0.03 0.03
total adjustments (21.7) -1.2% (21.7) -1.2% (15.8) -0.9% 41.0 2.2% 0.01 0.01
alternative performance indicator adjusted 479.8 26.0% 408.0 22.1% 370.4 20.1% 267.4 14.5% 0.23 0.23
Effect of IFRS 16-'Leases' application 15.0 0.8% 1.4  0.1% (1.8) -0.1% (1.8) -0.1% - -
alternative performance indicator adjusted for o o o o
IFRS 16-'Leases’ application 464.7 25.2% 406.6 22.1% 372.2 20.2% 269.2 14.6% 0.24 0.23
31 December 2019 Net financial debt
€ million
alternative performance indicator reported (777.4)
Effect of IFRS 16-'Leases' application (90.4)
alternative performance indicator adjusted for IFRS 16-'Leases' application (687.0)
31 December 2019 Free cash flow
€ million
alternative performance indicator reported 258.5
provisions and other operating changes non-recurring (29.1)
non-recurring taxes paid 35.8
adjustments to financial income (expenses) 5.8
net cash flow from non-recurring investments (21.3)
total adjustments (8.8)
alternative performance indicator adjusted 267.3
Group profit basic diluted
31 December 2018 EBITDA EBIT beforg Faxes Group net profit earing per earning
share per share
v) v) 0, 0,
€ million % € million % € million A emilion % € €
on sales on sale on sale on sale
alternative performance indicator reported 4345 25.4% 380.7 22.2% 350.8 20.5% 296.3 17.3% 0.26 0.25
capital gains (losses) from business disposals 38.5 2.3% 385 2.3% 385 2.3% 385 23% 0.03 0,03
f:aplta{ gains (losses) from disposals of tangible and @.1) 0.1% @1) -0.1% 21) -0.1% 21) -0.1% : :
intangible fixed assets
fees from acquisition/disposals of business or
companies (0.3) - (0.3) - 0.3) - 0.3) - - -
restructuring and reorganization costs (34.6) -2.0% (34.6) -2.0% (34.6) -2.0% (34.6) -2.0% (0.03) (0.03)
_other adjustments of operating 0.3 : 0.3 : 0.3 } 0.3 } : :
income (expenses)
other adjustments to financial income (expenses) - - - - 1.8 0.1% 18 0.1% - -
fiscal effects of Patent Box - - - - - - 26.0 1.5% 0.02 0.02
fiscal effects on operating and financial adjustments ; ) ) ) : : 174 1.0% 0.02 0.01
and other fiscal adjustments
total adjustments 19 0.1% 1.9 0.1% 3.7 02% 470 2.7% 0.04 0.04
alternative performance indicator adjusted 432.6 25.3% 378.8 22.1% 347.1 20.3% 249.3 14.6% 0.22 0.21

31 December 2018

Free cash flow

€ million
alternative performance indicator reported 235.6
provisions and other operating changes non-recurring (36.7)
non-recurring taxes paid 24.0
adjustments to financial income (expenses) 1.8
net cash flow from non-recurring investments (21.2)
total adjustments (32.1)
alternative performance indicator adjusted 267.7
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Full year 2019 conclusion and outlook

In 2019, Campari Group achieved solid results in terms of reported and organic growth in sales as well as across
all key adjusted profitability indicators.

Regarding the Group’s organic performance, after sustained growth in the first nine months, the performance in
the fourth quarter can be considered satisfactory also in light of the destocking ahead of route-to-market changes
in selective markets, affecting some high-margin brands.

Sales growth was positive in all the Group’s geographical regions, especially in the core high-margin European
and North American markets. The key emerging markets in South America and Eastern Europe registered a
recovery, helped by a favourable comparison base versus the previous year.

In terms of brands, organic growth was positive for all the brand clusters, especially the high-margin global priority
brands, whose outperformance continued to drive the sales mix improvement and operating margin expansion,
in line with the Group’s strategic objectives.

The gross margin expansion during the year can be considered positive in light of the increasingly adverse agave
purchase price as well as the aforementioned destocking activities, which largely impacted the results of the last
quarter.

Operating profitability indicators recorded sustained organic growth in the year, while the margin expansion
reflected the reinvestment into the business to support the brand development and the strengthening of the
Group’s commercial structures.

Overall, the growth in sales and profitability indicators at an adjusted basis reflected the positive exchange rates
effect, mainly driven by the strengthening of the US Dollar against the Euro, which more than offset a slightly
negative perimeter effect due to the tail-end effect of the termination of agency brands contracts, net of new
acquisitions that entered the Group’s perimeter in the last few months of the year.

In terms of net profit, the overall result reflected the operating and financial adjustments, their related fiscal effects
as well as the Patent Box tax relief in its fifth and final year.

Looking into 2020, the outlook remains balanced in terms of risks and opportunities.

At organic level, the positive performance of the business is expected to continue, driven by key high-margin
brand and market combinations. The tail-end effect of the destocking activities, ahead of the Group’s route-to-
market changes, is expected to impact the first half of the year, on top of a tough comparison base from previous
year.

Positive evolution of the EBIT organic performance is expected, while the margin development is expected to
reflect agave’s persistent elevated purchase price, the import tariffs imposed by the United States, the Group's
largest market, as well as continued investment in brand building activities and route-to-market initiatives aimed
at strengthening the Group's distribution structure.

Regarding the Group’s overall results, the perimeter is expected to reflect the recent acquisitions, including the
agreement to acquire the Group’s own distributor in France, completion of which is subject to anti-trust approval.
Lastly, the exchange rate trend is expected to reflect the macroeconomic and political environment, which in
general remains uncertain and volatile.

Overall, the Group is confident in delivering positive performance across all key business indicators in 2020.
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Events taking place after the end of the year

Acquisitions and commercial agreements

Joint venture in Japan

On 14 February 2020 the Group entered into agreement to create a joint venture in Japan, CT Spirits Japan Ltd.,
with a local partner, expert in the food&beverage industry. The aim of the joint venture is to promote and develop
the Group’s portfolio in this market. The Group maintains the right to purchase the remaining 60% of the share
capital of the joint venture, starting from 2023.

Other significant events

Proposal to transfer the registered office of Davide Campari Milano S.p.A. to the Netherlands and

enhancement of current increased voting mechanism

On February 18, 2020 the Board of Directors of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. (the Company) resolved to submit

to the shareholders the proposal to transfer the Company’s registered office to the Netherlands, with simultaneous

transformation of the Company into a Naamloze Vennootschap (N.V.) governed by Dutch law with the company
name ‘Davide Campari-Milano N.V.’ (the Transaction).

The transaction is aimed at encouraging a capital structure more supportive of the Group’s long-term external

growth strategies and rewarding a shareholder base with a long-term investment horizon, in line with the Group’s

strategic guidance.

Key elements of the transaction are as follows.

e The Transaction entails the transfer of the registered office to the Netherlands and the adoption of the company
form known as Naamloze Vennootschap (N.V.) under Dutch law, substantially equivalent to the company form
known as Societa per Azioni.

¢ In order to support the Group’s growth strategy through consolidation transactions in the global spirits sector,
the Transaction envisages enhancing the increased voting rights mechanism currently in force through the
adoption of a mechanism based on the assignment of special voting shares.

- Assignment of 2, 5 and 10 voting rights for each Ordinary Share which is held for 2, 5 or 10 years. The
status quo ante for shareholders already holding the increased voting benefit will be maintained through
the assignment of Special Voting Shares.

- Such additional voting rights are subject to the uninterrupted holding of Ordinary Shares. In case of
transfer of the Ordinary Shares to which the Special Voting Shares are connected, the benefit of the
increased voting shares will be lost.

¢ Shareholders who do not participate in the adoption of the resolution on the Transaction will be entitled to
exercise their withdrawal right.

e The Transaction is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, as the case may be) of a limited number of conditions
precedent, including the amount of cash to be paid to shareholders exercising their withdrawal right not
exceeding in aggregate the amount of Euro 150 million (calculated after taking into account the amounts
payable by the shareholders exercising their option and pre-emption rights pursuant to applicable laws and by
other third parties).

e Campari’s controlling shareholder Lagfin S.C.A. (Lagfin), which today owns 51% of Campari’'s issued capital
and 65.3% of the voting rights, has confirmed its long-term commitment to the Group strategy and prospects
and its support to the Transaction; commitment of Lagfin to acquire Campari shares resulting from the exercise
of the right of withdrawal (recesso) in the context of the offer and sale process provided for under Italian law
up to an aggregate amount of Euro 76.5 million.

o The Company’s Ordinary Shares will continue to be listed on the Italian Stock Exchange of Borsa lItaliana,
while the Special Voting Shares will not be tradable on the Italian Stock Exchange.

¢ No reorganization of the Group’s operational and managerial activities, which will continue to be led by the
Company on a continuous and uninterrupted basis. The Company will maintain its own legal status, without
any impact on its legal relationships, including relationships with its employees, which will continue to be
governed by Italian law.

e The tax residence will be maintained in Italy.

¢ No impact on the financial reporting. The financial statements will continue to be prepared in accordance with
IAS/IFRS.

It is envisaged that the Transaction will be consummated within the end of July 2020, subject to the satisfaction

(or the waiver, as the case may be) of the conditions precedent and the completion of all preliminary formalities

of the Transaction.

Further information on the Transaction will be made available by the Company through additional press releases

in accordance with the applicable provisions of law. All additional documents required by the applicable laws and
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regulations in relation to the Transaction (including the Explanatory Report prepared by the Board of Directors,
the New Articles of Association and the Terms and Conditions for Special Voting Shares) will be made available
to the public within the terms provided by law.

Share buyback

On February 18, 2020 the Board of Directors approved the report to be presented to the Shareholders’ meeting
to authorize the purchase and/or the sale of own shares, mainly aimed at the replenishment of the portfolio of own
shares to serve the current and future stock option plans for the Group’s management, according to the limits and
procedures provided by the applicable laws and regulations. The authorization is requested until June 30th, 2021.
With regard to the execution of the buyback, compared to previous years, the Board of Directors has approved to
continue the buyback program in place but for an increased amount up to €350 million in the next twelve months.
The increase of the buyback serves the purpose of implementing the Company’s new policy of having a portfolio
of treasury shares sufficient to serve all outstanding stock options plans as opposed to the ones approaching the
vesting period only, in order to hedge the risk of the price increase of the shares underlying the options and, as a
result, contain the overall outlay to service the incentive plans. Additional details on the program will be
communicated before the commencement of the purchases through a press release in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations.
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Investor information

The international economy

The reduction in international trade and the slowdown in global growth continued in the latter part of 2019. The
risks associated with trade tensions, China's slowing economy and uncertainty about how the UK will exit the
European Union (Brexit) are significant. Global financial conditions were particularly expansionary during the year.
Increased uncertainty about growth prospects and the accommodative stance of central banks led to a sharp
decline in long-term yields?.

As regards economic performance in Campari Group's main business areas in the Eurozone, there was a general
weakening during the year due to the vulnerability of the main sectors and countries, including Germany, to global
trade. The risk that the negative cyclical phase will lead to a prolonged decline in expected inflation is rising. The
Governing Council of the European Central Bank has confirmed the assessments made in previous months and
implemented a series of expansionary measures, with a broad consensus. According to the latest estimates
released, consumer prices are expected to have increased by 0.8% in 2019. The International Monetary Fund’s
projections put Eurozone GDP growth at 1.2% in 2019, with a downgrade of 0.1 percentage points on the forecasts
published in July.

The most recent indications suggest that economic activity in Italy, the second most important market for the
Group, showed no significant signs of recovery during 2019. It was particularly impacted by the weakness of
manufacturing, although there was slight growth in services and a modest recovery in construction. Investments
in capital goods have grown, thanks in part to the reintroduction of tax incentives in April. Exports remained stable
overall, despite the contraction in global trade. The new tariffs announced by the US administration on EU goods
will affect a relatively small share of Italian exports to the US, but the indirect effects could be significant in the
course of 2020.

In 2019, GDP decelerated in the US, the Group's largest market, while it grew slightly in Japan. UK GDP
decelerated slightly, in response to the disposal of stocks accumulated for precautionary reasons in the run-up to
the original date for Brexit, which was scheduled for the end of March 2019. The latest GDP growth estimates for
2019 are 2.3% for the US, 1.2% for the UK and 1.0% for Japan. In the manufacturing sector, cyclical conditions
weakened further in the latter part of 2019.

Looking at individual developing countries, economic activity in China slowed during the year. Growth in 2019
also fell sharply in India, while it was moderate in Brazil and Russia. The latest estimates for GDP growth in 2019
for all four countries are 6.2%, 5.8%, 0.8% and 1.1% respectively.

According to the latest forecasts released by the International Monetary Fund, which were recently downgraded,
global GDP growth slowed by 0.7 percentage points from 3.6% in 2018 to 2.9% in 2019. The downgrade mainly
reflects the impact of increased trade tensions, which have been only partly mitigated by the impact of demand
stimulus measures implemented by the main countries3.

Spirits sector

The main trends in the spirits sector remain largely consistent with those observed in 2018. Firstly, the significant
trend of premiumisation and product innovation is continuing in all developed markets with the introduction of new
variants in the high price ranges, renewed interest in classic cocktails driven by the mixology phenomenon, and
continual development of the premium-on-premise channel, characterised by the emergence of cocktail and
speakeasy-style bars. Millennials remain very keen on factors such as product quality and origin, brand values
and production processes. Consumers are becoming increasingly sophisticated in their choices and tend to direct
their purchases towards more premium product ranges. Millennials are also demonstrating consumption habits
aimed at affirming their social identity through lifestyle. In particular, occasions such as brunch and aperitifs are
becoming more common, with choice being dictated by the desire to consume outside the more traditional night-
time and after-dinner slots, as well as by the need for greater social interaction. The concept of social experience
is driving the marketing choices of the sector’s major players, helped in part by the development of food and wine
tourism on the trail of local and craft specialities. Lastly, new consumers are showing a greater openness to
categories that are traditionally unrelated to their background, with consumption increasingly driven by their own
preferences.

2 Bank of Italy
3 International Monetary Fund
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Emerging trends also include increased sales through e-commerce channels in various countries, particularly
China and the UK. This phenomenon, which at the moment mainly concerns the wines category (especially
sparkling wines and champagnes), also represents a growth opportunity for the spirits category in the near future.
We also note new trends associated with consumers’ search for innovative drinks, as shown by trends in sales of
alcohol-free and low-alcohol products, which have recently impacted the sector and led to specific innovations in
the on-premise channel.

Moreover, the phenomenon of “aperitif occasioning”, which is typical of Mediterranean countries, especially Italy,
continues to expand in the main global markets, thanks to experiential marketing initiatives, which are much
appreciated by consumers and exploit the popularity of aperitif cocktails on social media.

Lastly, there is a greater focus on “ethical” consumption in some regions, especially in northern Europe, with
consumers looking increasingly for local, community-focused brands, and producers paying ever greater attention
to maintaining high ethical and production standards.*

From a geographical perspective, in the US market, the most important for the sector in terms of profitability and
growth momentum, brown spirits continue to grow at high rates due to the trend for premium products, renewed
interest in premium cocktails, and increasing demand for product tasting. These trends are generally being driven
by consumers’ greater knowledge and appreciation of the products. Growth categories include American,
Canadian and Irish whiskeys, Scotch whisky, and tequila and cognac. The segment of agave-derived products,
such as tequila and mezcal, continues to grow, in part because it is strongly linked to artisan production. The
vodka segment remains extremely competitive, although many producers have shifted their focus to natural
variants. The high degree of competitiveness in the flavour segment has continued, generating strong price
pressure and reducing brand loyalty.

In other developed markets, such as continental Europe and the UK, there is a positive trend in the consumption
of brown spirits, bitter aperitifs and specialities; this is being driven by mixology and classic cocktails, and by the
development of new, non-traditional occasions for the consumption of spirits. Of particular note is the significant
growth recorded by both the gin category, driven notably by the pink variety, and the sparkling wines category,
driven by Prosecco.

Lastly, in the main emerging markets, China has seen a recovery in the consumption of imported premium
products since 2017, after a period of contraction from 2013-2016 due to the introduction of austerity measures.
The cognac and Scotch whisky (both malt and blended) category has driven growth of ‘western-style spirits’.

The medium- to long-term outlook for companies in the consumer segment, and especially spirits, remains
positive, with the main drivers being the increase in premium products, a favourable consumption trend, supportive
macroeconomic and demographic factors and expectations of further consolidation in the sector.

Financial markets

Fears about growth and the more expansionary orientation of monetary policies have had a mixed impact on
share prices, whose volatility has increased, and have translated into lower long-term yields. The financial markets
are hinting at the Euro depreciating against the Dollar.

Long-term interest rates have fallen in all major advanced economies in recent quarters, coinciding with rising
downside risks to growth and increasing expectations of further monetary stimulus from the major central banks.5

During 2019, the FTSE MIB and FTSE Italia All-Share indices grew by 28.3% and 27.2% respectively. In Europe,
the MSCI Europe closed 2019 with a gain of 21.1%, while in the US, the S&P500 index increased by 28.9%.

Regarding exchange rate fluctuation in 2019, many of Campari Group’s reference currencies appreciated against
the Euro compared with 2018, including the US dollar (+5.5%). The other currencies that appreciated against the
Euro include the Canadian dollar (+3.0%), the Jamaican dollar (+2.0%) and UK sterling (+0.9%). Conversely, the
currencies in the main emerging markets continued to depreciate, including the Argentine peso (-19.7%), the
Brazilian real (-2.4%) and the Australian dollar (-1.9%).

Performance of the Campari stock
In the economic, industry and financial market environment described above, the Campari stock price benefited
in 2019 from the announcement of positive results for all the main performance indicators.

During 2019, the Campari stock price rose on the Italian stock exchange, managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A., by
10.2% in absolute terms, with total shareholder return (TSR) up 10.8%. The Campari stock price underperformed

4 International Wine and Spirit Research (IWSR)
5 Bank of Italy
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the FTSE MIB by 18.1%. The stock underperformed the STOXX Europe 600 Food&Beverage index by 15.9% in
the period from 1 January to 31 December 2019, and underperformed the MSCI Europe sector index by 10.8%5.

The minimum and maximum closing prices in 2019 of €7.370 and €9.220 were recorded on 2 January 2019 and
10 May 2019 respectively. An average of 2.3 million Campari shares were traded daily in 2019, with an average
daily value of €19.7 million. At 31 December 2019, Campari’s market capitalisation was €9.5 billion.

From the date of the initial public offering (IPO) to 31 December 2019, the Campari stock price increased in
absolute terms by 10.5 times, or 950.3% (an average of 13.6% per year), with total shareholder return (TSR)” up
by 13.7 times, or 1,271.9% (an average of 15.2% per year). Over the same period, the Campari stock price
outperformed the FTSE MIB by 987.8%, the STOXX Europe 600 Food&Beverage index by 748.3% and the MSCI
Europe sector index by 939.7%.

Performance of the Campari stock and the main benchmark indices from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2019

Max: Eur 9.220

Equity turnover {€ million)

4

Min: Eur 7.370

Camparistock price (Euro)

0172019 022019 03:201% 042019 0572018 0E2019 72019 082019 082019 1072019 112019 12209

Campart (equity Senover € milllon) e e DA | 300K GrCE w— T SEM D Index (reGased) FTOKX Cyurope 000 Food & Doy ndes (redesed

6 Bloomberg
7 Dividend reinvested
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Performance of the Campari stock and the main benchmark indices from the IPO date (2001) to 31
December 2019

Max: Eur 9.220

[

Euro

Min: Eur 0.546

N.B.:

The figures have been adjusted to reflect the changes in share capital in 2005, 2009 and 2017.

The STOXX Europe 600 Food &Beverage Price Index is a capitalisation-weighted index which includes European companies operating in the food and beverage
industry.

Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. stock

Shares
At 31 December 2019, the share capital of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. was €58,080,000, consisting of
1,161,600,000 shares with a nominal value of €0.05 each.

Shareholder base, voting rights and loyalty shares
The table below shows the major shareholders at 31 December 20198,

On 28 January 2015, loyalty shares were introduced. The table below shows the updated position, at 31
December 2019, of the key shareholders in the special register recording entitlement to increased voting rights
(‘special register’). Specifically, it shows: (i) the shares that have obtained double voting rights after a qualifying
period of 24 months from the registration date; (ii) the number of shares that are recorded on the special register
but have not yet obtained double voting rights; and (iii) the number of shares that are not recorded on the special
register.

8 Shareholders who have notified Consob and Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. that they have shareholdings of over 3% as required under Article 117 of Consob
Regulation 11971/99 on the requirement to disclose significant holdings.
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: : : % voting
Registration No. of registered % of share capital Voting rights
date shares righ
ghts
Lagfin S.C.A., Société en
Commandite par Actions 592,416,000 51.00% 1,184,832,000 64.89%
of which:
(i) shares with double voting rights 09/04/2015 592,416,000 1,184,832,000
Cedar Rock Capital Ltd,
89,213,732 7.68% 151,844,006 8.32%
of which (1):
09/04/2015 55,955,231 111,910,462
(i) shares with double voting rights 07/04/2016 4,422,568 8,845,136
07/04/2017 2,252,475 4,504,950
(i) shares for which double voting rights 09/04/2018 12,679,764 12,679,764
requested
05/04/2019 486,572 486,572
(iii) shares not recorded on the special 13417122 13,417,122

register
@ Consob was informed by Andrew Brown, Chief Executive and Portfolio Manager of Cedar Rock Capital Ltd., in accordance with Article 120 of the Consolidated
Law on Finance (TUF).

The table below shows the updated position, at 31 December 2019, of outstanding shares and the number of
voting rights that may be exercised at general meetings.

% voting
No. of shares % of share capital Voting rights
rights
Total,
1,161,600,000 100.00% 1,826,008,882 100.00%
of which:
Ordinary shares with double voting rights
664,178,882 1,328,357,764
(ISIN code 1T0005252215)
Ordinary shares
497,421,118 497,421,118

(ISIN code IT0005252207)

Article 6 of the Articles of Association and the related Regulation on the special register for double voting rights,
approved by the Board of Directors, sets out the terms and conditions for entry in the special register and for any
request for removal.

For more detailed information on this subject, see the report drawn up by the Board of Directors and the Regulation
on the special register for double voting rights, which are published on the Company’s website
www.camparigroup.com/en/governance/voting-rights-and-loyalty-shares.

Dividend

The Board of Directors voted to propose to the Shareholders' Meeting a dividend of € 0.055 per share for the year
2019, gross of withholding taxes, up +10.0% on the previous year.

The dividend will be paid on 22 April 2020 (with an ex-date for coupon no. 4 of 20 April 2020 in accordance with
the Italian Stock Exchange calendar, and a record date of 21 April 2020). The Board of Directors resolved to
convene the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on 27 March 2020 to approve the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Information on the Campari stock and valuation indicators

The tables below show the performance of the Campari stock and the main valuation indicators used by Campari
since the IPO.
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Year Minimum Maximum  Average Price on Change in Change in FTSE Relative Average Average Stock market
price price price 31 Campari MIB  performance daily daily capitalisation
December stock of trading trading at 31
Campari® volume value December

millions of
€ € € € % % % shares € million € million
2019 7.37 9.22 8.40 8.14 +10.22% +28.28% -18.06% 2.3 19.7 9,455
2018 5.75 7.79 6.82 7.39 +14.60% -16.10% +30.70% 2.3 15.4 8,578
2017 4.61 6.88 5.83 6.45 +38.8% +13.6% +25.1% 2.2 13.2 7,487
2016 3.47 5.05 4.38 4.65 +16.1% -10.2% +26.3% 2.8 12.0 5,396
2015 2.47 4.21 3.48 4.00 +55.0% +12.7% +42.4% 3.8 12.9 4,646
2014 2.52 3.21 2.95 2.58 -15.1% +0.2% -15.4% 2.8 8.0 2,997
2013 2.73 3.32 3.00 3.04 +4.8% +16.6% -11.7% 2.6 79 3,531
2012 2.54 3.25 2.78 2.90 +12.7% +7.8% +4.9% 34 9.6 3,369
2011 2.22 2.97 2.59 2.58 +5.7% -25.2% +30.9% 4.0 10.6 2,988
2010 1.76 2.50 2.08 2.44 +33.5% -13.2% +46.8% 3.8 7.6 2,828
2009 0.97 1.86 1.41 1.83 +52.0% +19.5% +32.5% 3.2 4.5 2,118
2008 0.97 1.65 1.39 1.20 -26.8% -49.5% +22.8% 2.6 3.7 1,394
2007 1.63 211 1.89 1.64 -12.8% -7.0% -5.9% 3.0 5.8 1,904
2006 1.57 2.03 1.83 1.88 +20.5% +16.1% +4.5% 2.4 4.4 2,183
2005 1.12 1.70 1.43 1.56 +32.0% +15.5% +16.5% 2.0 2.8 1,812
2004 0.90 1.20 1.01 1.19 +22.9% +14.9% +7.9% 1.8 1.7 1,374
2003 0.69 0.97 0.83 0.97 +28.2% +14.4% +13.8% 1.6 1.3 1,118
2002 0.64 0.95 0.79 0.75 +13.8% -27.3% +41.0% 2.2 1.7 871
2001® 0.55 0.78 0.68 0.66 -14.9% -14.1% -0.8% 2.8 2.1 767

@ Listing on the Italian stock exchange screen-based market (Mercato Telematico Azionario - MTA) took place on 6 July 2001. Average daily trading volume and
average daily trading value excluding first week of trading.
(@ compared with the FTSE MIB.

The table below provides information on the dividends paid on Campatri stock since the IPO.

Year Number of shares at 31 Number of shares Number of shares Gross dividend per Total dividend

December, not adjusted at 31 December, with dividend rights® share (€ million)®

adjusted® €)®

2019 1,161,600,000 1,161,600,000 1,147,895,800 0.055 63.1
2018 1,161,600,000 1,161,600,000 1,145,854,255 0.050 57.3
2017 1,161,600,000 1,161,600,000 1,150,205,686 0.050 57.5
2016 580,800,000 1,161,600,000 1,158,752,164 0.045 52.1
2015 580,800,000 1,161,600,000 1,158,508,124 0.045 52.1
2014 580,800,000 1,161,600,000 1,142,500,000 0.040 45.7
2013 580,800,000 1,161,600,000 1,152,019,724 0.040 46.1
2012 580,800,000 1,161,600,000 1,138,514,448 0.035 39.8
2011 580,800,000 1,161,600,000 1,157,273,960 0.035 40.5
2010 580,800,000 1,161,600,000 1,153,344,568 0.030 34.6
2009 290,400,000 1,161,600,000 1,152,761,012 0.030 34.6
2008 290,400,000 1,161,600,000 1,152,761,012 0.028 31.7
2007 290,400,000 1,161,600,000 1,157,422,184 0.028 31.8
2006 290,400,000 1,161,600,000 1,161,597,812 0.025 29.0
2005 290,400,000 1,161,600,000 1,125,424,052 0.025 28.1
2004 29,040,000 1,161,600,000 1,124,192,360 0.025 28.1
2003 29,040,000 1,161,600,000 1,121,600,000 0.022 24.7
2002 29,040,000 1,161,600,000 1,121,600,000 0.022 24.7
2001 29,040,000 1,161,600,000 1,121,600,000 0.022 24.7

@) Share information prior to the dates on which changes were made to the amount of share capital has been adjusted to take into account the new composition
of share capital as set out below:
« two-for-one share split effective on 8 May 2017;
e bonus share issue through the issue of 290,400,000 new shares with a nominal value of €0.10 each, to be provided free of charge to shareholders in the ratio
of one new share for each share held, which came into effect on 10 May 2010;
« ten-for-one share split, which came into effect on 9 May 2005.
@ Excluding own shares held by Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. (at the ex-date). For 2019, for information purposes, the number of shares at 31 December 2019
is to be recalculated on the basis of the total number of shares outstanding as at the dividend ex-date.
© Dividend relating to the year. Proposed dividend for the 2019 financial year.
® For 2019, for information purposes, the total dividend calculated on the basis of the proposed dividend and the shares outstanding at 31 December 2019 is to
be recalculated on the basis of the total number of shares outstanding as at the dividend ex-date of 20 April 2020.
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The table below provides information on the main valuation indicators for Campari stock since the IPO.

Year Basic earnings price/shareholders' equity price/net profit dividend/net profit dividend/price

per share®® per share per share® per share®®@® per share®
2019 0.27 3.94 29.7 19.8% 0.7%
2018 0.26 3.97 28.9 19.3% 0.7%
2017 0.31 3.85 21.0 16.1% 0.8%
2016 0.14 2.84 324 31.4% 1.0%
2015 0.15 2.66 26.5 29.7% 1.1%
2014 0.11 1.90 23.2 35.4% 1.6%
2013 0.13 2.53 23.6 30.8% 1.3%
2012 0.13 2.36 21.5 25.4% 1.2%
2011 0.14 2.19 18.8 25.4% 1.4%
2010 0.13 2.26 18.1 22.1% 1.2%
2009 0.12 2.03 15.5 25.2% 1.6%
2008 0.11 1.46 11.0 25.1% 2.3%
2007 0.11 2.17 15.2 25.4% 1.7%
2006 0.10 2.74 18.6 24.8% 1.3%
2005 0.10 2.61 15.4 23.8% 1.6%
2004 0.08 2.20 14.2 29.0% 2.1%
2003 0.07 2.04 14.0 30.9% 2.3%
2002 0.07 1.82 10.1 28.5% 2.9%
2001 0.05 1.78 12.1 38.9% 3.3%

@ Net profit (not adjusted for non-recurring components).
() Up to 2004, Italian Accounting Standards; IAS/IFRS standards from 2005.
© Dividend relating to the year. Proposed dividend for the 2019 financial year.

Investor relations

The Company communicates regularly with investors, shareholders and financial market operators in general, in
order to provide complete, accurate and timely information on its operations, while complying with the relevant
confidentiality requirements for certain types of information.

Information is disseminated through the publication of documents such as the financial statements, the interim
reports on operations, press releases and investor presentations.

These documents are made available through the 1Info network information system, managed by Computershare
S.p.A., being published on the website www. linfo.it.

By using this publication platform, the Company is able to make all information available promptly on its website
(www.camparigroup.com), in the ‘Investor’ and ‘Governance’ sections. Information about the Company that is of
interest to shareholders and equity and bond investors is also available in these sections to enable them to
exercise their rights in an informed manner.

The Company communicates and interacts regularly with the financial markets through analyst calls, investor
meetings, road shows and investor conferences, which are also attended by representatives of senior
management. With regard to activities aimed at the analyst and institutional investor category, in 2019 the
Company continued to communicate information through numerous meetings held in Milan and the main financial
centres in Europe and outside Europe, including those in North America, Asia and Australia.

The Investor Relations department is responsible for managing relations with shareholders and investors, and
has been operational since the Company’s listing in 2001.

Information of interest to shareholders and investors is available on the website, in the ‘Investor’ section, and may
also be requested by sending an e-mail to the dedicated address investor.relations@campari.com.
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Risk management

Campari Group has implemented a tool to identify, assess and monitor corporate risks. This tool is based on the
logic of Self Risk Assessment (SRA), which provides for self-assessment and direct participation by operational
management and/or other operators responsible for risk assessment. This tool has multiple objectives: to help
the business identify risks and consequently make strategic and operational decisions; and to strengthen
understanding of the Group’s risk profile to ensure that information is transparent and that assessments made
can be traced.

Main risks for the Group:

Risks related to potential instability in the countries in which the Group operates

Campari Group operates and is present, through manufacturing and/or commercial structures, in numerous
markets. Any significant changes in the macroeconomic, political, tax or legal environment in any one of those
countries could have a negative impact on the Group’s activities and on its results, assets and liabilities, and cash
flows. Consequently, the Group constantly monitors developments in the global geopolitical environment that
could require a review of the defined corporate strategies and/or the introduction of measures to safeguard its
competitive positioning and performance.

Through its activities in certain developing countries (in eastern Europe, Asia, Latin America and Africa) the Group
is exposed to a series of risks related to: the local regulatory and legal environment; the imposition of tariffs and
taxes; limits on exports and imports; exchange rate risk; political and economic instability which may impact the
ability of local trade and financial counterparts to meet their obligations; restrictions and constraints on investment
and promotional activity; and limits on dividend repatriation.

Regarding the United Kingdom specifically, it is noted that in June 2016 the country voted in a referendum to
leave the European Union (Brexit). Until the process surrounding the UK's proposed exit from the EU and the
potential outcome of the ongoing Brexit negotiations is completed, there may be a period of economic and political
uncertainty regarding the negotiation of any subsequent trade agreement with other countries. Vulnerabilities
could become evident, such as exchange rate volatility, restrictions in the movement of people and goods, and
changes to consumer spending. The potential implications of Brexit cannot be fully understood until any future
tariffs, trade, regulations, taxes and other free-trade agreements have been established by the United Kingdom,
which could impact the Group's operations. Moreover, the country could experiment post-Brexit with changes to
laws and regulations in areas such as intellectual property rights, employment, the environment, supply chain
logistics, data protection, and health and safety.

However, we consider that the direct financial impact on the Group will not be significant, in the event of either a
regulated or a no-deal exit; political developments will be continuously monitored to anticipate and minimize any
vulnerabilities in all the main functions affected, and adopt prudent measures to mitigate the risks, where possible.

Risks relating to market competition

The Group is part of the alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverage sector, where there is a high level of competition
and a huge number of operators. The main competitors are large international groups involved in the current wave
of mergers and acquisitions that are operating aggressive competitive strategies at a global level. The Group’s
competitive position vis-a-vis the major global players, which often have greater financial resources and benefit
from a more highly diversified portfolio of brands and geographic locations, means that its exposure to market
competition risks is particularly significant. The Group constantly monitors the industry dynamics of mergers and
acquisitions and the initiatives taken by competitors, constantly invests in products’ success and growth to
increase the brands value and expand customers.

Exchange rate and other financial risks

Around 62.8% of the Group’s consolidated net sales in 2019 came from outside the Eurozone. With the Group’s
international operations outside the Eurozone growing, a significant fluctuation in exchange rates, principally
caused by macroeconomic or political instability or, in the specific case of the United Kingdom (which accounts
for 2.5% of the Group's net sales), by uncertainty about Brexit, could have a negative impact on the Group’s
activities and operating results.

However, the existence of permanent Group establishments in countries such as the United States, United
Kingdom, Australia, Jamaica, Brazil, Canada, Russia and Argentina allows this risk to be partially hedged, given
that both costs and revenues are mainly denominated in the same currency. Therefore, exposure to foreign
exchange transactions generated by sales and purchases in currencies other than the Group’s functional
currencies represented a moderate proportion of consolidated sales and consolidated margins in 2019.

For a more detailed analysis of the Group’s risks, see note 39-Provisions for risks and charges, and for financial
risks, note 45-Nature and scale of the risks arising from financial instruments’ of these financial statements.
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Risk in fluctuation of raw materials prices

Market risks consists of the possibility that changes in exchange rates, interest rates or raw materials or
commodities prices (alcohol, aromatic herbs, sugar, agave and cereals) could negatively affect the value of
assets, liabilities or expected cash flows.

The price of raw materials depends on a wide multiplicity of unlikely predictable factors, which are not under
control of the Group. Historically, the Group basically had no problem to obtain the adequate and high-quality
guantity of raw materials. However, we cannot exclude that the Group could face challenges in supplying raw
materials. This situation could have an impact on costs increase and - consequently - on the Group results and
cash flow. Regarding this topic, starting from 2016 the Group is facing an increase of the agave’s price, the
tequila’s raw material, connected to the increase of agave and tequila demand. The Group is implementing actions
aimed at reducing the agave price fluctuation also through signing co-investments agreements with local
agricultural manufacturers to guarantee qualitative and qualitative quantities of agave. The benefits of these
investments probably will be observed in the medium term, considering the natural growing process of agave
plants.

Tax risks

The Group operates in many countries with different tax regulations. In many jurisdictions, distillates and wines
are subject to import and excise duties, some of which could rise and negatively affect demand for Campari Group
products. Such changes could have a negative impact on profit margins or sales, reducing overall consumption
or encouraging consumers to move to categories of alcoholic beverages that are less heavily taxed. Moreover,
significant changes in the international tax environment, such as the effect of Brexit on trade between Europe and
the United Kingdom or changes in the import duties in the United States, could suddenly increase overall business
costs if there is arise in the Group’s effective tax rate, and could lead to uncertain and/or unexpected tax exposure.
The Group regularly reviews its business strategy and tax policy considering legal and regulatory changes and
assesses the likelihood of any negative results of potential inspections to determine the adequacy of its tax
provisions.

Risks relating to legislation in the beverage industry and application of import duties

Activities relating to the alcoholic beverages and soft drinks industry — production, distribution, export, import,
sales and marketing — are governed by complex national and international legislation, often drafted with somewhat
restrictive aims. This context requires monitoring of the economic risks arising from the increasing tension in
global trade and the application by the United States of duties on alcoholic products from the European Union.
Moreover, the requirement to make the legislation governing the health of consumers, particularly young people,
ever more stringent could, in the future, lead to the adoption of new laws and regulations aimed at discouraging
or reducing the consumption of alcoholic drinks. Such measures could include restrictions on advertising or tax
increases for certain product categories. Campari Group is committed to constantly publicizing messages and
models of behaviour associated with the responsible consumption and serving of alcoholic drinks via its
communication channels. Any further tightening of regulations in the main countries in which the Group operates
could lead to a fall in demand for its products.

Risks relating to the Company’s dependence on licenses for the use of third-party brands and licenses
granted to third parties for use of the Group’s brands

At 31 December 2019, 4.9% of the Group’s consolidated net sales came from production and/or distribution under
license of third-party products. Should any of these licensing agreements be terminated or not renewed for any
reason, this could have a negative effect on the Group’s activities and operating results.

Risks relating to the Company’s dependence on key customers

In some markets where the Group operates, sales are concentrated on a limited number of key customers:
therefore, a possible change in the priorities or deterioration of the financial conditions of these customers could
have significant adverse effects on the Group’s business and outlook. Furthermore, if such key customers see
the contractual terms and conditions as no longer acceptable, they may require them to be renegotiated, resulting
in less favorable terms and conditions for the Company.

Risks relating to the Company’s dependence on consumer preference spending

An important success factor in the beverage industry is the ability to interpret consumer preferences and tastes —
particularly those of young people — and to continually adapt sales strategies to anticipate market trends and
strengthen and consolidate the product image. If the Group’s ability to understand and anticipate consumer tastes
and expectations and to manage its own brands were to cease or decline significantly, this could considerably
affect its activities and operating results. Moreover, the unfavorable economic situation in certain markets is
dampening the confidence of consumers, making them less likely to buy drinks.
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Risk of failure to comply with laws and regulations

As the Group is exposed and subject to numerous different regulations, there is a risk that failure to comply with
laws and regulations, as well as with the Group’s policies, could harm its reputation and/or result in potentially
substantial fines. To mitigate this risk, the Group has created a Code of Ethics and defined Business Conduct
Guidelines. It also provides its employees with regular training on its global policies.

Internal assurance activities are continuously monitored and assessed with local management to improve the
internal control system. Present in many regions across the world, the Group has also adopted a specific policy
on human rights intended to mitigate any legislative shortcomings existing locally in that regard.

The Group has also implemented a global training program on antitrust compliance, aimed at mitigating the risk
of any breach of antitrust laws.

Through the Group Privacy and Data Protection (GPDP) department, the Company is managing a project to align
with the new European regulations on personal data protection (the "GDPR" or "Regulation"). In compliance with
the new Regulation, a Data Protection Officer (DPO) has been appointed and an organizational model has been
defined for the protection of personal data and identifying roles and responsibilities. As part of the project work,
numerous training and awareness activities have also been carried out. At the same time, Campari Group has
defined a series of policies to manage GDPR requirements and has also introduced a tool to manage and track
the main activities required under GDPR to effectively demonstrate compliance with this Regulation.

Risks relating to product compliance and safety

The Group is exposed to risks relating to its responsibility to ensure that its products are safe for consumption.

It has therefore put in place control procedures to ensure that products manufactured in Group plants are
compliant and safe in terms of quality and hygiene, in accordance with applicable laws and voluntary certification
standards. In addition, the Group has defined guidelines to be implemented if quality is accidentally compromised,
such as withdrawing and recalling products from the market.

Environmental risk

Production activities and the implementation of the Group’s strategies are subject to the effects of natural events.
Environmental changes, some of which could have a significant impact, could interfere with the local supply chain
and harm some customers. These events are generally unpredictable and may affect the seasonality of sales,
just as natural disasters (such as hurricanes) may damage products and disrupt production at some plants. Some
weather conditions might also have a positive effect on certain geographical regions, but a negative effect in other
segments.

The Group monitors environmental risks, has emergency plans in place and continuously develops plans to deal
with such crises. The Group counts compliance with regulations and with local and international standards among
its priorities, together with business continuity assessment, back-up scenarios and global insurance policies.

Risks relating to environmental policy

Regarding the risks associated with environmental policy, the Group’s industrial management has implemented
dedicated procedures on safety and qualitative controls in the area of environmental pollution and the disposal of
solid waste and waste water. The objective of this structure is to continuously monitor and update the Group’s
business activities based on the legislation in force in the individual countries in which it operates.

Risks relating to employees

In the various countries where the Group has subsidiaries, its dealings with employees are regulated and
protected by collective labor agreements and local laws.

Any reorganization or restructuring undertaken, where this becomes essential for strategic reasons, is defined
based on plans agreed with employee representatives. Moreover, the Group has implemented specific
procedures to monitor safety in the workplace, and it is worth noting that the accident rate at Group plants is
currently very low and that any accidents that do occur tend to be minor.

Cyber-security risks

Cyber-security risks have a potential global impact for Campari Group, due to both the strong interconnectedness
within the Group and the ever-increasing pervasiveness of technology (and the internet) on the performance of
company activities. The major risks associated with cyber-security include reputational damage caused by
breaches/theft of sensitive data, the malfunctioning or disruption of IT systems, the unavailability of online services
due to a cyber-attack and the increased cost of resolving these problems.

The Group has implemented ventures projects to become aware the employees of cyber risks (C-Level fraud,
Phishing, Social Engineering). The employees take part in annual e-training sessions and in monthly tests to
improve the main cyber threats knowledge.

Moreover, cyber risks mitigation’s projects have been defined to reduce the related risks exposure. These projects
are continuously updated based on the trends of the cyber threats.
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Operating and financial results of the Parent Company Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A.

Income statements

31 December 2019 31 December 2018 Changes

€ million % € million % %
Net sales 671.2 100.0% 630.5 100.0% 6.5%
Cost of goods sold, after distribution costs (247.0) -36.8% (250.8) -39.8% -1.5%
Gross margin after distribution costs 424.2 63.2% 379.7 60.2% 11.7%
Advertising and promotional costs (67.8) -10.1% (62.5) -9.9% 8.5%
Contribution margin 356.4 53.1% 317.2 50.3% 12.4%
Structure costs (135.3) -20.2% (62.1) -9.8% 117.9%
Operating result 221.1 32.9% 255.1 40.5% -13.3%
Financial income (expenses) (97.2) -14.5% (44.9) -7.1% 116.6%
Dividends 13.5 2.0% 16.2 2.6% -16.8%
Profit before tax 137.4 20.5% 226.4 35.9% -39.3%
Tax (27.2) -4.1% (26.8) -4.3% 1.4%
Net profit 110.2 16.4% 199.6 31.7% -44.8%

Total net sales of €671.2 million were recorded for the year ending 31 December 2019, an increase of +6.5% on
2018. Total sales include both sales to third-party customers on the Italian market of €368.2 million and sales to
Group companies that operate on the international markets of €303.0 million.

The gross margin increased compared with 2018 as a percentage of sales, rising from 60.2% in 2018 to 63.2%
in 2019, thanks mainly to the greater focus on higher-margin brands.

The contribution margin increased as a percentage of sales, from 50.3% in 2018 to 53.1% in 2019, despite the
increase in spending on advertising and promotion to support the main brands.

The operating result was €221.1 million, a decrease on the previous period. The change was broadly attributable
to an unfavourable comparison base with the previous year, which benefited from substantial net income in the
overheads item arising mainly from capital gains on the sale of non-core businesses, net of restructuring costs.

Financial expenses were €83.7 million in 2019, compared with €28.7 million in 2018. Net financial income
(expense) came to €97.2 million, an increase of €52.3 million on the previous year. The cost component relating
to financial expenses for interest and exchange rate differences was in line with 2018 (€42.5 million in 2019 and
€41.9 million in 2018), while the cost component for put option and earn-out had a significantly greater impact.
Specifically, the expenses arising from the payment of the price supplement recognised in the last part of 2019 to
all shareholders of Société des Produits Marnier-Lapostolle S.A. to fulfil the agreements entered into at the time
of the public purchase offer on 13 May 2016, relating to the sale of the real estate property Villa Les Cédres,
entailed a cost of €52.7 million, to be contractually beared by the Parent Company (for more information see the
‘Significant events during the year’ section).

The dividends received from subsidiaries were €13.5 million slightly down compared to the previous year (€16.2
million).

Income tax for the period was €27.2 million. The item includes a positive component of €25.4 million, attributable
to reduced IRES (corporate income tax) and IRAP (regional production tax) under the Patent Box regime. This
tax relief was included in 2018 in an amount of €26.0 million.

Net profit for 2019, amounting to €110.2 million, was lower than the previous year, when the figure was €199.6
million, due to the components commented on above.
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Statement of financial position

31 December 2019 31 December 2018 change

€ million € million € million

Fixed assets 2,704.4 2,745.9 (41.5)
Other net non-current assets (liabilities) (51.2) (46.3) 4.9)
Operating working capital 92.4 100.2 (7.8)
Other current assets and liabilities (25.0) (15.7) 9.3)
Net invested capital 2,720.6 2,784.1 (63.5)
Shareholders' Equity 1,360.8 1,355.2 5.5
Net financial debt 1,359.8 1,428.8 (69.0)
Total financing sources 2,720.6 2,784.1 (63.5)

Invested capital and financing sources decreased at 31 December 2019.

The recognition of fixed assets for rights of use in application of the new standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’ resulted in
an increase in fixed assets, which was substantially offset by changes investments.

Operating working capital decreased compared with the previous year due to the reduction in trade receivables;
this was reinforced by an expansion in trade payables to third parties and only partly offset by an increase in
inventories.

Other net current and non-current liabilities increased slightly on the previous year.

The Company'’s net financial debt showed a decrease in total net financial debt compared with the previous year,
due to the Company’s strong cash-generating capacity. For more detailed information on the net financial debt,
please refer to the notes of the annual financial statements of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A on cash and cash
equivalents and the reconciliation with the net financial debt.

The increase in shareholders' equity was mainly associated with the financial results achieved during the year,
net of the portion distributed.

Reconciliation of the Parent Company and Group net profit and shareholders’ equity
Pursuant to the Consob communication of 28 July 2006, the table below shows a reconciliation between the result
for the period and shareholders’ equity for the Group with the same items of the Parent Company Davide Campari-

Milano S.p.A..
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Shareholders’ equity Profit Shareholders’ equity Profit
€ million € million € million € million
Figures from the annual financial statements of Davide
Campari-Milano S.p.A. 1,360.8 110.2 1,355.2 199.6
Difference be'twegn carrying value and pro-rata value of 1,0485 _ 8278 )
shareholders' equity of equity investments
Pro-rata results of subsidiaries - 283.3 - 163.8
Elimination of intra-group dividends - (85.8) - (69.2)
Elimination of intra-group profits and capital gains (19.6) 0.6 (20.2) 2.2
Flgl_Jres from the consolidated financial statements (figures 23897 308.4 2.162.8 206.3
attributable to the Group)
_Shareholders’ equity and net profit attributable to non-controlling 19 _ : )
interests :
Group's equity and net profit 2,391.6 308.4 2,162.8 296.3
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Campari Group and the non-financial declaration

The Board of Directors of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A., which approves this report, also approves the non-
financial declaration at 31 December 2018 pursuant to Legislative Decree 254 of 30 December 2016,
implementing EU Directive 2014/95. The non-financial declaration contains non-financial information about
environmental, social and employment matters, as well as respect for human rights, anti-corruption and bribery
issues, to the extent necessary to ensure understanding of the Group’s business, performance, results and
impact. Campari Group’s non-financial declaration was prepared as a separate report from the report on
operations in the consolidated financial statements and according to the guidelines of the GRI Sustainability
Reporting Standards, the sustainability reporting framework that is most widely used worldwide. In light of the
evidence that emerged from the materiality analysis, and to incorporate the aspects of sustainability whose
reporting is subject to specific legal obligations, the non-financial declaration also reports on specific issues
regarded as particularly relevant for a multinational operating in the spirits sector (for example responsible
marketing and communication practices). The reporting scope is the same as that used for the consolidated
financial statements. The Campari Group sustainability report is available on the Group’s website at:
www.camparigroup.com, in the ‘Sustainability’ section, and will be published in the Milan Companies’ Register
along with the annual financial statements.

Other information

Report on corporate governance and ownership structure

In accordance with legal obligations, the Board of Directors annually approves the report on corporate governance
and ownership structure (the ‘Report’).

As well as the information pursuant to article 123-ter of Legislative Decree 58 of 24 February 1998, the Report
contains a general description of the corporate governance system adopted by the Group, featuring information
on compliance with the principles and recommendations of the Code of Conduct for Listed Companies, including
specific reasons why certain recommendations have not been applied.

The Report also contains a description of the features of the Group’s internal control and risk management system,
including in relation to the financial reporting process.

The report is available at www.camparigroup.com, in the ‘Governance' section.

Organisation, Management and Control Model pursuant to Legislative Decree 231 of 8 June 2001

From 1 January 2009, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. decided to adopt an Organisation, Management and Control
Model pursuant to Legislative Decree 231 of 8 June 2001 on the administrative responsibility of legal entities, for
the purposes of ensuring ethical and transparent conduct as a way to reduce the risk of the offences specified in
the legislative decree being committed. It also established a Supervisory Body responsible for monitoring
compliance with the Model and proposing any changes that might be necessary following amendments to the
relevant legislation.

The Supervisory Body comprises Enrico Colombo, Piera Tula and Chairman Fabio Facchini.

For a more detailed description of the Model and the activities undertaken in 2018, please see the Report on
corporate governance and ownership structure published on www.camparigroup.com, in the 'Governance'
section.

Transactions with related parties

The procedures for transactions with related parties approved by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors on 11
November 2010, which came into force on 1 January 2011, can be viewed at www.camparigroup.com, in the
‘Governance' section. An overview of these procedures is provided in the Report on corporate governance and
ownership structure.

Structure of the Group
For information on changes to the Group’s structure in 2018, see note 2-Basis of consolidation of the consolidated
financial statements.

Holding and purchase of own shares and shares of the parent company

At 31 December 2018, the Parent Company held 13,704,200 own shares, equivalent to 1.18% of the share capital.
During the year, the Company purchased 9,036,356 own shares, at an average price of €8.33, and sold
10,314,114 own shares to service stock option plans.

These own shares are to be used to serve stock option plans, as described in detail in later sections of these
annual report.
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Adaptation plan pursuant to Articles 36 and 39 of the Market Regulations

In accordance with Articles 36 and 39 of Consob Regulation 16191 of 29 October 2007 and subsequent
amendments concerning ‘conditions for listing shares of companies that control companies established and
governed by laws of non-EU countries’, the Parent Company has identified its significant subsidiaries as defined
Article 36(2) of the above-mentioned Regulation, and verified that the conditions set out in paragraphs a), b) and
c) of Article 36 have been met.

Other information

In accordance with Article 70(8) and Article 71(1-bis) of Consob Regulation 11971 of 14 May 1999, the Board of
Directors has decided to take advantage of the option to derogate from the obligations to make available to the
public the information documents prescribed in relation to significant mergers, spin-offs and capital increases
through contributions in kind, acquisitions and disposals.

Following the Delegated regulation 2018/815 of the European Commission introducing the European Single
Electronic Format (ESEF), starting from 2020, the listed companies on a European stock exchange will have to
draw up the consolidated annual report in an electronic format using the technologies XHTML and iXBRL. Campari
Group is evaluating the introduction of an IT software that allows to comply with the new regulation.

Research and development activities

Group companies carried out research and development activities solely in relation to ordinary manufacturing and
trading activities; costs were therefore fully expensed during the period.
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Financial statements

Consolidated income statement®

of of

Notes 2019 which: 2018 which:

related related

€ million € million € million € million
Net sales 9 1,842.5 1,711.7
Cost of goods sold 10 (721.3) (683.6)
Gross profit 1,121.2 1,028.1
Advertising and promotional costs (319.9) (289.2)
Contribution margin 801.3 738.9

Overheads 11 (415.0) 0.1 (358.2) 0.1

Operating result 386.3 0.1 380.7 0.1
Financial income (expenses) 16 (31.8) (29.7)
Share of net profit of associates and joint ventures 0.1 0.2)
Profit before tax 354.6 350.8
Income tax expense 17 (46.2) (54.5)
Profit for the period 308.4 296.3

Profit attributable to:

Parent Company shareholders 308.4 296.3
Non-controlling interests - -
Basic earnings per share (€) 18 0.27 0.26
Diluted earnings per share (€) 18 0.26 0.25
Basic earnings per share (€) adjusted 0.23 0.22
Diluted earnings per share (€) adjusted 0.23 0.21

@ For information on the definition of alternative performance indicators, see the section in the report on operations ‘Alternative performance indicators’.

Consolidated statements of comprehensive income

Notes 2019 2018
€ million € million
Profit for the period (A) 308.4 296.3
B1) Items that may be subsequently reclassified to income statement
Cash flow hedge: - -
Profit (loss) for the period 34 3.6 1.4)
Profit (loss) classified to other comprehensive income 34 (10.9) (10.3)
Net gains (loss) from cash flow hedge (7.3) (11.7)
Tax effect 17 1.8 2.7
Total cash flow hedge (5.5) (9.0)
Conversion difference:
Profit (loss) for the period - -
Profit (loss) classified to other comprehensive income 34 29.7 25.0
Total conversion difference 29.7 25.0
Total: items that may be subsequently reclassified to income statement (B1) 24.2 16.0
B2) Items that may not be subsequently reclassified to income statement
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations:
Profit (loss) for the period 38 3.1) 2.4
Tax effect 17 1.0 (0.6)
Total remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations (2.1) 1.8
Total: items that may not be subsequently reclassified to income statement (B2) (2.1) 1.8
Other comprehensive income (expenses) (B=B1+B2) 221 17.8
Total comprehensive income (A+B) 330.5 314.1

Attributable to:
Parent Company shareholders 330.5 314.1
Non-controlling interests - -
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Consolidated statements of financial position

of which: of which:
Notes 31 December 2019 related 31 December 2018 related
parties parties
€ million € million € million € million
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Net tangible fixed assets 19 496.4 454.4
Right of use assets 33 80.5 -
Biological assets 20 3.9 1.0
Investment properties 21 1.1 122.8
Goodwill and trademarks 22 2,431.8 2,341.0
Intangible assets with a finite life 24 49.3 42.9
Investments in associates and joint ventures 25 05 0.4
Deferred tax assets 17 375 38.4
Other non-current assets 26 22.8 2.2 23.9 2.2
Total non-current assets 3,123.8 2.2 3,024.9 2.2
Current assets
Inventories 27 617.7 565.3
Biological assets 27 0.9 0.8
Trade receivables 28 316.9 285.9
Short-term financial receivables 29 8.3 29.1
Cash and cash equivalents 31 704.4 613.9
Income tax receivables 30 18.7 0.6 22.4 3.1
Other receivables 28 44.7 0.8 32.3 0.5
Total current assets 1,711.6 15 1,549.8 3.6
Assets held for sale 32 53 7.8
Total assets 4,840.7 3.7 4,582.5 5.8
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Shareholders' equity
- Share capital 58.1 58.1
- Reserves 2,331.6 2,104.7
Capital and reserves attributable to Parent Company 34 2,389.7 2,162.8
Non-controlling interests 35 1.9 -
Total shareholders' equity 2,391.6 2,162.8
Non-current liabilities
Bonds 36 349.4 778.7
Other non-current liabilities 36 476.4 463.7
Post-employment benefit obligations 38 33.4 31.6
Provisions for risks and charges 39 51.4 118.7
Deferred tax liabilities 17 386.1 368.2
Total non-current liabilities 1,296.7 1,760.9
Current liabilities
Payables to banks 37 31.0 4.5
Bonds 37 580.0 218.6
Other financial liabilities 37 84.3 52.5
Trade payables 40 240.7 216.0
Income tax payables 41 75.1 5.1 13.9 1.0
Other current liabilities 40 141.5 25 153.4
Total current liabilities 1,152.5 7.7 658.9 1.0
Total liabilities 2,449.1 7.7 2,419.7 1.0
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 4,840.7 7.7 4,582.5 1.0
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Consolidated statements of cash flows

Note 2019 2018
€ million € million

Operating profit 386.3 380.7
Effects from hyperinflation accounting standard adoption 4.5 3.0
Depreciation and amortisation 12 71.8 53.8
Gains and losses on sales of fixed assets 11 (2.5) (3.0)
Gains on sales of business - (38.5)
Impairment of tangible fixed assets, goodwill, trademark and sold business 11 6.6 2.2
Utilizations of provisions 39 (15.7) 2.0
Change in long-term payables to employees 38 (10.0) 5.3
Change in net operating working capital (29.6) (25.5)
Income tax paid (45.3) (48.5)
Other non-cash items (3.2) (3.9)
Cash flow generated from (used in) operating activities 363.0 327.5
Purchase of tangible and intangible fixed assets 19-20-24 (92.0) (82.8)
Disposal of tangible and intangible assets 11 9.6 11.9
Acquisition and sale of companies or business divisions (86.5) 15.7
Cash and cash equivalents at acquired companies® 7 6.0 6.5
Disposal of non strategic assets 200.0 -
Put options and earn out payments (69.2) (42.9)
Interests received 9.0 7.1
Net changes in securities 26-30 27.4 8.2
Dividends received - 0.1
Other changes (0.1) 0.4)
Cash flow generated from (used in) investing activities 4.3 (76.6)
Bond issued by Parent Company 149.3 -
Other medium-long term financing 248.7 -
Revolving facility loan issue - 28.0
Revolving facility loan repayments - (28.0)
Bond repayment (219.1) -
Payment of lease liabilities (13.0) -
Other repayments of other medium- and long -term debts (300.0) (0.5)
Net change in short-term financial payables and bank loans 19.8 (10.4)
Interests paid (27.7) (29.6)
Interest on leases (3.4) 0.3)
Change in other financial payables and receivables (23.2) (5.7)
Purchase and sale of own shares 42 (47.3) (55.5)
Dividend paid by the Parent Company 34 (57.3) (57.5)
Cash flow generated from (used in) financing activities (273.2) (159.5)
Other differences including exchange rate differences (3.6) 7.7
Net change in cash and cash equivalents: increase (decrease) 90.5 99.5
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 33 613.9 514.5
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 33 704.4 613.9

® 1t should be noted that the cash acquired/sold in connection with business combination/disposal of the year, equal to €6.0 million, must be considered not
inclusive of the financial liabilities acquired, equal to €8.7 million. For more information, see note 7-Business combination (acquisition and sales).
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Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Attributable to Parent Company shareholders Shareholders' equity
. Non-
Notes Shgre Legal Re‘a'.”e" Other Total | controlling Total
capital reserve earnings reserves interests
€ million € million € million € million € million | € million € million
31 December 2018 58.1 11.6 2,183.1 (89.8) 2,162.8 - 2,162.8
Dividend payout to Parent Company shareholders 34 - - (57.3) - (57.3) - (57.3)
Own shares acquired 42 - - (76.2) - (76.2) - (76.2)
Own shares sold 42 - - 28.0 - 28.0 - 28.0
Stock options 42 - - - 6.9 6.9 - 6.9
Stock options utilization 42 - - 7.9 (7.9) - - -
Perimeter effect for acquisition - - (16.1) - (16.1) 1.9 (14.3)
Hyperinflation effects - - - 11.8 11.8 - 11.8
Other changes - - (0.6) - (0.6) - (0.6)
Profit for the period - - 308.3 - 308.3 - 308.3
Other comprehensive income (expense) - - - 22.1 22.1 - 22.1
Total comprehensive income - - 308.3 22.1 330.4 - 330.3
31 December 2019 58.1 11.6 2,377.1 (56.9) 2,389.7 1.9 2,391.6
Attributable to Parent Company shareholders Shareholders' equity

She_lre Legal Retai_ned Other Total contr(;\IlI(i)#g- Total

capital reserve earnings reserves interests
€ million € million € million € million € million € million € million
31 December 2017 58.1 11,6 1,995.6 (122.7) 1,942.6 - 1,942.6
Dividend payout to Parent Company shareholders - - (57.5) - (57.5) - (57.5)
Own shares acquired - - (67.5) - (67.5) - (67.5)
Own shares sold - - 12.0 - 12.0 - 12.0
Stock options - - - 6.9 6.9 - 6.9
Stock options utilization - - 33 (3.3) - - -
Perimeter effect for acquisition - - 1.5 - 1.5 - 1.5
Hyperinflation effects - - - 11.3 11.3 - 11.3
Other changes - - (0.6) 0.1 (0.6) - (0.6)
Profit for the period - - 296.3 - 296.3 - 296.3
Other comprehensive income - - - 17.8 17.8 - 17.8
Total comprehensive income - - 296.3 17.8 314.1 - 314.1
31 December 2018 58.1 11.6 2,183.1 (89.9) 2,162.8 - 2,162.8
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Notes to consolidated financial statement

1. General Information

Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. is a company listed on the Italian Stock Exchange, with its registered office at Via
Franco Sacchetti 20, 20099 Sesto San Giovanni, Milan, Italy.

The Company is entered in the Milan Monza Brianza Lodi companies and business administration register (REA)
under the n. 06672120158, REA 1112227.

At 31 December 2019, 64.89% of the total voting rights (equating to 51% of the share capital) of Davide Campari-
Milano S.p.A. was held by Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par Actions, headquartered in Luxembourg.
Founded in 1860, Campari is the sixth-largest player in the branded spirits industry, with an extensive and varied
product portfolio. Internationally recognised brands include Aperol, Appleton Estate, Campari, Grand Marnier,
SKYY Vodka and Wild Turkey.

Campari Group operates in around 190 countries with prime positions in Europe and the Americas. It has 21
production plants and its own distribution network in 20 countries, and employs around 3,700 people.

The consolidated financial statements of Campari Group for the year ending 31 December 2019 were approved
on 18 February 2020 by the Board of Directors of the Parent Company, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A., which has
authorised their publication.

The Board of Directors reserves the right to amend the financial statements should any significant events occur
that require changes to be made, up to the date of the Shareholders’ meeting of the Parent Company. The financial
statements are presented in Euro, the reference currency of the parent company and many of its subsidiaries.

2. Preparation criteria

The consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019 were prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’) and
ratified by the European Union. These include all the international accounting standards (‘IAS’) and interpretations
of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (‘IFRIC’) previously named, the Standing
Interpretations Committee (‘SIC’).

The financial statements were prepared based on the going concern principle, on the cost basis and taking any
value adjustments into account where appropriate, except for statement of financial position items, such as
financial instruments, biological assets, that, under the IFRS, must be recognised at fair value and except in cases
where the IFRS allow a different valuation criterion to be used.

The carrying amount of assets and liabilities subject to fair value hedging transactions, which would otherwise be
recorded at cost, has been adjusted to take account of the changes in fair value attributable to the risk being
hedged.

Unless otherwise indicated, the figures reported in these notes are expressed in millions of Euro.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Parent Company and of the Italian
and foreign subsidiaries.

These accounting statements, based on the same financial year as the Parent Company and drawn up for the
purposes of consolidation, have been prepared in accordance with the international accounting standards adopted
by the Group.

Joint ventures are consolidated applying the equity method.

Form and content

In accordance with the format selected by the Group, the income statement has been classified by function, and
the Statement of Financial Position based on the division between current and non-current assets and liabilities.
We consider that this format will provide a more meaningful representation of the items that have contributed to
the Group’s results and its assets and financial position.

Transactions or events that may generate income and expenses that are not relevant for assessing performance,
such as gains/losses on the sale of fixed assets, restructuring and reorganisation costs, financial expenses and
any other non-recurring income/expenses, are described in the notes.

This presentation complies with the requirements of Consob communication DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, as
subsequently amended and supplemented (Consob communication 0092543 of 3 December 2015, which
incorporates the guidelines on ESMA/2015/1415).

In 2019, the Group did not carry out any atypical and/or unusual transactions, defined in the Consob
communication as transactions which, due to their materiality or size, type of counterparties to the transaction, or
method for determining the price and timing of the event (proximity to the close of the period), could give rise to
concerns over the accuracy or completeness of the information in the financial statements, conflicts of interest,
the safeguarding of company assets or the protection of minority shareholders.

The cash-flow statement was prepared using the indirect method.
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Lastly, with reference to the requirements of Consob Resolution 15519 of 27 July 2006 in relation to financial
statements, the income statement and statement of financial position contain columns providing information on
any significant transactions with related parties.

Basis of consolidation

The following changes occurred in the basis of consolidation, resulting from the creation, acquisition, sale and
reorganisation of companies, partly described in the report on operations in the section ‘Significant events during
the period’:

on 1 October 2019, Campari Group completed the acquisition of Rhumantilles S.A.S. (‘Rhumantilles’), the
French company and owner of 96.5% of Bellonnie&Bourdillon Successeurs S.A.S., headquartered in
Martinique, by French company Financiere Chevrillon and a group of minority shareholders. These companies
were therefore included in the consolidation perimeter from the acquisition date. As a result of this acquisition,
the companies Société Distilleries Agricoles De Sainte Luce S.A.S. and SCEA Trois Rivieres, subsidiaries of
Bellonnie&Bourdillon Successeurs S.A.S., were also included in the consolidation perimeter.

on 20 November 2019, Campari Group completed the acquisition, from a group of Mexican entrepreneurs, of
controlling interests in the share capital of Licorera Ancho Reyes y Cia S.A.P.l. de C.V. (‘Ancho Reyes’) and
Casa Montelobos S.A.P.l. de C.V. (‘Montelobos’). These companies were therefore included in the
consolidation perimeter from the acquisition date.

during 2019, the process of liquidating both Grandes Marques Nederland B.V., a finance and trading
company, and Campari Service America LLC, a services company, were completed. They were therefore
excluded from the consolidation perimeter.

The tables below list the companies included in the consolidation perimeter at 31 December 2019.
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Name, activity

Registered office

Share capital at 31
December 2019

% owned by Parent Company

Currency Amount Direct Indirect Direct shareholder
Parent Company
Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A.,  Via Franco Sacchetti 20, Sesto € 58,080,000
holding, trading and San Giovanni
manufacturing company
Fully consolidated companies
Italy
Campari International S.r.l., Via Franco Sacchetti 20, Sesto € 700,000 100.00
trading company San Giovanni
Camparino S.r.l., trading Piazza Duomo 21, Milan € 48,880 100.00
company
Campari Services S.r.l. in Via Franco Sacchetti 20, Sesto € 160,000 100.00
liquidazione, services San Giovanni
company®
Europe and Africa
Campari Austria GmbH, Naglergasse 1/Top 13,1010 € 500,000 100.00 DI.CI.E. Holding B.V.
trading company Wien
Campari Benelux S.A., finance Avenue de la Méterologie, 10, € 1,000,000 61.00 39.00 Glen Grant Ltd.
and trading company Bruxelles
Campari Deutschland GmbH, Bajuwarenring 1, Oberhaching € 5,200,000 100.00 DI.CIE. Holding B.V.
trading company
Campari Espafia S.L., holding Calle de la Marina 16-18, planta € 3,272,600 100.00
and trading company 28, Barcellona
Campari RUS OOO, trading 2nd Yuzhnoportoviy proezd RUB 2,010,000,000 100.00 DI.CIE. Holding B.V.
company 14/22, Moscow
Campari Schweiz A.G., trading Lindenstrasse 8, Baar CHF 500,000 100.00 DI.CI.E. Holding B.V.
company
Campari Ukraine LLC, trading 8, lllinska Street, 5 Floor, block 8 UAH 87,396,209 100.00 DI.CI.E Holding B.V.
company and 9, Kiev (99%), Campari RUS
000 (1%)
DI.CLE. Holding B.V., holding Luna Arena, Herikerbergweg € 15,015,000 100.00
company 114, Zuidoost, Amsterdam
Glen Grant Ltd., manufacturing Glen Grant Distillery, Rothes, GBP 24,949,000 100.00
and trading company Morayshire
Kaloyiannis-Koutsikos 6 & E Street, A’ Industrial Area, € 6,811,220 100.00 DI.CI.E. Holding B.V.
Distilleries S.A., manufacturing Volos
and trading company
Société Civile Immobiliere DU 32 rue de Monceau, 75008 Paris € 16,769,392 80.38 Marnier - Lapostolle
VAL, property company Bisquit SASU
Société des Produits Marnier 32 rue de Monceau, 75008 Paris € 27,157,500  80.38@
Lapostolle S.A., holding and
manufacturing company
Marnier-Lapostolle Bisquit 32 rue de Monceau, 75008 Paris € 22,759,856 80.38 Société des Produits
SASU, manufacturing and Marnier Lapostolle
trading company S.A.
Rhumantilles S.A.S., holding 32 rue de Monceau, 75008 Paris € 80,391 80.38 Marnier-Lapostolle
company Bisquit SASU
Bellonnie&Bourdillon S.A.S,, Zone de Génipa, 97224, € 5,100,000 77.59 Rhumantilles S.A.S.
manufacturing and trading Ducos, Martinique (96,53%)
company minority shareholders
(3,47%)
Distilleries de Sainte Luce Zone de Génipa, 97224, € 2,000,000 77.58 Bellonnie et Bourdillon
S.A.S., agricultural production Ducos, Martinique S.A.S. (99,99%)
company minority shareholders
(0,01%)
SCEA Trois Riviéres, Zone de Génipa, 97224, € 5,920 77.59 Bellonnie et Bourdillon
agricultural service company Ducos, Martinique S.A.S. (25%)
Distilleries de Sainte
Luce S.A.S (75%)
Campari South Africa Pty Ltd., 12" Floor, Cliffe Deker Hofmeyr ZAR 290,247,750 100.00 DI.CIE. Holding B.V.
trading company 11 Buitengracht street, Cape
Town
Campari Distribution Ireland Lower Mont Street, Dublin € - 100.00
Ltd., trading company®
Americas
Campari America, LLC, 1114 Avenue of the Americas, usD 566,321,274®  100.00
manufacturing and trading 19th Floor New York
company
Campari Argentina S.A., Olga Cossettini, 243 Piso 3, ARS 1,179,365,9304 100.00 DI.CI.E. Holding B.V.
manufacturing and trading Puerto Madeo, CABA (98,81%), Campari do
company Brasil Ltda. (1,19%)
Campari do Brasil Ltda., Alameda Rio Negro 585, Edificio BRL 239,778,071 99.999 0.001 Campari
manufacturing and trading Demini, Conjunto 62, Alphaville- Schweiz AG
company Barueri-SP
Campari Mexico S.A. de C.V,, Avenida Americas 1500 Piso G- MXN 820,184,642 100.00 DI.CI.E. Holding B.V.
trading company A Colonia Country Club,
Guadalajara, Jalisco
Campari Mexico Corporativo Avenida Americas 1500 Piso G- MXN 50,000 100.00 Campari Mexico, S.A.

S.A. de C.V., services company

A Colonia Country Club,
Guadalajara, Jalisco

de C.V. (99%)
Campari America, LLC
(1%)
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Name, activity

Registered office

Share capital at 31
December 2019

% owned by Parent Company

Currency Amount Direct Indirect Direct shareholder

Campari Mexico Destiladora Camino Real a Atotonilco No. MXN 50,000 100.00 Campari Mexico, S.A.
S.A. de C.V., manufacturing 1081, La Trinidad, San Ignacio de C.V. (99%)
company Cerro Gordo, Jalisco, Z.C. Campari America, LLC

47195 (1%)
Licorera Ancho Reyes y cia, Paseo de los Tamarindos No. MXN 168,906,052 51.00 DI.CI.E. Holding B.V.
S.A.P.l. de C.V., manufacturing 90 Edificio Arcos Bosques Torre
and trading company 11-Piso 5C Col. Bosques de las

Lomas, 05120
Casa Montelobos, S.A.P.I. de Paseo de los Tamarindos No. MXN 139,036,323 51.00 DI.CI.E. Holding B.V.
C.V., manufacturing and trading 90 Edificio Arcos Bosques Torre
company 11-Piso 5C Col. Bosques de las

Lomas, 05120
Campari Peru SAC, trading Av. Jorge Basadre No0.607, PEN 34,733,589C) 100.00 Campari Espéna S.L.
company oficina 702, distrito de San (99,92%), Campari do

Isidro, Lima Brasil Ltda. (0,08%)
Forty Creek Distillery Ltd., 297 South Service Road West, CAD 105,500,100®) 100.00 DI.CIE. Holding B.V.
manufacturing and trading Grimsby
company
J. Wray&Nephew Ltd., 23 Dominica Drive, Kingstone 5 JMD 750,000 100.00 Campari Espéna S.L.
manufacturing and trading
company
Asia
Campari (Beijing) Trading Co. Room 66, Floor 5, Block 1, CNY 104,200,430 100.00 DI.CI.E. Holding B.V.
Ltd., trading company No.16, Chaoyangmenwai Street,

Chaoyang District, Beijing,

China
Campari Australia Pty Ltd., Level 10, Tower B, 207 Pacific AUD 56,500,000 100.00 DI.CI.E. Holding B.V.
manufacturing and trading Hwy, St Leonards, NSW, 2065,
company Australia
Campari India Private Ltd., CoWrks, Ground Floor and First INR 100,000 100.00 Di.Ci.E. Holding BV
services company Floor, Worldmark 1, Asset Area (99%); Campari

11 Australia Pty Ltd (1%)

Aerocity, Hospitality District ,

Indira Gandhi International

Airport, NH-8

New Delhi- 110037, INDIA
Campari Japan Ltd., trading 6-17-15, Jingumae Shibuya-ku, JPY 153,000,000 100.00 DI.CLE. Holding
company Tokyo 150-0001 Japan B.V.
Campari New Zealand Ltd., C/o KPMG 18, Viaduct Harbour NzZD 10,000 100.00 Campari Australia Pty
trading company Av., Maritime Square, Auckland Ltd.

New Zealand
Campari Singapore Pte Ltd., 152 Beach Road, #24-06, SGD 100,000 100.00 DI.CI.E Holding B.V.
trading company 1Gateway East, Singapore

189721
Investments accounted for using equity method

Name, activity Registered office Share capital at 31 December
2019
Currency Amount Direct Indirect Direct shareholder

Trans Beverages Company Nr 1702,c-dong (GL Metrocity KWD 2,000,000,000 40.00 Glen Grant Ltd.

Limited, trading company Munjung SK V1) 642-3
Munjung-dong, Songpa-gu,

Seoul, Korea

@ Company in liquidation

@ This figure does not include the portion of capital in beneficial ownership of 2.24%, where the portion in bare ownership is held by the shareholders of Société
des Produits Marnier Lapostolle S.A., which owns 19.62% of capital and for which there are agreements in place to make purchases by 2021.

® Includes the capital contribution

® The capital shown does not include the effects of applying accounting principles relating to hyperinflation.

Definition of control

Control is determined when the Group is exposed to or has a right to variable returns resulting from its involvement
with the investee, and, at the same time, has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect these returns.
Specifically, the Group controls a subsidiary if, and only if, it has:

- power over the investee (or holds valid rights that give it the actual ability to manage significant activities of the
investee);

- exposure or rights to variable returns resulting from its involvement with the investee;

- the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the size of its returns.

Generally, control is assumed to exist when the Group possesses a majority of the voting rights. In support of this
assumption and when the Group holds less than the majority of the voting rights (or similar rights), the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it controls the investee, including contractual
arrangements with other holders of voting rights, rights arising from contractual arrangements, and the Group’s
voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls a subsidiary if facts and circumstances indicate that one or more
of the three significant elements defining control have changed. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains direct or indirect control of that subsidiary (or through one or more other subsidiaries) and ceases
when the Group loses control thereof. The assets, liabilities, revenues and costs of the subsidiary acquired or
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disposed of over the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which the Group
obtains control until the date on which the Group no longer exercises control over the company.

The profit (loss) for the year and all other components of the statement of comprehensive income are attributed
to the shareholders of the Parent Company and to non-controlling interests, even if this results in non-controlling
interests having a negative value. When necessary, appropriate adjustments are made to subsidiaries’ financial
statements to bring them into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
shareholders’ equity, revenues, costs and cash flow relating to transactions between Group entities are fully
derecognised on consolidation.

Subsidiaries

All subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis.

Under this method, all assets and liabilities, and expenses and revenues for consolidated companies, are fully
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. The carrying amount of the equity investments is derecognised
against the corresponding portion of the shareholders’ equity of the subsidiaries. Individual assets and liabilities
are assigned the value attributed to them on the date control was acquired.

Any positive difference is recorded under the assets item ‘Goodwill’, and any negative amount is taken to the
income statement.

Non-controlling interests in shareholders’ equity and profit are reported under the appropriate items in the financial
statements; the portion of shareholders’ equity relating to non-controlling interests is determined on the basis of
the present values assigned to assets and liabilities on the date control was assumed, whether or not the
components of non-controlling interests entitle holders to receive a proportional share of the subsidiary’s net
assets in the event of liquidation.

Changes in investments in subsidiaries that do not result in the acquisition or loss of control are recorded as
changes in shareholders’ equity.

If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interests
and other components of shareholders’ equity are derecognised, while any gain or loss is recognised in the
income statement. Any ownership interest maintained is recorded at fair value.

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is a company over which the Group exercises significant influence. Significant influence means the
power to contribute to determining a subsidiary’s financial and management policies, without having control or
joint control over it.

A joint venture is a joint-control agreement in which the parties that hold joint control have rights to the net assets
covered by the agreement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control under an agreement, which
solely exists when decisions on relevant activities require unanimous consensus from all parties sharing control.
The factors considered to determine significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to
determine control over subsidiaries.

These companies are reported in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method, starting on the
date when significant influence or joint control begins and ending when such influence or control ceases.

If there is a significant loss of influence or joint control, the holding and/or investment is valued at fair value with
the difference between fair value and carrying amount being recorded in the income statement.

If the Group’s interest in any losses of associates exceeds the carrying amount of the equity investment in the
financial statements, the value of the equity investment is derecognised, and the Group’s portion of further losses
is not reported, unless, and to the extent to which, the Group has a legal or implicit obligation to cover such losses.
The Group assesses the existence of any impairment indicators on an annual basis by comparing the value of
the investment measured at equity with the recoverable value; any impairment value is allocated to the investment
as a whole with an offsetting entry in the income statement.

Transactions derecognised during the consolidation process

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are derecognised, as are the entries giving rise to payables and receivables, and costs and revenues
between the companies included in the basis of consolidation.

Unrealised gains and losses generated on transactions with associated companies or joint ventures are
derecognised to the extent of the Group’s percentage interest in those companies.

Dividends collected from consolidated companies are derecognised.

Currency conversion criteria and exchange rates applied to the financial statements

Figures expressed in currencies other than the accounting currency (Euro) are converted as follows:

- income statement items are converted at the average exchange rate for the period, while statement of financial
position items are converted at period-end exchange rates; exchange rate differences resulting from the
application of differing criteria for conversion to the Euro of income statement and statement of financial position
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items are recorded under the currency translation reserve in shareholders’ equity until the investment in question
is sold;

- any conversion differences between the value of initial shareholders’ equity, as converted at end-of-period
exchange rates, and the value of shareholders’ equity for the previous year converted at current exchange rates
are also recorded under the currency translation reserve.

When preparing the consolidated statement of cash flows, average exchange rates were used to convert the cash
flows of subsidiaries outside the Eurozone.

The exchange rates used for conversion transactions are shown below.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

average rate end-of-period rate average rate end-of-period rate
US Dollar 1.120 1.123 1.182 1.145
Canadian Dollar 1.486 1.460 1.530 1.561
Jamaica Dollars 149.201 148.887 152.188 145.872
Argentine Peso 67.275 67.275 43.159 43.159
Australian Dollar 1.611 1.600 1.580 1.622
Brazilian Real 4.413 4.516 4.309 4.444
Switzerland Francs 1.113 1.085 1.155 1.127
Chile Pesos 786.975 844.860 757.019 794.370
Yuan Renminbi 7.734 7.821 7.808 7.875
Euro 1.000 1.000 1.000 1.000
Great Britain Pounds 0.877 0.851 0.885 0.895
Haitian Gourde 99.226 103.301 80.185 77.145
India Rupees 78.848 80.187 80.728 79.730
Japanese Yen 122.060 121.940 130.415 125.850
South Korea Won 1,304.834 1,296.280 1,299.256 1,277.930
Mexican Peso 21.558 21.220 22.714 22.492
New Zealand Dollars 1.699 1.665 1.706 1.706
Peruvian Sol 3.737 3.726 3.881 3.863
Russia Rubles 72.459 69.956 74.055 79.715
Singapore Dollars 1.527 1511 1.593 1.559
Ukraine Hryvnia 28.930 26.720 32.119 31.736
Uruguay Pesos 39.421 41.842 36.226 37.094
Rand 16.171 15.777 15.611 16.459

® The average exchange rate of the Argentine Peso for both 2019 and 2018 was equal to the spot exchange rate at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018
respectively.

Hyperinflation

If a subsidiary operates in a hyperinflationary economy, the related economic and financial results are adjusted in
accordance with the method established by IAS 29-‘Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies’, before
being translated into the functional currency of the Group (Euro). The economic and financial data are restated in
local currency, taking into account the current purchasing power of the currency at the financial statements date.
This process requires a number of complex procedural steps, which are kept consistent over time.

The restatement procedures used by the Group are as follows:

a) selection of a general price index;

b) segregation of cash and non-cash items;

c) restatement of non-cash items;

d) restatement of the income statement;

e) calculation of monetary profit or loss;

g) restatement of adjusted balance-sheet and income-statement values.

The effect of restating non-cash items is recognised in the income statement as net financial income (expenses).
The restated income statement is converted into Euro by applying the spot exchange rate at the end of the period
instead of the average exchange rate for the period.

No restatement of the values presented in the comparative period prior to the official declaration of the subsidiary’s
adoption of hyperinflationary accounting is required in the Group’s consolidated figures.
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The indices used to remeasure the values at 31 December 2019 are shown in the table below.
Specifically, the national Consumer Price Index (‘nationwide CPI’) of Argentina was used.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Consumer price index 284.42 184.26
2019 conversion factor 2018 conversion factor

January 1.500 1451
February 1.446 1417
March 1.381 1.384
April 1.335 1.347
May 1.295 1.320
June 1.261 1.272
July 1.234 1.234
August 1.187 1.188
September 1.121 1.115
October 1.085 1.058
November 1.041 1.026
December 1.000 1.000

3. Summary of accounting principles

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include all assets without any physical form that are identifiable, controlled by the company and
capable of producing future economic benefits, as well as goodwill when purchased for a consideration.
Intangible assets acquired are recorded under assets, when it is likely that the use of the assets will generate
future economic benefits, and when the cost can be reliably determined.

If acquired separately, these assets are reported at acquisition cost including all allocable ancillary costs on the
acquisition date.

Intangible assets acquired through business combinations are reported separately from goodwill at fair value,
where this can reliably be measured, on the acquisition date.

Subsequently, intangible assets are recorded at cost net of accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Assets produced internally, excluding development costs, are not capitalised and are reported in the income
statement for the financial year in which they are incurred

Intangible assets with a finite life are amortised on a straight-line basis in relation to their remaining useful life,
taking into account losses due to a reduction in the cumulative value.

The period of amortisation of intangible assets with a finite life is reviewed at least at the end of every financial
year in order to ascertain any changes in their useful life, which, if identified, will be considered as changes in
estimates.

The costs of development projects and studies are recorded in the income statement in full in the year in which
they are incurred.

Advertising and promotional costs are recorded in the income statement when the company has received the
goods or services in question.

Costs relating to industrial patents, concessions, licences and other intangible fixed assets are recorded on the
assets side of the statement of financial position only if they are able to produce future economic benefits for the
company. These costs are amortised according to the period of use, if this can be defined, or according to the
contract term.

Software licences represent the cost of purchasing licences and, if incurred, external consultancy fees or internal
personnel costs necessary for development. These costs are recorded in the year in which the internal or external
costs are incurred for training personnel and other related costs.

Goodwill and brands which result from acquisitions and qualify as intangible assets with an indefinite life are not
amortised. The possibility of recovering their carrying amount is ascertained at least annually, and in any case
when events occur leading to the assumption of a reduction in value using the criteria indicated in the section
entitled ‘Impairment’.

For goodwill, a test is performed on the smallest cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates. On the basis
of this, management directly or indirectly assesses the return on investment including goodwill. See also the
section on ‘Business combinations’ below.

Goodwill write-downs can no longer be written back in future years. When control of a previously acquired
company is transferred, the gain or loss on the sale takes into account the corresponding residual value of the
previously recorded goodwill.

Business combinations

Business combinations are recorded by applying the acquisition method.

The cost of an acquisition is determined by the sum of the payments transferred as part of a business combination,
measured at fair value, at the acquisition date and the value of the portion of shareholders’ equity relating to non-
controlling interests, measured at fair value or as a pro-rata share of the net assets recognised for the acquired
entity. The designated methodology for each acquisition is specified when the values deriving from the allocation
process are shown.
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In the case of business combinations made in stages, the interest previously held by the Group in the acquired
business is revalued at fair value on the date control is acquired, and any resulting gains or losses are recognised
in the income statement.

Conditional payments are measured at fair value at the acquisition date and are included among the transferred
payments for the purposes of calculating goodwill. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the conditional
payment, i.e. where the amount and future disbursement are dependent on future events that are classified as a
financial instrument, are reported on the income statement or separately in equity under the other components of
comprehensive income. The designated methodology for each acquisition is specified when the values deriving
from the allocation process are shown. Conditional payments that do not represent financial instruments regulated
by IFRS 9-‘Financial instruments’, are valued on the basis of the specific applicable IFRS/IAS. Conditional
payments that are classified as equity instruments are not revalued; they are therefore recorded under equity
when settled.

Ancillary costs relating to the transaction are recognised in the income statement at the time they are incurred.
Any changes in fair value occurring once more information becomes available during the measurement period
(12 months from the date of acquisition) are included retrospectively in goodwill.

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is initially measured at cost, as the excess of the sum of payments
transferred as part of a business combination, the value of the portion of shareholders’ equity relating to non-
controlling interests and the fair value of any interest previously held in the acquired business over the Group’s
portion of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired company.
If the value of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date exceeds the sum of the
transferred payments, the value of the non-controlling interests’ portion of shareholders’ equity and the fair value
of any interest previously held in the acquired business, this excess value is recorded in the Income Statement
as income from the transaction.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less cumulative impairment.

To establish whether impairment has occurred, the goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated from
the acquisition date to the individual cash-generating units or to the groups of cash-generating units likely to
benefit from merger synergies, regardless of whether other assets or liabilities from the acquisition are assigned
to these units or groups of units.

When the goodwill is part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and some of the internal
assets of the unit are sold, the goodwill associated with the assets sold is included in the carrying amount of the
assets in order to establish the gain or loss generated by the sale.

Goodwill sold in this way is measured according to the value of the assets sold and the value of the remaining
portion of the unit.

Recognition of non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests relate to the portion of a subsidiary’s shareholders’ equity that is not directly or indirectly
attributable to the Group.

Non-controlling interests are determined by calculating the goodwill using one of the following methods:

- based on the subsidiary’s proportionate share of net assets, determined according to the rules set out by the
accounting standard on business acquisitions;

- in proportion to the price paid.

The choice of method for determining non-controlling interests is made on a case-by-case basis for each business
combination.

If there are cross-mechanisms which give the Group the right to acquire the non-controlling interests (put option
agreement) or rights to sell the same to the Group (call option agreement) or a combination of both (put and call
option agreements), an analysis is made as to whether the risks and benefits connected with the share of legal
ownership of the business to which the non-controlling interests pertain are broadly attributable to the latter or to
the Group. These rights to purchase or sell the non-controlling interests may be defined at a fixed price, a variable
price or a fair value, and may be exercisable at a fixed date or at any time in the future. Each of these variables
is examined to determine the effects on the presentation of the accounts.

If the non-controlling interests have an effective involvement in the conduct of the business, their interest must
continue to be represented in addition to the Group’s shareholders’ equity and, at the same time, the financial
liability relating to the put and/or call option agreements must be recorded.

At the close of each year, the effects of agreements with non-controlling interests are shown as follows:

- an allocation is made of the portion of net shareholders’ equity that would have been recognised to the
non-controlling interests, including the related operating result, as well as the changes to the consolidated income
statement and the dividends paid during the year;

- non-controlling interests recognised at the time of initial acquisition (a) are shown as if they were
eliminated on that date and deducted from the financial liabilities for put and/or call options;

- financial liabilities associated with put and/or call option agreements are shown at fair value (b) as
changes in the Group’s shareholders’ equity, without the need for measurement based on amortised cost;
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- the difference between (a) and (b) is recorded in the Group’s shareholders’ equity.

The financial liability for put and/or call options, measured at its fair value, is not considered to be one of the
components of the purchase price to be allocated to the net assets of the acquired business. Any subsequent
remeasurements of the fair value of the financial liability relating to the put and/or call option agreements are
treated as transactions with minority shareholders and recognised as Group’s shareholders’ equity up to the date
of their liquidation.

If the risks and benefits associated with ownership of the non-controlling interests are borne by the Group, the
non-controlling interests are not shown. The financial liability for put and/or call options, measured at its fair value,
is considered to be one of the components of the purchase price to be allocated to the net assets of the acquired
business. Any change in the fair value is recorded as financial income (expense) in the Group results.

Tangible fixed assets

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at acquisition or production cost, gross of capital grants (if received)
and directly charged expenses, and are not revalued.

Subsequently, tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.

Any costs incurred after purchase are only capitalised if they increase the future financial benefits generated by
using the asset.

The replacement costs of identifiable components of complex assets are allocated to assets on the statement of
financial position and depreciated over their useful life. The residual value recorded for the component being
replaced is allocated to the income statement; other costs are charged to profit and loss when the expense is
incurred.

Financial expenses incurred in respect of investments in assets which normally take a substantial period of time
to be prepared for use or sale are capitalised and depreciated over the useful life of the asset class to which they
belong.

All other financial expenses are posted to the income statement when incurred.

Ordinary maintenance and repair expenses are expensed in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.
If there are current obligations for dismantling or removing assets and cleaning up the related sites, the carrying
amount of the assets includes the estimated costs (discounted to present value) to be incurred when the structures
are abandoned, which are reported as an offsetting entry to a specific provision.

These assets are depreciated using the policies and rates indicated below.

Depreciation is applied using the straight-line method, based on each asset’s estimated useful life as established
in accordance with the company’s plans for use of such assets, taking into account wear and tear and
technological obsolescence, and the likely estimated realisable value net of disposal costs.

When the tangible asset consists of several significant components with different useful lives, depreciation is
applied to each component individually.

The amount to be depreciated is represented by the carrying amount less the estimated net market value at the
end of its useful life, if this value is significant and can be reasonably determined.

Land, even if acquired in conjunction with a building, is not depreciated, and nor are available-for-sale tangible
assets, which are reported at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less disposal costs.

The rates are as follows:

- business related properties and light construction: 3%-10%
- plant and machinery: 10%
- furniture, office and electronic equipment: 10%-20%
- vehicles: 20%-25%
- miscellaneous equipment: 20%-30%

Depreciation ceases on the date on which the asset is classified as available for sale or on which the asset is
derecognised for accounting purposes, whichever occurs first.

A tangible asset is derecognised from the statement of financial position at the time of sale or when there are no
future economic benefits associated with its use or disposal.

Any profits or losses are included in the income statement in the year of this derecognition.

Grants

The Group recognises unconditional public grants, including those relating to biological assets, in the income
statement for the period when the grant is received.

Grants made to compensate the Group for certain expenses incurred in the operation of business, are recognised
in the Income statement when the expenses are incurred.

Capital grants are recorded when there is a reasonable certainty that all requirements necessary for access to
such grants have been met and that the grant will be disbursed.

This generally occurs at the time the decree acknowledging the benefit is issued.
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Capital grants that relate to tangible fixed assets are recorded as deferred income and credited to the Income
statement over the whole period corresponding to the useful life of the asset in question.

Impairment

The Group ascertains, at least once a year, whether there are indicators of potential impairment of intangible and
tangible assets. If the Group finds that such indications exist, it estimates the recoverable value of the relevant
asset.

Moreover, intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or not yet available for use, and goodwill are subject to
impairment tests every year or more frequently, whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
The ability to recover the assets is ascertained by comparing the carrying amount to the related recoverable value,
which is represented by the greater of the fair value less disposal costs, and the value in use.

In the absence of a binding sale agreement, the fair value is estimated on the basis of recent transaction values
in an active market, or based on the best information available to determine the amount that could be obtained
from selling the asset.

The value in use is determined by discounting expected cash flows resulting from the use of the asset, and if
significant and reasonably determinable, the cash flows resulting from its sale at the end of its useful life.

Cash flows are determined on the basis of reasonable, documentable assumptions representing the best estimate
of the future economic conditions that will occur during the remaining useful life of the asset, with greater weight
given to external information.

The discount rate applied takes into account the implicit risk of the business segment.

When it is not possible to determine the recoverable value of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable value of the unit generating the financial flows to which the asset belongs.

Impairment is recorded if the recoverable value of an asset is lower than its carrying amount.

This loss is posted to the Income statement unless the asset was previously written up through a shareholders’
equity reserve.

In this case, the impairment loss is first allocated to the revaluation reserve.

If, in a future period, a loss on assets, other than goodwill, does not materialise or is reduced, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased up to the new estimate of recoverable value, and may not exceed
the value that would have been calculated if no impairment had been recorded.

The recovery of impairment is posted to the Income statement, unless the asset was previously reported at its
revalued amount. In this case, the recovery in value is first allocated to the revaluation reserve.

Investment property

Property and buildings held to generate rent income (investment property) are valued at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

The depreciation rate for buildings is that used for the relevant fixed asset category.

Investment property is derecognised from the statement of financial position when sold or when it becomes
permanently unusable and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal.

Leases

The Group has various agreements in place for the use of offices, vehicles, machinery, shops and other minor
assets belonging to third parties. Lease agreements are generally entered into for a term of 3-10 years but may
contain options to extend them. The terms of the lease are negotiated individually and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The agreements do not include covenants but the leased assets may be used to
guarantee the liability arising from contractual commitments.

With effect from 1 January 2019, following the initial recognition of IFRS 16-‘Leases’, the Group recognises a right
of use for all lease agreements except short-term agreements (i.e. of less than or equal to 12 months and which
do not contain a purchase option) and those for low-value assets (i.e. with a unit value of less than €5,000) on the
start date of the lease, which corresponds to the date in which the underlying asset is available for use. Lease
payments relating to short-term and low-unit value agreements are shown as costs on the Income statement on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Rights of use are valued at cost, net of accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, and adjusted after each
remeasurement of the lease liabilities. The value assigned to the rights of use corresponds to the amount of the
lease liabilities recognised plus initial direct costs incurred, lease payments settled on the start date of the
agreement or previously, and restoration costs, net of any lease incentives received. Restoration costs, which
may be recognised in rare cases, normally relate to offices, for which there could be a contractual requirement to
restore them to their original state at the end of the lease agreement. The Group estimates the fair value of the
restoration obligation based on the agreement with the lessor or by using expert valuations from third parties. The
value of the liability, discounted to present value, as determined above, increases the right of use of the underlying
asset, and a dedicated provision is created as a contra-entry. Unless the Group is reasonably certain that it will
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obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the rights of use are amortised on a straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life or the term of the agreement, if less.

The financial liability for leases is recognised on the start date of the agreement at a total value equal to the
present value of the lease payments to be made during the term of the agreement, discounted to present value
using incremental borrowing rates (IBR) when the implicit interest rate in the lease agreement cannot easily be
determined. The variable lease payments continue to be charged to the Income statement as costs for the period.
After the start date, the amount recorded for the liabilities relating to lease contracts increases to reflect the accrual
of interest and reduces to reflect the payments made. Each lease payment is divided into a repayment of the
capital portion of the liability and a financial cost. The financial cost is charged to the Income statement over the
term of the agreement to reflect a constant interest rate on the remaining debt portion of the liability for each
period.

If there are sublease agreements or agreements to modify the lease agreement, the rules required by IFRS 16-
‘Leases’, shall apply.

Under IFRS 16, the management is required to make estimates and assumptions that might influence the
valuation of the right of use and the financial liability for leases, including the determination of:

- agreements for the application of the new rules for measuring assets/liabilities using the financial method;
- terms of the agreement;

- interest rate used for discounting future lease payments to current value.

The agreements are either included or excluded from the application of the standard based on detailed analysis
carried out for each agreement and in line with the rules laid down by IFRS standards.

The term of the lease is calculated taking account of the non-cancellable period of the lease together with the
periods covered by an option to extend the agreement if it is reasonably certain that it will be exercised, or any
period covered by an option to terminate the lease contract, if it is reasonably certain it will not be exercised.
Group assesses whether it is reasonably certain that it will exercise the options to extend or terminate the
agreements taking account of all the relevant factors that create a financial incentive pertaining to such decisions.

Lease incentives received at the latest by the start date of the agreement are deducted directly from the value of
the right of use; the corresponding value reflects the money already received net of the credit amount to be
collected. Lease incentives agreed during the term of the agreement are considered to be amendments to the
original agreement, measured at the date of the amendment, with a resulting impact of the same value on both
the right of use and the liability relating to leases.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments held by the Group are categorised as follows.

i).Financial assets
Financial assets include investments, short-term securities and financial receivables, which in turn include the
positive fair value of financial derivatives, trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
Specifically, cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and highly liquid securities that are readily
convertible into cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of a change in value. Deposits and securities included
in this category mature in less than three months from the closing date of the period.
Current securities include short-term securities or marketable securities that represent a temporary investment of
cash and do not meet the requirements for classification as cash and cash equivalents.
Financial assets represented by debt securities are classified and valued on the statement of financial position
based on the business model that the Group has adopted to manage these financial assets, and based on the
financial flows associated with each financial asset.
Financial assets also include investments in companies that are not held for trading. These assets are strategic
investments, and the Group has decided to recognise changes in the related fair values through profit and loss
(FVTPL). Changes in value that clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment are not recorded
in the Income statement, but are deducted directly from the asset.

Financial assets are classified and measured on the basis of a business model developed by the Group. The
business model has been defined at a level that reflects the way in which groups of financial assets are managed
to achieve a particular business objective. The model's measurement process requires an assessment based in
part on quantitative and qualitative factors relating to, for example, the way in which the performance of the
financial assets in question is communicated to management with strategic responsibilities and the way in which
the risks connected with these financial assets are managed.
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The Group measures a financial asset at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions:
- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and,
- its contractual conditions are such that the cash flows generated by the asset are attributable exclusively to
payments of principal and related interest.
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are measured at fair value at the time of initial recognition;
subsequent measurements reflect the repayments made, the effects of applying the effective interest method and
any write-downs. Any gain or loss made on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss, together with foreign
exchange gains and losses.
A financial asset represented by debt securities is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) if it meets both of the following conditions:
- itis held within a business model whose objective is to collect both the contractual cash flows and the cash flows
arising from the sale of the asset; and,
- its contractual conditions are such that the cash flows generated by the asset are attributable exclusively to
payments of principal and related interest. After initial recognition, these assets are subsequently measured at
fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment losses are recognised on the income statement. Net gains and losses deriving from other changes in
fair value are recognised with a balancing entry in the statement of comprehensive income. Upon derecognition,
the accumulated gains and losses in the statement of comprehensive income are recorded to the income
statement.
Impairment of a financial asset
Financial assets are tested for recoverability by applying an impairment model based on the expected credit loss
(ECL).
The Group applies the simplified method for trade receivables, which considers the probabilities of defaults over
the financial instrument’s life (lifetime expected credit losses). Impaired loans are analysed based on the debtor’'s
creditworthiness and ability to pay the sums due, as well as the degree of effective coverage of any collateral and
personal guarantees in existence. With regard to all other trade receivables, two approaches are applied to
estimate impairment, based on the specific characteristics of the individual countries in which the Group operates
and its constant growth at a global level: one is matrix-based and the other applies the probability of default (PD)
obtained from external sources specialising in the country in which each subsidiary is located.
A financial asset is considered impaired when internal or external information indicates that it is unlikely that the
Group will receive the full contractual amount.
Lastly, with regard to other financial assets measured at amortised cost, and, specifically, cash and cash
equivalents, the impact in terms of expected loss is not considered material and for this reason no adjustment is
made to the book values.

ii).Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include financial payables, which, in turn, include the negative fair value of financial derivatives,
trade payables and other payables.
Financial liabilities are classified and measured at amortised cost, except for financial liabilities that are initially
measured at fair value, for example financial liabilities relating to earn-outs linked to business combinations and
derivative instruments and financial liabilities for put options on non-controlling interests.

iii).Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset or liability (or, if applicable, part of a financial asset/liability or part of a group of similar financial
assets/liabilities) is derecognised from the statement of financial position if the Group has unconditionally
transferred the right to receive financial flows from the asset or the obligation to make payments or fulfil other
obligations related to the liability.
In cases where an existing financial liability is replaced by another to the same lender under substantially different
conditions, or where the conditions of an existing liability have changed substantially, the replacement or change
is treated in the financial statements as a derecognition of the original liability, and a new liability is therefore
reported, with any difference in the carrying amounts recognised in the Income statement.

iv).Financial derivatives and hedging transactions
Financial derivatives embedded in contracts where the primary element is a financial asset that falls within the
scope of IFRS 9 are not separated. The hybrid instrument is instead examined as a whole for classification in the
statement of financial position and subsequent measurement.
Financial derivatives are used exclusively for hedging purposes to reduce exchange and interest rate risk.
Financial derivatives are only accounted for according to the methods established for hedge accounting (fair value
hedge or cash flow hedge) if, at the start of the hedging period, the hedging relationship has been designated. It
is assumed that the hedge is highly effective: it must be possible for this effectiveness to be reliably measured
during the accounting periods for which it is designated. All financial derivatives are measured at fair value.
Where financial instruments meet the requirements for being reported using hedge accounting procedures, the
following accounting treatment is applied:
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i. fair value hedge: if a financial derivative is designated as a hedge against exposure to changes in the fair value
of an asset or liability attributable to a particular risk that could have an impact in the income statement, the
gains or losses resulting from subsequent measurements of the fair value of the hedging instrument are
reported in the Income statement. The gain or loss on the hedged item, which is attributable to the hedged risk,
is reported as a portion of the carrying amount of this item and as an offsetting entry in the Income statement;

ii. cash flow hedge: if a financial instrument is designated as a hedge of exposure to fluctuations in the future cash
flow of an asset or liability recorded in the financial statements, or of a transaction that is considered to be
highly probable and that could have an impact on the Income statement, the effective portion of the gains or
losses on the financial instrument is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Cumulative gains
or losses are reversed from shareholders’ equity and recorded in the Income statement in the same period in
which the transaction being hedged has an impact on the Income statement. The gain or loss associated with
a hedge or the portion of a hedge that has become ineffective is posted to the Income statement when the
ineffectiveness is reported.

If a hedge instrument or hedge relationship is closed out, but the transaction being hedged has not been carried

out, the cumulative gains and losses, which, until that time had been posted to shareholders’ equity, are

recognised in the Income statement at the time the related transaction is carried out.

If the transaction being hedged is no longer considered likely to take place, the pending unrealised profits or

losses in shareholders’ equity are recorded in the Income statement.

If hedge accounting cannot be applied, any gains or losses resulting from measuring the financial derivative at its

present value are posted to the Income statement.

A highly probable intra-group transaction qualifies as a hedged item in a cash flow hedge of exchange rate risk,

provided that the transaction is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the company

entering into the transaction and that the financial statements are exposed to exchange rate risk.

In addition, if the hedge of a forecast intra-group transaction qualifies for hedge accounting, any gain or loss that

is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income must be reclassified in the income statement in

the same period in which the currency risk of the hedged transaction affects the consolidated income statement.

Own shares

Own shares are reported as a reduction to shareholders’ equity.

The original cost of own shares and the economic effects of any subsequent sales are reported as movements in
shareholders’ equity.

Inventories

Inventories of raw materials and semi-finished and finished products are valued at the lower of purchase or
production cost, determined using the weighted average method, and market value.

Work in progress is recorded at the acquisition cost of the raw materials used including the actual production
costs incurred up to the point of production reached.

Inventories of raw materials and semi-finished products that are no longer of use in the production cycle and
inventories of unsaleable finished products are fully written down.

Low-value replacement parts and maintenance equipment that cannot be used in connection with one element of
the assets are reported as inventories and recognised in the Income statement when used.

Biological assets

The Group’s biological assets that relate to sugar cane plantations, agave and oranges, of which are used as the
raw materials for the production of spirits, are classified as ‘Other fixed assets’ of the Group and follow the
accounting rules reported in the section on ‘Tangible assets’. These fixed assets are used for an average period
of 6 years and are not intended to be sold as an independent biological product. The depreciation period runs
from initial capitalisation given that agricultural production, by its nature, is characterised by the immediate start
of the product life cycle.

For the time up to harvest, the developing agricultural product is shown under ‘Biological inventories’ and valued
on the basis of production costs incurred up to the reporting date; this is considered an effective approximation of
the related fair value if there is no active market with quoted prices from which an alternative reference value may
be determined.

At harvest, the agricultural products are moved to ‘Raw materials inventories’ and are measured at their fair value
net of estimated point-of-sale costs. Any difference compared with the previous valuation is charged to the Group’s
Income statement.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale include non-current assets (or disposal groups) whose carrying amount will be
recovered primarily from their sale rather than their ongoing use, and whose sale is highly probable in the short
term (within one year) and in the assets’ current condition.
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Non-current assets held for sale are valued at the lower of their net carrying amount and present value, less sale
costs, and are not amortised.

Benefits for employees
Post-employment benefits:
Group companies provide post-employment benefits for staff, both directly and by contributing to external funds.

The procedures for providing these benefits vary according to the legal, fiscal and economic conditions in each
country in which the Group operates.

Group companies provide post-employment benefits through defined contribution and/or defined benefit plans.

i. Defined benefit plans

The Group’s obligations and the annual cost reported in the Income statement are determined by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The net cumulative value of actuarial gains and losses is recorded directly in the statement of comprehensive
income and is not subsequently recognised in the Income statement.

The costs associated with an increase in the present value of the obligation, as the time of payment of the benefits
draws nearer, are included under financial expenses. Service costs are posted to the Income statement. The
liability recognised represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation, less the present value of plan
assets. If an amendment to the plan changes the benefits accruing from past service, the costs arising from past
service are recognised in the Income statement at the time the change to the plan is made. The same treatment
is applied if there is a change to the plan that reduces the number of employees or that amends the terms and
conditions of the plan (treatment is the same regardless of whether the final result is a profit or a loss).

i. Defined contribution plans

Since the Group fulfils its obligations by paying contributions to a separate entity (a fund), with no further
obligations, the company records its contributions to the fund in respect of employees’ service, without making
any actuarial calculation.

Where these contributions have already been paid at the reporting date, no liabilities are recorded in the financial
statements.

Compensation plans in the form of stock options:

The Group pays additional benefits in the form of stock option plans to employees, directors and individuals who
regularly carry out work for one or more Group companies.

Pursuant to IFRS 2-‘Share-Based Payment’, the total fair value of the stock options on the allocation date is to be
reported as a cost in the Income statement, with an increase in the respective shareholders’ equity reserve, in the
period beginning at the time of allocation and ending on the date on which the employees, directors and individuals
who regularly carry out work for one or more Group companies become fully entitled to receive the stock options.
Changes in the present value after the grant date have no effect on the initial valuation, while in the event of
changes to the terms and conditions of the plan, additional costs are recorded for each change that determines
an increase in the present value of the recognised option. The cost is recognised as a portion, for each period in
which the vesting conditions have been met, while in the event of the cancellation of an option, the cost recorded
until that date is released to income on the Income statement.

The fair value of stock options is represented by the value of the option calculated by applying the Black-Scholes
model, which takes into account the conditions for exercising the option, the current share price, expected volatility
and the risk-free rate, as well as the non-vesting conditions.

The stock options are recorded at fair value with an offsetting entry in the stock option reserve.

The dilutive effect of options not yet exercised is included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

Provision for risks and charges and contingent assets

Accruals for the provision for risks and charges are recognised when:

- there is a current legal or implicit obligation resulting from a past event;

- itis likely that the fulfilment of the obligation will require some form of payment;

- the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.

Accruals are recorded at a value representing the best estimate of the amount the company would reasonably
pay to discharge the obligation or transfer it to third parties on the reporting date.

Where the financial impact of the timing is significant, and the payment dates of the obligations can be reliably
estimated, the accrual is discounted to present value. The change in the related provision over time is allocated
to the Income statement under ‘Financial income (expenses)’.

Provisions are periodically updated to reflect changes in estimates of cost, timescales and discount rates.
Revisions to estimates of provisions are booked to the same income statement item that contains the accrual or,
if the liability relates to tangible assets (e.g. dismantling and restoration), these revisions are reported as an
offsetting entry to the related asset.
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When the Group expects that all or part of the provisions will be repaid by third parties, the payment is recorded
under assets only if it is virtually certain, and the accrual and related repayment are posted to the Income
statement.

The Group records purely contingent assets but provides information where there are significant amounts that are
highly likely to be realised. The Group records the relevant asset only when the original uncertainty relating to it
no longer applies and it is certain that the asset will be realised.

Restructuring provisions

The Group reports restructuring provisions only if there is an implicit restructuring obligation and a detailed formal
restructuring programme that has led to the reasonable expectation by the third parties concerned that the
company will carry out the restructuring, either because it has already started the process or because it has
already communicated the main aspects of the restructuring to the third parties concerned.

Revenues from sales and services

Revenues are recognised when the customer gains control of the goods. Transfer of control is determined using
a five-step analytical model that is applied to all revenues from contracts with customers.

This occurs when the goods are delivered to the customer, who has full discretion over the sales channel and
price of the products themselves, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect acceptance by the
customer. Delivery takes place when the products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer and the customer has accepted the products in
accordance with the sales contract, the terms and conditions of acceptance have expired or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been met. The Group’s revenues mainly include sales of
spirits on the market and, to a marginal extent, revenues from co-packing services in some way linked to the
Group’s core business. In view of the significance of the core business to total Group sales, a breakdown of sales
has not been prepared.

Revenues are recognised at the price shown in the contract, net of any estimates of deferred discounts or
incentives granted in line with industry practice, for example:

1) volume/value discounts based on cumulative sales above a threshold at the end of a given period;

2) performance-based discounts (such as discounts, rebates, performance bonuses, logistical discounts) based
on promotional activities carried out by the customer and agreed in advance;

3) customer incentives, such as discount vouchers, free products, price protection, market development
allowances and price reduction allowances (to compensate low sales);

4) product placement allowances (such as contributions for placement and range).

Historical experience is used to estimate deferred discounts/incentives based on agreements with clients, and
revenues are recognised only to the extent that it is highly probable that there will be no need for subsequent
significant adjustments.

No element of financing is deemed to be present as sales are made with only a brief delay before payment:
contracts are not normally entered into where there is more than one year between the transfer of the goods and
payment by the customer.

Discounts relating to specific payment terms that lower the Group entity’s collection risk or reduce administrative
costs and/or improve liquidity (such as payments at the time of sale) are recognised as a reduction in revenue.
A liability reducing the related trade receivable is recognised for deferred discounts due to customers in relation
to sales made up to the end of the period. Such liabilities can then be offset against the amounts payable by the
customer.

A credit is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

The Group incurs consumption taxes all over the world. In most of the jurisdictions, excise duties are a production
tax that becomes payable when the product is removed from the tied estate and is not directly correlated with the
sales value. Excise duties are recognised as a cost offset by the revenues deriving from the amounts collected.
In line with industry practice, sales are shown in the Group’s Income statement net of excise duties.

Recognition of costs and expenses in the Income statement

Costs are recognised in the Income statement when they relate to goods and services consumed during the
period.

Personnel costs include stock option plans (in keeping with their largely remunerative nature) allocated to
employees, directors and individuals who regularly carry out work for one or more Group companies.

Costs incurred in developing alternative products or processes, or in conducting technological research and
development, are considered current costs and expenses in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Financial income and expenses

Financial income and expenses (including exchange rate differences) are mainly recognised in the Income
statement in the year in which they are incurred; recognition in other components of the statement of
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comprehensive income is governed by the rules of IFRS 9-‘Financial Instruments’. Financial expenses that are
not capitalised are recognised in the Income statement based on the effective interest method.

Taxes

Current income taxes are calculated on estimated taxable income, and the related payable is recorded under ‘Tax
payable’.

Current tax payable and receivable are recognised in the amount expected to be paid to/received from tax
authorities by applying the tax rates and regulations in force or effectively approved on the reporting date. In
preparing the above estimates, detailed assessment was also given to uncertainties regarding the tax treatment
of transactions carried out by the Group that could give rise to disputes with the tax authorities.

Current taxes relating to items posted directly to shareholders’ equity are included in shareholders’ equity.

Other non-income taxes, such as property and capital taxes, are included in operating expenses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on all temporary differences between the asset and liability values
recorded in the financial statements and the corresponding values recognised for tax purposes using the liability
method.

Provisions for deferred taxes that could be incurred from the transfer of undistributed profit from subsidiaries have
been made only where there is a genuine intention to transfer that profit.

Deferred tax assets are recorded when their recovery is likely.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of tax rates projected to be applicable under the
respective laws of the countries in which the Group operates, in those periods when the temporary differences
are generated or derecognised.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when these relate to income taxes levied by the same
tax authority and a legal right of set-off exists, provided that realisation of the asset and settlement of the liability
take place simultaneously.

The balance of any set-off is posted to deferred tax assets if positive and deferred tax liabilities if negative.

Transactions in foreign currencies (not hedged with derivatives)

Revenues and costs related to foreign currency transactions are reported at the exchange rate in force on the
date the transaction is carried out.

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are initially translated into Euro at the exchange rate in effect
on the transaction date and subsequently converted into Euro at the exchange rate in effect on the reporting date,
with the difference in value being posted to the Income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities arising from the payment/collection of a foreign currency advance are initially
recognised at the exchange rate in effect on the transaction date and are not subsequently modified to take
account of the change in the exchange rate in effect on the reporting date.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the Group’s net result by the weighted average number of
shares outstanding during the period, excluding any own shares held.

For the purposes of calculating the diluted earnings (loss) per share, the weighted average of outstanding shares
is adjusted in line with the assumption that all potential shares with a diluting effect will be converted.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements and related notes in accordance with IFRS requires the management
to make estimates and assumptions that have an impact on the value of revenues, with particular reference to
deferred costs and incentives, costs, assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and on disclosures
concerning contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting date.

If, in the future, these estimates and assumptions, based on the best valuation currently available, differ from the
actual circumstances, they will be amended accordingly at the time the circumstances change.

In particular, estimates are used to identify provisions for risks with respect to receivables, obsolete inventory,
depreciation and amortisation, asset impairment, employee benefits, taxes, restructuring provisions and the
allocation of other provisions, as well as to determine the duration and incremental interest rate for leasing
transactions.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly, and the impact of any change is reflected in the Income
statement.

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are subject to annual impairment tests to check for any
losses in value.

The calculations are based on expected cash flows from the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
attributed, as inferred from multi-year budgets and plans. Growth rate assumptions are applied to the years
beyond the plan horizon as well as for discounting.
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The initial valuation is revised if a significant event occurs or there is a change in the characteristics that affect
the valuation and these are under the Group’s control.

The incremental borrowing rates used to evaluate leasing contracts are defined by the Group are revised on a
recurring basis and applied to all agreements with similar characteristics; these were considered to be a single
portfolio of agreements. The rates are determined using the average effective debt rate of the Parent Company,
appropriately adjusted as required by the new accounting rules, to simulate a theoretical interest rate consistent
with the agreements being valued. The most important elements considered in adjusting the rate are the credit
risk spread of each country observable on the market and the varying durations of the lease agreements. Explicit
interest rates in lease agreements are rare.

4. Change in accounting standards

a. IFRS 16-Leases — impacts of first-time adoption

IFRS 16 Leases, published by the IASB on 13 January 2016, supersedes IAS 17 Leases starting from 1 January
2019 and introduces methods of accounting presentation that more appropriately reflect the type of leases in the
financial statements. Specifically, IFRS 16 introduces a single model for accounting for leases in the financial
statements of lessees, requiring lessees to recognise an asset for the right of use of the underlying asset and a
liability for the obligation to make lease payments. Furthermore, the nature of the costs of the above-mentioned
leases changes since IFRS 16 replaces the recognition on a straight-line basis of the costs of operating leases
with depreciation of the right of use asset and the financial expenses of the liabilities. For the lessor, the accounting
treatment methods are similar to those specified in IAS 17, meaning the lessor continue to classify leases as
operating or finance leases.

Before 1 January 2019 in accordance with previous IAS 17 Leases, the Group classified each of its leases (as
lessee) as either a finance lease or an operating lease, at the inception date. A lease was classified as a finance
lease if it transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the
Group; otherwise it was classified as an operating lease. Finance leases were capitalized at the commencement
of the lease at the inception date fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. In operating lease, the leased asset was not capitalized and the lease payments were recognized
as rent expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Regarding first-time adoption of the standard, Campari Group has decided to adopt the modified retrospective
approach. Therefore, the figures for the comparative period have not been restated and some simplifications and
practical expedients have been applied, as permitted by the standard. The adoption of IFRS 16 had no effect on
the opening shareholder’s equity at 1 January 2019.

The key assumptions used for the first application of IFRS 16 are summarised below:

- all agreements in effect on 1 January 2019 concerning the use of third-party assets were analyzed in light of the
new definition of lease included in the updated accounting rules;

as part of the analysis performed, the Group also considered arrangements which are not structured as a lease
from a legal point of view but could contain a lease based on the new definition of a lease included in IFRS 16;
thus, the Group decided not to take advantage of the practical expedient making it possible to identify leases on
the basis of analysis already performed pursuant to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4-‘Determining Whether an Arrangement
Contains a Lease’

lease agreements of assets with a low unit value (i.e. unit value lower than €5 thousand) and short-term leases
(i.e. less than 12 months) were managed separately. Costs relating to these leases, mainly related to IT
equipment, will continue to be recognized in the income statement as separately identified operating costs;

for leasing contracts falling within the scope of application of the new standard, the right of use assets were
measured at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued leases
payments as well as any lease incentives, received before the 1 January 2019;

no impact on carrying amounts at 1 January 2019 relating to lease agreements in which the Group acts as
lessee and that were classified as finance leases based on IAS 17 was identified, except for their asset’s
classifications. The previously applied interest rates, the residual value of the financial liabilities and the carrying
amounts of the underlying leased assets were confirmed, while the carrying amount of the leased asset were
reclassified in the new caption ‘right of use’;

only for the not material class of assets ‘other’, the simplification allowing not to separate payments
for the use of the asset (lease component) and payments for services or maintenance (non-lease
component) relating to the same asset, has been applied;
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- sub-lease agreements, which had been classified as operating leases under IAS 17, were re-analyzed to check
their classification as operating or finance leases based on the new rules; the above classification must use the
right of use asset of the main lease as a reference rather than the asset underlying the sub-lease agreement;

- lastly, it should be noted that no onerous contracts were identified.

Other practical expedients applied at the transition date were:

- the initial direct costs (including key money) were excluded from measuring the right of use asset at the date of
initial application;

- the determination of the lease terms was assessed using hindsight in case the contract contains options to
extend or terminate the lease;

- right of use assets and liabilities were not recognized for leases with a residual term less than 12 months.

Discount rate

The key assumptions regarding the definition of the incremental borrowing rate (IBR) on the first-time adoption

date of the new standard were as follows:

- a method for estimating IBR was determined, to be applied to all agreements with similar characteristics, which
were considered as a single portfolio of agreements. Thus, the Company opted to adopt the practical expedient
allowing simplified measurement of this parameter, as permitted by the new standard;

- the starting point for defining the IBR on the first-time adoption date of the new standard is the average borrowing
rate for existing loans of the Parent Company at 31 December 2018 with a similar maturity to the average of the
agreements being remeasured. This rate was appropriately adjusted, as required by the new accounting rules,
to simulate a theoretical incremental borrowing rate consistent with the agreements being measured. In
estimating the IBR, the characteristics considered when segregating the agreements in effect at 31 December
2018 included: average remaining term, amount of the financial liability, country where the leased asset is
located, and currency of the agreement.

The IBRs applied to discount lease payments at 1 January 2019 are reported below.

Currency Within 5 years From 5 to 10 years Over 10 years
EUR 1.7% 2.6% 3.1%
usD 4.2% 4.6% 4.7%
GBP 2.7% 3.1% 3.3%

The provisional impact disclosed in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2018 has resulted
in not material changes, as provided below. It should be noted that the new accounting criteria could be amended
up until the submission of the first Group consolidated financial statements for the year (31 December 2019) that
includes the first-time adoption date.

Impact on first time adoption

Right of use assets

€ million 1 January 2019
Buildings 66.6
Land 0.3
Machinery 5.7
Vehicles 7.3
IT equipment 0.5
Other 1.0
Total right of use assets 81.4

Financial assets and liabilities for leasing and sub-leasing

Within 12 Over 12

€ million months months Total
Financial liabilities for leases:

Buildings 9.9 (64.7) (74.2)
Land - (0.3) (0.3)
Machinery (0.8) (4.8) (5.7)
Vehicles 2.7) (4.6) (7.3)
IT equipment 0.2) (0.3) (0.5)
Other (0.3) 0.7) (1.0)
Total financial liabilities for leases as of 1 January 2019 (13.5) (75.5) (89.0)
Financial asset for leases:

Buildings 1.9 5.7 7.6
Total financial assets for leases as of 1 January 2019 1.9 5.7 7.6
Total financial assets and liabilities (net value) as of 1 January 2019 11.6 69.8 814
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Reconciliation between contractual commitments at 31 December 2018 for using third-party assets and
financials liabilities for leases at 1 January 2019

€ million
Operating lease commitments disclosed at 31 December 2018 () 102.4
Short-term leases and low-value assets leases (0.6)
Commitments for variable lease payments 2.2)
Non lease component commitments (rendering of services) .7
Net value of contractual commitments included in financial liabilities for leases at 1 January 2019 98.8
Discounting effect (17.4)
Financial liabilities for leases as of 1 January 2019 81.4

® Included in note 46-Commitments and risks of the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2018

Reconciliation between assets for right of use and financial assets and liabilities for leasing and sub-
leasing from the first time application of IFRS16 accounting principle and overall balance at 1 January
2019

Right of use assets reconciliation

Reclassification of

Right of use assets as of firstiirrilzemz;rc]?);){iiﬁningecc: adjustments tilr:(??i deGpI:;s;: items included_ in 201? 1 January 2019
1 January 2019 stated figures ©

€ million € million € million € million € million
Buildings 67.5 0.9) 66.6 (5.7) 60.9
Land 2.0 a7 0.3 - 0.3
Machinery 5.7 - 5.7 - 5.7
Vehicles 6.6 0.7 7.3 13 8.6
IT equipment 0.6 - 0.5 - 0.5
Other 1.0 - 1.0 - 1.0
Total right of use assets 83.3 1.9 814 (4.4) 77.0

® The reclassification refers to lease incentive received before 1 January 2019 and assets under financial lease that were classified respectively in the ‘Other
current liabilities” and ‘Net tangible fixed assets’ line items of the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2018.

Financial assets and liabilities for leases and sub-leases reconciliation

Preliminary estimated first- IFRS 16 first Reclassification of

Financials assets and liabilities for leases time adoption impact ~ 2IUSIMeNts o doption  tems included in 201(?) 1 January 2019
and sub-lease as of 1 January 2019 stated figures

€ million € million € million € million € million
Financial liabilities for leases:
Within 12 months (14.7) 1.2 (13.5) (4.8) (18.3)
Over 12 months (76.3) 0.8 (75.5) (1.0) (76.5)
Total financial liabilities for leases
and sub-lease (90.9) 1.9 (89.0) (5.8) (94.8)
Financial assets for sub-leases:
Within 12 months 1.9 - 1.9 0.8 2.6
Over 12 months 5.7 - 5.7 0.8 6.5
Total financial assets for leases
and sub-leases 7.6 - 7.6 15 9.1
Financial assets and liabilities for leases (83.3) 19 (81.4) (4.3) (85.8)

and sub-leases (net)
) The reclassification refers to financial asset and liabilities arising from leasing classified as financial leases as of 31 December 2018 and includes liabilities linked
to lease agreement classified in ‘Other current liabilities’ line items on the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2018.

b. Other accounting standards, amendments and interpretations applicable from 1 January 2019

IFRIC 23 interpretation-‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’

IFRIC 23 aims to clarify how to calculate current and deferred taxes when there is uncertainty about the tax
treatments adopted by the entity drawing up the financial statements, which may not be accepted by the tax
authorities. The application of the interpretation did not have an impact on the measurement of the tax burden as
Campari Group already applied IAS 12 in a manner consistent with IFRIC 23.

Amendment to IAS 28-‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’

The aim of the changes introduced with this amendment is to clarify that the impairment provisions in IFRS 9 —
‘Financial Instruments’, apply to long-term interests in associates and joint ventures. These amendments do not
apply to the Group.

Amendment to IAS 19-‘Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement’

In this amendment, the IASB clarifies how to calculate pension expenses if there is a change in the defined-benefit
plan. The amendment did not generate any impact on the Group’s financial position as there had not been any
amendments to its existing plans.

The IASB document ‘Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle’ introduced the following

changes:

- IFRS 3-‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ clarifies that a company must remeasure a previously
held interest in a business that meets the definition of a joint operation when it obtains control;
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- IFRS 11-‘Joint Arrangements’ clarifies that a company does not need to remeasure a previously held interest in
a joint operation when it acquires joint control of the same;

- IAS 23-‘Borrowing Costs’ clarifies that when an asset is ready for its intended use or sale, an entity must treat
any outstanding borrowing made specifically to obtain that asset as part of the funds that it has borrowed
generally.

These amendments do not apply to Campari Group.

Lastly, the amendment to IAS 12-‘Income Taxes’ clarifies that a company must recognise the income tax
consequences of dividends in profit or loss. The Group was already following this interpretation.

c. Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that have been ratified but are not yet
applicable/have not been adopted by the company in advance
The Group is still assessing the impact of these amendments on its financial position or operating results.

Amendment to ‘References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards’ (issued on 29 March 2018)

The IASB has published a revised version of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, with its initial
recognition for 1 January 2020. The aim of the amendment is to update the references in various standards and
interpretations that have now been superseded.

The main changes relate to:

- a new chapter on measurement;

- better definitions and guidance, with particular regard to the definition of liabilities;

- clarifications of important concepts such as stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty;

- clarifications on definitions and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 ‘Definition of Material’ (issued on 31 October 2018)

The IASB has published Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8) to clarify the definition of
‘material’ in order to help companies to assess whether information should be included in the financial statements.
Information is deemed ‘material’ if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could influence the decisions of the users
of financial statements. The amendments will apply from 1 January 2020. Early adoption is, however, permitted.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 on ‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’; (issued on 26 September 2019)
The IASB has issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7. These amendments provide temporary reliefs
allowing hedge accounting to continue to be used in the period of uncertainty leading up to the interest rate reform.
The latter concerns the replacement of the current interest rate benchmarks with an alternative risk-free interest
rate. These amendments enter into force on 1 January 2020; early application is permitted.

d. Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations not yet ratified

Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Definition of a Business’ (issued on 22 October 2018)

The IASB has published an amendment to IFRS 3, ‘Definition of a Business’, with the objective of helping
companies to decide whether a transaction is an acquisition of a business or of a group of assets that does not
meet the definition of a business according to IFRS 3-‘Business Combinations’. The amendments will apply to
acquisitions after 1 January 2020. Early adoption is permitted. The Group did not choose for early adoption.
IFRS 17-‘Insurance Contracts’ (issued on 18 May 2017) with initial recognition scheduled for 1 January 2021.
The standard does not apply to the Group.

5. Seasonal factors

Sales of some Group products are more affected than others by seasonal factors, because of different
consumption patterns or consumer habits.

For example, sales of sparkling wines in some markets are concentrated in certain periods of the year, mainly
around Christmas.

The Group’s commercial risk is higher because the result obtained in these periods can significantly influence the
sales result for the full year.

In general, the Group’s diversified product portfolio and the geographical spread of its sales help to substantially
reduce any risks relating to seasonal factors.

6. Debt management

The Group’s debt management objectives are based on its ability to ensure that it retains an optimal level of
financial soundness, while maintaining an appropriate level of liquidity that enables it to make an economic return
and, at the same time, access external sources of funding. The Group monitors changes to its net debt/EBITDA
adjusted ratio on an ongoing basis.

This multiple was 1.6 times at 31 December 2019 decreasing from 2.0 at 31 December 2018, with same
calculation criteria.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 77



CAMPARI GROUP-ANNUAL REPORT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

7. Business combination (acquisition and sales)
The impact of acquisitions of businesses carried out in 2019 on the Group’s net financial debt is summarised
below.

Rhumantilles  Ancho Reyes and Montelobos
Total

€ million € million € million
Business combination (including post-closing adjustments) (53.8) (32.6) (86.5)
Net financial assets (debt) acquired 6.7) 3.9 2.7)
Payables for earn-out - (23.9) (23.9)
Total business combination net value (60.5) (52.6) (113.1)
Of which stated at 31 December 2019:
Net impact on cash and cash equivalent (60.5) (28.7) (89.2)
Net impact on net financial debt other than cash and cash equivalent - (23.9) (23.9)

On the date that these annual financial statements were approved, based on the process of recognising and
restating the information necessary for allocating the purchase prices of the two transactions at the fair value of
the respective net assets acquired, the Group carried out the provisional purchase price allocation, that will be
finalised within 12 months of the closing date, in compliance with applicable accounting standards.

Acquisition of Trois Riviéres and La Mauny French rums

As mentioned in the paragraph ‘Significant events during the period’, on 1 October 2019 Campari Group
completed the acquisition of Rhumantilles S.A.S. (‘Rhumantilles’), a French company which own 96.5% of
Bellonnie&Bourdillon Successeurs S.A.S., with its headquarters in Martinique. As a result of this acquisition, the
companies Distilleries Agricoles De Sainte Luce S.A.S. and Société Civile d’Exploitation Agricole Trois Riviéres
(both headquartered in Martinique) were also included in the scope of consolidation.

The scope of the transaction included the Trois Rivieres and La Mauny brands (strategic brands with premium
positioning) and Duquesne (a brand destined for the local market in Martinique), as well as holdings in land,
distilleries and visitor centres, and a warehouse for maturing high-quality liquids.

The enterprise value of the deal was €60.5 million (including also the net financial debt acquired).

As admitted by the related accounting standards the provisional purchase price allocation at the fair values of the
assets acquired is shown below. It should be emphasised that this allocation is provisional. Once further
information about facts and events existing at the closing of the transaction is obtained, recognised and restated,
the values calculated could be different from those presented in this report. This analysis will be carried out, in
part with the assistance of independent experts, within 12 months of the closing date.

Based on the preliminary analysis performed, goodwill was deemed to be fully reportable due to the synergies
expected to be generated by integrating the brands acquired into the Group’s commercial structure. The goodwill
is not tax-deductible based on the relevant local regulations.

The acquired interests have been consolidated starting from 1 October 2019. However, the signed agreement
foresees to maintaining the non-controlling interest with no specific agreed deadline for their liquidation. Given
the nature of such interests, it was deemed appropriate to value them at the price paid by the Group, in proportion
to the residual stake they own.
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The values shown here are explained in the following notes to the financial statements, where they are highlighted
as changes in the basis of consolidation in the statement of financial position. Where not expressed in euro, the
values were converted at the exchange rate on the closing date of the transaction.

- Book values at Provisional fair value at 31
Value at acquisition date acquisition date December 2019
€ million € million
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Net tangible fixed assets 12.2 12.2
Right of use assets 13 13
Biological assets 14 14
Trademark 0.6 9.0
Intangible assets with a finite life 0.4 0.4
Deferred tax assets 0.5 0.5
Other non-current assets 0.4 0.4
Total non-current assets 16.8 25.2
Current assets
Inventories 18.7 18.7
Biological assets 0.1 0.1
Trade receivables 45 4.5
Short-term financial receivables 1.9 1.9
Income tax receivables 0.7 0.7
Other receivables 1.9 1.9
Total current assets 27.9 27.9
Total assets 44.8 53.1
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Payables to banks 0.6 0.6
Other non-current financial liabilities 1.3 1.3
Provisions for risks and charges 15 15
Deferred tax liabilities 0.1) 2.1
Total non-current liabilities 3.2 5.4
Current liabilities
Payables to banks 6.8 6.8
Other financial liabilities 15.9 -
Trade payables 4.7 4.7
Income tax payables 0.1 0.1
Other current liabilities 43 4.3
Current liabilities 31.8 16.0
Total liabilities 35.1 214
Net assets acquired 9.7 31.8
Non-controlling interests - 1.9
Goodwill generated by acquisition - 24.0
Enterprise value (at+b) 60.5
a) Total cost, of which: - 53.8
- Price paid in cash, excluding ancillary costs - 54.1
- Price adjustments after closing - (0.2)
b) Net financial position acquired, of which: 225 6.7
- Cash, cash equivalent and financial assets (1.9) (1.9)
- Financial debt acquired 24.5 8.6

The ancillary costs attributable to the acquisition amounted to €0.5 million and were classified in the income
statement under overheads for the period ending 31 December 2019.

Trois Rivieres and La Mauny give Campari Group significant critical mass in France, a key region for the brands
and set to become one of the Group’s strategic areas. Furthermore, with the aim of exploiting future growth
potential, Campari Group intends to leverage its business infrastructure in order to undertake new brand
development initiatives, which will be assessed after the acquisition.

Taking into account the profitability of the acquired business on the closing date, the Group has provisionally
allocated a value of €9.0 million to the aforementioned brands. The allocation value does not reflect the above-
mentioned initiatives to develop the brand, which the Group intends to carry out after the acquisition, in line with
its strategic plans.

I . . Goodwill Trademark Total
Intangible assets generated by Rhumantilles acquisition € million € million € million
Provisional fair value at the date of acquisition 24.0 9.0 33.0
Provisional fair value published at 31 December 2019 24.0 9.0 33.0

Acquisition of the controlling interests in the Ancho Reyes and Montelobos brands

As mentioned in the paragraph ‘Significant events during the period’, on 20 November 2019 Campari Group
completed the acquisition from a group of Mexican entrepreneurs of the controlling stakes in the capital of Licorera
Ancho Reyes y Cia S.A.P.l. de C.V. (‘Ancho Reyes’) and Casa Montelobos S.A.P.I. de C.V. (‘Montelobos’),
headquartered in Mexico.

The two companies are the owners of the super premium brands Ancho Reyes, a spicy liqueur, and Montelobos,
a handcrafted mezcal, respectively.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 79



CAMPARI GROUP-ANNUAL REPORT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

The total overall consideration was €52.6 million (including the net financial debt acquired), and comprised the
following:

- the price paid to acquire 51% of the capital of the two companies totalled €32.6 million (USD35.7 million,
converted at the exchange rate effective upon settlement of the payment);

- the payables resulting from the reciprocal call and put options with the previous shareholders of the two
companies for the remaining 49%, included among the Group’s other financial payables which can be exercised
by the counterparties from 2024 and are estimated at a total of €23.9 million (USD26.4 million, converted at the
exchange rate effective on the closing date). The options may be exercised from 2024 onwards;

- net positive financial position acquired of €3.9 million.

The provisional purchase price allocation at the fair values of the assets acquired is shown below.

It should be emphasised that this allocation is provisional, as allowed by the applicable accounting standards.
Once further information about facts and events existing at the closing of the transaction is obtained, recognised
and restated, the values calculated could be different from those presented in this report. This analysis will be
carried out, in part with the assistance of independent experts, within 12 months of the closing date.

Based on the preliminary analysis performed, Goodwill was deemed to be fully reportable due to the synergies
expected to be generated by integrating the brands acquired into the Group’s commercial structure. The goodwill
is not tax-deductible based on the relevant local regulations.

The interests acquired on 20 November 2019 and consolidated by the Group starting from 30 November 2019
(since there were no significant changes in the net assets acquired between the two dates), is equal to 100% of
the companies following assumption of control on the closing date, also attributable to the simultaneous stipulation
of mutual purchase/sale agreements taking the form of put and call options with some of the previous owners for
the stake currently in their possession (49% of the two companies). These agreements gave rise to financial
payables being recorded in the Group’s financial statements. However, the purchase deeds stipulated that non-
controlling interests would still exist until the aforementioned financial payables are liquidated. Given the nature
of such interests, it was deemed appropriate to value them at the share net of assets attributed to the business
acquired based on the aforementioned fair value allocations, excluding goodwill. The financial liability for put and
call options, measured at its fair value, was therefore not considered to be one of the components of the purchase
price to be allocated to the net assets of the acquired business, and has been recognised as a direct reduction of
Group shareholders’ equity.
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The values shown here are explained in the following notes to the financial statements, where they are highlighted
as changes in the basis of consolidation in the statement of financial position. Where not expressed in euro, the
values were converted at the exchange rate on the closing date of the transaction.

. Book values at Provisional fair value at 31

Value at acquisition date acquisition date December 2019
€ million € million

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Net tangible fixed assets 14 14
Right of use assets 0.2 0.2
Brand - 9.8
Intangible assets with a finite life - 4.1
Deferred tax assets - 0.1
Total non-current assets 1.6 155
Current assets
Inventories 25 25
Trade receivables 3.7 35
Cash and cash equivalent 4.1 4.1
Other receivables 13 1.3
Total current assets 11.6 11.4
Total assets 13.2 26.9
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Other non-current financial liabilities 0.2 0.2
Deferred tax liabilities - 4.2
Total non-current liabilities 0.2 4.3
Current liabilities
Trade payables 5.9 5.9
Other current liabilities 11 1.1
Current liabilities 7.0 7.0
Total liabilities 7.2 11.3
Net assets acquired 6.0 15.6
Non-controlling interests - 7.7
Goodwill generated by acquisition - 24.7
Enterprise value (at+b) 52.6
a) Total cost, of which: - 56.5
- Price paid in cash, excluding ancillary costs - 324
- Price adjustments after closing - 0.2
- Liabilities for non-controlling interest purchase - 23.9
b) Net financial position acquired, of which: (3.9) (3.9)
- Cash, cash equivalent and financial assets (4.1) 4.1)
- Financial debt acquired 0.2 0.2

The ancillary costs attributable to the acquisition amounted to €0.7 million and were classified in the income
statement under overheads for the period ending 31 December 2019.

The aim of the acquisition is to expand the Group’s offer of super premium brands, with significant exposure on
the strategic on-premise channel and a specific focus on the key US market, which accounts for around two thirds
of sales for both brands. The remaining portion of sales occurs in Mexico, the UK and other international markets.
Taking into account the profitability of the business on the closing date, the Group has provisionally allocated a
total value of €9.8 million to the acquired brands. The allocation value does not reflect the post-acquisition
development initiatives that the Group intends to undertake based on its strategic plans to extract as much value
as possible from the Ancho Reyes liqueur, which has great international potential and versatility, making it
perfectly placed to capitalise on the growing trend in mixology, and the craft product Montelobos within the
premium mezcal segment.

Intangible assets generated by Goodwill Trademarks Intangible assets Total
Ancho Reyes and Montelobos acquisition with a finite life®

€ million € million € million € million
Provisional fair value at the date of acquisition 24.7 9.8 4.1 38.6
Exchange rate effect at 31 December 2019 0.3 0,1 - 0.5
Provisional fair value published at 31 December 2019 25.0 9.9 4.1 39.1

® Intangible assets with a finite life refers to reacquired rights of products pertaining to the portfolio of brands acquired.

8. Operating segment

The Group’s operating businesses are determined on the basis of the results of the operating segments, which
are periodically reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (Chief Executive Officer) to assess performance
and inform resource allocation decisions.

Since 2012, the Group has mainly based its management analysis on geographical regions, identified as operating
segments that reflect the Group’s operating model and current way of working by business unit.

The geographical regions considered are: i) the Americas ii) Southern Europe, Middle East and Africa iii) Northern,
Central and Eastern Europe and (iv) Asia-Pacific.
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The level of profitability analysed is the result from recurring activities, equal to the operating result before
adjustments to operating income and expenses (for a definition of alternative performance indicators, please see

the ‘Alternative performance indicators’ section of the Report on Operations above).

In addition, the profitability of each region reflects the profit generated by the Group through sales to third parties

in that region, thereby cancelling out the effects of inter-company margins.

Southern Northern,
. Europe, Central and . s Total Non_—allocated .
2019 Americas Middle East Eastern Asia-Pacific allocated |_tems and Consolidated
and Africa Europe adjustments

€ million € million € million € million € million € million € million
Net sales to third parties 821.5 498.7 393.8 128.5 1,842.5 - 1,842.5
Net sales between segments 47.4 322.1 17.8 - 387.3 (387.3) -
Total net sales 868.9 820.8 411.5 128.5 2,229.8 (387.3) 1,842.5
Operating result® 165.7 73.7 132.4 14.5 386.3 - 386.3
Operating result - - - - - - 386.3
Financial income (expenses) - - - - - (31.8) (31.8)
Share of net prpfit (loss) 'of companies } ) ) : ) 01 01
accounted for using the equity method
Taxes - - - - - (46.2) (46.2)
Non-controlling interests - - - - - - -
Group profit for the period - - - - - - 308.4
Goodwill 726.9 376.3 263.8 23.5 1,390.5 - 1,390.5

® Including operating adjustments.

*Crope,  Cental and T Nom-allocated
2018 Americas Middle Easi Eastern Asia-Pacific allocated items and Consolidated
and Africa Europe adjustments
€ million € million € million € million € million € million € million
Net sales to third parties 744.7 479.8 358.9 128.3 1,711.7 - 1,711.7
Net sales between segments 28.7 319.1 17.7 0.1 365.6 (365.6) -
Total net sales 773.4 798.9 376.6 128.4 2,077.3 (365.6) 1,711.7
Operating result®) 131.2 115.3 115.0 19.2 380.7 - 380.7
Operating result - - - - - - 380.7
Financial income (expenses) - - - - - (29.7) (29.7)
Share of net profit (loss) of companies : ) ) : ) ©0.2) ©0.2)
accounted for using the equity method
Taxes - - - - - (54.5) (54.5)
Group profit for the period - - - - - - 296.3
Goodwill 693.5 348.7 260.9 23.2 1,326.4 - 1,326.4

® Including operating adjustments.

9. Net sales

Consolidated net sales, which almost entirely relate to the sale of spirits products, totalled €1,842.5 million,
compared with €1,711.7 million achieved during the previous year. For more detailed analysis of net sales, please
refer to the information in the 'Sales performance’ section of the Interim Report on Operations.

10. Cost of goods sold
The cost of goods sold is broken down by function and by type in the table below.

2019 2018
€ million € million
Materials and manufacturing costs 635.7 603.7
Distribution costs 85.6 79.9
Total cost of goods sold 721.3 683.6
Breakdown by type
Raw materials and finished goods acquired from third parties 465.8 428.5
Inventory write-downs 5.4 5.2
Personnel costs 73.3 72.0
Depreciation/amortisation 40.2 354
Utilities 12.5 13.0
External production and maintenance costs 37.6 35.0
Variable transport costs 62.6 58.0
Other costs 23.8 36.5
Total cost of goods sold 721.3 683.6

The increase in the cost of goods sold is commented upon in the Report on operations, where the change in these
costs as a percentage of sales is analysed. For a breakdown of personnel costs, see note 13 - Personnel costs.
Most of the change in the item Depreciation/amortisation is attributable to the effect of applying IFRS 16-‘Leases’
(€2.2 million), which introduced depreciation of the right of use asset to replace the recognition of operating lease

expenses on an accruals basis.
For more details, see note 4-Changes in accounting standards and note 33-Leases.
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11. Overheads
A breakdown of overheads is shown by function and by type in the table below.

2019 2018

€ million € million

Personnel costs 230.0 209.2
Services, maintenance and insurance 59.0 52.8
Travel, business trip, training and meetings 38.3 33.1
Depreciation/amortisation 29.3 17.5
Expenses for use of third party assets 3.1 14.3
Utilities 1.7 1.7
Agents and other variable sales costs 13.2 12.0
Other overheads 18.8 19.5
Adjustment to overheads: 21.7 (1.8)
Write-down and other restructuring costs = 14.6
Expenses for staff restructuring 8.4 11.3
Accruals for staff restructuring 18 11.6
Accrual (release) for future expenses (4.4) 2.0
Consultancies 12.2 -
Penalty for the termination of distribution relationship 0.3 -
Fiscal penalties 0.3 -
Gain on sale of assets (2.2) (2.2)
Gain on business disposal = (38.5)
Capital losses on sale of assets - 0.1
Impairment loss on tangible assets 6.6 2.0
Other income (7.1) (7.2)
Other expenses 5.8 4.5
Total overheads 415.0 358.2

The changes in the items ‘Depreciation/amortisation’ and ‘Expenses for use of assets’ are attributable to the
application of the new IFRS 16-‘Leases’ and amount to €10.4 million and €11.9 million respectively. For more
details, see note 4-Changes in accounting standards’ and note 33-Leases.

The negative elements affecting overheads in 2019 included the costs incurred by the Group for restructuring
projects undertaken in the previous year and still ongoing, expenses associated with the completion of business
acquisitions and the sale of non-strategic assets, and costs associated with the ongoing enhancement of the
distribution structure, as well as initiatives aimed at outsourcing accounting and administrative activities and
selected Information Technology services.

The item ‘Other income’ includes a rebate of indirect taxes following a favourable ruling from the Supreme Federal
Court in Brazil.

Other expenses line, includes elements which are not unitary significant.

12. Depreciation and amortisation
The following table shows details of depreciation and amortisation, by type and by function, recognised in the
income statement.

2019 2018

€ million € million

- Tangible fixed assets 34.8 32.3
- Right of use 2.2 -
- Intangible fixed assets 3.2 3.1
Depreciation and amortization included in cost of goods sold 40.2 35.4
- Tangible fixed assets 8.0 8.9
- Right of use 10.4 -
- Intangible fixed assets 10.9 8.6
Depreciation and amortization included in overheads 29.3 17.5
- Tangible fixed assets 11 0.9
- Right of use 11 -
- Intangible fixed assets 0.0 0.0
Depreciation and amortization included in advertising and promotional expenses 2.2 0.9
- Tangible fixed assets 44.0 42.1
- Right of use 13.7 -
- Intangible fixed assets 14.1 11.7
Total depreciation and amortization in the income statement 71.8 53.8
Total depreciation and amortization 71.8 53.8

Of the increase in the item, €13.7 million was due to the application of the new IFRS 16-‘Leases’. For more details,
see note 4-Changes in accounting standards and note 33-Leases.
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13. Personnel costs

2019 2018
€ million € million
Salaries and wages 230.2 213.9
Social security contributions 48.7 46.5
Cost of defined contribution plans 9.3 8.2
Cost of defined benefit plans 0.2 0.4
Other costs relating to mid/long-term benefits 11.0 7.2
Cost of share-based payments 6.9 6.9
Total personnel costs 306.2 283.1
of which:
Included in cost of goods sold 73.3 72.0
Included in overhead 230.0 209.2
Included in advertising and promotional expenses 2.8 1.9
Total 306.2 283.1

Personnel costs are equal at €306.2 million at 31 December 2019 (€238.1 million at 31 December 2018). Their
allocation to the cost of goods sold and overheads have analysed in the two previous notes.

14. Research and development costs

The Group’s research and development activities related solely to ordinary production and commercial activities,
namely ordinary product quality control and packaging studies in various markets.

Related costs are recorded in full in the income statement for the year in which they are incurred.

15. Grants

Operating grants received indirectly by the Group from public institutions for promotional spending on the sparkling
wines category totalled €2.1 million in 2019.

Operating grants in support of industrial investments recognized in the income statement are equal to €0.1 million.
Operating grants in support of sugar cane plantations in Martinique were not significant during 2019 given the
inclusion of Rhumantilles in the consolidation scope as of the closing date.

16. Financial income and expenses
Net financial expenses for the period break down as follows.

2019 2018

€ million € million

Net interest payable on bonds (34.0) (30.2)
Interest payable on leases (3.4) (0.4)
Interest payable to banks (3.4) (3.0)
Total interest payable (40.7) (33.6)
Bank term deposit interest 9.0 7.1
Dividends from third parties - 0.1
Other income 0.5 0.4
Total financial income 9.5 7.6
Net interest on defined benefit plans (0.5) 0.4)
Discounting from put option liabilities 1.1) 2.3
Bank charges 3.2) (2.6)
Other charges and exchange rate differences 1.9 (4.2)
Total financial expenses (2.8) (5.0)
Income from financial assets - 1.8
Financial income from audit 5.3 -
Other 0.5 -
Financial income (expenses) adjustments 5.8 1.8
Hyperinflation effects (3.6) (0.5)
Net financial income (expenses) (31.8) (29.7)

Net financial expenses, which included the effects of exchange rate differences and hyperinflation, stood at €31.8
million, an increase on the previous year’s figure of €29.7 million.

The increase in ‘Increase payable on leases’ was due to the application of IFRS 16 - ‘Leases’. The €3.7 million
increase in net interest payable on bond loans is mainly due to the positive effect in 2018 of the early termination
of IRS agreements and of interest rate hedging on future transactions.
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The breakdown on interest payable to bondholders is shown in the table below.

2019 2018

€ million € million

Financial expenses payable to bondholders (29.8) (30.0)
Net changes in fair value and other amortized cost components 1.9) (1.8)
Cash flow hedge reserve reported in the income statement during the year (2.3) 14
Net interest payable on bonds (34.0) (30.3)
Financial income (expenses) adjustments 1.3) -
Total financial income (expenses) adjustments 1.3) -
Total expenses for bonds (35.3) (30.3)

The average cost of borrowing (which excludes the effects of exchange rate differences and adjustments for
financial components) was 4.1%, up slightly on 2018 (3.3%). Of this increase, 0.4% was attributable to application
of IFRS 16 - ‘Leases’.

The negative carry on interest generated by cash and cash equivalents compared with interest on existing
medium- and long-term debt also contributed to the rise in the average cost of borrowing.

Financial income relating to tax inspections totalled €5.3 million during the year thanks to the favourable outcome
of a dispute with the Brazilian tax authorities.

At 31 December 2019, net liabilities of €1.1 million were recorded. These were due to the non-cash effects of
discounting the payable for future commitments to purchase the remaining Société des Produits Marnier
Lapostolle S.A. shares from the former shareholders to present value.

The impact of applying the methodology to measure the effects relating to the application of IAS 29-‘Financial
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies’ had an impact of €3.6 million in 2019.

17. Income taxes

Taxes are calculated based on existing regulations, applying the tax rates in force in each country.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated each year based on the rates enacted at the time the temporary
differences are reversed; appropriate adjustments are made if the rate has changed from previous years, provided
that the related law has been substantially enacted at the date on which the financial report is prepared.

The amounts of current and deferred taxes recorded directly in the statement of comprehensive income relate to
the effects of the remeasurement of pension funds and the measurement at fair value of cash-flow hedging
contracts.

Details of current and deferred taxes included in the Group’s income statement and statement of comprehensive
income are as follows.

2019 2018

€ million € million

- current taxes for the year (111.0) (46.2)
- current taxes relating to previous years 19.5 (2.2)
- deferred tax expenses (13.0) (16.3)
- release for tax risks 58.2 10.2
Taxes recorded in the income statement (46.2) (54.5)
Taxes recorded in the statement of comprehensive income 2.8 2.1

Taxes for 2019 include a tax benefit of €25.4 million (€26.0 million in the previous year) relating to the Patent Box
scheme.

A total of €58.2 million was released from the provisions for tax risks in 2019 owing to the natural end of major tax
periods and the revision of risk estimates associated with the tax treatment of Group transactions that may have
given rise to disputes with the tax authorities.
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Reconciliation of tax expenses

The table below shows a reconciliation of the Group’s theoretical tax liability with its actual tax liability.

The theoretical rate used is that in force on the reporting date, based on legal provisions, taking into account the
IRES rate of 24.0% applied to the Parent Company.

In order to provide a clearer picture, IRAP, which is applicable to Italian companies, has not been taken into
account since, being a tax calculated on a tax base other than pre-tax profit, it would have had distortive effects.
Tax base differences are included under the permanent differences item.

2019 2018

€ million € million

Group profit before tax 354.6 350.8
Applicable tax rate in ltaly (IRES) -24.0% -24.0%
Theoretical Group taxes at current tax rate in Italy (85.1) (84.2)
Difference in tax rate of Group companies (16.2) (8.5)
Permanent differences (3.4) 11.7
Tax incentives 29.1 29.5
Net releases to tax provision 58.2 10.2
Tax on future dividend distributions (21.8) -
Taxes relating to previous financial years 3.3) (5.4)
Other consolidation differences (0.9) 3.9)
IRAP (2.9) (3.9
Actual tax charge (46.2) (54.5)
Actual tax rate -13.0% -15.5%

Breakdown of deferred taxes by type
Details of deferred tax income/expense and deferred tax assets/liabilities posted to the income statement, the

statement of comprehensive income and the statement of financial position are broken down by type below.
Statement of

Statement of financial position Income statement N
comprehensive income

31 December 2019 31 December 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

€ million € million € million € million € million € million

Deferred expenses 1.2 1.7 (0.4) - - -

Taxed funds 38.3 41.3 (2.4) (1.0 0.6 (0.5)

Past losses 15.5 17.3 2.7) 5.5 - -
Reclassified in reduction of deferred tax liabilities (45.4) (38.8) - (0.7)

Lease 8.3 25 1.2) - - -

Exchange rate effect - - - - (0.5) @.7)

Other 19.7 14.5 1.9 (6.6) 1.8 2.7

Deferred tax assets 37.5 38.4 (4.8) (2.8) 1.9 0.5

Accelerated depreciation (41.5) (74.8) 35.8 2.7) - -
Gains subject to deferred taxation (0.3) 0.3) - 0.1
Goodwill and brands deducted locally (249.4) (225.8) (15.8) (16.5)
Tax rate changes - - - (1.5)
Goodwill Trademark not deductible at local level (111.3) (103.4) (1.6) (0.8)
Taxes payable on undistributed profits (22.7) (1.0) (21.8) -
Lease (8.8) (1.9) 1.4 -

Reclassification of deferred tax assets 45.4 38.8 - (0.1) - -

Exchange rate effect - - - - (2.4) (6.8)

Other 2.7 0.3 (2.9) 7.9 - 0.1

Deferred tax liabilities (386.1) (368.2) (4.8) (13.7) (2.4) (6.7)

Total (348.5) (329.7) 9.7) (16.5) (0.5) (6.3)

Deferred tax assets in respect of past losses are mainly attributable to Marnier Lapostolle Bisquit SASU, Campari
do Brasil Ltda and Campari Espafia S.L. Local legislation does not set a time limit for their use, but does set a
guantitative limit for each individual year, based on declared taxable income. The companies have also begun to
use these to offset taxable profit.

Deferred taxes of €21.8 million were recognised over the course of the year, taking into account the tax burden
arising from the distribution profit reserves estimated by the Group, pertaining to certain subsidiaries. Dividend
payments are scheduled over a medium- and long-term horizon, taking into account the Parent Company’s
financial requirements and business needs.

The 2019 financial year comprehends tax adjustments of €56.8 million (€43.4 million in 2018). These adjustments
include the benefit deriving from the Patent Box regulation for an amount of €25.4 million (€26.0 million in 2018).
2019 is the last year of the five-year period granted for tax relief on the basis of agreements signed with the tax
authorities: cumulatively the benefit recognized in the Group's income statements, with reference to the tax years
from 2014 to 2019, was equal to €96.2 million. The most significant tax adjustments in the 2019 financial year
include: the tax burden relating to the operational and financial adjustments (for more details, see the section of
the Alternative Performance Indicators of the management report at 31 December 2019) for an overall impact of
€5.4 million, in addition to adjustments related to the prudent revision of the estimates of the risks associated with
uncertainties on the tax treatment related to transactions made by the Group for €47.8 million, partially offset by
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deferred tax costs and linked to the distribution of estimated earnings reserves in to some Group companies of
€21.8 million.

18. Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are determined as the ratio of the Group’s portion of net profits for the year to the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. The Group’s treasury shares are
excluded from the calculation.

Diluted earnings per share are determined by taking into account the potential effect resulting from options
allocated to beneficiaries of dilutive stock option plans in the calculation of the number of outstanding shares.
Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated as shown in the table below.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ million € million
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders € million 308.4 296.3
Weighted average of ordinary share outstanding number 1,144,315,926 1,154,903,852
Basic earnings per share € 0.27 0.26
Net profit attributable to ordinary shares outstanding net of dilution € million 308.4 296.3
Weighted average of ordinary share outstanding number 1,144,315,926 1,154,903,852
Weighted average of shares deriving from the potential stock options exercise with a diluting effect number 25,539,095.9 25,018,505.7
Weighted average of ordinary shares outstanding net of dilution number 1,169,855,022 1,179,922,358
Diluted earnings per share € 0.26 0.25
19. Net tangible fixed assets
Changes in this item are shown in the table below.
Land and buildings Plant and machinery Other Total
€ million € million € million € million
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 338.8 330.4 169.7 838.9
Accumulated amortization at the beginning of the period (96.2) (212.1) (76.2) (384.5)
31 December 2018 242.6 118.3 93.5 454.4
Perimeter effect for acquisition 55 6.1 2.0 13.6
Reclassification as ‘assets held for sale’ - (1.6) - (1.6)
Investments 271 20.6 28.0 75.7
Disposals (0.3) (0.2) (6.4) (6.9)
Depreciation (11.3) (17.6) (14.1) (43.0)
Exchange rate differences and other changes 3.6 (2.7) 3.2 4.1
31 December 2019 267.2 123.0 106.2 496.4
Carrying amount at the end of the period 382.8 363.8 194.8 941.3
Accumulated amortization at the end of the period (115.5) (240.8) (88.6) (445.0)

The change in the basis of consolidation relates to the assets arising from the acquisition of Rhumantilles, Ancho
Reyes and Montelobos.

Investment in the period (€75.7 million) related to maintenance work carried out on the Group’s structures, facilities
and offices, equal to €56.4 million and the purchase of barrels for maturing bourbon, rum and whisky (€19.3
million). Disposals, amounting to €6.9 million, mainly related to the sale of barrels for maturing inventory in
America.

20. Biological assets
Changes in this item are shown in the table below.

Assets valued at cost

€ million
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 1.3
Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of the period (0.3)
31 December 2018 1.0
Perimeter effect for acquisition 14
Investments 2.1
Depreciation (0.6)
31 December 2019 3.9
Carrying amount at the end of the period 7.3
Accumulated depreciation at the end of the period (3.4

Totalling €2.1 million, investments referred mainly to agave plantations in Mexico, while perimeter changes were
attributable to sugar cane plantations in Martinique.

All residual biological assets at 31 December 2019 are recognised on a cost basis, net of depreciation and
impairment. There were no guarantees given to third parties in relation to these fixed assets.

21. Investment property

As at 31 December 2019, investment property totalling €1.1 million referred to non-strategic proprietary buildings
that are not closely associated with the Group.

These buildings are recorded in the financial statements at their approximate fair value at the reporting date.
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The change during the year was due to the sale of property belonging to Société des Produits Marnier Lapostolle
S.A,, specifically the Villa Les Cédres, which had entered Campari Group’s scope as part of the Société des
Produits Marnier-Lapostolle S.A. acquisition in 2016 and had been put on sale immediately after the transaction
was completed. As stipulated in the agreements with the sellers of Société des Produits Marnier Lapostolle S.A.,
the Group has transferred to all the former shareholders the gains on the sale of the villa in excess of €80 million
as contractually defined and negotiated in compliance with the terms of the Takeover Bid dated 13 May 2016 (as
well as €1.8 million relating to the price supplement pertaining to Campari Group, as minority shareholder of
Société des Produits Marnier-Lapostolle S.A. at the time of the public purchase offer). The sale did not significantly
affect the Group’s income statement for the year ended 31 December 2019. For more information, see 'Significant
events during the year'.

22. Goodwill and trademarks
Changes during the period are shown in the table below.

Goodwill Trac!emark_s W?th Trademalrlgs wjth Total
an indefinite life a finite life

€ million € million € million € million
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 1,329.3 999.9 38.0 2,367.2
Opening impairment (2.9) - (23.2) (26.2)
31 December 2018 1,326.4 999.9 14.7 2,341.0
Perimeter effect for acquisition 48.6 18.8 - 67.4
Depreciation - - (2.1) (2.1)
Exchange rate differences 15.6 9.7 0.3 25.6
31 December 2019 1,390.5 1,028.5 12.9 2,431.8
Carrying amount at the end of the period 1,393.6 1,028.5 36.5 2,458.6
Closing impairment (3.1) - (23.7) (26.8)

Intangible assets with an indefinite life are represented by goodwill and brands, both deriving from acquisitions.
The Group expects to obtain positive cash flow from these assets for an indefinite period of time. Goodwill and
brands with an indefinite life are not amortised but are subject to impairment tests at least once a year.

Brands with a finite life included the value of the X-Rated Fusion Liqueur which, in previous years, had suffered
impairment losses. In 2015, its useful life was reviewed and determined as a total period of ten years from 2016.
The change in the basis of consolidation comprises increases totalling €67.4 million attributable to the
identification of amounts for goodwill (€48.6 million) and brands (€18.8 million) related to the acquisition of
Rhumantilles, Ancho Reyes and Montelobos (for more details, see note 7-Business combinations).

Positive exchange rate differences, totalling €23.4 million, arose when the amounts for brands and goodwill, which
were recorded in local currency, were adjusted to year-end exchange rates, and due specifically to the
appreciation of the US and Canadian dollars.

23. Impairment

For the purpose of verifying the recoverable value of intangible assets with indefinite life (i.e. impairment test),
goodwill values were tested at aggregate level based on the values allocated to the four cash-generating units
(CGUs), namely, Americas CGU, SEMEA CGU, NCEE CGU and APAC CGU. This structure reflects the lowest
level at which goodwill is monitored by the Group and is considered appropriate, given the synergies and
efficiencies obtained at regional level. This is in line with the geographical segment reporting structure adopted
by the Group, based on its current organisational structure. For brands, the values were tested individually or by
combinations of brands acquired.

The approval of the impairment test results by the Board of Directors of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. takes place
separately and before the financial reports (consolidated and separate) are approved, pursuant to Bank of Italy-
Consob-lsvap Document no. 4 of 3 March 2010. As a consequence, the book value of goodwill and trademark
(i.e. the amount at which an asset is recognized in the balance sheet) was determined as of 30 September 2019,
i.e. the latest available actual figures®. The results of such test were valid as of 31 December 2019, given that no
events or impairment indicators have arisen that could result in a material reduction of the assets value or
recoverable amounts in the fourth quarter of 2019.

Upon the adoption of IFRS 16—'Leases’, effective 1 January 2019, lessees must record a right of use asset and
a lease liability in their statement of financial position for all lease contracts. Under IFRS 16, these ‘new’ right-of-
use assets are subject to the impairment requirements of IAS 36. Therefore, Campari Group calculated the cash
flows for the years 2020 (budget) and 2021-2024 (strategic plans) in compliance with IFRS 186, i.e. including the
depreciation of the right of use assets and excluding the lease payments.

After having considered that the majority of the leased assets, in value terms, is represented by contracts likely
to be renewed, and having evaluated the limited amount of total right of use assets if compared to total Fixed

9 The book values at 30 September 2019 have been adjusted to preliminarily reflect the effects of the events that occurred between 30 September 2019 and the
date of approval of the 2019 impairment test (i.e. the preliminary Purchase Price Allocations relating to the acquisition of Rhumantilles SA, closed on 1 October
2019, and the acquisition of Licoreira Ancho Reyes y Cia S.A.P.I. de C.V. and Casa Montelobos S.A.P.I. de C.V., closed on 20 November 2019).
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Assets, when applying the accounting standard in the context of the impairment testing the Group, it is assumed
that all the contracts will be automatically renewed in perpetuity.

Moreover, for what concerns the effects generated by the leases renewals according to IFRS 16, for the purposes
of the recoverable amount calculation an approach representative of the real cash outflows has been adopted.
Particularly, since leases are assumed to be implicitly renewed over the time horizon of the impairment test, the
impairment model includes an annual cash out equal to the lease payment as capital expenditure, rather than
considering a figurative capex for the full amount of ‘new’ right of use asset in the year of renewal. Nevertheless,
also with the latter approach, the impact was not meaningful, given the limited value of right of use assets.

For the purposes of achieving a consistent calculation of the book values of the CGU, the right of use assets have
been included in the carrying amounts. It should be noted that the allocation methodology of the right of use assets
to the individual CGU is similar to the methodology applied to other Fixed Assets, i.e. as a proportion of the brand
sales identified in each CGU.

With regards to the discount rate (WACC), it should be noted that the effects generated by the adoption of IFRS16
have not been included; in particular, the cost of debt component has been calculated without considering the
effects of the same rate deriving from the application of the principle. The long-term group indebtedness is not
materially impacted by the application of IFRS 16.

With regards to currencies, it should be noted the projections are determined based on exchange rates to Euros
assumed unchanged to the ones used for drafting budget numbers 2020. Although IAS 36 requires that exchange
rates are assumed flat to the current fiscal year over the time horizon, the fluctuations of 2020 budgeted currencies
are estimated to not have a meaningful impact on future cash flows.

Impairment testing of goodwill

The allocation of goodwill for each CGU is based on the previous allocation values, adjusted to take into account
the exchange rate effects and other variations such as perimeter change.

The carrying amounts of the CGUs were determined by allocating, in addition to goodwill, the brand values
allocated based on of the profitability achieved by the brand in each CGU, as well as the fixed assets and working
capital, which were mainly allocated on the basis of the relevant sales achieved in each CGU.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based on a ‘value in use’ methodology, under which the
asset value is measured by discounting the estimated future cash flows generated by the continued use of such
asset. Expected cash flows, which were based on the Group’s cash flow estimates, were discounted using a post-
tax discount rate, reflecting both the time value of money and a further adjustment to include the market risk and
the specific risks for the company. The IAS 36 states that, for calculating the ‘value in use’, pre-tax discount rate
and future cash flows should be used. In the impairment test performed, it has been verified that the use of a post-
tax approach provides consistent results with the ones which would have been obtained by adopting a pre-tax
approach.

Forecasts of cash flows relating to the Group were taken from the 2020 budget and the strategic plans prepared
by the Group’s subsidiaries in 2019 for the period 2021-2024 and approved by the Board of Directors of Davide
Campari Milano S.p.A.

In addition, the five-year cash flow plan was extrapolated on a ten-year basis, assuming a growth rate no higher
than the average long-term growth rate for the market in which the Group operates. The use of a ten-year forecast
period was justified by the extension of the life cycle of the brands in the reference market, as well as the length
of the maturing process of certain brands in some CGUs. Assumptions of future cash flows were made based on
conservative approach in terms of both growth rates and operating margin trends expected. In addition,
projections were based on reasonableness, prudence and consistency with respect to the allocation of future
overheads, trends in capital investment, conditions of financial equilibrium and the main macroeconomic
variables. Cash flow projections relate to current operating conditions and therefore do not include cash flows
connected with any one-off operations. The main assumptions used in calculating the value in use of the CGUs
are the long-term growth rate and discount rate.

Terminal value was determined using the perpetuity growth method of discounting. Specifically, a conservative
perpetual growth rate was used that corresponds to the average of consumer price for the period 2020-2024
(source: IMF), assumed to be 2.4% for the Americas CGU, 1.3% for the SEMEA CGU, 1.9% for the NCEE CGU
and 2.2% for the APAC CGU. The perpetual growth rate value does not exceed the long-term growth rate of the
industry in which the Group operates, consistent with what is required by IAS 36.

The value in use of the CGUs was calculated by discounting the estimated value of future cash flows, including
the terminal value, which it is assumed will derive from the continuing use of the assets, at a discount rate (net of
taxes and adjusted for risk) that reflects the average weighted cost of capital. Specifically, the discount rate used
was the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC), which depends on the risk associated with the estimate of
cash flows. The WACC was determined on the basis of observable indicators and market parameters, the current
value of money, and the specific risks connected with the business of the relevant CGU. It should be noted that
the calculation of WACC has resulted in line with a set of spirits industry comparable peers. The discount rates
used in 2019 impairment test for the four CGUs, are as follows: 6.5% for the Americas CGU 6.9% for the SEMEA
CGU, 7.8% for the NCEE CGU and 5.2% for the APAC CGU.
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Impairment testing on brands

Impairment testing was performed on brands individually, using the value in use criterion. The recoverable value
of the brand was calculated using the multi-period excess earnings method (MEEM).

The MEEM is an earnings-based valuation method. The theoretical premise of the MEEM is that the value of a
brand is equal to the current value of the residual cash flows attributable to the asset analysed. According to this
method, the relevant earnings attributable to the intangible assets are calculated using the income that the
company would record after having deducted the earnings attributable to all the other assets (contributory asset
charge), i.e. deducting from the company’s results the remuneration for using other assets that contribute to the
generation of such results.

Estimates of income flows generated by individual brands, net of contributory asset charge, and of the terminal
value, discounted to present value using an appropriate discount rate, were used to calculate the recoverable
value of brands.

Forecasts of income flows come from the 2020 budget and the strategic plans prepared by the Group’s
subsidiaries in 2019 for the period 2021-2024. In addition, the five-year plan of income flows was extrapolated on
a ten-year basis, assuming a growth rate no higher than the average long-term growth rate for the market in which
the Group operates. The use of a ten-year period was justified by the extension of the life cycle of the brands in
the industry in which the Group operates, and takes into account the length of the maturing process of certain
brands. In the case of GlenGrant single malt Scotch whisky, a 15-year time horizon was adopted in consideration
of the particularly long ageing required by the production cycle. With particular reference to this brand, the Group
has adopted a strategy of re-focusing on the super-premium and higher-margin expressions, with particularly long
ageing profile. The benefit of such brand re-positioning is expected to manifest over a much longer time horizon
compared with the 10-year period covered by the impairment test model for other brands.1©

For the purposes of determining the terminal value of each brand, a perpetual growth rate of between 2.0% to
2.3%, that does not exceed the long-term growth estimates for the sector, was used. The discount rates used for
the individual brands tested varied from 7.0% to 8.0% and took into account a specific risk premium for the brand
in question.

Brands with an immaterial value individually and in aggregate are not subject to impairment testing.

Results of impairment testing*!

Based on the methodologies and assumptions set out above, the values of goodwill and trademarks at 31
December 2019 were determined to be fully recoverable.

To take into account current market volatility and uncertainty over future economic prospects, sensitivity analysis
was carried out to assess the recoverability of amounts relating to goodwill and brands. Specifically, sensitivity
analysis of recoverable values of the individual CGUs and individual brands was carried out based on the
assumption of a percentage point increase in the discount rate and a percentage point reduction in the terminal
growth rate. An additional sensitivity analysis was carried out based on the assumption of five percentage points
increase in the Group tax rate used to calculate post-tax cash flows. The sensitivity analysis described above
confirmed that the values of the goodwill and brands are fully recoverable.

Values of goodwill and trademark as of 31 December 2019
The values of goodwill at 31 December 2019 allocated by CGU are shown in the table below.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
CGU € million € million
Americas 726.9 693.5
Southern Europe, Middle East and Africa 376.3 348.7
Northern, Central and Eastern Europe 263.8 260.9
Asia-Pacific 23.5 23.2
Total 1,390.5 1,326.4

Changes in goodwill values at 31 December 2019 compared with 31 December 2018 are mainly due to positive
exchange rate effects of €13.7 million, which were re-allocated proportionally to the individual CGUs, and
perimeter change equal to €48.6 million.

101t should be noted that, with the purposes of providing an illustrative consistency check with the other trademarks, the impairment test on a
10-year time horizon was carried out for Glen Grant as well with no evidences of impairment losses.

11 Following the acquisitions of Rhumantilles SA (closed on October 1, 2019) and of Ancho Reyes and Montelobos (closed on 20 November
2019), the related trademark and goodwill values have not been tested analytically based on an impairment test carried out according to the
described methodology because they relate to very recent acquisitions with no indication of impairment loss after the closing date. The values
allocated on a provisional basis are considered an appropriate representation of the fair values of the brands and goodwill.
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The values of brands at 31 December 2019 are shown in the table below.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ million € million

Grand Marnier 300.7 300.7
Wild Turkey 162.5 159.5
Jamaican Rum Portfolio 104.4 106.6
Glen Grant and Old Smuggler 104.3 104.3
Forty Creek 71.2 66.6
Averna and Braulio 65.5 65.5
Cabo Wabo 63.2 62.0
Frangelico 54.0 54.0
Bulldog 53.0 50.4
X-Rated Fusion Liqueur® 12.9 14.7
Riccadonna 11.3 11.3
Others 38.3 19.1
Total 1,041.4 1,014.6

@ Asset with finite life. The trademark value amortized over a timeframe of 10 years until 2025.

Changes in brand values at 31 December 2019 compared with 31 December 2018 are mainly due to positive
exchange rate effects of €10.0 million and perimeter change equal to €18.8 million.

24. Intangible assets with a finite life
Changes in this item are shown in the table below.

Software Other Total

€ million € million € million
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 88.8 17.4 106.3
Accumulated amortization at the beginning of the period (55.2) (8.1) (63.3)
31 December 2018 33.6 9.3 42.9
Perimeter effect for acquisition - 45 4.5
Investments 13.4 0.8 14.2
Disposal - (0.1) 0.1)
Amortisation for the period (11.2) (0.8) (12.0)
Exchange rate differences and other changes (0.1) - 0.2)
31 December 2019 35.6 13.8 49.3
Carrying amount at the end of the period 101.8 23.7 125.5
Accumulated amortization at the end of the period (66.3) (10.0) (76.3)

Intangible assets with a finite life are amortised on a straight-line basis based on their remaining useful life. The
change in perimeter was due to the effects of the acquisitions during the period and related to the recognition of
assets resulting from the reacquisition of distribution rights, to be amortised on the remaining contract period of
the agreement, which was early closed.

Investment in intangible assets with a finite life during the year, totalling €13.4 million, mainly related to projects
to continuously upgrade and integrate the information technology systems currently used by the Group.

25. Investments in affiliates and joint ventures

At 31 December 2019, the Group owned 40% of the shares in Trans Beverages Co. Ltd, a joint venture in South
Korea, following the signing of an agreement in March 2018 with local partner BNC F&B Co. Ltd. The purpose of
the joint venture is to promote and develop the Group’s products in the reference market. The Group has a call
option on the remaining shares, which represent 60% of the share capital. The Group’s interest in the joint venture

at 31 December 2019 and changes in this item are shown in the table below.
Country of % of ownership Nature of Measurement

Name of entity business interest relationship method Currency Carrying amount

€ million
Trans Beverages Co. Ltd South Korea 40,0% Joint venture Equity method KRW 0.5
Total investments in associates and joint-venture 0.5

The key financial, asset and income figures for the joint venture are shown in the table below.

Trans Beverages Co Ltd. 31 December 2019 31 December 2019

€ million South Korean Won million
Total assets 6.0 7,804.2
Total shareholders’ equity 1.2 1,568.8
Revenues 8.5 11,049.1
Net income of the period 0.2 280.6

Changes to the interests held in affiliates and joint ventures are shown below.

€ million
31 December 2018 0.4
Net income (loss) of the period 0.1
31 December 2019 0.5
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26. Other non-current assets
This item breaks down as follows:

31 December 2019  Of which perimeter effect 31 December 2018

€ million € million € million
Financial receivables 9.4 - 11.0
Term deposit 5.2 - 4.8
Non-current financial assets 14.7 - 15.8
Equity investment in other companies 0.6 0.2 0.4
Security deposits 1.1 0.3 11
Other non-current receivables from main shareholders 2.2 - 2.2
Other non-current tax receivables 4.2 - 4.4
Other non-current assets 8.2 0.5 8.1
Total other non-current assets 22.8 0.5 23.9

Financial receivables referred mainly to €4.8 million of assets arising from leases and €3.3 million of deposits
destined for the acquisition of the remaining shares of J.Wray&Nephew Ltd, pertaining to which the Group has an
equal amount of financial payables for put options and earn-outs.

At 31 December 2019, deposits totalling €5.2 million related to a cash investment by the Parent Company in an
investment fund valued at mark-to-market. The other non-current tax receivables, totalling €4.2 million, included
receivables from the tax authorities due to the Group’s Italian companies. These arose from the entitlement to
refunds of higher income tax paid in previous years due to the non-deductibility of IRAP (regional production tax).
Additional receivables totalling €2.2 million and due from the ultimate shareholder Lagfin S.C.A., Société en
Commandite par Actions (partnership limited by shares) were recorded for the tax consolidation periods from
2007 to 2011.

For more information on other ties to the ultimate shareholder Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par Actions,
see note 48-Information on related parties.

27. Inventories and biological assets
This item breaks down as follows.

31 December Perimeter effect for 31 December

2019 acquisition 2018

€ million € million € million

Raw materials, supplies and consumables 54.3 5.2 45.8
Work in progress 82.4 12.3 70.1
Maturing inventory 364.7 - 340.1
Finished products and goods for resale 116.3 3.8 109.2
Inventories 617.7 21.2 565.3
Current biological assets 0.9 0.1 0.8
Total 618.6 21.3 566.1

Stocks totalled €617.7 million at 31 December 2019, showing an overall increase of €52.5 million on 31 December

2018. This change is essentially attributable to several factors, as summarised below:

- effects resulting from the acquisition of Rhumantilles, Ancho Reyes and Montelobos, totalling €21.2 million;

- organic increases equal to €23.7 million, of which €19.1 million is due to increases in stocks of maturing
inventory, in line with the Group’s strategic guidelines.

Current biological assets at 31 December 2019 totalled €0.9 million, being the fair value of the sugar cane and
agave harvests that had not yet ripened. This fair value estimate is based on the production costs incurred minus
any impairment, calculated on the basis of the estimated revenues from the sale of the harvest minus the costs
of cultivation, harvesting and transportation to point of sale. There were no guarantees given to third parties in
relation to these inventories. Agricultural produce in Martinique benefits from public grants that were not significant
in 2019 given Rhumantilles’ inclusion on the scope of consolidation as of the closing date.

Inventories are reported minus the relevant impairment provisions. The changes are shown in the table below.

€ million
31 December 2018 (15.0)
Perimeter effect for acquisition (0.2)
Accruals (Release) (2.0)
Utilisation 1.7
Exchange rate differences and other changes 0.2
31 December 2019 (14.3)
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28. Trade receivables and other receivables
This item breaks down as follow.

31 December

Perimeter effect 31 December

2019 for acquisition 2018
€ million € million € million
Trade receivables from external costumers 309.7 7.9 277.6
Receivables in respect of contributions to promotional costs 7.2 - 8.3
Trade receivables 316.9 7.9 286.0
Advances to suppliers 0.4 - 0.4
Advances and other receivables from suppliers 11 0.0 34
Other receivables from tax authorities 20.4 1.7 6.8
Receivables from Parent Company for tax consolidation 0.8 - 0.5
Receivables from agents and miscellaneous customers 1.0 (0.0) 1.7
Prepaid expenses 9.7 0.1 11.9
Other receivables from Associates 0.8 -
Other 10.6 1.4 7.6
Other receivables 44.7 3.2 32.3

Trade receivables are shown net of year-end bonuses and payables for promotional costs: this is consistent with
the disclosure of revenues on the income statement. In addition, this item is reported net of the related provision

for impairment, which reflects the actual risk of uncollectability.

Other receivables from tax authorities, totalling €20.4 million, primarily comprise €15.4 million for VAT, €3.2 million
for excise duty and €1.7 million for other taxes. The increase in the current year was due to the beneficial outcome
of a tax dispute following a favourable ruling from the Supreme Federal Court in Brazil.

The table below shows receivables broken down by maturity.

In light of the analysis performed on estimated expected future losses (using the expected credit loss method),

there were no receivables not yet due and not written down.

31 December 2019 Trade receivables® Other receivables® Total
€ million € million € million
Not overdue 235.6 28.7 264.3
Overdue 87.0 7.0 94.0
Less than 30 days 44.1 - 44.1
30-90 days 18.1 4.0 221
Within 1 year 18.4 3.0 21.4
Within 5 years 5.5 - 5.5
Total receivables broken down by maturity 322.6 35.7 358.3
Amount impaired (7.5) (0.7) (8.3)
Total 315.0 35.0 350.0
® This item does not include deferred charges.
31 December 2018 Trade receivables® Other receivables® Total
€ million € million € million
Not overdue 192.9 8.0 201.0
Overdue 101.2 1.2 102.4
Less than 30 days 64.0 0.2 64.3
30-90 days 24.4 0.7 25.1
Within 1 year 11.9 0.2 12.1
Within 5 years 0.8 0.1 0.9
Total receivables broken down by maturity 294.1 9.2 303.3
Amount impaired (9.7 (0.7) (10.3)
Total 284.4 8.5 293.0

® This item does not include deferred charges.

The following table shows the changes in impairment provisions for expected future losses in the period.

Provisions for expected future losses

€ million Trade receivables Other receivables
31 December 2018 9.7 0.7
Perimeter effect for acquisition 0.3 -
Accruals 2.3 -
Utilizations (3.5) -
Releases (1.5) -
Exchange rate differences and other changes 0.2 -
31 December 2019 7.5 0.7

Utilisations for the year were due to the settlement of lawsuits outstanding from previous years.
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29. Current financial receivables
This item breaks down as follows:

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

€ million € million

Securities and term deposit - 27.4

Valuation at fair value of forward contracts 0.2 0.3

Financial assets from associates - 0.6
Financial asset for leases 2.3

Other financial assets 5.8 0.8

Other current financial receivables 8.3 1.7

Current financial receivables 8.3 29.1

The decrease in the ‘Securities and term deposits’ item is attributable to the cashing-in of marketable securities
that represented a temporary investment of cash.

Financial assets for leases, totalling €2.3 million, related to amounts recognised as a result of applying the new
accounting standard IFRS 16 - ‘Leases’. For more information, see note 4-Changes in accounting standards.
The increase in ‘Other financial assets’ was due primarily to €5.1 million of interest-bearing receivables resulting
from the sale of businesses being reclassified to current assets.

30. Current income tax receivables

31 December Perimeter effect 31 December

2019 for acquisition 2018

€ million € million € million

Income taxes 18.1 0.7 19.3
Receivables from ultimate shareholders for tax consolidation 0.6 - 3.1
Income tax receivables 18.7 0.7 22.4

Tax receivables can all be recovered within 12 months.

Receivables from the main shareholder refer to tax consolidation receivables from the ultimate parent Lagfin
S.C.A,, Société en Commandite par Actions. All receivables and payables are non-interest-bearing; for more
details, see note 47-Information on related parties.

31. Cash and cash equivalents and reconciliation with net financial debt and with the cash
flow statement
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents break down as follows.

31 December Perimeter effect 31 December

2019 for acquisition 2018

€ million € million € million

Bank current accounts and cash 505.4 6.0 315.9
Term deposit maturing within 3 months 199.0 - 298.0
Cash and cash equivalents 704.4 6.0 613.9

The cash and cash equivalents item comprises current accounts, other sight deposits and those that can be
withdrawn within a maximum period of three months from the reporting date, which are held at leading banks and
pay variable market-based rates depending on the currency and period concerned.

Cash and cash equivalents also include securities that are readily convertible into cash, consisting of short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant
risk of a change in value.
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Reconciliation with the net financial debt
The reconciliation with the Group’s net financial debt is set out below.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
€ million € million
Cash and cash equivalents 704.4 613.9
Cash (A) 704.4 613.9
Securities - 27.4
Other current financial receivables 8.3 1.7
Current financial receivables (B) 8.3 29.1
Current bank payables (34.4) 9.3)
Current portion of lease payables (15.4) (0.5)
Current portion of bonds (580.0) (218.6)
Other current financial payables (11.4) (10.6)
Current portion of payables for put option and earn-out (54.0) (36.6)
Current financial payables (C) (695.2) (275.6)
Net current financial position (A+B+C) 17.5 367.4
Non-current bank payables (249.3) (300.0)
Non-current portion of lease payables (82.1) (1.0)
Non-current portion of bonds®™ (349.4) (790.8)
Non-current portion of payables for put option and earn-out (128.8) (137.7)
Non-current financial debt (D) (809.6) (1,229.5)
Net debt (A+B+C+D)® (792.1) (862.1)
Reconciliation with the Group's financial debt, as shown in the Directors’
Term deposits 9.8 9.3
Non-current financial receivables 4.8 6.5
Group net financial debt (777.4) (846.3)

® In accordance with the definition of net debt set out in Consob Communication DEM 6064293 of 28 July 2006.
) Including related derivatives.

For all information concerning the items that make up net financial debt excluding liquidity, see note 30-Current
financial receivables, note 27-Other non-current assets, note 37-Bonds and other current liabilities and note 38-
Payables to banks and other current financial payables.

Reconciliation with the cash flow statement
A reconciliation of the changes in financial liabilities used in financing activities given in the cash flow statement
and the balances shown on the financial statements is provided below.

Payables
Bonds for matured Payables to banks Leasing assets (liabilities) Liabilities for derivatives

interest
€ million current cu?r(;?\-t(“) current current non-current current non-current current non-current
31 December 2018 (218.6) (778.7) (8.9 (4.5) (300.0) (0.3) (0.2) (1.6) (12.1)
IFRS 16 adoption® - - - - - (15.3) (69.8) - -
Addition of notional debt - - - - - - (15.8) - -
Interest matured - - (27.7) - - 0.3 (3.4) - -
New financing - (149.3) - (18.6) (248.7) - - - -
Repayment 219.1 - 27.7 - 300.1 17.1 - - 23.3
Perimeter effect for acquisition - - - (6.8) (0.6) - (1.4) - -
Exchange rate effects - - - - - (2.1) 0.4 - -
Reclassification (579.7) 579.7 - - - (13.0) 13.0 - -
Other movements (0.8) (1.0) 0.1 (1.2) (0.1) - - (0.1) (11.2)
31 December 2019 (580.0) (349.4) (8.7) (31.0) (249.3) (13.1) (77.3) 1.7) -

® For more information on the first-time application of the accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’, see the comments in note 4-Changes in accounting standards.
) Excluded related derivatives.

32. Net assets held for sales

Net assets held for sale are valued at the lower of net book value and fair value less selling costs.

At 31 December 2019, this item included:

- surplus real estate assets relating to a residual portion of the Termoli site (value unchanged from 31 December
2018);

- property in France;

- production assets located in Brazil, including the defunct Sorocaba facility.

31 December Reclassification as Write-off 31 December

2018 assets held for sale 2019

Assets € million € million € million € million
Net tangible fixed assets 7.8 1.6 (4.1) 5.3
Total assets held for sales 7.8 1.6 (4.1) 5.3
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33. Leases

The impact of applying accounting standard IFRS 16 - ‘Leases’ effective 1 January 2019 is provided below. For
additional information on the first-time application of the new accounting standard, please refer to the comments

in note 4-Changes in accounting standards.
The changes in assets underlying the right of use are indicated in the table below.

Land and buildings Plant and machinery Other Total

€ million € million € million € million

1 January 2019 61.1 5.7 10.2 77.0
Perimeter effect for acquisition 0.1 - 14 14
Investments 11.9 18 21 15.8
Depreciation (8.4) (1.0) (4.3) (13.7)
Exchange rate differences and other changes - - (0.1) (0.1)
31 December 2019 64.7 6.5 9.3 80.5
Carrying amount at the end of the period 73.2 7.4 14.9 95.5
Accumulated amortization at the end of the period (8.4) (1.0) (5.7) (15.0)

There are no restrictions or covenants on the right of use assets indicated above.
Increases for the year were mainly related to offices and automobiles.

The average of main IBR applied in 2019 were as follows.

Currency Within 5 years From 5 to 10 years Over 10 years
EUR 1.7% 2.1% 2.7%
uUsD 3.9% 4.0% 4.1%
GBP 2.8% 2.9% 3.0%
Changes in the lease liabilities and financial receivables are provided in the table below.
) R Perimeter 3 Interest o Exchange rate t31
Financial liabilities for leases 1 January 2019 effect for ~ Addition Payments Reclassification  differences and December
acquisition expenses other changes 2019
€ million € million € million € million € million € million € million € million
Within 12 months (18.3) - - 17.4 - (14.5) (0.1) (15.4)
Over 12 months (76.5) (1.4) (15.8) - (3.4) 14.5 0.6 (82.1)
Financial liabilities for leases (94.8) (1.4) (15.8) 17.4 (3.4) - 0.5 (97.5)
) ] Perimeter y . Interest o Exchange rate t31
Financial assets for leases 1 January 2019 effect for ~ Addition Collections Reclassification  differences and December
acquisition expenses other changes 2019
€ million € million € million € million € million € million € million € million
Within 12 months 2.7 - - 0.3) 0.3 15 (2.0) 2.3
Over 12 months 6.5 - - - - (1.5) 0.2) 4.8
Financial assets for leases 9.2 - - 0.3) 0.3 - (2.1) 7.1

Amounts recognised in the income statement

€ million 31 December 2019

€ million
Interest of lease 3.4
Depreciation and amortization on right of use underlying assets 13.7
Variable lease payment not included in measurement of lease liability 6.0
Expense related to short terms leases 0.7
Expense related to leases with low value 2.6

Amounts recognised in the cash flow statement

31 December 2019
€ million

31 December 2018
€ million

Total cash outflow for leases 15.8

0.5

Contractual commitments for the use of third-party assets that are not recorded using lease accounting

The following table indicates amounts owed by the Group in future periods broken down by maturities related to
contractual commitments for the use of third-party assets that are not recorded using lease accounting.
The amount as at 31 December 2018 included contractual commitments that later fell within the scope of the new

standard adopted.

As at 31 December 2019, contractual commitments for the use of third-party assets that are not recorded using

lease accounting mainly related to warehouses for storing goods.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

96



CAMPARI GROUP-ANNUAL REPORT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

The table below shows the amounts owed by the Group in future periods, broken down by maturity, relating to
the main contractual commitments for the use of third-party assets.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ million € million

Within 1 year 7.2 18.1
1-5 years 7.4 43.4
After 5 years 1.2 41.0
Total 15.7 102.4

34. Shareholder’s equity

The Group manages its capital structure and makes changes to it on the basis of the prevailing economic
conditions and the specific risks of the underlying asset.

To maintain or change its capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividends paid to the shareholders and/or
issue new shares.

In this regard, like other groups operating in the same sector, the Group uses the net debt/EBITDA adjusted.
This multiple was 1.6 times at 31 December 2019 decreasing from 2.0 at 31 December 2018, with same
calculation criteria.

For information on the composition of and changes in shareholders’ equity for the periods under review, see the
statement of changes in shareholders’ equity.

Share capital
At 31 December 2019, the share capital of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. was €58,080,000, fully paid-up,
comprising 1,161,600,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of €0.05 each

Outstanding shares and own shares

The Group has a share buyback programme in place, pursuant to article 5 of Regulation (EU) 596/2014, in
accordance with a resolution passed at the Shareholders’ Meeting held on 16 April 2019, which authorised the
purchase and sale of own shares to service, inter alia, the existing stock option plan for the Group’s management
which was approved by the Shareholders’ Meeting. The broker responsible for implementing the programme is
Goldman Sachs International Ltd. Purchases are made in compliance with the statutory limits and the stipulations
of the aforementioned shareholders’ resolution. The transactions carried out under the programme are regularly
communicated to Consob and the market, pursuant to applicable legislation.

The table below shows the reconciliation between the number of outstanding shares at 31 December 2019 and
in the two prior years.

No. of shares Nominal value

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017

€ € €

Outstanding shares at the beginning of the period 1,146,618,042 1,152,546,887 1,158,915,312 57,330,902 57,627,344 57,945,766

Purchases for the stock option plan (9,036,356) (10,007,486) (10,910,000) (451,818) (500,374) (545,500)

Disposals 10,314,114 4,078,641 4,541,575 515,706 203,932 227,079

Outstanding shares at the end of the period 1,147,895,800 1,146,618,042 1,152,546,887 57,394,790 57,330,902 57,627,344

Total own shares held 13,704,200 14,981,958 9,053,113 685,210 749,098 452,656
Own shares as a % of share capital 1.18% 1.29% 0.78%

In 2019, 9,036,356 own shares were acquired at a purchase price of €75.3 million, which equates to an average
price of €8.33 per share. A total of 10,314,114 shares were sold at a price of €28.0 million through the exercise
of stock option rights.

Dividends paid and proposed

The table below shows the dividends approved and paid during the year and in the previous year, and the
dividends subject to the approval of the Shareholders’ Meeting to approve the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2019.

Total amount Dividend per share
31 December 2019 31 December 2018 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
€ million € million € €
Dividends approved and paid during the year on ordinary shares 57.3 57.5 0.050 0.050
Dividends proposed on ordinary shares®) 63.1 0.055

®) Calculated on the basis of shares outstanding at 31 December 2019; this figure is to be recalculated based on the total number of shares outstanding as at the dividend ex-date.
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Other reserves

Foreign Remeasurement

Stock  Cash flow currency  Hyperinflation reserve for actuarial
options hedging translation effect reserve effects relating to Total

reserves defined benefit plans
€ million € million € million € million € million € million
31 December 2018 33.6 9.7 (125.2) 11.3 0.1 (89.8)
Cost of stock options for the period 6.9 - - - - 6.9
Stock option exercised (7.9) - - - - (7.9)
Losses (profits) reclassified in the income statement - 3.6 - - - 3.6
Tax effect recognised in the income statement - (0.9) - - - (0.9)
Profits (losses) allocated to shareholders' equity - (10.9) - - 3.1) (14.0)
Tax effect recognised in shareholder's equity - 2.6 - - 1.0 3.6
Translation difference - - 29.9 - - 29.9
Effects from hyperinflation accounting standard adoption - - - 11.8 - 11.8
31 December 2019 32.6 (15.2) (95.3) 23.1 (2.0) (56.9)

The stock option reserve contains the provision made as an offsetting entry for the cost reported in the income
statement for stock options allocated. The provision is determined based on the fair value of the options
established using the Black-Scholes model. For information on the Group’s stock option plans, see note 42-Stock
option plan.

The cash flow hedge reserve contains amounts (net of the related tax effect) pertaining to changes resulting from
fair value adjustments of financial derivatives recorded using the cash flow hedging methodology.

For further information, see note 43-Financial instruments - disclosures.

The translation reserve contains exchange-rate differences related to the translation of subsidiaries' financial
statements reported in a currency other than the euro, while the hyperinflation reserve includes the impact of
measuring the related effects in Argentina.

The remeasurement reserve for actuarial effects relating to defined benefit plans includes the effects of changes
to the actuarial assumptions used to calculate the net obligations for defined benefit plans.

35. Shareholders’ equity attributable to non-controlling interests
Below are changes occurring during the year.

31 December Perimeter effect for P Exchange rate and 31 December

2018 acquisition Reclassification other r?]ovements 2019

€ million € million € million € million € million
Rhumantilles - 1.9 - - 1.9
Ancho Reyes and Montelobos - 7.8 (8.0) 0.2 -
Non-controlling interest - 9.7 (8.0) 0.2 1.9

Non-controlling interests are recognised whenever the portion of a subsidiary’s shareholders’ equity is not entirely
attributable to the Group, directly or indirectly.

The acquisitions of Rhumantilles, Ancho Reyes and Montelobos completed at the end of the year entailed
agreements which, in different ways, left a portion of the risks and benefits of the businesses acquired with certain
sellers. The share attributable to non-controlling interests, equal initially to €9.7 million, represents the value
allocated to these rights. Solely with regard to the acquisition of Ancho Reyes and Montelobos, the existence of
cross purchase/sale agreements involving put/call option mechanisms with some of the previous owners for the
share they currently hold (equal to 49% of the capital of the two companies) made it necessary to record a financial
liability related to the future purchase obligation (see note 36-Bonds and other non-current liabilities) and the
simultaneous elimination of the amount recognised under non-controlling interests in favour of the Group’s
shareholders’ equity. Thus, the amount of non-controlling interests at 31 December 2019 was reduced to €1.9
million, corresponding only to the Rhumantilles transaction.

36. Bonds and other non-current liabilities
The breakdown of bonds and other non-current liabilities is as follows:

31 December Of which 31 December

2019 perimeter effect 2018

€ million € million € million

Bond (Eurobond) issued in 2015 - - 578.7
Bond issued in 2017 200.0 - 200.0
Bond issued in 2019 149.4 - -
Total current bonds 349.4 - 778.7
Payables and loans due to banks 249.3 0.6 300.0
Leases 82.1 14 1.0
Non current liabilities for hedging derivatives - - 12.1
Payables for put option and earn-outs 128.8 - 137.7
Non-current financial liabilities 460.2 2.0 450.8
Other non-financial liabilities 16.2 - 12.9
Other non-current liabilities 476.4 2.0 463.7

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 98



CAMPARI GROUP-ANNUAL REPORT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Bonds

At 31 December 2019, the Bonds item included the following issues placed by the Parent Company:

- bond issued in 2017 by the Parent Company, maturing on 5 April 2022, with a nominal value of €50 million. The
bond pays a fixed annual coupon of 1.768%;

- bond issued in 2017 by the Parent Company, maturing on 5 April 2024, with a nominal value of €150 million.
The bond pays a fixed annual coupon of 2.165%.

- bond issued on 23 April 2019 by the Parent Company, maturing on 30 April 2024, with a nominal value of €150
million. The bond pays a fixed annual coupon of 1.655%. The bond concerned was linked to a cash flow hedge
on future transactions, which in 2018 carried a debt balance of €12.1 million for the company. The transaction
entailed the liquidation of the derivative’s fair value as at the transaction date with the impact reported in the
Group’s statement of comprehensive income as described in note 43, which should be referred to for further
information. The effective interest rate of the bond after including the hedging impact was 2.245%.

The Eurobond 2015, with a residual nominal value of €580.9 million and maturity of 30 October 2020, has been
reallocated to the ‘Other current financial payables’ item (see comment in note 38 below).

The changes recorded in 2019 relating to the effects of the amortised cost of the above bonds were negative at
€1.8 million.

Payables and loans due to banks

This item includes euro-denominated loans entered into with leading banks; interest is mainly due at floating
market rates.

Specifically, as described in the section ‘Significant events during the period’, on 31 July 2019, Davide Campari-
Milano S.p.A. prepaid the term loan taken out on 3 August 2016 in the nominal amount of €300.0 million and
accompanied by a revolving credit facility of €200.0 million; both had original maturities of August 2021.

At the same time a term loan was entered into with a nominal amount of €250.0 million, maturing on 31 July 2024,
at an interest rate of 3-month Euribor plus a 1.25% spread.

The transaction entailed incurring non-recurring financial expenses of €1.3 million included in the valuation of the
amortised cost of the related financial liability.

The loan was accompanied by a revolving credit facility of the same amount and maturity, at an interest rate of 3-
month Euribor plus a 0.75% spread, as well as drawdown fees.

The revolving credit facility had not been used at 31 December 2019.

Leases

This item included the financial liability reflecting the obligation to make lease payments as specified in accounting
standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’.

For more information, see note 4-Changes in accounting standards.

Payables for put options and earn-outs

At 31 December 2019, the long-term portion of the item ‘Payables for put options and earn-outs’ included:

- the payable (totalling €105.3 million) arising following agreements signed with members of the former controlling
shareholder family of Société des Produits Marnier Lapostolle S.A. aimed at purchasing, by the end of 2021, all
remaining shares held by them; the transaction to sell the property Villa Les Cédres resulted in a liability of €52.7
million due to the Group’s commitment to pay a price supplement to all former shareholders of the Société des
Produits Marnier-Lapostolle S.A. as at the launch date of the public Tender Offer of 13 May 2016; as at 31
December 2019, a residual payable of €7.9 million was recorded in relation to several members of the former
controlling shareholder family (€2.8 million was recorded under the current financial liabilities described in note
37-Payables to banks and other current financial payables). Further details may be found in the ‘Significant
events during the period’ section.

- the estimated payable for put options and earn-outs linked to the Ancho Reyes and Montelobos acquisition
totalling €23.5 million payable starting in 2024.

The changes during the year relating to these payables are attributable to the revision of estimates made on the

basis of existing contractual agreements, as well as non-cash effects deriving from amortised costs and the

reclassification under current payables of the portion due to be paid in 2020.

Other non-financial liabilities

The other non-financial liabilities at 31 December 2019 mainly included medium- to long-term liabilities relating to
incentive-based plans accrued on behalf of employees, totalling €9.7 million. They also included medical cover of
€3.8 million and profit-sharing benefits for employees of €2.1 million.
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37. Payables to banks, bonds and other current financial payables
The table below shows a breakdown of the Group’s payables to banks and other current financial payables.

31 December Of which 31 December

2019 perimeter effect 2018

€ million € million € million

Payables and loans due to banks 31.0 6.8 4.5
Other financial liabilities 8IS - 4.8
Short-term portion of Parent Company bond (Eurobond) issued in 20120 - 218.6
Short-term portion of Parent Company bond (Eurobond) issued in 20150 580.0 -
Accrued interest on bonds 8.7 - 8.9
Leases 15.4 - 0.5
Liabilities on hedging contracts 0.2 - 0.5
Current liabilities for hedge derivatives, not reported using hedge accounting procedures 15 - 0.6
Payables for put options and earn-out 54.0 - 36.6
Other financial liabilities 1.0 - -
Total other financial payables 664.3 - 271.1

® Includes the effects of applying amortised costs.
The main financial liabilities are as follows:

Payables to banks
Short-term payables to banks related to short-term loans or credit facilities used by the Group to obtain additional
financial resources.

Bonds

At 31 December 2019, this item included the Eurobond 2015, which was reported with a residual nominal amount
of €580.9 million, due on 30 September 2020. The bond pays a fixed annual coupon of 2.75% and the issue price
was 99.715% of par, corresponding to a gross return of 2.807%. Negotiations with leading financial institutions
are in progress for the restructuring of the maturing debt, based on the actual liquidity needs.

During the year, the Eurobond 2012, which had a residual nominal value of €219.0 million and was set to mature
on 25 October 2019, was repaid. The bond paid a fixed annual coupon of 4.50% and the issue price was 99.068%
of par, corresponding to a gross return of 4.659%.

Payables for put options and earn-outs

At 31 December 2019, payables for put options related to the following liabilities:

- €3.2 million for the purchase of the residual non-controlling shares in J.Wray & Nephew Ltd, which is secured
by Group holdings of restricted cash and cash equivalents;

- €30.1 million for the option to purchase several shares still held by the former shareholders of Société des
Produits Marnier Lapostolle S.A. that can be exercised over the next 12 months; this item includes €2.8 million
arising after the sale of the property Villa Les Cédres (see also comments in note 36-Bonds and other non-current
liabilities).

On the other hand, payables for earn-outs totalling €20.7 million are wholly related to the estimated payable tied
to the Bulldog acquisition.

Leases

This item included the financial liability reflecting the obligation to make lease payments as specified in accounting
standard IFRS 16 - ‘Leases’.

For more information, see note 4-Change in accounting standards.

38. Defined benefit plans

Group companies provide post-employment benefits for staff, both directly and by contributing to external funds.
The procedures for providing these benefits vary according to the legal, tax and economic conditions in each
country where the Group operates.

The benefits are provided through defined contribution and/or defined benefit plans.

For defined contribution plans, Group companies pay contributions to publicly or privately administered pension
funds, based on either legal or contractual obligations, or on a voluntary basis.

The companies fulfil all their obligations by paying said contributions.

At the end of the financial year, any liabilities for contributions to be paid are included in 'Other current liabilities’;
the cost for the period is recognised in the income statement.

Defined benefit plans may be unfunded, or fully or partially funded by contributions paid by the company, and
sometimes by its employees, to a company or fund which is legally separate from the company and which pays
out benefits to employees.
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As regards the Group’s Italian subsidiaries, the defined benefit plans consist of the employee indemnity liability
(TFR), to which its employees are entitled by law.

Following reform of the supplementary pension scheme in 2007, for companies with at least 50 employees, TFR
contributions accrued up to 31 December 2006 are considered to be ‘defined benefit plans’, while contributions
accruing from 1 January 2007, which have been allocated to a fund held at the INPS (ltalian social security
agency) or to supplementary pension funds, are considered to be ‘defined contribution plans’.

The portion of the TFR considered as a defined benefit plan consists of an unfunded plan that does not, therefore,
hold any dedicated assets. The other unfunded defined benefit plans relate to Marnier Lapostolle Bisquit SASU.

Campari Deutschland GmbH and Campari Schweiz A.G have some funded defined benefit plans in place for
employees and/or former employees. These plans have dedicated assets.

The liability for medical insurance in place at 31 December 2019 relates to J. Wray & Nephew Ltd. and offers
access to health care provided that employees stay with the company until pensionable age and have completed
a minimum period of service. The cost of these benefits is spread over the employee’s service period using a
calculation methodology similar to that used for defined benefit plans.

The liability relating to the Group’s defined benefit plans, which is calculated on an actuarial basis using the
projected unit credit method, is reported on the statement of financial position, net of the fair value of any dedicated
assets.

In cases where the fair value of dedicated assets exceeds the value of the post-employment benefit obligation,
and where the Group has the right to reimbursement or the right to reduce its future contributions to the plan, the
surplus is reported as a hon-current asset, in accordance with IAS 19.

The table below reports changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations, and the fair values of the
assets relating to the plan in 2019 and 2018.

€ million liabilities assets
Liabilities (assets) 31 December 2018 39.2 3.7)
Amounts included in the income statement: -
- current service costs 0.2 -
- net interest 0.5 0.2)
- gains/(losses) on regulations implemented 0.1 -
Total 0.8 (0.1)
Amounts included in the statement of comprehensive income: -
- gain/(losses) resulting from changes in actuarial assumptions 3.1 -
- changes to plan assets (excluding components already considered in net interest payable) - -
- exchange rate differences 0.1 -
Total 3.2 (0.1)
Other changes: R
- benefits paid (1.3) 0.2
- business combination - -
- benefits transferred (0.8) 0.2)
Total (2.1) (0.2)
Liabilities (assets) 31 December 2019") 41.1 (3.9)

®) Of which €33.4 million included under Defined benefit plans (note 38); of which €3.8 million included under Other non-current liabilities (note 36).

€ million liabilities assets
Liabilities (assets) 31 December 2017 44.6 (3.7)
Amounts included in the income statement: -
- current service costs 0.2 -
- net interest 11 -
Total 1.3 -
Amounts included in the statement of comprehensive income: -
- gain/(losses) resulting from changes in actuarial assumptions (2.3) -
- exchange rate differences 0.1 -
Total 2.2 -
Other changes: -
- benefits paid (1.9) 0.3
- contribution to the plan by other members 0.1 0.2)
- contribution to the plan by employees (0.6) 0.2)
- benefits transferred 2.2) -
Total (4.6) (0.1)
Liabilities (assets) 31 December 2018 39.2 3.7)
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The table below shows the total changes in obligations for defined benefit plans financed by assets that serve the
plan (funded obligations) and the liabilities relating to long-term unfunded benefits. It also includes benefits linked
to medical cover, as described above, provided by J. Wray & Nephew Ltd. to its current and/or former employees,
and the long-term benefits of the Group’s Italian companies (TFR).

Current value of obligations

unfunded obligations

funded obligations

- ) other gross value of .
€ million pension plans liabilti ’ fair value of assets net values
iabilities pension plans

Liabilities (assets) 31 December 2018 30.7 3.9 4.6 (3.7 0.9
Amounts included in the income statement: -
- current service costs 0.1 - 0.1 - 0.1
- net interest 0.5 - 0.1 (0.1) -
- gains/(losses) on regulations implemented - 0.1 - - -
Total 0.6 0.1 0.1 (0.1) 0.1
Amounts included in the statement of comprehensive income:

- gain/(losses) resulting from changes in actuarial

assumptions 2.3 - 0.8 - 0.7
- exchange rate differences - - 0.1 - -
Total 2.3 (0.0) 0.9 (0.1) 0.8
Other changes:

- benefits paid @.7) 0.5 0.2) 0.2 -
- benefits transferred 0.2) (0.8) 0.2 (0.2) -
Total (1.9) (0.2) 0.1 (0.1) -
Liabilities (assets) 31 December 2019 31.7 3.7 5.6 (3.9 1.7

®) Of which €33.4 million included under Defined benefit plans (note 38); of which €3.8 million included under Other non-current liabilities (note 36).
Current value of obligations unfunded obligations funded obligations
€ million pension . p_ther gross value of fair value of assets net values
plans® liabilities | pension plans

Liabilities (assets) 31 December 2017 33.4 6.5 4.8 (8.7) 1.1
Amount included in the income statement:

- current service costs - 0.2 0.1 - 0.1
- net interest 0.4 0.6 0.1 - 0.1
Total 0.4 0.8 0.1 - 0.1
Amounts included in the statement of comprehensive income:

- gain/(losses) resulting from changes in actuarial assumptions @.7) (0.3) (0.3) - (0.3)
- exchange rate differences - - 0.1 - -
Total a7 (0.3) (0.2) - 0.3)
Other changes:

- benefits paid (1.6) - (0.3) 0.3 -
- business combination - - - - -
- contribution to the plan by other members - - 0.1 0.1) -
- - contributions to the plan by employees - (0.6) 0.1 (0.1) -
- benefits transferred 0.3 (2.5) - - -
Total 1.3) 3.2 (0.1) 0.1 -
Liabilities (assets) 31 December 2018 30.7 3.9 4.6 3.7) 0.9

The cost of work provided is classified under personnel costs, financial liabilities on obligations are classified
under financial liabilities, and the effects of the recalculation of actuarial impacts are included in the other items
of the statement of comprehensive income. The table below shows a breakdown of the values of assets that

service the pension plans.

2019 2018
Equity investment 15 1.2
Insurance policies 24 25
Fair value of assets plan 3.9 37

Obligations related to the plans described above are calculated on the basis

of the following actuarial

assumptions:
Unfunded pension plans Funded pension plans Other plans
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Discount rate 0.56% 1,20% -1,63% 0.87% 1,00% -1,77% 6.50% 7.00%
Future salary increases 2,00% -3,00% 3,00% 2.00% 2.00% - -
Growth rate of healthcare costs - - - - 5.00% 5.00%
Expected return on assets - - 0.87% 1,77% - -

Staff turnover rate
Forecast inflation rate

3.39%
0,80% -2,00%

2,16% -3,64%

1.25%

The rates relating to the costs of health benefits are not included in the assumptions used in determining the
above obligations. Thus, any changes in these rates would not have any effect.
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Quantitative sensitivity analysis of the significant assumptions used at 31 December 2019 is shown below.
Specifically, it shows the effects on the final net obligation arising from a positive or negative percentage change
in the key assumptions used.

Unfunded pension plans Funded pension plans Other plans
Change iq the B Impact of Iwg;;thg Change iq the B Impact of lnmé);;:i\fg Chang?h|2 Irr;)%a:i:tti\f); I:'ep;;ttig
assumptions  positive change change assumptions  positive change change | assumptions change change
2019
Discount rate +\-0.5% -3,70%/-4,11% 3,96%/4,44% +0.5%-1% -11.4%/-9.11% +13.7%/+19.8% - - -
Future salary increases - - - +/-0.50% 2.30% -2.10% +/- 0,5% -7.00% 2.00%
Future pension increases - - - +/- 0,25% 2.36% -2.28% = = =
Forecast inflation rate +\- 0.5% 2,4%/1,63%  -2,3%/-1,58% = = = = = =
Growth rate of healthcare costs - - - - - - +/- 0,5% 7.00% -2.00%
2018
Discount rate +-0.25%-0.5%  -2.92%/-3.47% +3.07%/-3.70% +0.5%-1% -9.%/-10.2%  10.5%/+12.1% +/- 0,5% -4.56% 4.76%
Future salary increases - - - +/- 0.5% 1.80% -1.70% - - -
Future pension increases - - - +\-0.25% 2.35% -2.30%
Forecast inflation rate +\- 0.5% 2,3% -2,3% - - - - -
Growth rate of healthcare costs - - - - - - +\-1.5% 2.96% -6.56%

The sensitivity analysis shown above is based on a method involving extrapolation of the impact on the net
obligation for defined benefit plans of reasonable changes to the key assumptions made at the end of the financial
year.

The methodology and the assumptions made in preparing the sensitivity analysis remain unchanged from the
previous year.

Given that pension liabilities have been adjusted on the basis of the consumer prices index, the pension plan is
exposed to the inflation rate of the various countries in question, to interest rate risks and to changes in the life
expectancy of former employees. Given that the assets servicing the plans mainly relate to investments in bonds,
the Group is also exposed to market risk in the related sectors.

The following payments are the expected contributions that will be made in future years to provide for the
obligations of the defined benefit plans.

€ million 31 December 2019 | VNunded pe;is;?]r; Funded De;is;zg Other plans
Within 12 months 1 - -
From 1 to 5 years 3 1 2 -
From 5 to 10 years 9 2 4 3
Total 12 3 7 3
Average plan duration (years) 14 17 15 9
€ million 31 December 2018 Unfunded pension Funded pension Other plans
plans plans
Within 12 months 2 2 - -
From 1to 5 years 12 8 - 4
From 5 to 10 years 10 10 1 -
Total 24 19 1 4
Average plan duration (years) 12 15 15 4
39. Provisions for risks, future charges and contingent assets
The table below shows the changes to this item during the period.
Tax provision Restructuring provisions Agent severance fund Other Total
€ million € million € million € million € million
31 December 2018 80.4 16.0 1.2 21.0 118.7
Perimeter effect for acquisition - - - 15 15
Accruals - 18 0.3 1.0 3.1
Utilizations - (7.5) 0.2) (4.3) (12.2)
Releases (58.2) - - (5.7) (63.7)
Exchange rate differences and other changes 0.4 0.1 - 3.6 4.1
31 December 2019 22.6 10.4 14 17.1 51.4
of which estimated outlay:
- due within 12 months 0.1 10.4 0.1 1.3 11.8
- due after 12 months 22.5 - 1.3 15.9 39.7

At 31 December 2019 the tax provision totalled €22.6 million. Changes during the year mainly reflects the natural
closing of fiscally relevant periods, in addition to the revision of estimates related to risks associated with
uncertainties over the tax treatment of transactions carried out by the Group that could result in disputes with tax
authorities. As a consequence, a release of tax provision of €58,2 million, was recorded.

Changes in the restructuring provisions relate to the Group’s reorganisation projects.

Other provisions reflected the recognition by the Parent Company and subsidiaries of liabilities for various
lawsuits, including a legal dispute totalling €13.5 million relating to a distribution agreement.
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The information reported below concerns contingent liabilities arising from outstanding disputes, in relation to
which the Group did not, however, deem it necessary to make provisions as of the date of this report.

Various disputes are outstanding with the Brazilian tax authorities; however, the Group believes it is unlikely to
lose the cases, based on the information available at the date of this report.

At 31 December 2018, one dispute relating to production tax (IPl) was outstanding, in which the tax authorities
contested the correct classification of products sold by Campari do Brasil Ltda.

In the first half of 2019, the local administrative authority issued the final ruling in the Group’s favour. The total
amount relating to the dispute was BRL15.4 million (€3.4 million at the exchange rate on 31 December 2019) plus
interest. Based on the above, starting in the next consolidated financial statements, this information will no longer
be provided.

As at today’s date, a dispute worth BRL6.7 million (€1.5 million at the exchange rate on 31 December 2019)
including related penalties is still pending.

Based on the assessments of external legal consultants, the Group believes that the outcome of the dispute will
be in favour of the Company. It is therefore deemed unnecessary at present to create a specific provision.
Another outstanding dispute relates to a tax inspection report concerning the payment of ICMS (tax on the
consumption of goods and services) with respect to sales made by Campari do Brasil Ltda to four customers in
2000, 2005, 2007 and 2008. The amount specified, including penalties, totalled BRL46.9 million (€10.4 million at
the exchange rate on 31 December 2019) plus interest.

The dispute is pending before the administrative court and is not expected to be settled in the near future.

Based on the assessments of external legal consultants, which have appealed the findings of the local tax
authorities, the Group believes that the outcome of the dispute will be in favour of the Company. It is therefore
deemed unnecessary at present to create a specific provision.

In June 2016, the Company received a tax inspection notice relating to the years 2012 and 2013, alleging non-
compliance in the use of a tax benefit relating to the sales of finished products manufactured in the Suape plant.
The contested amount is BRL24.5 million (€5.4 million at the exchange rate at 31 December 2019) including the
related penalties, plus interest. The Company’s lawyers have prepared an appeal that shows compliance with all
the requirements laid down in tax law. Based on the advice of its lawyers, the Group continues to believe that
there is no reason to make a specific provision.

In December 2015, a claim for compensation totalling USD23 million was notified to subsidiary J.Wray & Nephew
Ltd by Algix Jamaica Limited. This company maintained that it had suffered damage to its fish farm due to the
waste water from the sugar processing carried out by J.Wray & Nephew Ltd. During the proceedings, to enable
the company to continue with its sugar production business, J.Wray & Nephew Ltd was requested to comply with
specific new environmental regulations. In 2017, J.Wray & Nephew Ltd. complied with the above-mentioned rules
and the sugar production business was therefore authorised. In 2019 a settlement was signed with the other party
to settle the dispute, which had no significant financial impact on the Group.

Contingent assets

At 31 December 2019 there were contingent assets resulting from a final ruling issued by the Brazilian court (TFR)
related to the right to exclude certain indirect taxes (PIS - COFIN) of ICMS from the calculation base, and the right
to offset amounts paid in 2002.

The Group’s income statement for 2019 reflected an amount totalling BRL54.5 million (€12.4 million at the average
exchange rate for 2019 and including interest) that is the best estimate of the minimum right to reimbursement for
the period 2002-2018.

The estimate of the amount of indirect taxes wrongfully paid and officially requested by the Group as
compensation is BRL121.0 million (including interest). The difference with respect to the amount reported in the
financial statements at 31 December 2019 represent a contingent asset and is due to the application of a valuation
methodology that is more favourable for the taxpayer, in relation to which an agreeable opinion from competent
Brazilian authorities on this matter has not been received. The Group will record this additional receivable only
when the uncertainty relating to the evaluation methodology will no longer applies, and it is certain about the
determination method.
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40. Trade payables and other current liabilities

31 December 2019 Perimeter effect for 31 December 2019
acquisition

€ million € million € million

Trade payables to third-parties 240.7 10.5 216.0
Trade payables 240.7 10.6 216.0
Payables to staff 57.4 1.9 67.5
Payables to agents 2.7 - 2.3
Deferred income 5.2 2.0 134
Amounts due to controlling shareholder for Group VAT 25 - -
Value added tax 24.1 0.5 23.0
Tax on alcohol production 38.6 0.5 35.4
Withholding and miscellaneous taxes 6.4 0.3 6.6
Other 4.5 0.1 5.3
Other current liabilities 1415 5.5 153.4

Higher exposure to suppliers was mainly due to the perimeter effect resulting from acquisitions made during the
year. Payables for capital grants and deferred income relating to these grants break down as shown in the next

section.
The maturities for trade payables and other current liabilities are shown below.
Trade payables Other payables to third parties Total
€ million € million € million
On demand 4.7 51.2 55.9
Due within 1 year 236.0 90.3 326.3
Due in 3 to 5 years - 0.1 0.1
Total 240.7 141.5 382.2
41. Income tax payables
This item breaks down as follows.
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
€ million € million
Taxes payable 69.9 12.9
Due to controlling shareholder for tax consolidation 5.1 1.0
Total income tax payables 75.1 13.9

These payables are all due within 12 months. The corporate income tax payable is shown net of advance
payments and taxes deducted at source.

Taxes payable at 31 December 2019 included tax payables from the transaction to sell non-strategic assets from
the Grand Marnier acquisition.

Payables to the ultimate shareholder for tax consolidation at 31 December 2019 relate to the income tax payables
of the Italian subsidiaries. It should be noted that these payables are all non-interest-bearing; for further details,
see note 46-Related parties.

42. Stock option plan

The Parent Company Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. has a number of incentive plans in place; these take the
form of stock option plans, governed in accordance with the shareholders’ resolution, pursuant to applicable law,
and implemented by means of a specific regulation (‘Stock Option Regulations’) approved by the Remuneration
and Appointments Committee on the proposal of the Board of Directors.

The purpose of the Plan is to offer beneficiaries who occupy key positions in the Group the opportunity of owning
shares in Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A., thereby aligning their interests with those of other shareholders and
fostering loyalty, in the context of the strategic goals to be achieved.

The recipients are employees, directors and/or individuals who regularly work for one or more Group companies,
who have been identified by the Board of Directors of Davide Campari-Milan S.p.A., and who, on the Plan approval
date and until the date that the options are exercised, have worked as employees and/or directors and/or in any
other capacity at one or more Group companies without interruption.

The Plan regulations do not provide for loans or other incentives for share subscriptions pursuant to Article 2358,
paragraph 3 of the Italian Civil Code.

The Board of Directors of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. has the right to draft regulations, select beneficiaries,
and determine the share quantities and values for the execution of the stock option plans. In addition, Davide
Campari-Milano S.p.A. reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to modify the Plan and the regulations as
necessary or appropriate to reflect revisions of laws in force, or for other objective reasons that would warrant
such modification.

In 2019 the Shareholders’ Meeting approved a stock option plan for a total maximum number of options resulting
from the ratio of €3,450,000.00 and the strike price for a category of beneficiaries other than members of the
Board of Directors for whom no assignment of options was planned during that year.

The options were therefore granted to the individual beneficiaries, with the right to exercise options in the two-
year period following the end of the fifth year from the grant date.
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The number of options granted in 2019 was 364,400, for the purchase of the same number of shares, with an
average allocation price of €8.85, equivalent to the weighted average market price in the month proceeding the
day on which the options were granted.

The table below shows the changes in stock option plans during the periods concerned.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Average Average

No. of shares  allocation/exercise No. of shares allocation/exercise

price (€) price (€)

Options outstanding at the beginning of the period 60,550,159 3.87 56,402,473 3.32
Options granted during the period 364,400 8.85 11,298,000 6.25
(Options cancelled during the period) (1,311,080) 4.47 (3,071,673) 3.73
(Options exercised during the period)® (10,314,112) 2.72 (4,078,641) 2.95
(Options expired during the period) - - - -
Options outstanding at the end of the period 49,289,367 4.13 60,550,159 3.87
of which those that can be exercised at the end of the period 20,796,216 2.96 15,198,854 2.64

®) The average market price on the exercise date was €8.52.

The average remaining life of outstanding options at 31 December 2019 was 3.1 years (3.9 years at 31 December
2018).
The exercise prices for the options granted each year range as follows:

Average exercise price

Allocation 2012 2.63
Allocation 2013 2.99
Allocation 2014 3.14
Allocation 2015 3.54
Allocation 2016 4.29
Allocation 2017 6.19
Allocation 2018 6.25
Allocation 2019 8.85

The average fair value of options granted in 2019 was €2.10 (€1.24 in 2018).

The fair value of stock options is represented by the value of the option calculated by applying the Black-Scholes
model, which takes into account the conditions for exercising the option, as well as the current share price,
expected volatility, risk-free rate and the non-vesting conditions for the plans.

Volatility was estimated with the help of data supplied by a market information provider together with a leading
bank, and corresponds to the estimate of volatility recorded in the period covered by the Plan.

The following assumptions were used for the fair value measurement of options issued in 2019 and 2018.

2019 2018
Expected dividends (€) 0.05 0.05
Expected volatility (%) 22.8% 20.2%
Historic volatility (%) 22.8% 20.2%
Market interest rate 0.20% 0.67%
Expected option life (years) 7.00 7.00
Exercise price (€) 8.85 6.25

Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. has a number of own shares that can be used to cover stock option plans.
The table below shows changes in the number of own shares held during the periods considered.

Number of own shares Purchase price (€ million)
2019 2018 2019 2018
Balance at 1 January 14,981,958 9,053,113 99.3 55.0
Purchases® 9,036,356 10,007,486 75.3 67.5
Disposals (10,314,114) (4,078,641) (65.9) (23.3)
Final balance 13,704,200 14,981,958 108.7 99.3
% of share capital 1.18% 1.29%

® Purchases do not include positions that have not yet been paid to the intermediary responsible for implementing the share buyback programme.

Sales of own shares during the year, which are shown in the above table at an amount equal to the original
purchase cost of €65.9 million, were carried out at the actual market price totalling €28.0 million. The Parent
Company reported a negative difference of €37.9 million, which was recorded in shareholders' equity and partially
offset by the use of the stock option reserve of €7.9 million.
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The value of individual categories of financial assets and liabilities held by the Group at 31 December 2019 and
31 December 2018 is shown below. These values have been revised based on the classification rules set out in
the accounting standard IFRS 9-‘Financial Instruments’, and on the business model identified by the Group.

31 December 2019

Measurement at
amortized cost

Measurement at fair value
through profit and loss

Measurement at fair value
with changes recognized
in the statement of
comprehensive income

€ million

Cash and cash equivalents 704.4 - -
Trade receivables 316.9 - -
Current financial receivables 8.1 - -
Other non-current financial assets 4.6 5.2 -
Other non-current assets - 0.6 -
Non-current receivables for lease 4.8 -
Payables to banks (280.2) - -
Lease payables (97.5) - -
Bonds (929.4) - -
Accrued interest on bonds 8.7) - -
Other financial liabilities (4.4) - -
Put option and earn-out payables (138.6) (44.2) -
Trade payables (240.7) - -
Current assets for hedging derivatives - - 0.2
Current liabilities for hedging derivatives - - 0.2)
Non-current Iiapilities for hedging derivatives, not reported using : (L5) }
hedge accounting procedures )

Total (660.7) (39.9) -

31 December 2018

Measurement at
amortized cost

Measurement at fair value
through profit and loss

Measurement at fair value
with changes recognized
in the statement of
comprehensive income

€ million

Cash and cash equivalents 613.9 - -
Trade receivables 285.9 - -
Current financial receivables 1.4 27.4 -
Other non-current financial assets 10.2 4.8 -
Other non-current assets - 0.4 -
Non-current receivables for leasing 0.8 - -
Payables to banks (304.5) - -
Real estate lease payables (1.5) - -
Bonds (997.3) - -
Accrued interest on bonds (8.9) - -
Other financial liabilities (4.8) - -
Put option and earn-out payables (153.7) (20.6) -
Trade payables (216.0) - -
Non-current assets for hedge derivatives, not in hedge accounting - 0.1 -
Current assets for hedging derivatives - - 0.3
Non-current liabilities for hedging derivatives - - (12.1)
Current liabilities for hedging derivatives - - (2.0)
Non-current Iiapilities for hedging derivatives, not reported using : (0.6) )
hedge accounting procedures i

Total (774.6) 115 (12.8)

44. Financial assets and liabilities

The information below is provided in accordance with IFRS 13-‘Fair Value Measurement’.
The models currently used by the Group to measure the fair value of financial instruments provide for the inclusion
of counterparty non-performance risk rating components. The method used for determining fair value is described

below.
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A summary of the financial assets and liabilities, irrespective of the proposed classification based on the applicable
business model, together with their book value and corresponding fair value, is shown below.

Carrying amount Fair value
31 December 2019 31 December 2018 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ million € million € million € million
Cash and cash equivalents 704.4 613.9 704.4 613.9
Assets for hedge derivatives, not reported using hedge accounting - 0.1 - 0.1
Assets for forex hedge derivatives 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.3
Other short-term financial receivables 8.1 28.8 8.1 28.8
Other non-current financial assets 9.8 15.0 9.8 15.0
Non-current receivables for leasing 4.8 0.8 4.8 0.8
Other non-current assets 0.6 0.4 0.6 0.4
Financial assets 728.0 659.3 728.0 659.3
Payables to bank 280.2 304.5 280.2 304.5
Lease payables 97.5 15 97.5 15
Bond (Eurobond)issued in 2012 - 218.6 - 226.5
Bond (Eurobond)issued in 2015 580.0 578.7 593.2 604.2
Bonds issued in 2017 200.0 200.0 209.3 206.0
Bonds issued in 2019 149.4 - 155.2 -
Accrued interest on bonds 8.7 8.9 8.7 8.9
Other financial liabilities 4.4 4.8 4.4 4.8
Non current liabilities for IRS derivatives on future transaction - 12.1 - 12.1
Current liabilities for derivatives on foreign exchange transactions 0.2 1.0 0.2 1.0
Liabilities for hedging derivatives, not reported using hedge accounting 15 0.6 15 0.6
Payables for put options and earn-outs 182.8 174.3 182.8 174.3
Financial liabilities 1,504.8 1,505.1 1,533.1 1,544.5

Financial instruments
Fair value of financial instruments:

- for financial assets and liabilities that are liquid or nearing maturity, it is assumed that the carrying amount
equates to fair value; this assumption also applies to term deposits, securities that can be readily converted to

cash, and variable-rate financial instruments;

- for the valuation of hedging instruments at fair value, the Company used valuation models based on market

parameters;

- the fair value of non-current financial payables was obtained by discounting all future cash flows to present value
under the conditions in effect at the end of the year.

Derivatives, valued using techniques based on market data, are mainly interest rate swaps and forward
sales/purchases of foreign currencies to hedge both the fair value of the underlying instruments and cash flows.

The most commonly applied valuation methods include forward pricing and swap models, which use present value

calculations.

The models incorporate various inputs, including the credit rating of the counterparty, market volatility, spot and
forward exchange rates and current and forward interest rates.
The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value based on three different valuation levels.

31 December 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
€ million € million € million
Assets valued at fair value
Other non-current financial assets 5.8 - -
Futures currency contracts - 0.2 -
Liabilities valued at fair value
Put option and earn-out payables - 44.2 -
Forward currency contracts - 0.2 =
Hedging derivatives not reported using hedge accounting procedures - 15 -
31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
€ million € million € million
Assets valued at fair value
Current financial receivables 27.4 - -
Other non-current financial assets 5.2 - -
Futures currency contracts - 0.3 -
Hedging derivatives not reported using hedge accounting procedures - 0.1 -
Liabilities valued at fair value
Put option and earn-out payables - 20.6 -
Interest rate swap on future transactions - 12.1 -
Forward currency and interest rate contracts - 1.0 -
Hedging derivatives not reported using hedge accounting procedures - 0.6 -

The level 1 valuation for the financial assets in question was derived using methodology based on the NAV, which

was obtained from specialist external sources.
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The level 2 valuation used for financial instruments measured at fair value is based on parameters such as
exchange rates and interest rates, which are quoted on active markets or are observable on official yield curves.
No assets or liabilities were valued using the level 3 method at 31 December 2019.

Financial derivatives
A summary of financial derivatives implemented by the Group at 31 December 2019, broken down by hedging
strategy, is shown below.

. Fair value hedging derivatives

At 31 December 2019, the Group has in place contracts for hedging payables and receivables in foreign currency
that meet the definition of hedging instruments based on IAS 39.

At 31 December 2019, certain Group subsidiaries held forward contracts on receivables and payables in
currencies other than the Euro in their financial statements.

The contracts were negotiated to match maturities with incoming and outgoing cash flows resulting from sales
and purchases in individual currencies.

The valuation of these contracts at the reporting date gave rise to the reporting of assets of €0.2 million and
liabilities of €0.2 million.

Gains and losses on the hedged and hedging instruments used in all the Group’s fair value hedges, corresponding
to the above-mentioned contracts, are summarised below.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ million € million

Gains on hedging instruments 0.2 0.2
Losses on hedging instruments - (0.5)
Total gains (losses) on hedging instruments 0.2 0.3)
Gains on hedged items 0.2 0.4
Losses on hedged items (0.3) 0.7)
Total gains (losses) on hedging instruments (0.1) 0.3)

) Derivatives used for cash flow hedging

The Group uses the following contracts to hedge its cash flows:

interest rate swaps on the Eurobond issued in 2015. Around the time the loan was granted, the Parent Company
entered into an interest rate hedging agreement. This resulted in an initial financial liability of €1.3 million,
recorded under comprehensive income or expense and released to the income statement with the cash flows
generated by the underlying debt. In 2019, the effect on the income statement was €0.3 million;

During the year, the net change in fair value related to interest rate swaps hedging the risk of interest rate
fluctuations on future transactions involving the signing of new loan agreements, and recorded under
components of the statement of comprehensive income, was a negative figure of €11.2 million. The effect on
the income statement was €-1.3 million relating to agreements that were terminated earlier than the original
maturity. The effect on the income statement for 2019 was €2.0 million relating to interest rate swap hedges
signed in previous years and linked to new loan agreements signed in the current year;

- hedging of future sales and purchases in currencies other than the Euro and interest rates on future transactions.
The table below shows when the aforementioned hedged cash flows are expected to be received, as at 31
December 2019. These cash flows only concern interest and have not been discounted.

31 December 2019 Within one year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

€ million € million € million € million
Cash outflows 0.2 - - 0.2
Net cash flows 0.2 - - 0.2
31 December 2018 Within one year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

€ million € million € million € million
Cash outflows 0,2 (12,1) - (12,3)
Net cash flows 0,2) (12,1) - (12,3)

The overall changes in the cash flow hedge reserve and the associated deferred taxes are shown below.

Gross amount Tax effect Net amount

€ million € million € million

Reserve at 31 December 2018 (12.7) 3.0 9.7)
Booked to the income statement during the period 3.6 (0.9) 2.7
Recognized in equity during the period (10.9) 2.6 (8.3)
Reserve at 31 December 2019 (20.0) 4.8 (15.2)
Gross amount Tax effect Net amount

€ million € million € million

Reserve at 31 December 2017 (2.0) 0.3 0.7)
Booked to the income statement during the period (1.4) 0.3 11
Recognized in equity during the period (10.3) 2.4 (7.9)
Reserve at 31 December 2018 (12.7) 3.0 9.7)
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. Hedging derivatives not reported using hedge accounting

It should be noted that hedging derivatives not reported using hedge accounting and valued at €1.5 million are
recognised under financial liabilities.

These instruments relate to hedges of future purchases in currencies other than the Euro, in particular Sterling
and Dollars.

Non-financial instruments

Fair value of non-financial instruments:

- for fixed biological assets, the cost method net of accumulated depreciation was used to calculate their carrying
amount;

- for current biological assets (agricultural produce), the fair value was determined based on the sale price net of
estimated sales costs.

Investment property is valued at cost, this being considered a reliable approximation of its fair value.

The tables below detail the hierarchy of financial and non-financial instruments measured at fair value, based on

the valuation methods used:

- Level 1: the valuation methods use prices quoted on an active market for the assets and liabilities subject to
valuation;

- Level 2: the valuation methods take into account inputs other than the quoted market prices in Level 1, but only
those that are observable on the market, either directly or indirectly;

- Level 3: the methods used take into account inputs that are not based on observable market data.

In 2019, no changes were made in the valuation methods applied.

The table below analyses non-financial instruments measured at fair value, which only include biological assets.
The change in Level 2 during the two periods being compared was largely due to the sale in 2019 of non-strategic
properties for the Group located in France.

31 December 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
€ million € million € million

Assets valued at fair value

Investment properties - 11

Biological assets - 0.9

31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
€ million € million € million

Assets valued at fair value

Investment properties - 122.8
Biological assets - 0.8

45. Nature and extent of the risks arising from financial instruments

The Group’s main financial instruments include current accounts, short-term deposits, short and long-term bank
loans, finance leases and bonds.

The purpose of these is to finance the Group’s operating activities.

In addition, the Group has trade receivables and payables resulting from its operations.

The main financial risks to which the Group is exposed are market (currency and interest rate risk), credit and
liquidity risk. These risks are described below, together with an explanation of how they are managed.

To cover these risks, the Group makes use of derivatives, primarily interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps
and forward contracts, to hedge interest rate and exchange rate risks.

Credit risk

With regard to trade transactions, the Group works with medium-sized and large customers (large-scale retailers,
domestic and international distributors) on which credit checks are performed in advance.

Each company carries out an assessment and control procedure for its customer portfolio, which includes
constantly monitoring amounts received. In the event of excessive or repeated delays, supplies are suspended.
Historically, losses on receivables represent a very low percentage of revenues and annual outstanding
receivables, and significant hedging and/or insurance is put in place where there is uncertainty about cash
collection.

Financial transactions are carried out with leading domestic and international institutions, whose ratings are
monitored, in order to minimise counterparty insolvency risk.

The maximum risk associated with commercial and financial transactions at the reporting date is equivalent to the
net carrying amount of these assets, also taking into account the risk of expected credit loss estimated by the
Group using the business model identified.
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Liquidity risk

The Group’s ability to generate substantial cash flow through its operations allows it to minimise liquidity risk. This
risk is defined as the difficulty of raising funds to cover the payment of the Group’s financial obligations.

The table below summarises financial liabilities at 31 December 2019 by maturity based on the contractual
repayment obligations, including non-discounted interest.

For details of trade payables and other liabilities, see note 41-Trade payables and other current liabilities.

31 December 2019 Within 1 year Duein1to2 Duein3to5 Due after 5 Total

€ million € million € million € million € million
Payables and loans due to banks 36.4 4.2 259.2 - 299.8
Bonds 603.5 6.6 368.1 - 978.2
Lease 19.1 19.0 50.6 23.8 1125
Other financial payables 1.7 - - - 1.7
Total financial liabilities 660.7 29.8 677.9 23.8 1,392.2
31 December 2018 Within 1 year Duein1lto 2 Duein3to5 Due after 5 Total

€ million € million € million € million € million
Payables and loans due to banks 13.0 3.9 302.9 - 319.7
Bonds 249.0 601.0 61.5 153.2 1,064.8
Lease 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.9 1.4
Other financial payables 13.7 - - - 13.7
Total financial liabilities 275.8 605.0 364.7 154.2 1,399.7

The Group’s financial payables, with the exception of non-current payables with a fixed maturity, consist of short-
term bank debt.

Thanks to its liquidity and significant generation of cash flow from operations, the Group has sufficient resources
to meet its financial commitments at maturity.

In addition, there are unused credit lines that could cover any liquidity requirements.

Market and price risk

Market risk consists of the possibility that changes in exchange rates, interest rates or the prices of raw materials
or commodities (alcohol, aromatic herbs, sugar, cereals and agave) could negatively affect the value of assets,
liabilities or expected cash flows.

The price of raw materials depends on a wide variety of factors, which are difficult to forecast and are largely
beyond the Group’s control. We cannot rule out the possibility that the emergence of any tensions in this area
could lead to difficulties in obtaining supplies, causing costs to rise, which would have negative consequences on
the Group’s financial results.

The Group is implementing measures aimed at limiting the risk of raw material price fluctuations including through
joint agricultural production agreements with local producers, the benefits from which can be derived over the
medium term since they are related to natural growing processes.

Interest rate risk

The table below shows a breakdown of the Group’s main financial liabilities, together with effective interest rates
and maturities.

As regards the effective interest rate of hedged liabilities, the rate reported includes the effect of the hedging itself.
Furthermore, the values of hedged liabilities are shown here net of the value of the related derivative, whether
this is an asset or liability.

: . 31 December 31 December
Nominal Effective Maturity 2019 2018
interest rate interest rate € million € million € million
Non-current payables and loans due to banks Variable Euribor 3 months 1.617%% 2024 280.2 304.5
+1.250%)
Parent Company bond issues

- issued in 2012 (Eurobond) fixed rate 4.75% 4.774% 2019 = 218.6
- issued in 2015 (Eurobond) fixed rate 2.75% 3.068% 2020 580.0 578.7
- issued in 2017 fixed rate 1.768% 1.768% 2022 50.0 50.0
- issued in 2017 fixed rate 2.165% 2.165% 2024 150.0 150.0

- issued in 2019 fixed ratel,655% 2.245% 2024 149.4
Leases Interest borrowing rate  Interest borrowing rate 2020-2057" 97.5 15

®) the figure shown relates to the applied rate and maturity of the loans payables to banks by Davide Campari Milano S.p.A., which is responsible for nearly all
market funding.
™ the period shown refers to all the Group's leases falling under the scope of IFRS16 - ‘Leases’.

The Group is exposed to the risk of fluctuating interest rates in respect of its financial assets, payables to banks
and lease agreements.

The Parent Company’s 2015, 2017 and 2019 bond issues pay interest at a fixed rate.

Overall, at 31 December 2019, 73.9% of the Group’s total financial debt was fixed-rate debt.
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Sensitivity analysis

The table below shows the effects on the Group’s income statement of a possible change in interest rates, if all
other variables remain constant.

A negative value in the table indicates a potential net reduction in profit and equity, while a positive value indicates
a potential net increase in these items.

The assumptions used with regard to a potential change in rates are based on an analysis of the trend at the
reporting date.

The table illustrates the full-year effects on the income statement in the event of a change in rates, calculated for
the Group’s variable-rate financial assets and liabilities.

As regards the fixed-rate financial liabilities hedged by interest rate swaps, the change in the hedging instrument
offsets the change in the underlying liability, with practically no effect on the income statement.

Net of tax, the effects are as follows:

Income statement

Increase/decrease Increase in interest rate Decrease in interest rate

31 December 2019 in interest rate € million € million
Euro +/- 5 basis point (0.5) 0.5
Dollar +30/-10 basis point 0.7 (0.3)
Other currencies 0.8 (1.1)
Total effect 1.0 (0.9)
31 December 2018

Euro +/- 5 basis point (0.6) 0.6
Dollar +30/-10 basis point 0.5 0.2)
Other currencies 1.1 (1.5)
Total effect 1.0 (1.1)

Exchange rate risk

The Group develops its business activities on an international scale, and sales achieved in non-EUR markets are
progressively increasing. However, the establishment of Group entities in countries such as the United States,
Brazil, Australia, Argentina, Russia and Switzerland allows the exchange rate risk to be partly hedged, given that
both costs and income are denominated in the same currency.

Therefore, exposure to foreign exchange transactions generated by sales and purchases in currencies other than
the Group’s functional currencies represented an insignificant proportion of consolidated sales in 2019. For these
transactions, Group policy is to mitigate the risk by using forward sales or purchases.

Sensitivity analysis

Analysis was performed on the income statement effects of a possible change in the exchange rates against the
Euro, keeping all the other variables constant.

This analysis does not include the effect on the consolidated financial statements of translating the financial
statements of subsidiaries denominated in a foreign currency following a possible change in exchange rates.
The assumptions adopted regarding a potential change in rates are based on an analysis of forecasts provided
by financial information agencies at the reporting date.

The types of transaction included in this analysis are sales and purchases in a currency other than the Group’s
functional currency.

The effects on shareholders’ equity are determined by changes in the fair value of forward contracts on future
transactions, which are used as cash flow hedges.

Net equity
Increase/decrease Increase in exchange rate Decrease in exchange rate

31 December 2019 in exchange rate € million € million
Dollar +110/-64 basis point 0.4 (0.4)
Other currencies 0.2 (0.9)
Total effect 0.6 (1.2)
31 December 2018

Dollar +110/-64 basis point 0.8 (0.4)
Other currencies 1.0 (0.1)
Total effect 1.8 (0.5)
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46. Commitments and risks
The main commitments and risks of Campari Group on the reporting date are shown below.

- Existing contractual commitments for the purchase of goods or services

These commitments totalled €292.7 million (€258.5 million at 31 December 2018), of which an amount of €175.3
million falls due by 31 December 2020.

Specifically, the change relative to 2018 was mainly due to commitments arising in 2019 related to initiatives to
outsource accounting and administrative activities totalling €46.5 million and commitments related to initiatives to
outsource selected Group information technology services totalling €29.0 million at 31 December 2019.
Furthermore, commitments related to the purchase of raw materials, semi-finished goods and merchandise
totalling €101.4 million (€134.8 million at 31 December 2018), the purchase of packaging and pallets, amounting
to €51.6 million (€61.8 million at 31 December 2018) and the purchase of advertising and promotional services
and sponsorships totalling €23.0 million (€33.5 million at 31 December 2018).

- Existing contractual commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
These commitments totalling €6.8 million (€6.5 million at 31 December 2018) mature by 31 December 2020 and
mainly relate to the purchase of property, plant and equipment.

- Other guarantees

The Group has issued other forms of security in favour of third parties, totalling €203.3 million at 31 December
2019 (€189.8 million at 31 December 2018). These mainly include customs guarantees for excise duties totalling
€124.8 million (€87.8 million at 31 December 2018) and guarantees for the granting of credit lines totalling €80.4
million (€90.0 million at 31 December 2018).

47. Related parties

At 31 December 2019 Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. was controlled by Lagfin S.C.A. Société en Commandite
par Actions.

Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. and its Italian subsidiaries have adopted the national tax consolidation scheme for
2019 to 2021. At 31 December 2019, the income tax receivables and payables of the individual Italian companies
were recorded from or to, respectively, Lagfin S.C.A. Société en Commandite par Actions.

Furthermore, Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par Actions, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. and some of its
Italian subsidiaries, have joined the Group-wide VAT scheme. At 31 December 2019, the Parent Company and
its Italian subsidiaries owed Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par Actions €2.5 million for VAT.

All tax receivables and payables are non-interest-bearing.

Dealings with related parties form part of ordinary operations and are carried out under market conditions (i.e.
conditions that would apply between two independent parties) or using criteria that allow for the recovery of costs
incurred and a return on invested capital.

All transactions with related parties were carried out in the Group’s interest.

The tables below indicate the amounts for the various categories of transactions entered into with related parties.

Receivables for tax Payables for tax Receivables Other non-current

consolidation consolidation (payables) for tax receivables

Group VAT

31 December 2019 € million € million € million € million
Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par Actions 0.6 (5.1) 1.7) 2.2
Total 0.6 (5.1) 1.7 2.2
% on the related financial statements item 3.4% 6.8% 1.8% 9.8%
Receivables for tax Payables for tax Payables for Other non-current

consolidation consolidation Group VAT tax receivables

31 December 2018 € million € million € million € million
Alicros S.p.A.0) 3.1 (1.0 (0.5) 2.2
Total 3.1 (1.0) (0.5) 2.2
% on the related financial statements item 13.8% 7.3% 1.5% 9.4%

O Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par Actions as of 12 February 2019

Other income and expenses

31 December 2019 € million
Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par Actions 0.1
Total 0.1
% on the related financial statements item 0.0%

Other income and expenses

31 December 2018 € million
Alicros S.p.A.®) 0.1
Total 0.1
% on the related financial statements item 0.0%

O Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par Actions as of 12 February 2019
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Remuneration paid to the Parent Company’s board of directors was as follows

2019 2018

€ million € million

Short-term benefits 6.6 6.0
Stock option 1.2 1.5
Total 7.9 7.5

At the date of this report, a payable to directors of €1.8 million was recorded in the accounts.

48. Employees
The tables below indicate the average number of employees at the Group, broken down by business segment,
category and region.

Business segment 2019 2018
Production 1,373 1,423
Sales and distribution 1,499 1,388
General 829 814
Total 3,701 3,625
Category 2019 2018
Managers 236 199
White collar 2,452 2,382
Blue collar 1,013 1,045
Total 3,701 3,625
Region 2019 2018
Italy 839 698
Abroad 2,861 2,927
Total 3,701 3,625

49. Events taking place after the end of the period
Acquisitions and commercial agreements

Joint venture in Japan

On 14 February 2020 the Group entered into agreement to create a joint venture in Japan, CT Spirits Japan Ltd.,
with a local partner, expert in the food&beverage industry. The aim of the joint venture is to promote and develop
the Group’s portfolio in this market. The Group maintains the right to purchase the remaining 60% of the share
capital of the joint venture, starting from 2023.

Other significant events

Proposal to transfer the registered office of Davide Campari Milano S.p.A. to the Netherlands and

enhancement of current increased voting mechanism

On February 18, 2020 the Board of Directors of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. (the Company) resolved to submit

to the shareholders the proposal to transfer the Company’s registered office to the Netherlands, with simultaneous

transformation of the Company into a Naamloze Vennootschap (N.V.) governed by Dutch law with the company
name ‘Davide Campari-Milano N.V.’ (the Transaction).

The transaction is aimed at encouraging a capital structure more supportive of the Group’s long-term external

growth strategies and rewarding a shareholder base with a long-term investment horizon, in line with the Group’s

strategic guidance.

Key elements of the transaction are as follows.

e The Transaction entails the transfer of the registered office to the Netherlands and the adoption of the company
form known as Naamloze Vennootschap (N.V.) under Dutch law, substantially equivalent to the company form
known as Societa per Azioni.

e In order to support the Group’s growth strategy through consolidation transactions in the global spirits sector,
the Transaction envisages enhancing the increased voting rights mechanism currently in force through the
adoption of a mechanism based on the assignment of special voting shares.

- Assignment of 2, 5 and 10 voting rights for each Ordinary Share which is held for 2, 5 or 10 years. The
status quo ante for shareholders already holding the increased voting benefit will be maintained through
the assignment of Special Voting Shares.

- Such additional voting rights are subject to the uninterrupted holding of Ordinary Shares. In case of
transfer of the Ordinary Shares to which the Special Voting Shares are connected, the benefit of the
increased voting shares will be lost.

e Shareholders who do not participate in the adoption of the resolution on the Transaction will be entitled to
exercise their withdrawal right.

e The Transaction is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, as the case may be) of a limited number of conditions
precedent, including the amount of cash to be paid to shareholders exercising their withdrawal right not
exceeding in aggregate the amount of Euro 150 million (calculated after taking into account the amounts

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 114



CAMPARI GROUP-ANNUAL REPORT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

payable by the shareholders exercising their option and pre-emption rights pursuant to applicable laws and by
other third parties).

e Campari’s controlling shareholder Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par Actions (Lagfin), which today
owns 51% of Campari’s issued capital and 65.3% of the voting rights, has confirmed its long-term commitment
to the Group strategy and prospects and its support to the Transaction; commitment of Lagfin to acquire
Campari shares resulting from the exercise of the right of withdrawal (recesso) in the context of the offer and
sale process provided for under Italian law up to an aggregate amount of Euro 76.5 million.

e The Company’s Ordinary Shares will continue to be listed on the Italian Stock Exchange of Borsa ltaliana,
while the Special Voting Shares will not be tradable on the Italian Stock Exchange.

¢ No reorganization of the Group’s operational and managerial activities, which will continue to be led by the
Company on a continuous and uninterrupted basis. The Company will maintain its own legal status, without
any impact on its legal relationships, including relationships with its employees, which will continue to be
governed by Italian law.

e The tax residence will be maintained in Italy.

¢ No impact on the financial reporting. The financial statements will continue to be prepared in accordance with
IAS/IFRS.

It is envisaged that the Transaction will be consummated within the end of July 2020, subject to the satisfaction

(or the waiver, as the case may be) of the conditions precedent and the completion of all preliminary formalities

of the Transaction.

Further information on the Transaction will be made available by the Company through additional press releases

in accordance with the applicable provisions of law. All additional documents required by the applicable laws and

regulations in relation to the Transaction (including the Explanatory Report prepared by the Board of Directors,
the New Articles of Association and the Terms and Conditions for Special Voting Shares) will be made available
to the public within the terms provided by law.

Share buyback

On February 18, 2020 the Board of Directors approved the report to be presented to the Shareholders’ meeting
to authorize the purchase and/or the sale of own shares, mainly aimed at the replenishment of the portfolio of own
shares to serve the current and future stock option plans for the Group’s management, according to the limits and
procedures provided by the applicable laws and regulations. The authorization is requested until June 30th, 2021.
With regard to the execution of the buyback, compared to previous years, the Board of Directors has approved to
continue the buyback program in place but for an increased amount up to €350 million in the next twelve months.
The increase of the buyback serves the purpose of implementing the Company’s new policy of having a portfolio
of treasury shares sufficient to serve all outstanding stock options plans as opposed to the ones approaching the
vesting period only, in order to hedge the risk of the price increase of the shares underlying the options and, as a
result, contain the overall outlay to service the incentive plans. Additional details on the program will be
communicated before the commencement of the purchases through a press release in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations.

Sesto San Giovanni (Ml), 18 February 2020
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Luca Garavoglia
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Financial statements

Income statement

Notes 2019 2018
€ €
Net sales 7 671,190,174 630,464,369
Cost of goods sold 8 (246,961,327) (250,772,261)
Gross profit 424,228,847 379,692,108
Advertising and promotional costs 9 (67,800,682) (62,481,330)
Contribution margin 356,428,165 317,210,779
Overheads 10 (135,308,754) (62,088,500)
Operating result 221,119,411 255,122,279
Financial income (expenses) 14 (97,195,950) (44,883,137)
Dividends 14 13,457,257 16,168,567
Profit before tax 137,380,718 226,407,709
Income tax expense 16 (27,188,428) (26,817,791)
Profit for the period 110,192,290 199,589,919
Statement of comprehensive income
2019 2018
€ €
Profit for the period (A) 110,192,290 199,589,919
B1) Items that may be subsequently reclassified to income statement
Cash flow hedge:
Profit (loss) classified to income statement 3,587,853 (1,508,746)
Profit (loss) for the period to net equity (11,076,315) (9,880,603)
Net gains (loss) from cash flow hedge (7,488,462) (11,389,349)
Tax effect 16 1,797,382 2,733,444
Total cash flow hedge (5,691,080) (8,655,906)
‘Sl'gselgteenr?(thf)at may be subsequently reclassified to income (5.691,080) (8,655,906)
B2) Items that may not be subsequently reclassified to income
statement
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations:
Profit (loss) for the period 33 (490,994) 48,844
Tax effect 16 117,839 (11,723)
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations (373,156) 37,122
Total: items that may not be subsequently reclassified to income (373,156) 37.122
statement (B2)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) (B=B1+B2) (6,064,235) (8,618,784)
Total comprehensive income (A+B) 104,128,055 190,971,135
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Statement of financial position

Notes 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
€ €

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Net tangible fixed assets 16 94,260,193 95,586,733
Right of use assets 29 4,785,009 -
Investment properties 17 1,296,894 1,300,095
Goodwill and trademarks 18 594,683,378 594,838,680
Intangible assets with a finite life 20 27,994,954 26,055,033
Investments in subsidiaries 21 1,981,417,873 2,028,156,220
Other non-current assets 22 11,031,702 16,454,560
Total non-current assets 2,715,470,002 2,762,391,321
Current assets
Inventories 23 79,297,533 76,331,019
Trade receivables 24 106,284,701 104,293,096
Short-term financial receivables 26 146,328,115 152,297,163
Cash and cash equivalents 27 256,971,273 235,453,491
Income tax receivables 25 - 3,072,261
Other receivables 24 11,355,537 13,686,640
Total current assets 600,237,159 585,133,670
Assets held for sale 28 1,022,246 1,022,246
Total assets 3,316,729,407 3,348,547,237
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Shareholders' equity
Share capital 30 58,080,000 58,080,000
Reserves 30 1,302,686,288 1,297,167,329
Total shareholders' equity 1,360,766,288 1,355,247,329
Non-current liabilities
Bonds 31 349,372,764 778,740,002
Other non-current liabilities 31 361,768,890 428,530,487
Post-employment benefit obligations 33 5,039,403 4,699,748
Provisions for risks and charges 34 3,818,293 3,854,143
Deferred tax liabilities 15 42,439,857 41,196,554
Total non-current liabilities 762,439,206 1,257,020,933
Current liabilities
Payables to banks 32 44,508 -
Bonds 32 579,982,087 218,606,072
Other financial liabilities 32 482,916,263 403,735,437
Trade payables 35 93,181,254 80,454,295
Income tax payables 36 5,100,207 -
Other current liabilities 35 32,299,593 33,483,171
Total current liabilities 1,193,523,912 736,278,975
Total liabilities 1,955,963,119 1,993,299,909
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 3,316,729,407 3,348,547,237
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Notes 2019 2018

€ €

Operating result 221,119,411 255,122,279
Depreciation and amortisation 11 17,312,973 15,187,408
Gains on sales of fixed assets 10 4,182 (55,486,807)
Write-down of tangible fixed assets, goodwill, trademark and business 16 6,202 -
Utilizations of provisions (21,433) 2,289,869
Change in long-term payables to employees (2,749,201) 635,104
Changes in net operating working capital 7,768,841 165,678
Other non-cash items 10,013,446 (9,206,251)
Income taxes paid (16,453,742) (10,610,650)
Net write-down in subsidiaries 21 4,079,835 -
Cash flow generated from (used in) operating activities 241,080,513 198,096,631
Purchase of tangible and intangible fixed assets 16-20 (16,219,312) (22,429,265)
Disposal of assets 96,956 5,752,716
Change in investments in subsidiaries 42,658,512 77,156,724
Net changes in securities 27,414,508 -
Put option and earn-out payment (67,566,517) (36,050,400)
Interest income collected 264,440 -
Dividends received 14 13,457,257 16,168,567
Cash flow generated from (used in) investing activities 105,845 40,598,342
Eurobond issue (repayment) 149,280,099 -
Revolving facility loan issue = 28,000,000

248,705,238

Other medium-long term financing
Revolving facility loan repayments
Bond repayment

(219,057,000)

(28,000,000)

Payment of lease liabilities (1,521,019) -
Payment of other medium-long liabilities (300,000,000) -
Net change in short-term financial payables and bank loans 149,508 (1,989,745)
Interests paid (36,735,624) (37,752,995)
Interest on leases 29 (108,112) -
Change in other financial payables and receivables 39,609,719 (68,080,020)
Purchase and sale of own shares 30 (47,295,712) (55,516,440)
Dividend paid by the Parent Company 30 (57,292,713) (57,510,284)
Cash flow generated from (used in) financing activities (224,265,616) (220,849,484)
Other differences 4,597,040 -
Cash and cash equivalents from mergers - 70,070
Net change in cash and cash equivalents: increase (decrease) 21,517,783 17,915,560
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 27 235,453,491 217,537,932

27 256,971,273 235,453,491

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
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Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Notes Share capital O;thnz?:ige; rels_zglég Other reserves Eg:ﬁiigzg Total

value
€ € € € € €
31 December 2018 58,080,000 (749,098) 11,616,000 272,614,410 1,013,686,017 1,355,247,329
Dividend payout to Parent Company shareholders 30 - - - - (57,292,713) (57,292,713)
Own shares acquired 30 - (451,818) - - (75,746,047) (76,197,865)
Own shares sold 30 - 515,706 - - 27,473,979 27,989,685
Stock options - - - 3,706,962 - 3,706,962
Stock options - subsidiaries - - - 3,184,835 - 3,184,835
Stock options utilization - - - (7,929,236) 7,929,236 -
Profit for the period - - - - 110,192,290 110,192,290
Other comprehensive income (expense) - - - (6,064,235) - (6,064,235)
Total comprehensive income - - - (6,064,235) 110,192,290 104,128,055
31 December 2019 58,080,000 (685,210) 11,616,000 265,512,735 1,026,242,763 1,360,766,288

. Own shgres Legal Retained

Share capital at nominal reserve Other reserves earnings Total

value
€ € € € € €
31 December 2017 58,080,000 (452,656) 11,616,000 280,850,372 923,860,792 1,273,954,509
Dividend payout to Parent Company shareholders - - - - (57,510,284) (57,510,284)
Own shares acquired - (500,374) - - (67,081,897) (67,532,271)
Own shares sold - 203,932 - - 11,811,899 12,015,832
Stock options - - B 3,475,232 - 3,475,232
Stock options - subsidiaries - - - 3,403,454 - 3,403,454
Stock options utilization - - - (3,263,508) 3,263,508 -
Measurement of financial assets (net of tax effect) - - - - (297,920) (297,920)
Other changes (changes from merger) - - - (3,232,357) - (3,232,357)
Profit for the period - - - - 199,589,919 199,589,919
Other comprehensive income (expense) - - - (8,618,784) - (8,618,784)
Total comprehensive income - - - (8,618,784) 199,589,919 190,971,135
31 December 2018 58,080,000 (749,098) 11,616,000 272,614,410 1,013,686,017 1,355,247,329
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Notes to the financial statements

1. General information

Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. is a company listed on the Italian Stock Exchange, with its registered office at Via
Franco Sacchetti 20, 20099 Sesto San Giovanni, Milan, Italy.

The Company is recorded in the Milan, Monza, Brianza and Lodi Companies Register under the n. 06672120158
and in the Business Administration Register (REA) under the n. 1112227.

At 31 December 2019, to 64.89% of the total voting rights (equating 51% of the share capital) of Davide Campari-
Milano S.p.A. was held by Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par Actions, headquartered in Luxembourg.

Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. is the Parent Company of Campari Group. It trades directly on the Italian market
and, through its subsidiaries, on the international alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages markets.

The Group operates in around 190 countries with prime positions in Europe and the Americas. It has 21 production
plants around the world, its own distribution network in 20 countries, and employs around 3,701 people.

For ease of reference, all the figures in this separate financial statement are expressed in thousands of Euro,
whereas the original data is recorded and consolidated by the Group in Euro. Similarly, all percentages relating
to changes between two periods or to percentages of net sales or other indicators are always calculated using
the original data in Euro. The use of values expressed in thousands of Euro may therefore result in apparent
discrepancies in both absolute values and data expressed as a percentage. However, all values in the financial
statements are expressed in Euro.

As the Parent Company, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. has also drawn up the consolidated financial statements
of Campari Group at 31 December 2019.

The draft financial statements of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. for the year ending 31 December 2019 were
approved on 18 February 2020 by the Board of Directors, which has authorised their publication.

The Board of Directors reserves the right to amend the results, up to the date of the General Meeting of
Shareholders, should any significant events occur that require changes to be made.

2. Preparation criteria

The annual financial statements of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. (represented by the ‘separate financial
statements’), for the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018, were prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(‘IASB’) and ratified by the European Union, including all the revised international accounting standards
(International Accounting Standards-‘IAS’) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (‘IFRIC’) previously named, the Standing Interpretations Committee (‘SIC’).

No exceptions to the application of the international accounting standards were made in the preparation of these
separate financial statements.

The financial statements were prepared based on the going concern principle, the cost basis, taking any value
adjustments into account, where appropriate, except for statement of financial position items, such as financial
instruments, that, in accordance with the IFRS, must be recognised at fair value and except in cases where the
IFRS allow a different valuation criterion to be used.

The carrying amount of assets and liabilities subject to fair value hedging transactions, which would otherwise be
recorded at cost, has been adjusted to take account of the changes in fair value attributable to the risk being
hedged.

Form and content

In line with the financial statements structure chosen by the Group, that is also adopted for the annual financial
statements of the Company itself, the income statement has been classified by function, and the statement of
financial position is based on a division between current and non-current assets and liabilities.

We consider that this format will provide a more meaningful representation of the items that have contributed to
the results, balance sheet and financial position.

Transactions or events that may generate income and expenses that are not relevant for assessing performance,
such as gains/losses on the sale of fixed assets, restructuring and reorganisation costs, financial expenses and
any other non-recurring income/expenses, are described in the notes.
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This presentation complies with the requirements of the Italian Companies and Exchange Commission (Consob)
in Communication DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, as subsequently amended and supplemented (Consob
Communication 0092543 of 3 December 2015, which incorporates the guidelines ESMA/2015/1415).

In 2019, the Company did not carry out any atypical and/or unusual transactions, defined in the Consob
Communication as transactions which, due to their materiality or size, type of counterparties to the transaction, or
method for determining the price and timing of the event (proximity to year end), could give rise to concerns over
the accuracy or completeness of the information in the financial statements, conflicts of interest, or the
safeguarding of company assets.

The cash flow statement was prepared using the indirect method.

3. Summary of accounting principles

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include all assets without any physical form that are identifiable, controlled by the company and
capable of producing future economic benefits, as well as goodwill when purchased for a consideration.
Intangible assets acquired are recorded under assets if it is likely that the use of the assets will generate future
economic benefits, and when the cost can be reliably determined.

If acquired separately, these assets are reported at acquisition cost including all allowable ancillary costs on the
acquisition date.

Intangible assets acquired through business combinations are reported separately from goodwill at fair value,
where this can reliably be measured, on the acquisition date.

Subsequently, intangible assets are recorded at cost net of accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Assets produced internally, excluding development costs, are not capitalised and are reported in the income
statement for the financial year in which they are incurred.

Intangible assets with a finite life are amortised on a straight-line basis in relation to their remaining useful life,
taking into account losses due to a reduction in the cumulative value.

The period of amortisation of intangible assets with a finite life is reviewed at the end of every financial year, at
the very least, in order to ascertain any changes in their useful life, which, if identified, will be treated as changes
in accounting estimates.

The costs of development projects and studies are recorded in the income statement in full in the year in which
they are incurred.

Advertising and promotional costs are recorded in the income statement when the Company has received the
goods or services in question.

Costs relating to industrial patents, concessions, licenses and other intangible fixed assets are recorded on the
assets side of the statement of financial position only if they are able to produce future economic benefits for the
Company. These costs are amortised according to the period of use, if this can be defined, or according to the
contract term.

Software licenses represent the cost of purchasing licenses and, if incurred, external consultancy fees or internal
personnel costs necessary for development. These costs are recorded in the year in which the internal or external
costs are incurred for training personnel and other related costs.

Goodwill and trademarks which result from acquisitions and qualify as intangible assets with an indefinite life are
not amortised. The possibility of recovering their carrying amount is ascertained at least once a year, and, in any
case, when events occur leading to the assumption of a reduction in value using the criteria indicated in the
section entitled ‘Impairment’.

For goodwill, a test is performed on the smallest cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates. On the basis
of this, management directly or indirectly assesses the return on investment including goodwill. Goodwill write-
downs can no longer be written back in future years. When control of a previously acquired company is
transferred, the gain or loss on the sale takes into account the corresponding residual value of the previously
recorded goodwill.

Business combinations

Business combinations are recorded by applying the acquisition method.

The cost of an acquisition is determined by the sum of the payments transferred as part of a business combination,
measured at fair value, at the acquisition date and the value of the portion of shareholders’ equity relating to non-
controlling interests, measured at fair value or as a pro-rata share of the net assets recognised for the acquired
entity. The designated methodology for each acquisition is specified when the values deriving from the allocation
process are shown.
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In the case of business combinations made in stages, the interest previously held by the Company in the acquired
business is remeasured at fair value on the date control is acquired, and any resulting gains or losses are
recognised in the income Statement.

Conditional payments are measured at fair value at the acquisition date and are included among the transferred
payments for the purposes of calculating goodwill. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the conditional
payment, i.e. where the amount and future disbursement are dependent on future events that are classified as a
financial instrument, are reported on the income statement or separately in equity under the other components of
comprehensive income. The designated methodology for each acquisition is specified when the values deriving
from the allocation process are shown. Conditional payments that do not represent financial instruments regulated
by IFRS 9-‘Financial instruments’ are valued on the basis of the specific applicable IFRS/IAS. Conditional
payments that are classified as equity instruments are not revalued; they are therefore recorded under equity
when settled.

Ancillary costs relating to the transaction are recognised in the income statement at the time they are incurred.
Any changes in fair value occurring once more information becomes available during the measurement period
(12 months from the date of acquisition) are included retrospectively in goodwiill.

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is initially measured at cost, representing the amount exceeding the
sum of the payments transferred as part of a business combination, the value of the portion of shareholders’
equity relating to non-controlling interests and the fair value of any interest previously held in the acquired business
over the Company’s portion of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquired company.

If the value of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date exceeds the sum of the
transferred payments, the value of the non-controlling interests’ portion of shareholders’ equity and the fair value
of any interest previously held in the acquired business, this excess value is recorded in the income statement as
income from the transaction.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less cumulative impairment.

To establish whether impairment has occurred, the goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated from
the acquisition date to the individual cash-generating units or to the groups of cash-generating units likely to
benefit from merger synergies, regardless of whether other assets or liabilities from the acquisition are assigned
to these units or groups of units.

When the goodwill is part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and some of the internal
assets of the unit are sold, the goodwill associated with the assets sold is included in the carrying amount of the
assets in order to establish the gain or loss generated by the sale.

Goodwill sold in this way is measured according to the value of the assets sold and the value of the remaining
portion of the unit.

Tangible fixed assets

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at acquisition or production cost, gross of any capital grants received
and directly charged expenses, and are not revalued.

Subsequently, tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.

Any costs incurred after purchase are only capitalised if they increase the future financial benefits generated by
using the asset.

The replacement costs of identifiable components of complex assets are allocated to assets on the statement of
financial position and depreciated over their useful life. The residual value recorded for the component being
replaced is allocated to the income Statement; other costs are charged to profit and loss when the expense is
incurred.

Financial expenses incurred in respect of investments in assets which normally take a substantial period of time
to be prepared for use or sale are capitalised and depreciated over the useful life of the asset class to which they
belong. All other financial expenses are posted to the income statement when incurred.

Ordinary maintenance and repair expenses are expensed in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.
If there are current obligations for dismantling or removing assets and cleaning up the related sites, the carrying
amount of the assets includes the estimated costs (discounted to present value) to be incurred when the structures
are abandoned, which are reported as an offsetting entry to a specific provision.

These assets are depreciated applying the policies and rates indicated below.

Depreciation is applied using the straight-line method, based on each asset’s estimated useful life as established
in accordance with the Company’s plans for the use of those assets, taking into account wear and tear and
technological obsolescence and the likely estimated realisable value net of disposal costs.

When the tangible asset consists of several significant components with different useful lives, depreciation is
applied to each component individually.
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The amount to be depreciated is represented by the carrying amount less the estimated net market value at the
end of its useful life, if this value is significant and can be reasonably determined.

Land, even if acquired in conjunction with a building, is not depreciated, and nor are available-for-sale tangible
assets, which are reported at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less disposal costs.

The rates are as follows:

- business related properties and light construction: 3%-10%
- plant and machinery: 10%
- furniture, office and electronic equipment: 10%-20%
- vehicles: 20%-25%
- miscellaneous equipment: 20%-30%

Depreciation ceases on the date on which the asset is classified as available for sale or on which the asset is
derecognised for accounting purposes, whichever occurs first.

A tangible asset is derecognised from the statement of financial position at the time of sale or when there are no
future economic benefits associated with its use or disposal.

Any profits or losses are included in the income statement in the year of this derecognition.

Grants

The Company recognises unconditional public grants, in the income statement for the period when the grant is
received.

Grants made to compensate the Company for certain expenses incurred in the operation of business, are
recognised in the income statement when the expenses are incurred.

Capital grants are recorded when there is a reasonable certainty that all the requirements necessary for access
to such grants have been met and that the grant will be disbursed.

This generally occurs at the time the decree acknowledging the benefit is issued.

Capital grants that relate to tangible fixed assets are recorded as deferred income and credited to the income
statement over the whole period corresponding to the useful life of the asset in question.

Impairment

The Company ascertains, at least annually, whether there are indications of a potential loss in value of intangible
and tangible assets. If the Company finds that such indications exist, it estimates the recoverable value of the
relevant asset.

Moreover, intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, or not yet available for use, and goodwill undergo
impairment tests every year, or more frequently if there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

The ability to recover the assets is ascertained by comparing the carrying amount to the related recoverable value,
which is represented by the greater of the fair value less disposal costs, and the value in use.

In the absence of a binding sale agreement, the fair value is estimated on the basis of recent transaction values
in an active market, or based on the best information available to determine the amount that could be obtained
from selling the asset.

The value in use is determined by discounting expected cash flows resulting from the use of the asset, and if
significant and reasonably determinable, the cash flows resulting from its sale at the end of its useful life.

Cash flows are determined on the basis of reasonable, documentable assumptions representing the best estimate
of the future economic conditions that will occur during the remaining useful life of the asset, with greater weight
bring given to external information.

The discount rate applied takes into account the implicit risk of the business segment.

When it is not possible to determine the recoverable value of an individual asset, the Company estimates the
recoverable value of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Impairment is recorded if the recoverable value of an asset is lower than its carrying amount.

This loss is posted to the income statement unless the asset was previously written up through a shareholders’
equity reserve,

in which case, the impairment loss is first allocated to the revaluation reserve.

If, in a future period, a loss on assets, other than goodwill, does not materialise or is reduced, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the new estimate of recoverable value, and may not exceed
the value that would have been calculated if no impairment had been recorded.

The recovery of impairment is posted to the income Statement, unless the asset was previously reported at its
revalued amount, in which case, the recovery in value is first allocated to the revaluation reserve.

Investment property

Property and buildings held to generate rent income (investment property) are valued at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

The depreciation rate for buildings is that used for the relevant fixed asset category.
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Investment property is derecognised from the statement of financial position when sold or when it becomes
permanently unusable and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Otherwise they are directly
deducted from the book value of the equity investment.

Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost and adjusted for any loss in value.

The positive difference arising at the time of the acquisition between the acquisition cost and the current value of
the Company’s stake is included in the carrying amount of the investment; any impairment of this positive
difference is not reinstated in subsequent periods, even if the reasons for the impairment no longer apply.

If the Company’s portion of the subsidiary’s losses exceeds the carrying amount of the investment, the carrying
amount is derecognised and the portion of any further losses is posted to liabilities as a specific reserve reflecting
the extent to which the Parent Company is required to fulfil legal or implicit obligations with respect to the
subsidiary or, at least, to cover its losses.

Investments in subsidiaries are subject to impairment tests on an annual basis, or more frequently if necessary.
If the tests show evidence of impairment, the loss in value must be recorded as an impairment in the income
statement.

Dividends received are recognised in the income statement when the right to receive payment is established, in
cash or in kind, only if they arise from the distribution of profits subsequent to the acquisition of the investee
company.

Leases

The Company has various agreements in place for the use of offices, vehicles, machinery and other minor assets
belonging to third-parties. Lease agreements are generally entered into for a term of 3-10 years but may contain
options to extend them. The terms of the lease are negotiated individually and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The agreements do not include covenants, but the leased assets may be used to guarantee
the liability arising from contractual commitments.

With effect from 1 January 2019, following the initial recognition of accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’, the
Company recognises a right of use for all lease agreements except short-term agreements (i.e. of less than or
equal to 12 months and which do not contain a purchase option) and those for low-value assets (i.e. with a unit
value of less than €5,000) on the start date of the lease, which corresponds to the date from which the underlying
asset is available for use. Lease payments relating to short-term and low-unit value agreements are shown as
costs on the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Rights of use are valued at cost, net of accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, and adjusted after each
remeasurement of the lease liabilities. The value assigned to the rights of use corresponds to the amount of the
lease liabilities recognised plus initial direct costs incurred, lease payments settled on the start date of the
agreement or previously, and restoration costs, net of any lease incentives received. Restoration costs, which
may be recognised in rare cases, normally relate to offices, for which there could be a contractual requirement to
restore them to their original state at the end of the lease agreement. The Company estimates the fair value of
the restoration obligation based on the agreement with the lessor or by using expert valuations from third-parties.
The value of the liability, discounted to present value, as determined above, increases the right of use of the
underlying asset, and a dedicated provision is created as a contra-entry. Unless the Company is reasonably
certain that it will obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the rights of use are amortised
on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life or the term of the agreement, if less.

The financial liability for leases is recognised on the start date of the agreement at a total value equal to the
present value of the lease payments to be made during the term of the agreement, discounted to present value
using incremental borrowing rates (IBR) when the implicit interest rate in the lease agreement cannot easily be
determined. The variable lease payments continue to be charged to the income statement as costs for the period.
After the start date, the amount recorded for the liabilities relating to lease contracts increases to reflect the accrual
of interest and reduces to reflect the payments made. Each lease payment is divided into a repayment of the
capital portion of the liability and a financial cost. The financial cost is charged to the income statement over the
term of the agreement to reflect a constant interest rate on the remaining debt portion of the liability for each
period.

The accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’ requires the management to make estimates and assumptions that
might influence the valuation of the right of use and the financial liability for leases, including the determination of:
- agreements for the application of the new rules for measuring assets/liabilities using the financial method;

- terms of the agreement;

- interest rate used for discounting future lease payments to current value.
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The agreements are either included or excluded from the application of the standard based on detailed analysis
carried out for each agreement and in line with the rules laid down by IFRS standards.

The term of the lease is calculated taking account of the non-cancellable period of the lease together with the
periods covered by any option to extend the agreement if it is reasonably certain that it will be exercised, or any
period covered by an option to terminate the lease contract, if it is reasonably certain it will not be exercised. The
Company assesses whether it is reasonably certain that it will exercise the options to extend or terminate the
agreements taking account of all the relevant factors that create a financial incentive pertaining to such decisions.

Lease incentives received at the latest by the start date of the agreement are deducted directly from the value of
the right of use; the corresponding value reflects the money already received net of the credit amount to be
collected. Lease incentives agreed during the term of the agreement are considered to be amendments to the
original agreement, measured at the date of the amendment, with a resulting impact of the same value on both
the right of use and the liability relating to leases.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments held by the Company are categorised as follows.

i). Financial assets
Financial assets include investments, short-term securities and financial receivables, which in turn include the
positive fair value of financial derivatives, trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
Specifically, cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and highly liquid securities that are readily
convertible into cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of a change in value. Deposits and securities included
in this category mature in less than three months from the closing date of the period.
Current securities include short-term securities or marketable securities that represent a temporary investment of
cash and do not meet the requirements for classification as cash and cash equivalents.
Financial assets represented by debt securities are classified and measured in the statement of financial position
based on the business model that the Company has adopted to manage these financial assets, and based on the
cash flows associated with each financial asset.
Financial assets also include investments in companies that are not held for trading. These assets are strategic
investments, and the Company has decided to recognise changes in the related fair values through profit and loss
(FVTPL). Changes in value that clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment are not recorded
in the income statement, but are deducted directly from the asset.

Financial assets are classified and measured on the basis of a business model developed by Campari Group.
The business model has been defined at a level that reflects the way in which groups of financial assets are
managed to achieve a particular business objective. The model's measurement process requires an assessment
based, in part, on quantitative and qualitative factors relating to, for example, the way in which the performance
of the financial assets in question is communicated to management with strategic responsibility and the way in
which the risks connected with these financial assets are managed.

The Company measures a financial asset at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and,

- its contractual conditions are such that the cash flows generated by the asset are attributable exclusively to
payments of principal and related interest.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are measured at fair value at the time of initial recognition;
subsequent measurements reflect the repayments made, the effects of applying the effective interest method and
any write-downs. Any gain or loss made on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss, together with foreign
exchange gains and losses.

A financial asset represented by debt securities is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) if it meets both of the following conditions:

- itis held within a business model whose objective is to collect both the contractual cash flows and the cash flows
arising from the sale of the asset; and,

- its contractual conditions are such that the cash flows generated by the asset are attributable exclusively to
payments of principal and related interest. After initial recognition, these assets are subsequently measured at
fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign-exchange gains and losses and
impairment losses are recorded on the income statement. Net gains and losses deriving from other changes in
fair value are recognised with a balancing entry in the statement of comprehensive income. Upon derecognition,
the accumulated gains and losses in the statement of comprehensive income are recorded to the income
statement.
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Impairment of a financial asset

Financial assets are tested for recoverability by applying an impairment model based on the expected credit loss

(ECL).

Regarding trade receivables, the Company uses the business model applied at Group level, following the

simplified method, which considers the probabilities of defaults over the financial instrument’s life (lifetime

expected credit loss). Impaired loans are analysed based on the debtor’s creditworthiness and ability to pay the
sums due, as well as the degree of effective coverage of any collateral and personal guarantees in existence.

Regarding all other trade receivables, the matrix-type approach is applied to estimate impairment.

A financial asset is considered impaired when internal or external information indicates that it is unlikely that the

Group will receive the full contractual amount.

Lastly, with regard to other financial assets measured at amortised cost, and, specifically, cash and cash

equivalents, the impact in terms of expected loss is not considered material and for this reason no adjustment is

made to the book values.

i). Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include financial payables, which, in turn, include the negative fair value of financial derivatives,

trade payables and other payables.

Financial liabilities are classified and measured at amortised cost, except for financial liabilities that are initially

measured at fair value, for example financial liabilities relating to earn-out linked to business combinations and

derivative instruments and financial liabilities for put options on non-controlling interests.

iii). Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset or liability (or, if applicable, part of a financial asset/liability or part of a group of similar financial
assets/liabilities) is derecognised from the statement of financial position if the Company has unconditionally
transferred the right to receive financial flows from the asset or the obligation to make payments or fulfil other
obligations related to the liability.

In cases where an existing financial liability is replaced by another to the same lender under substantially different

conditions, or where the conditions of an existing liability have changed substantially, the replacement or change

is treated in the financial statements as a derecognition of the original liability, and a new liability is therefore
reported, with any difference in the carrying amounts recognised in the income statement.

iv). Financial derivatives and hedging transactions

Financial derivatives embedded in contracts where the primary element is a financial asset that falls within the

scope of IFRS 9 are not separated. The hybrid instrument is instead examined as a whole for classification in the
statement of financial position and subsequent measurement.

Financial derivatives are used exclusively for hedging purposes to reduce exchange and interest-rate risk.

Financial derivatives are only accounted for applying the methods established for hedge accounting (fair value

hedge or cash flow hedge) if, at the start of the hedging period, the hedging relationship has been designated. It

is assumed that the hedge is highly effective: it must be possible for this effectiveness to be reliably measured
during the accounting periods for which it is designated. All financial derivatives are measured at fair value.
Where financial instruments meet the requirements for being reported using hedge accounting procedures, the
following accounting treatment is applied:

- fair value hedge: if a financial derivative is designated as a hedge against exposure to changes in the fair value
of an asset or liability attributable to a particular risk that could have an impact in the income statement, the
gains or losses resulting from subsequent measurements of the fair value of the hedging instrument are
reported in the income statement. The gain or loss on the hedged item, which is attributable to the hedged
risk, is reported as a portion of the carrying amount of this item and as an offsetting entry in the income
statement;

- cash flow hedge: if a financial instrument is designated as a hedge of exposure to fluctuations in the future
cash flow of an asset or liability recorded in the financial statements, or of a transaction that is considered to
be highly probable and that could have an impact on the income statement, the effective portion of the gains
or losses on the financial instrument is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Cumulative
gains or losses are reversed from shareholders’ equity and recorded in the income statement in the same
period in which the transaction being hedged has an impact on the income statement. The gain or loss
associated with a hedge or the portion of a hedge that has become ineffective is posted to the income
statement when the ineffectiveness is reported.

If a hedge instrument or hedge relationship is closed out, but the transaction being hedged has not been carried

out, the cumulative gains and losses, which, until that time had been posted to shareholders’ equity, are
recognised in the income statement at the time the related transaction is carried out.

If the transaction being hedged is no longer considered likely to take place, the pending unrealised profits or

losses in shareholders’ equity are recorded in the income statement.

If hedge accounting cannot be applied, any gains or losses resulting from measuring the financial derivative at its

present value are posted to the income statement.
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A highly probable intra-group transaction qualifies as a hedged item in a cash flow hedge of exchange-rate risk,
provided that the transaction is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the company
entering into the transaction and that the financial statements are exposed to exchange-rate risk.

In addition, if the hedge of a forecast intra-group transaction qualifies for hedge accounting, any gain or loss that
is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income must be reclassified in the income statement in
the same period in which the currency risk of the hedged transaction affects the income statement.

Own shares

Own shares are reported as a reduction to shareholders’ equity.

The original cost of own shares and the economic effects of any subsequent sales are reported as movements in
shareholders’ equity.

Inventories

Inventories of raw materials and semi-finished and finished products are valued at the lower of purchase or
production cost, determined using the weighted average method, and market value.

Work in progress is recorded at the acquisition cost of the raw materials used including the actual production
costs incurred up to the point of production reached.

Inventories of raw materials and semi-finished products that are no longer of use in the production cycle and
inventories of unsaleable finished products are fully written down.

Low-value replacement parts and maintenance equipment that cannot be used in connection with one element of
the asset are reported as inventories and recognised in the income statement when used.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets held f or sale include fixed assets (or asset disposal groups) whose carrying amount
will be recovered primarily from their sale rather than their ongoing use, and whose sale is highly probable in the
short term (within one year) and in the assets’ current condition.

Non-current assets held for sale are valued at the lower of their net carrying amount and present value, less sale
costs, and are not amortised.

Employee benefits

Post-employment benefit plans

The Company provides post-employment benefits through defined contribution and/or defined benefit plans.

i. Defined benefit plans.

The Company’s obligation and annual cost reported in the income statement are determined by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The net cumulative value of actuarial gains and losses is recorded directly in the statement of comprehensive
income and is not subsequently recognised in the income statement.

The costs associated with an increase in the present value of the obligation, as the time of payment of the benefits
draws nearer, are included under financial expenses. Service costs are posted to the income statement. The
liability recognised represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation, less the present value of plan
assets. If an amendment to the plan changes the benefits accruing from past service, the costs arising from past
service are recognised in the income statement at the time the change to the plan is made. The same treatment
is applied if there is a change to the plan that reduces the number of employees or that amends the terms and
conditions of the plan (treatment is the same regardless of whether the final result is a profit or a loss).

ii. Defined contribution plans.

Since the Company fulfils its obligations by paying contributions to a separate entity (a fund), with no further
obligations, it records its contributions to the fund in respect of employees’ service, without making any actuarial
calculation.

Where these contributions have already been paid at the reporting date, no liabilities are recorded in the financial
statements.

Compensation plans in the form of stock options

The Company pays additional benefits in the form of stock option plans to employees, directors and individuals
who regularly carry out work for the Company or one or more Group companies.

Under to IFRS 2-‘Share-Based Payment’, the total fair value of the stock options on the allocation date is to be
reported as a cost in the income statement, with an increase in the respective shareholders’ equity reserve, in the
period beginning at the time of allocation and ending on the date on which the employees, directors and individuals
who regularly carry out work for the Company become fully entitled to receive the stock options.

The total fair value of the stock options on the allocation date was reported as an increase in the value of
investments, with an increase in the respective shareholders’ equity reserve, in the period beginning at the time
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of allocation and ending on the date on which the employees, directors and individuals regularly working for one
or more Group companies become fully entitled to receive the stock options.

Changes in the present value after the grant date have no effect on the initial valuation, while in the event of
changes to the terms and conditions of the plan, additional costs are recorded for each change that determines
an increase in the present value of the recognised option.

The cost is recognised as a portion for each period in which the vesting conditions have been met, while in the
event of the cancellation of an option, the cost recorded until that date is released to income on the income
statement.

The fair value of stock options is represented by the value of the option calculated by applying the Black-Scholes
model, which takes into account the conditions for exercising the option, the current share price, expected volatility
and the risk-free rate, as well as the non-vesting conditions.

The stock options are recorded at fair value with a contra-entry in the ‘Stock option reserve’.

Provision for risks and charges and contingent assets

Accruals for the provision for risks and charges are recognised when:

- there is a current legal or implicit obligation resulting from a past event;

- it is likely that the fulfilment of the obligation will require some form of payment;

- the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.

Accruals are recorded at a value representing the best estimate of the amount the Company would reasonably
pay to discharge the obligation or transfer it to third-parties on the reporting date.

Where the financial impact of the timing is significant, and the payment dates of the obligations can be reliably
estimated, the accrual is discounted to present value. The change in the related provision over time is allocated
to the income statement under financial income (expenses).

Provisions are periodically updated to reflect changes in estimates of cost, timescales and discount rates.
Revisions to estimates of provisions are booked to the same income statement item that contains the accrual or,
if the liability relates to tangible assets (e.g. dismantling and restoration), these revisions are reported as an
offsetting entry to the related asset.

When the Company expects that all or part of the provisions will be repaid by third-parties, the payment is recorded
under assets only if it is virtually certain, and the accrual and related repayment are posted to the income
statement.

The Company does not record purely contingent assets but provides information where there are significant
amounts that are highly likely to be realised. The Company records the relevant asset only when the original
uncertainty relating to it no longer applies and it is certain that the asset will be realised.

Restructuring provisions

The Company reports restructuring provisions only if there is an implicit restructuring obligation and a detailed
formal restructuring program that has led to the reasonable expectation of the third-parties concerned that the
Company will carry out the restructuring, either because it has already started the process or because it has
already communicated the main aspects of the restructuring to the third-parties concerned.

Revenues from sales and services

Revenues are recognised when the customer gains control of the goods. Transfer of control is determined using

a five-step analytical model that is applied to all revenues from contracts with customers.

This occurs when the goods are delivered to the customer, who has full discretion over the sales channel and

price of the products themselves, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect acceptance by the

customer. Delivery takes place when the products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of

obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer and the customer has accepted the products in

accordance with the sales contract, the terms and conditions of acceptance have expired or the Company has

objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been met. The Company's revenues include sales of spirits

on the market.

Revenues are recognised at the price shown in the contract, net of any estimates of deferred discounts or

incentives granted in line with industry practice, for example:

1) volume/value discounts based on cumulative sales above a threshold at the end of a given period;

2) performance-based discounts (such as discounts, rebates, performance bonuses, logistical discounts) related
to promotional activities carried out by the customer and agreed upon in advance;

3) customer incentives, such as discount vouchers, free products, price protection, market development
allowances and price reduction allowances (to compensate low sales);

4) product placement allowances (such as contributions for placement and range).
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Historical experience is used to estimate deferred discounts/incentives based on agreements with clients, and
revenues are recognised only if it is highly probable that there will be no need for subsequent significant
adjustments.

No element of financing is deemed to be present as sales are made with only a brief delay before payment:
contracts are not normally entered into where there is more than one year between the transfer of the goods and
payment by the customer.

Discounts relating to specific payment terms that lower the Company entity’s collection risk or reduce
administrative costs and/or improve liquidity (such as payments at the time of sale) are recognised as a reduction
in revenue.

A liability reducing the related trade receivable is recognised for deferred discounts due to customers in relation
to sales made up to the end of the period. Such liabilities can then be offset against the amounts payable by the
customer.

A credit is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

The Company incurs consumption taxes; excise duties are a production tax that becomes payable when the
product is removed from the tied estate and is not directly correlated with the sales value. Excise duties are
recognised as a cost offset by the revenues deriving from the amounts collected. In line with industry practice,
sales are shown in the Company’s income statement net of excise duties.

Recognition of costs and expenses in the income statement

Costs are recognised in the income statement when they relate to goods and services consumed during the
period.

Personnel costs include stock option plans (in keeping with their largely remunerative nature) allocated to
employees, directors and individuals who regularly carry out work for the Company.

Costs incurred in developing alternative products or processes, or in conducting technological research and
development, are considered current costs and expenses in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Financial income and expenses

Financial income and expenses (including exchange-rate differences) are mainly recognised in the income
statement in the year in which they are incurred; recognition in other components of the statement of
comprehensive income is governed by the rules of IFRS 9-‘Financial Instruments’. Financial expenses that are
not capitalised are recognised in the income statement based on the effective interest method.

Taxes

Current income taxes are calculated on estimated taxable income, and the related payable is recorded under ‘Tax
payable’.

Current tax payables and receivables are recognised in the amount expected to be paid to/received from tax
authorities by applying the tax rates and regulations in force or effectively approved on the reporting date. In
preparing the above estimates, detailed assessment was also given to uncertainties regarding the tax treatment
of transactions carried out by the Company that could give rise to disputes with the tax authorities.

Current taxes relating to items posted directly to shareholders’ equity are included in shareholders’ equity. Other
non-income taxes, such as property and capital taxes, are included in operating expenses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on all temporary differences between the asset and liability values
recorded in the financial statements and the corresponding values recognised for tax purposes using the liability
method.

Deferred tax assets are recorded when their recovery is likely.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of tax rates that are expected to apply in those
periods when the temporary differences are generated or eliminated.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when these relate to income taxes levied by the same
tax authority and a legal right of set-off exists, provided that realisation of the asset and settlement of the liability
take place simultaneously.

The balance of any set-off is posted to deferred tax assets if positive and to deferred tax liabilities if negative.
The Company has also opted for the national tax consolidation procedure, governed by Article 117 et seq of the
Consolidated Law on Income Tax (TUIR). The decision to adopt this procedure is reflected in the accounting
entries.

Transactions in foreign currencies (not hedged with derivatives)
Revenues and costs related to foreign-currency transactions are reported at the exchange rate in force on the
date the transaction is carried out.
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Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are initially translated into Euro at the exchange rate in effect
on the transaction date and subsequently converted into Euro at the exchange rate in effect on the reporting date,
with the difference in value being posted to the income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities arising from the payment/collection of a foreign currency advance are initially
recognised at the exchange rate in effect on the transaction date and are not subsequently modified to take
account of the change in the exchange rate in effect on the reporting date.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements and related notes in accordance with IFRS requires the management
to make estimates and assumptions that have an impact on the value of revenues, costs, assets and liabilities in
the statement of financial position and on disclosures concerning contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting
date.

If, in the future, these estimates and assumptions, based on the best valuation currently available, differ from the
actual circumstances, they will be amended accordingly at the time the circumstances change.

In particular, estimates are used to identify provisions for risks with respect to receivables, obsolete inventory,
depreciation and amortisation, asset impairment, employee benefits, taxes, restructuring provisions and the
allocation of other provisions, as well as to determine the term and incremental interest rate for lease transactions.
The estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly, and the impact of any change is reflected in the income
statement.

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are subject to annual impairment tests to check for any
losses in value.

The calculations are based on expected cash flows from the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
attributed, as inferred from multi-year budgets and plans.

The initial valuation is revised if a significant event occurs or there is a change in the characteristics that affect
the valuation and these are under the Company’s control.

The incremental borrowing rates defined by the Company, with reference to leasing agreements evaluations, are
revised on a recurring basis and applied to all agreements with similar characteristics; these were considered to
be a single portfolio of agreements. The rates are determined using the average effective debt rate of the
Company, appropriately adjusted as required by the new accounting rules, to simulate a theoretical interest rate
consistent with the agreements being valued. The most important element considered in adjusting the rate the
different durations of the lease agreements. Explicit interest rates in lease agreements are rare.

4. Changes in accounting standards

a. IFRS 16-‘Leases’: impacts of initial recognition

IFRS 16-‘Leases’, published by the IASB on 13 January 2016, replaces IAS 17-‘Leases’, from 1 January 2019,
and introduces methods of accounting representation that more appropriately reflect the type of leases in the
financial statements. Specifically, IFRS 16 introduces a single model for accounting for leases in the financial
statements of lessees, requiring lessees to recognise an asset that represents the right to use the underlying
asset and a financial liability for the obligation to make lease payments. Furthermore, the nature of the costs of
the above-mentioned leases has changed; IFRS 16 replaced the recognition of the costs of operating leases on
a straight-line basis with depreciation of the right of use asset and the financial expenses of the lease liabilities.
For the lessor, the accounting treatment methods are similar to those specified in IAS 17, meaning the lessor
will continue to classify leases as operating or finance leases.

Prior to 1 January 2019, in compliance with the previous IAS 17-‘Leases’, the Company classified each
agreement for the use of third-party assets (as the lessee) on the start date as a financial lease or an operating
lease. The lease was classified as a financial lease if it essentially transferred to the Company all the risks and
benefits tied to ownership of the leased asset; otherwise, the agreement was classified as an operating lease.
Financial leases were shown as an investment at the start of the agreement, at a value equal to the fair value of
the leased asset, or if lower, equal to the present value of the minimum payments under the agreement. For
operating leases, the leased asset was not capitalised as an investment and the lease payments were charged
to the income statement as costs on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement.

Regarding initial recognition of the standard, the Company has decided to adopt the modified retrospective
approach. Therefore, the figures for the comparative period were not restated and some simplifications and
practical expedients were applied, as permitted by the standard.

The adoption of IFRS 16 had no effect on opening shareholders’ equity at 1 January 2019.
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The key assumptions used for the initial recognition of IFRS 16 are summarised below:

- all agreements in force on 1 January 2019 relating to the use of third-party assets were analysed in light of
the new definition of a ‘lease’ in the new standard;

- as part of the analysis performed, the Company also considered the agreements that are not structured as a
lease from a legal point of view but which could however contain a lease based on the new definition
contained in IFRS 16. The Company therefore decided not to make use of the practical expedient allowing
leases to be identified based on analysis already performed in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4-
‘Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease’;

- lease agreements with a low unit value (i.e. unit value lower than €5,000) and short-term leases (i.e. less than
12 months) were managed separately. Costs relating to these agreements, which mainly concern IT
equipment, will continue to be recognised in the income statement as separately identified operating costs;

- for lease agreements that fall under the scope of application of the new standard, right of use assets were
recorded at an amount equal to the estimated financial liability for leases, adjusted by the amount of any
advance payments or payments already recorded in the financial statements, and any incentives received by
the lessor prior to 1 January 2019;

- the simplification allowing organisations to elect not to separate the lease component (for the use of the asset)
and the non-lease component (for services or maintenance) was only used for the non-significant asset class
Other;

- lastly, it should be noted that onerous contracts were identified.

Other practical expedients were applied on the transition date.

- the term of the lease was determined by assessing all the available information where the agreement contained
options to extend or terminate the lease;

- assets and liabilities relating to the right of use were not recognised for leases with a residual term of less than
12 months.

Discount rate

The key assumptions regarding the definition of the incremental borrowing rate (IBR) on the date of the initial
recognition of the new standard were as follows:

- amethod for estimating IBR was determined, to be applied to all agreements with similar characteristics, which
were considered as a single portfolio of agreements. Thus, the Company opted to adopt the practical expedient
allowing simplified measurement of this parameter, as permitted by the new standard;

- the starting point for defining the IBR on the initial recognition date of the new standard was the average
effective borrowing rate for existing loans of the Company at 31 December 2018 with a similar maturity to the
average of the agreements being remeasured. This rate was appropriately adjusted as required by the new
accounting rules, to simulate a theoretical marginal borrowing rate consistent with the agreements being
valued. In estimating the IBR, the characteristics considered in separating the agreements in effect at 31
December 2018 included: average remaining term and amount of the financial liability.

The IBR applied to discount the lease payments to present value at 1 January 2019 are shown below.
Within 5 years Due in 5 to 10 years After 10 years

1.7% 2.6% 3.1%
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Impact on first time adoption

Right of use assets

€ thousand 1 January 2019
Buildings 105
Machinery 2,757
Vehicles 2,509
IT equipment 441
Total right of use assets 5.813

Financial assets and liabilities for leases

€ thousand 1 January 2019
Financial liabilities for leases:

Within 12 months 1,684
Over 12 months 4,129
Total financial liabilities for leases 5,813

Reconciliation of contractual agreements at 31 December 2018 for the use of third-party assets and
financial liabilities for leases at 1 January 2019

€ thousand
Operating lease commitments disclosed at 31 December 2018 6,529
Non-lease component commitments (rendering of services) (168)
Nominal value of outstanding commitments 6,361
Discounting effect (548)
Financial liabilities for leases at 1 January 2019 5,813

b. Other accounting standards, amendments and interpretations ratified or applicable from 1 January
2019

IFRIC 23 interpretation-‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’

IFRIC 23 aims to clarify how to calculate current and deferred taxes when there is uncertainty about the tax
treatments adopted by the entity drawing up the financial statements, which may not be accepted by the tax
authorities. The application of the interpretation did not have an impact on the measurement of the tax burden as
the Company already applied IAS 12 in a manner consistent with IFRIC 23.

Amendment to IAS 19-‘Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement’

In this amendment, the IASB clarifies how to calculate pension expenses if there is a change in the defined-benefit
plan. The amendment did not generate any impact on the Company’s financial position as there had not been any
amendments to its existing plans.

The IASB document ‘Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle’ introduced the following

changes:

- 1AS 23-‘Borrowing Costs’ clarifies that when an asset is ready for its intended use or sale, an entity must treat
any outstanding borrowing made specifically to obtain that asset as part of the funds that it has borrowed
generally.

These amendments do not apply to the Company.

Lastly, the amendment to IAS 12-Income Taxes’ clarifies that a company must recognise the income tax
consequences of dividends in profit or loss. The Company was already following this interpretation.

c. Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that have been ratified but are not yet
applicable/have not been adopted by the company in advance
The Company is still assessing the impact of these amendments on its financial position or operating results.

Amendment to ‘References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards’ (issued on 29 March 2018)

The IASB has published a revised version of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, with its initial
recognition scheduled for 1 January 2020. The aim of the amendment is to update the references in various
standards and interpretations that have now been superseded.

The main changes relate to:

- a new chapter on measurement;

- better definitions and guidance, with particular regard to the definition of liabilities;

- clarifications of important concepts, such as stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty;

- clarifications on definitions and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities.
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Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 ‘Definition of Material’ (issued on 31 October 2018)

The IASB published Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)' to clarify the definition of ‘material’
in order to help companies assess whether information should be included in the financial statements. Information
is deemed ‘material’ if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could influence the decisions of the primary users of
financial statements. The amendments will apply from 1 January 2020. Early adoption is, however, permitted.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 on ‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’: (issued on 26 September 2019)
The IASB has issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7. These amendments provide temporary reliefs
allowing hedge accounting to continue to be used in the period of uncertainty leading up to the interest-rate reform.
The latter concerns the replacement of the current interest-rate benchmarks with an alternative risk-free interest
rate. These amendments enter into force on 1 January 2020; early application is permitted.

d. Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations not yet ratified

Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Definition of a Business’ (issued on 22 October 2018)

The IASB has published an amendment to IFRS 3, ‘Definition of a Business’, with the objective of helping
companies to decide whether a transaction is an acquisition of a business or of a group of assets that does not
meet the definition of a business according to IFRS 3-‘Business Combinations’. The amendments will apply to
acquisitions after 1 January 2020. Early adoption is permitted.

IFRS 17-‘Insurance Contracts’ (issued on 18 May 2017) with initial recognition planned for 1 January 2021.
The standard is not currently applicable to the Company.

5. Significant events during the year

Disposals

Sale of Villa ‘Les Cédres’

On 30 October 2019, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. finalised the agreement to sell Villa Les Cédres real estate
located in Saint-Jean-Cap-Ferrat, France, at a price of €200 million. The villa had become part of Davide Campari-
Milano S.p.A. perimeter on the acquisition of Grand Marnier in 2016. It had been put available for sale immediately
after the transaction had been completed, in accordance with an agreement reached with the sellers of Société
des Produits Marnier-Lapostolle S.A., as specified in the Tender Offer of 13 May 2016. As part of the Tender
Offer, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. had agreed to pay all the shareholders of Société des Produits Marnier-
Lapostolle S.A., in addition to the offer price, a potential price supplement in the event of a positive outcome of
the agreement to sell the villa, subject to certain conditions. The price supplement, calculated in accordance with
the terms of the public offer, was €52.7 million or €619.89 for each security transferred that is eligible for the price
supplement. Davide Campari Milano S.p.A. paid, through CACEIS Corporate Trust, the price supplement to all
the beneficiaries taking up the public purchase offer. CACEIS Corporate Trust paid the supplement to some of
the beneficiaries on 4 November 2019 or, alternatively, withheld as a guarantee the uncleared sums, based on
the procedures laid down in the legislation applicable to the French regulated stock market.

Following this sale, the process to sell off non-core activities relating to the acquisition of Grand Marnier was
basically complete.

Reorganisation and restructuring activities

Outsourcing of the financial and administrative activities of countries in the Southern Europe, Middle East
and Africa region and the Northern, Central and Eastern Europe region

As part of the project to outsource the Group’s accounting and administrative functions, the activities previously
carried out for the countries in the Southern Europe, Middle East and Africa region and the Northern, Central and
Eastern Europe region by the European Shared Services Centre, managed by Campari Services S.r.l. located in
Sesto San Giovanni, were outsourced to an external provider from 1 October 2019. After a detailed evaluation,
based as well from the positive experiences in the American region in 2018, the Group concluded that this change
could result in improved efficiency of its accounting and administrative procedures, including in terms of
automation and technological innovation. A dedicated Global Business Service function was established within
the Parent Company, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A., to manage the external provider for the geographical regions
indicated above, which will include monitoring and organisation activities. Campari Services S.r.l. was therefore
placed in liquidation.
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6. Segment reporting
For greater clarity, segment information is provided in more detail in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements.
7. Net sales
2019 2018
€ thousand € thousand
Sale of goods 368,191 357,263
Sales to related parties 302,999 273,202
Total net sales 671,190 630,464

In 2019, net sales of €671,190 thousand, up +6.5% on the previous year, included sales of €368,191 thousand to
Italian customers, an increase of +3.1% compared with the previous year.

Sales to Group companies that primarily conduct their businesses on the international markets totalled €302,999
thousand, an increase of 11% on the previous year.

8. Cost of goods sold

2019 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Materials and manufacturing costs 221.818 226.743
Distribution costs 25.143 24.029
Total cost of goods sold 246.961 250.772
Raw materials and finished goods acquired from third-parties 187,047 192,376
Inventory write-downs 1,074 828
Personnel costs 18,846 18,367
Depreciation/amortisation 5,789 5,372
Utilities 2,932 3,032
External production and maintenance costs 7,874 7,301
Variable transport costs 18,802 17,794
Other costs 4,596 5,701
Total cost of goods sold 246.961 250.772

The cost of goods sold, which amounted to €246,961 thousand in 2019, a decrease of €3,811 thousand compared
with the previous year, despite the increase in sales; as a percentage of net sales, the cost of goods sold fell from
39.8% in 2018 to 36.8% in 2019, thanks to the growing focus on higher-margin brands.

The change in the item depreciation of €469 thousand is mainly attributable to the effect of applying IFRS 16-
‘Leases’, which introduced depreciation of the right of use of assets to replace recognition of operating lease
expenses on an accruals basis. For more details, see note 4-Changes in accounting standards and note 29-
Leases.

9. Advertising and promotional costs

2019 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Advertising space 23,983 25,113
Sponsorships, trade fairs and events 11,245 8,048
Media production 12,899 14,318
Promotion aimed at consumers and customers 16,508 9,762
Other advertising and promotional costs 8,770 7,983
Depreciation/amortization 168 103
Personnel costs 447 -
Trade allowance for promotional purposes (6,220) (2,847)
Total advertising and promotional costs 67,801 62,481

Advertising and promotional costs, which totalled €67,801 thousand in 2019, were up €5,320 thousand compared
with the previous year’s figure, but remained broadly unchanged as a percentage of net sales (0.2%).
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10. Overheads

2019 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Agents and other variable sales costs 6,826 5,061
Depreciation/amortisation 11,356 9,712
Personnel costs 71,598 65,561
Travel, business trip, training and meetings 1,231 1,865
Utilities 717 655
Services, maintenance and insurance 37,888 32,067
Expenses for use of third-party assets 2,178 3,545
Other operating expenses (income) (10,017) (8,392)
Overheads adjustments, of which: 13,532 (47,986)
Accruals for staff restructuring 8,305 5,751
Impairment loss on investments 4,400 -
Gains on sales of equity interests (320) (55,482)
Gains on sale of intangible assets (@) -
Losses on sale of assets 11 6
Gains on sale of buildings - (20)
Accrual for future expenses 500 -
Acquisition costs 266 781
Other costs 377 969
Total overheads 135,309 62,088

In 2019, overheads were €135,309 thousand, an increase on the previous year’s figure of €73,221 thousand. The
change is due mainly to the lack of the gain from disposals of equity interests, which amounted to €55,482
thousand in 2018 and related to the sale of the Lemonsoda business. Also in 2019, impairment of investments
totalling €4,400 thousand was recorded following the placing of Campari Services S.r.l. into liquidation. Lastly, the
item was affected by the increase in personnel and services costs relating to the strengthening of the central
structure. The increase in the item depreciation is attributable to the introduction of depreciation of rights of use
of assets in line with accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’.

11. Depreciation/amortisation
Depreciation and amortisation recorded in the income statement, by function, is shown below; it should be noted
that there were no impairment losses in the two financial years shown.

2019 2018

€ thousand € thousand

- Tangible fixed assets 5,164 5,216

- Intangible fixed assets 156 156

- Right of use assets 469 -
Depreciation and amortization included in cost of goods sold 5,789 5,372
- Tangible fixed assets 2,997 3,723

- Intangible fixed assets 7,351 5,989

- Right of use assets 1,008 -
Depreciation and amortization included in overheads 11,356 9,712
- Tangible fixed assets 79 102

- Intangible fixed assets - 1

- Right of use assets 89 -
Depreciation and amortization included in advertising and promotional costs 168 103
- Tangible fixed assets 8,240 9,041

- Intangible fixed assets 7,506 6,147

- Right of use assets 1,566 -
Total depreciation and amortization in the income statement 17,313 15,187
Total depreciation and amortization 17,313 15,187

Depreciation and amortisation totalled €17,313 thousand, up by €2,126 thousand on the same period in 2018.
The item includes a value of €1,566 thousand for depreciation of rights of use assets recorded following the
adoption of the accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’.
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12. Personnel costs
The item breaks down as shown in the table below.

2019 2018
€ thousand € thousand
Salaries and wages 59,713 55,655
Social security contributions 17,753 16,836
Cost of defined contribution plans 4,364 3,967
Cost of defined benefit plans 3 42
Other costs relating to mid/long-term benefits 5,352 3,952
Cost of share-based payments 3,707 3,475
Total personnel costs 90,892 83,928
of which:
Included in cost of goods sold 18,846 18,367
Included in overhead 71,598 65,561
Included in advertising and promotional expenses®) 447 -
Total 90,892 83,928

® Includes personnel costs relating to the management of brand houses.
The increase in the item is mainly driven by the strengthening of the Group's central structure.

13. Research and development costs and public grants

The Company’s research and development activities mainly relate to ordinary production and commercial
activities, with a particular focus on market research and packaging studies. In 2019, research and development
costs totalled €1,984 thousand and are included under advertising and promotional costs.

These costs are not capitalised, but fully expensed to the income statement in the period when they are incurred.

Operating grants received indirectly by the Group from public institutions for promotional spending on the sparkling
wines category totalled €2,069 thousand in 2019.

14. Net financial income and expenses
The table below shows the changes in the items relating to financial income and expenses between the years
under comparison.

2019 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Net interest payable on bonds (34,006) (30,214)
Interest payable to banks (3,887) (2,762)
Interest payable on leases (108) -
Net interest on defined benefit plans (73) (62)
Bank expenses (99) (401)
Exchange rate differences (659) (1,427)
Total financial expenses (38,833) (34,865)
Adjustments to financial income (expenses) (1,294) -
Adjustments to financial income (expenses) (1,294) -
Put option income (expenses) (54,740) (3,005)
Total put option income (expenses) (54,740) (3,005)
Interest paid to related parties (3,026) (7,788)
Total interest paid to related parties (3,026) (7,788)
Bank term deposit interest 264 539
Other income 433 236
Total financial income 698 775
Dividends received from related parties 13,457 16,169
Total dividends from related parties 13,457 16,169
Net financial income (expenses) (83,739) (28,715)

In 2019, net financial expenses were €83,739 thousand, an increase on the previous year’s figure of €55,024
thousand. This change is mainly due to the recognition of put options expenses of €54,740 thousand. This
expenses including €52,690 thousand attributable to the liquidation of liabilities, net of the related tax effect, arising
from the payment of the price supplement to all shareholders of Société des Produits Marnier-Lapostolle S.A., to
fulfil the agreements entered into at the time of the Tender Offer on 13 May 2016 for the sale of the real estate
property Villa Les Cédres, which took place in the latter part of 2019 (for more information, see note 5-Significant
events of the period). The remaining expenses are attributable to the revised estimates made on the basis of
existing contractual agreements, as well as to the non-cash effects of the amortised cost.

The increase in net interest payable on bond loans of €3,792 thousand is mainly due to the effect in income
statement in 2018 relating to the early termination of IRS agreements and of interest-rate fluctuation-risk hedges
on future transactions. In addition, the application of the new standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’ entailed the recording of
interest payable on leases of €108 thousand.
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Dividends of €13,457 thousand were collected in 2019 (€16,169 thousand in 2018) and interest expenses of
€3,026 thousand (€7,788 thousand in 2018) were paid to related parties. For more details, see note 42-Related
Parties.

Financial income and expenses arising from bond issues and the related hedging instruments are shown below.

2019 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Financial expenses payable to bondholders (29,822) (29,965)

Net changes in fair value and other amortized cost components (1,891) (1,757)

Cash flow hedge reserve reported in the income statement during the year (2,293) 1,509

Net interest payable on bonds (34,006) (30,214)

Other financial expenses (1,294) -
Total other financial expenses (1,294)
Total expenses for bonds (35,300)

For more detailed information about financial management and related changes, see note 40-Nature and extent
of risks arising from financial instruments.

15. Income taxes

Taxes are calculated based on the applicable regulations at the rates in force, which, in 2019, were 24.0% for
IRES (corporate income tax) and 5.57% for IRAP (regional production tax).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated each year based on the rates enacted at the time the temporary
differences are reversed; appropriate adjustments are made if the rate has changed from previous years, provided
that the related law has been substantially enacted at the date on which the financial report is prepared.

The amounts of current and deferred taxes recorded directly in the statement of comprehensive income (SCI)
relate to the effects of the remeasurement of pension funds and the measurement at fair value of cash-flow
hedging contracts.

Details of current and deferred taxes included in the Company’s income statement and statement of
comprehensive income are as follows:

2019 2018

€ thousand € thousand

- current taxes for the year and previous years (24,162) (22,135)
- accrual for fiscal risk 14 -
- deferred tax expenses of the year (3,041) (4,683)
Taxes recorded in the income statement (27,188) (26,818)
Taxes recorded in the statement of comprehensive income 1,915 2,722

In 2019, current taxes of €24,162 thousand included €263 thousand relating to previous years.

In addition, the current tax burden takes account of the benefit arising from the Patent Box regime, which defines
the methods and criteria to be used to calculate the proportion of income exempt from corporate income tax
(IRES) and regional production tax (IRAP).

The tax benefit (in respect of the IRES and IRAP taxes) recognised in 2019 was €25,419 thousand, compared
with a benefit in 2018 of €25,985 thousand (of which €22,304 thousand related to 2018 and €3,681 thousand to
2017). 2019 was the last year of the five years granted for tax relief based on the agreements signed with the tax
authorities: the cumulative total of the benefit recognised in the Company’s financial accounts for the tax years
from 2014 to 2019 was €96,198 thousand.

Deferred taxes totalled €3,041 thousand in 2019.
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Reconciliation of tax charges

The following table shows a reconciliation of the theoretical tax charge with the Company’s actual tax charge.
The theoretical rate used is that in force during the relevant year, based on the legal provisions, taking into account

the rates for both IRES and IRAP taxes, which have different tax bases.
Tax base differences are included under the permanent differences item.

2019 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Profit before tax 137,381 226,408
Applicable tax rate 29.6% 29.6%
Theoretical taxes at current tax rate 40,623 66,949
Tax incentives (27,463) (24,363)
Permanent differences 10,922 (16,373)
Taxes relating to previous financial years 249 2,308
Item with different theoretical tax rate 2,857 (3,881)
Other differences - 2,179
Actual tax liability in income statement 27,188 26,818
Actual tax rate 19.8% 11.9%

Pre-tax profit represents the basis on which tax is calculated, in accordance with current tax regulations.
In 2019, tax incentives mainly related to the benefit from the Patent Box regime, as well as, to a lesser extent, the

Allowance for Corporate Equity (ACE).

Permanent differences mainly concern the tax effect of dividends received from subsidiaries.
Lastly, taxes at rates other than the nominal rate are due to the difference in the taxable bases of IRAP and IRES

taxes.

Breakdown of deferred taxes by type

Details of deferred tax income/assets and expenses/liabilities posted to the income statement and statement of

financial position are broken down by type below.

Statement of financial position

Income statement

Statement of comprehensive

income
31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
€ thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand
Deferred expenses 562 554 8 a7 - -
Taxed funds 1,419 1,717 (298) 59 - -
Past losses - - - (187) - -
Unrealized exchange losses - 2 - 2 - 2
Other 7,775 4,779 533 111 1,820 2,678
Deferred tax assets reclassified in reduction of
deferred tax liabilities R (7,693) : . : )
Deferred tax assets 0) (641) 243 33 1,820 2,680
Accelerated depreciation 87) 91) 4 20 - -
Gains subject to deferred taxation (214) (310) 96 97 - -
Goodwill and trademarks deducted locally (33,439) (30,799) (2,640) (4,138) - -
Goodwill and trademarks non-deducted locally (14,797) (14,797) - (836) - -
Cash flow hedging (22) - - - (22) 55
Unrealized exchange profit (1,102) (473) (629) 193 - -
Other (2,535) (2,420) (115) 111 - 2,678
Deferred tax ass_9t§ reclassified in reduction of 9,756 7.693 : : ) )
deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities (42,440) (41,197) (3,284) (4,552) (22) 2,733
Total (42,440) (41,838) (3,041) (4,520) 1,797 5,413

Deferred tax assets arise from temporary differences and mainly relate to costs that are deductible on the basis
of certain tax measures, to the creation of taxed provisions (such as the provision for inventory impairment,
provisions for risks, provision for expected future losses on receivables), to directors’ remuneration and, lastly, to

unrealised exchange-rate losses.

Temporary differences that entail the reporting of deferred tax liabilities relate mainly to the amortisation of
trademarks, the deferral of gains made in previous years, accelerated depreciation and amortisation and, lastly,

unrealised exchange-rate gains.

The amounts credited and debited to this item are recognised in the income statement for the period or under
comprehensive income or expense if the temporary difference is also recorded under comprehensive income or

expense.
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16. Net tangible fixed assets

Land and buildings Plant and machinery Other Total

€ thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand

Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 117,523 123,200 21,852 262,575
Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of the period (47,093) (102,651) (17,244) (166,989)
31 December 2018 70,430 20,549 4,608 95,587
Investments 1,523 3,898 1,507 6,928
Disposals - 11) - 11)
Depreciation (3,284) (3,940) (1,014) (8,237)
Other reclassifications (19) 23 (5) -
Impairment - (6) - (6)
31 December 2019 68,651 20,514 5,096 94,260
Carrying amount at the end of the period 119,028 126,833 23,258 269,119
Accumulated depreciation at the end of the period (50,377) (106,320) (18,162) (174,858)

Land and buildings

This item includes the land occupied by the Novi Ligure facility, the buildings essential for carrying out the business
i.e. the building that accommodates the Company’s headquarters, and the Canale and Alghero production units.
This item also includes the water system, plumbing works and light buildings.

Increases during the year, totalling €1,523 thousand, relate to restructuring works at some production facilities.

Plant and machinery

The item includes plant and machinery and tanks for the production units, as well as the facilities attached to the
building that houses the Company’s headquarters.

Increases during the year, totalling €3,898 thousand, are due to investments in new plant for the production lines
at the Novi Ligure and Canale facilities.

Other

This item includes various equipment, including laboratory equipment and other assets, such as furniture, office
machines, electronic machines, minor equipment, cars and goods vehicles.

The increases, totalling €1,507 thousand, comprise investments in barrels for Braulio products (€562 thousand),
and purchases of equipment (€945 thousand).

17. Investment property

At 31 December 2019, investment property, totalling €1,297 thousand, included a land in the municipality of Finale
Emilia (ltaly), valued at €1,235 thousand, and a building in Asti (ltaly), valued at €62 thousand.

These buildings are recorded in the financial statements at their approximate fair value at the reporting date.

18. Goodwill and Trademarks
At 31 December 2019, goodwill and trademarks were recorded at €355,304 thousand and €239,379 thousand,
respectively.

Changes to goodwill and trademarks during the period were as follows:

Goodwill Trademarks

€ thousand € thousand

31 December 2018 355,304 239,535
Amortization - (155)
31 December 2019 355,304 239,379

Intangible assets with an indefinite life are represented by goodwill and trademarks from which the company
expects to obtain a positive contribution in cash flow terms for an indefinite period of time.
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The details of the trademarks are as follows:

31 December 2019

€ thousand
Trademarks with indefinite useful life
GlenGrant 98,263
Averna and Braulio 65,487
Frangelico 53,972
Riccadonna-Mondoro, of which: 12,328
Riccadonna 11,300
Mondoro 1,028
Old Smuggler 6,000
Cynar 1,626
Cinzano 772
Total trademarks with indefinite useful life 238,447
Trademarks with definite useful life
X-Rated Fusion Liqueur 932
31 December 2019 239,379

Goodwill and trademarks with an indefinite life are not amortised but are instead subject to impairment tests which
are carried out annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a possible loss. At 31
December 2019, the impairment tests carried out on both trademarks and goodwill reported in the financial
statements did not show any impairment.

Trademarks with a finite life include the value of the X-Rated Fusion Liqueur trademark. In 2015, its useful life
was reviewed and determined as a total period of ten years from 2016. Amortisation for 2019 totalled €155
thousand.

19. Impairment

With reference to the impairment testing of the intangible assets of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A., aggregate
goodwill was measured using the fair value criterion minus cost of sales.

This methodology applies parameters inferred from the valuation assigned to comparable businesses acquired,
in an active market, in terms of type of business acquired and transaction structure. These are implicit parameters
or multiples derived from the ratio between the acquisition price and specific economic and financial values
relating to those companies. The fair value method was used to determine the recoverable amount for goodwill,
using the EV/EBITDA (enterprise value/earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization) multiple,
inferred from a sample of transactions comparable to the acquisition. The use of this multiple is considered
particularly effective as it avoids distortions caused by different tax regulations and financial structures; it is less
sensitive to distortions caused by variations in extraordinary profit; and facilitates comparison at international level.
At 31 December 2019, based on the methodology set out above, the impairment test revealed that the value of
goodwill was fully recoverable.

In addition, in view of the current market volatility and uncertainty as to the future economic outlook, a sensitivity
analysis was carried out on the recoverable value of the goodwill of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A., assuming a
reduction of up to 20% of the financial value to which the multiple is applied. The sensitivity analysis referred to
above confirmed that the goodwill values are fully recoverable.

The impairment test of the value of the goodwill of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. at 31 December 2019 confirmed
the value of €355,304 thousand shown in the previous note.

In addition, the Company tests the recoverability of the value of trademarks with an indefinite life using the
methodology described in note 23-Impairment to the consolidated financial statements, to which full reference is
made.

The impairment test of the value of trademarks with an indefinite life of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. at 31
December 2019 confirmed the value of €239,379 thousand shown in the previous note.

20. Intangible assets with a finite life
Changes in this item are shown in the table below.
Software Other Total
€ thousand € thousand € thousand
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 47,786 11,229 59,015
Accumulated amortization at the beginning of the period (27,253) (5,707) (32,960)
31 December 2018 20,533 5,522 26,055
Investments 9,291 - 9,291
Amortisation (6,632) (719) (7,351)
Reclassification 2 (2) -
31 December 2019 23,194 4,801 27,995
Carrying amount at the end of the period 57,079 11,227 68,306
Accumulated amortization at the end of the period (33,885) (6,426) (40,311)
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Intangible assets with a finite life are amortised according to their remaining useful life.

Net investment in information technology, totalling €9,291 thousand, relates to the completion of some major
projects to integrate company information technology systems with the new global platform. The systems of all
Group companies will also be migrated to the new platform over the next few years. These investments were not
only for operational purposes, but also related to business intelligence and business process management.

21. Investments in subsidiaries

The following changes relating to investments in subsidiaries should be noted.

€ thousand 31 December 2018 Stock options 'SS.“ted.by Increases Decreases 31 December 2019

subsidiaries

Campari America LLC 503,683 949 - - 504,632
Campari Benelux S.A. 171,293 56 - (47,000) 124,348
Campari Distribution Ireland Ltd 1,023 - (1,023) -
Campari do Brasil Ltda 127,830 112 - - 127,942
Campari Espafia S.L. 328,613 341 - - 328,954
Campari International S.r.l. 980 118 - - 1,099
Campari Services S.r.l. in liquidation 4,354 43 - (3,900) 497
DI.CI.E. Holding B.V. 41,688 1,196 - - 42,884
Glen Grant Ltd. 177,053 305 - - 177,357
Société des Produits Marnier Lapostolle S.A. 489,975 65 - - 490,039
SPML — Commitment to purchase residual shares 175,071 - - 175,071
Camparino S.r.l. 6,594 - 2,000 - 8,594
Total 2,028,156 3,185 2,000 (51,923) 1,981,418

The changes during the year relate to the following events:

Decreases

- In April 2019, Campari Benelux S.A. made a payment to the Company of €48,800 thousand, of which €1,800
thousand was for a dividend and €47,000 thousand as a refund of the capital originally paid;

- On 3 October 2019, Campari Services S.r.l. was placed in liquidation, entailing a write-down of €3,900
thousand in the value of the holding and the allocation of a provision for risks to cover future losses, of €500
thousand. Both costs were classified in overhead items;

- On 1 January 2019, in accordance with local legislation, Campari Distribution Ireland Ltd. was placed in
liquidation, resulting in termination of the shareholding relationship. The liquidation entailed the recognition of
net income of €320 thousand, which was classified as overhead items .

Increases

- In December 2019, Davide Campari Milano S.p.A. made a capital contribution of €2,000 thousand to
Camparino S.r.l. via a waiver of debt owed by the latter;

- Other changes in the value of shareholdings arose from the capitalisation of the value of investments in units
in stock option plans granted to directors and employees of subsidiaries.

Overall during the period, impairment loss of €4,400 thousand (including accruals to provisions for risks and
charges) was recorded on investments in subsidiaries, as well as gains from liquidation totalling €320 thousand.
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The list of investments in direct and indirect subsidiaries, including the additional information required under
Consob Communication DEM/6064293 of 28 July 20086, is as follows:

Profit (loss) of

Share capital Equity value Investment percentage Carrying amount

the year

Name Head office Currency mljrrlrleorfgl € thousand € thousand Direct Indirect € thousand
Campari Beijing Trading Co. Ltd. Beijing CNY 104,200,430 1,690 (77) - 100,00 504,632
Campari America LLC New York usD 566,321,274 1,317,979 49,550 100,00 -

Campari Argentina S.A.® Buenos Aires ARS 3,818,091,928 22,165 (6,362) - 100,00

Campari Australia Pty Ltd. Sydney AUD 56,500,000 61,922 2,853 - 100,00

Campari Austria GmbH Wien EUR 500,000 1,409 788 - 100,00 124,348
Campari Benelux S.A. Bruxelles EUR 1,000000 122,295 3,855 61,00 39,00

Campari Deutschland GmbH Oberhaching EUR 5,200,000 14,787 8,730 - 100,00 127,942
Campari do Brasil Ltda. Barueri BRL 239,778,071 59,125 7,340 99,999 0,001 328,953
Campari Espafia S.L. Barcellona EUR 3272600 338,124 18,192 100,00 -

Campari India Pte Ltd.® New Dheli INR 100,000 85 24 - 100,00 1,099
Campari International S.r.. Sesto San Giovanni EUR 700,000 4,133 3,035 100,00 -

Campari Japan Ltd. Tokyo JPY 153,000,000 2,672 176 - 100,00

Campari Mexico S.A. de C.V. Jalisco MXN 820,184,642 44,983 (3,816) - 100,00

Campari New Zealand Ltd. Maritime Suar NZD 10,00C 1,260 (61) - 100,00

Campari Peru SAC Lima PEN 34,733,589 11,253 221 - 100,00

Campari RUS OO0 Moscow RUB 2,010,000,000 33,183 4,290 - 100,00

Campari Schweiz A.G. Baar CHF 500,000 2,132 826 - 100,00 497
Campari Services S.r.l. in liquidation Sesto San Giovanni EUR 160,000 70 (1,848) 100,00 -

Campari Singapore Pte Ltd. Singapore SGD 100,000 425 98 - 100,00

Campari South Africa Pty Ltd. Cape Town ZAR 490,247,750 30,871 312 - 100,00

Campari Ukraine LLC Kiev UAH 87,396,209 6,466 1,353 - 100,00 42,884
DI.CI.E. Holding B.V. Amsterdam EUR 15015000 342,636 5,303 100,00 -

Forty Creek Distillery Ltd. Grimsby CAD 105,500,100 90,438 2,689 - 100,00 177,357
Glen Grant Ltd. Rothes GBP 24,949,000 189,445 32,460 100,00 -

J. Wray&Nephew Ltd. Kingston JIMD 750000 186,740 20,955 - 100,00

Kaloyannies-Koutsikos Distilleries S.A. Volos EUR 6,811,220 21,561 5,798 - 100,00

Société Civile Immobiliére DU VAL Paris EUR 16,769,392 16,531 (283) - 80,38 665,111
gcj:lete des Produits Marnier Lapostolle Paris EUR 27157500 256,611 128,200 80,38 -

Marnier-Lapostolle Bisquit SASU Paris EUR 22,759,856 154,440 25,713 - 80,38 -
Campari Distribution Ireland Ltd. Dublin EUR C 0) (25) 100,00 - 8,594
Camparino S.r.l. Milano EUR 4888C 1,518 (851) 100,00 -

Campari Mexico Corporativo, S.A. de C.V.  Jalisco MXN 50,00C 144 90 - 100,00

Campari Mexico Destiladora, S.A. de C.V.  Jalisco, Z.C. MXN 50,00C 38 16 - 100,00

Belllonnie et Bourdillon Successeurs S.A.S.  Ducos Martinique EUR 5,100,000 18,808 (2,335) - 77,59

Esgéetseﬁg.ullenes Agricoles De Sainte Ducos Martinique EUR 2,000,000 1,910 @17) 77,58

SCEA Trois Riviéres Ducos Martinique EUR 5920 1,336 268 - 77,59

Casa Montelobos, S.A.P.I. de C.V. Mexico City MXN 139,036,323 4,569 9) - 51,00

I(_:l.c\;)-rera Ancho Reyes y cia, S.A.P.I. de Mexico City MXN 168,906,052 1,537 R - 51,00

Rhumantilles SAS Paris EUR 80,391 279 66 - 80,38

Total investments in subsidiaries 1,981,4182

@ The share capital shown does not include the effects of applying accounting principles relating to hyperinflation.
@ The statement of financial position closes at 31 March.

Any differences between the carrying value of the investment and the related shareholders’ equity are not
representative of impairment, based on an analysis of recoverability carried out on the values of shareholdings
recorded at 31 December 2019.

22. Other non-current assets

31 December 2019

31 December 2018

€ thousand € thousand
Financial receivables - 5,683
Term deposit 5,229 4,813
Non-current financial assets 5,229 10,496
Equity investment in other companies 92 99
Other non-current receivables from related parties 2,241 2,241
Other non-current tax receivables 3,321 3,470
Other assets 149 149
Other non-current assets 5,803 5,959
Total other non-current assets 11,032 16,455

Non-current financial assets include term deposits
equivalents, and related interest, maturing in 2023.

of €5,229 thousand for investments in cash and cash

In 2018, the Company had a financial receivable of €5,683 thousand, of which €5,113 thousand related to a
payment not yet received from Terra Moretti S.r.l., connected with the sale of Sella&Mosca S.p.A. and
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Teruzzi&Puthod S.r.l. Given that it is due in 2020, this interest-bearing receivable was reclassified under current

financial assets.

Non-current assets include tax receivables of €3,321 thousand, including €2,304 thousand deriving from the right
to a refund of the additional income tax paid in previous years due to the non-deductibility of the IRAP tax, in

relation to employee costs, for which the Company has submitted the relevant refund applications.

23. Inventories
This item breaks down as follows:

31 December 2019

31 December 2018

€ thousand € thousand
Raw materials, supplies and consumables 13,532 11,310
Maintenance materials 1,076 1,146
Work in progress 33,198 33,358
Finished goods 31,492 30,518
Inventories 79,298 76,331

At 31 December 2019, the total value of inventories had increased by €2,967 thousand, in line with the positive

performance of the business.

Inventories are reported minus the relevant impairment provisions. The changes are shown in the table below.

€ thousand
31 December 2018 1,036
Accruals 1,074
Utilisation (864)
31 December 2019 1,247

24. Trade receivables and other receivables

31 December 2019

31 December 2018

€ thousand € thousand
Trade receivables from third-parties 19,399 30,873
Trade receivables from related parties 84,666 69,943
Receivables in respect of contributions to promotional costs 2,219 3,477
Trade receivables 106,285 104,293
Advances to suppliers 338 428
Other receivables from tax authorities 132 134
Receivables from related parties 5,847 7,533
Receivable for Group VAT - 445
Prepaid expenses 3,920 3,431
Receivables from pension organizations 32 38
Other 1,086 1,678
Other receivables 11,356 13,687

All receivables are due within 12 months and their carrying amount is considered to be close to their fair value.
At 31 December 2019, trade receivables recorded an increase of €1,992 thousand compared with the previous

year, in line with sales growth.

The trade receivables item is reported net of the related impairment provision for expected future losses, which

reflects the effective risk of collectability.
Receivables from tax authorities consist of various tax refund applications.

For further details on receivables from related parties, please refer to note 42-Related parties.

The table below shows receivables broken down by maturity.

Provision for

Trade of which related Other of which related Total expected future
31 December 2019 receivables® parties receivables® parties losses
€ thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand
Not overdue 77,869 75,767 7,192 5,420 85,061 (59)
Overdue 30,588 8,900 437 427 31,025 (2,666)
Less than 30 days 20,076 1,675 - - 20,076 -
30-90 days 3,429 1,190 - - 3,429 (426)
Within 1 year 3,903 3,903 437 427 4,340 (366)
Within 5 years 3,182 2,132 - - 3,182 (1,875)
Due after 5 years - - - - o -
Total receivables broken down by
maturity 108,458 84,666 7,628 5,847 116,086 (2,725)
Amount impaired (2,532) - (193) - (2,725)
Total 105,925 84,666 7,436 5,847 113,361

® The item does not include advances and prepaid expenses.
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Provision for

Trade of which related Other of which related Total expected future
31 December 2018 receivables® parties receivables® parties losses
€ thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand
Not overdue 61,725 61,725 8,831 7,154 70,556 -
Overdue 41,863 8,219 997 825 42,860 (3,291)
Less than 30 days 30,680 1,736 617 445 31,298 -
30-90 days 6,999 2,445 - - 6,999 -
Within 1 year 3,840 3,635 361 361 4,202 (2,930)
Within 5 years 232 291 18 18 250 (250)
Due after 5 years 112 112 - - 112 (112)
Total receivables broken down
by maturity 103,588 69,943 9,828 7,978 113,416 (3,291)
Amount impaired (3,138) - (152) - (3,291)
Total 100,449 69,943 9,676 7,978 110,125

®OThe item does not include advances or prepaid expenses.

The following table shows the changes in impairment provision for expected future losses on receivables in the

period.
Provision for expected future losses

€ thousand Trade receivables Other receivables
31 December 2018 3,138 152
Accruals 685 40
Utilizations (869)

Releases (422) -
31 December 2019 2,532 193

The provision for expected future losses includes the impairment of specific receivables in order to reflect the
estimated realisable value in the accounts. This item includes the provision for expected credit losses on
receivables, which stood at €292 thousand at 31 December 2019.

Utilisations are mainly due to the settlement of lawsuits outstanding from previous years.

25. Current income tax receivables
There were no income tax receivables at 31 December 2019, while in 2018 this item had totalled €3,072 thousand,
of which €2,287 thousand related to receivables from the ultimate shareholder for tax consolidation.

26. Current financial receivables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Securities and term deposit - 27,415
Current financial receivables from related parties 140,747 123,784
Valuation at fair value of forward contracts 94 144
Other financial assets 5,487 382
Financial assets from related parties - 573
Current financial receivables 146,328 152,297

Securities and term deposits, totalling €27,415 thousand in 2018, included matured cash investments collected in
2019.

At 31 December 2019, financial receivables from related parties, totalling €140,747 thousand, were mainly due to
short-term loans for the cash pooling system granted by Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. to various Group
companies, including: DI.CIL.LE. Holding B.V. (€43,579 thousand), Glen Grant Ltd. (€40,226 thousand) and
Campari Espana S.L. (€30,321 thousand). These loans are at rates of interest in line with market conditions. For
more details, see note 42-Related Parties.

Other financial assets included a financial receivable of €5,113 thousand from Sella&Mosca S.p.A. for payments
due in 2020 connected with the sale of Sella&Mosca S.p.A. and Teruzzi&Puthod S.r.l.. This receivable was
previously classified under non-current financial assets.
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27. Cash and cash equivalents, reconciliation with net financial debt and with the cash-flow

statement
The table below provides a reconciliation of this item with the cash and cash equivalents shown on the statement
of cash flow.
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
€ thousand € thousand
Bank current accounts and cash 256,971 115,453
Term deposit maturing within 3 months - 120,000
Cash and cash equivalents 256,971 235,453

At 31 December 2018, cash and cash equivalents totalled €256,971 thousand, an increase on the previous year’s
figure of €21,518 thousand, while term deposits maturing in less than three months, which stood at €120 thousand
in 2018, were collected during the year.

A reconciliation with the Company’s net financial debt is shown in the table below.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
€ thousand € thousand
Cash and cash equivalents 256,971 235,453
Cash (A) 256,971 235,453
Other current financial receivables 146,328 152,297
Current financial receivables (B) 146,328 152,297
Current payables to financial institutions (1,100) (1,522)
Current portion of lease payables (1,485) -
Current portion of bond (579,982) (218,606)
Other current financial payables (451,779) (370,806)
Current portion of put option and earn-out payable (28,597) (31,408)
Current financial payables (C) (1,062,943) (622,342)
Net current financial position (A+B+C) (659,643) (234,591)
Non-current bank payables (248,810) (300,000)
Non-current portion of lease payables (3,345) -
Non-current portion of bonds™ (349,373) (790,835)
Non-current portion of payables for put option and earn-out (103,896) (113,912)
Non-current financial debt (D) (705,424) (1,204,747)
Net debt (A+B+C+D)® (1,365,067) (1,439,338)
Reconciliation with the financial position, as shown in the Directors' report:
Term deposits 5,229 4,813
Non-current financial receivables - 5,683
Net financial position (1,359,838) (1,428,842)

® In accordance with the definition of net debt set out in Consob Communication DEM 6064293 of 28 July 2006.
™ Including the related derivatives.

For information concerning the items that make up the net financial position excluding cash and cash equivalents,
see note 22-Other non-current assets, note 26-Current financial receivables, note 31-Bonds and other non-current
liabilities, and note 32-Bonds, payables to banks and other current financial payables.

For completeness, the changes in current and non-current financial payables during 2019 are shown below.
Cash flow generated (absorbed) from financial liabilities

Payable Financial asset | other asset and | Asset and financial iabilities f
Bonds for | bayables to banks | and liabilities for financial liabilities with Liabilities for
maturing lease liabilities related parties derivatives
interest
non- non- non- non- non- non-
€ thousand current current™ current | current current current current current current current et | current current
31 December 2018 (218,606) (778,740) | (8,892) - (300,000) - -1 (1,294) 10,496 | (235,512) (1,631) (969) (12,095)
IFRS 16 adoption ® - - - - -| (1,684) (4,129) - - - - R R
Addition of notional
debt - - - - - - (539 - - - - - -
Interest matured - -1 (36,736) - - - (108) - - - - - -
New financing - (149,280) - - (248,705) - - - 670 | (64,237) - - -
Repayment 219,057 - 36,736 - 300,000 1,629 - (903) - - 1,624 - 23,295
Reclass (579,669) 579,669 - - - (1,431) 1431 - - - - - -
Other movements (764) (1,022 143 (45) (105) - -| 5,024 (5,937) - -] (604) (11,200)
31 December 2019 (579,982) (349,373) | (8,749) (45) (248,810) | (1,485) (3,345)| 2,828 5,229 | (299,749) 8) | (1,574) -

@ For more information on the first-time adoption of the accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’, see the comments in note 4-Changes in accounting standards.
) Excluding the related derivatives.

28. Assets held for sale

At 31 December 2019, assets held for sale, totalling €1,022 thousand, included a residual portion of the Termoli
site. There were no changes compared with the previous year.
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29. Leases

The effects of applying accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’ are provided below. For further information on the
first-time adoption of the new accounting standard, refer to the comments in note 4-Changes in accounting
standards.

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position
The changes in assets underlying the right of use are shown in the following table.

Right of use for: Land and buildings Plant and machinery Other Total

€ thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand
1 January 2019 105 3,198 2,509 5,813
Investments - 19 519 539
Depreciation (9) (598) (959) (1,566)
31 December 2019 96 2,620 2,069 4,785
Carrying amount at the end of the period 105 3,218 3,029 6,351
Accumulated amortization at the end of the period (9) (598) (959) (1,566)

There are no restrictions or covenants on the right of use assets indicated above.

The main average IBR in 2019 are the following:
Within 5 years From 5 to 10 years Over 10 years
1.7% 2.1% 2.7%

Changes in lease liabilities are provided in the following table.

Financial liabilities for leases: 1 January 2019 Addition Payments Interest Reclassification 31 December
expenses 2019
€ thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand

Within 12 months (1,684) - 1,629 B (1,431) (1,485)

Over 12 months (4,129) (539) - (108) 1,431 (3,345)

Financial liabilities for leases (5,813) (539) 1,629 (108) - (4,830)
Amounts recognised in the income statement

€ thousand 31 December 2019

Interest of lease 108

Depreciation and amortization on right of use underlying assets 1,566

Variable lease payment not included in measurement of lease liability 1,935

Expense related to leases with low value 711

Other 301
Amounts recognised in the cash-flow statement

€ thousand 31 dicembre 2019 31 dicembre 2018

Total cash outflow for leases 1,629 -

Contractual commitments for the use of third-party assets that are not recorded using lease accounting

The following table shows amounts owed by the Company in future periods, broken down by maturity, relating to
the main contractual commitments for the use of third-party assets that are not recorded using lease accounting.
The amount as at 31 December 2018 included contractual commitments that subsequently fell within the scope
of the new standard adopted.

As at 31 December 2019, contractual commitments for the use of third-party assets that are not recorded using
lease accounting mainly related to information technology equipment and warehouses for storing products.

The following table shows the amounts owed by the Company in future periods, broken down by maturity, relating
to the main contractual commitments for the use of third-party assets.

Contractual commitments for the use of third-party assets

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Within 1 year 2,946 3,195
1-5 years - 1,877
Total 2,946 5,072

Contractual commitments for the use of third-party assets decreased by €2,126 thousand in the current year,
mainly due to the application of the accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’.
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30. Shareholders’ equity

The Company manages its capital structure and makes changes to it based on economic conditions and the
specific risks of the underlying asset.

To maintain or change its capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividends paid to the shareholders and/or
issue new shares.

It should be noted that risk-capital management is carried out at Group level. Please see the relevant notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

For information on the composition and changes in shareholders’ equity during the comparison periods, please
refer to the statement of changes in shareholder’s equity.

Share capital
The current paid-up share capital of €58,080,000.00 (unchanged) is divided into 1,161,600,000 shares with a
nominal value of €0.05 each.

Outstanding shares and own shares

The Company has a share buyback programme in place, pursuant to article 5 of EU Regulation 596/2014, in
accordance with a resolution passed at the General Meeting of Shareholders held on 16 April 2019, which
authorised the purchase and sale of own shares to service, inter alia, the existing stock option plan for the
Company’s management which was approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders. The broker responsible
for implementing the programme is Goldman Sachs International Ltd. Purchases are made in compliance with
the statutory limits and the stipulations of the shareholders’ resolution noted above. The transactions carried out
under the programme are regularly communicated to Consob and the market, pursuant to the applicable
legislation.

Changes in outstanding shares and own shares during the year were as follows:

N. of shares Nominal value

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
€ € €
r?:rtiz‘;‘”d'”g shares at the beginning of the 1,146,618,042  1,152,546,887 1,158,915,312 57,330,902 57,627,344 57,945,766
Purchases for the stock option plan (9,036,356) (10,007,486)  (10,910,000) (451,818) (500,374) (545,500)
Disposals 10,314,114 4,078,641 4,541,575 515,706 203,932 227,079
Outstanding shares at the end of the period 1,147,895,800 1,146,618,042 1,152,546,887 57,394,790 57,330,902 57,627,344
Total own shares held 13,704,200 14,981,958 9,053,113 685,210 749,098 452,656

Own shares as a % of share capital 1.18% 1.29% 0.78% - - -

In 2019, 9,036,356 own shares were acquired at a purchase price of €75,285 thousand, equating to an average
price of €8.33 per share. In the same period, 10,314,114 shares were sold for €27,990 thousand.

Dividends paid and proposed
The dividends approved and paid in 2019 and 2018, and the dividends submitted for the approval of the General
Meeting of Shareholders called to approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2019, are

as follows.
Total amount Dividend per share
31 December 2019 31 December 2018 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
€ thousand € thousand € €
Dividends approved and paid during the year on ordinary shares 57,293 57,510 0.050 0.050
Dividends proposed on ordinary shares®”) 63,134 0.055

®) Calculated on the basis of shares outstanding at 31 December 2019; this figure is to be recalculated based on the total number of shares outstanding as of the
coupon detachment date.

For information purposes, on the basis of own shares held at 31 December 2019 no. 13,704,200, the shares
outstanding at the same date amounted to 1,147,895,800 and the total amount of dividends was €63,134
thousand. The proposed dividend for the period was €0.055 per share, an increase of +10.0% compared with the
previous financial year.
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Other reserves

Equity
Remeasurement Reserve .
investment
Monetary reserve for : for YAT Reserve Reserve transfer
€ thousand Syock Cash fI_ow revaluation actuarial _effect Extraordinary deductions Merger for grants  for grants reserve Total
options hedging reserve relating to reserve 4%-6% effect (Law (Law (Le
defined benefit (various 696/83) 15/94) Decregé
plans laws) 544/92)
31 December 2018 33,620 (9,587) 807 (454) 243,222 1,086 665 26 188 3,041 272,614
Cost of stock options for the 3707 . : R . . . . . } 3707
period
Stock options in subsidiaries 3,185 - - - - - - - - - 3,185
Stock option exercised (7,929) - - - - - - - - - (7,929)
:_osses (profits) reclassified in the 3,588 : (491) ; ; ; ; ; } 3,097
ncome statement
Cash flow hedge reserve
recognised in shareholders' - (11,076) - - - - - - - - (11,076)
equity
Tax effect recognised in
shareholder's equity L1797 ) 118 ) ) ) ) ) ) 1915
31 December 2019 32,583  (15,278) 807 (828) 243,222 1,086 665 26 188 3,041 265,513

Stock option reserve

Accruals made to the stock option reserve during the year in respect of share-based payments totalled €6,892
thousand, of which €3,185 thousand posted against to the related investment for the allocation of stock options
to directors and employees of subsidiaries.

Moreover, options exercised during the year by beneficiaries at Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. and its subsidiaries
totalled €7,929 thousand (€4,713 thousand and €3,217 thousand respectively).

For full information regarding stock option plans, see note 37-Stock option plans.

Cash-flow hedge reserve

The cash-flow hedge reserve contains amounts (net of the related tax effect) pertaining to changes resulting from
fair value adjustments of financial derivatives recorded using the cash-flow hedging methodology. For further
information, see note 38-Financial instruments-disclosures.

Remeasurement reserve for actuarial effects relating to defined benefit plans
The reserve includes the effects of changes to the actuarial assumptions used to calculate net obligations for
defined benefits.

Retained earnings

Following the resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders of 16 April 2019, the profit for the year to 31
December 2018, amounting to €199,590 thousand, was allocated as follows:

¢ €57,293 thousand to dividends;

¢ €142,297 thousand to retained earnings.
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Availability of items under shareholders’ equity

Amount » qusible Portion available Summary of utilizations ir.1 the three previous
utilizations® years:

€ thousand € thousand to hedge losses for other reasons
Share capital® 58,080 --- - - -
Capital reserve:
Reserve for own shares (685) .- - - -
Legal reserve® 1,500 B 1,500 - -
Earnings reserve:
Legal reserve 10,116 B 10,116 - -
Extraordinary reserve 243,222 A B, C 243,222 - -
Equity investment transfer reserve (Leg. Decree
524/93’2) (Leg 3,041 A B, C 3,041 - -
Reserve for VAT deduction 4% Law 64/86 592 A B, C 592 - -
Reserve for VAT deduction 6% Law 67/86 451 A B, C 451 - -
Reserve for VAT deduction 6% Law 130/83 22 A B, C 22 - -
Reserve for VAT deduction 4% Law 675/77 2 A B, C 2 - -
Reserve for VAT deduction 6% Law 526/82 18 A B, C 18 - -
Reserve for capital grants (Law 696/83) 26 A B, C 26 - -
Grant reserve Law 15/94 188 A B, C 188 - -
Revaluation reserve 807 A B, C 807 - -
Merger surplus reserve 665 A/B,C 665 - -
Profit carried forward from previous year 916,050 A B, C 916,050 - -
Other reserves:
Cash flow hedge reserve (15,278) --- .- - -
Pension funds remeasurement reserve (828) --- .- - -
Stock option reserve 32,583 --- --- - -
Total reserves and share capital 1,250,574 - 1,176,702 - -
Non-distributable portion - - 11,616 - -
Residual distributable portion - - 1,165,086 - -
Profit for the year 110,192 R 110,192 - (166,947)@
Grand total 1,360,766 - 1,286,895 - -

@ Of which €50,581 thousand in earnings and €7,499 thousand for shareholder payments

@ For shareholder payments.

® A: to increase capital; B: to hedge losses; C: to distribute to shareholders; D: for other statutory obligations.
@ For distribution of dividends.

31. Bonds and other non-current liabilities
The breakdown of bonds and other non-current liabilities is as follows.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
€ thousand € thousand
Bond (Eurobond) issued in 2015 - 578,740
Bonds issued in 2017 200,000 200,000
Bonds issued in 2019 149,373 -
Total bonds 349,373 778,740
Payables and loans due to banks 248,810 300,000
Leases 3,345 -
Non-current liabilities for hedging derivatives - 12,095
Payables for put option and earn-out 103,896 113,912
Non-current financial liabilities 356,051 426,007
Other non-financial liabilities 5,718 2,524
Other non-current liabilities 361,769 428,530
Bonds

At 31 December 2019, the bonds item included the following issues placed by the Parent Company:

- bond issued in 2017 by the Parent Company, maturing on 5 April 2022, with a nominal value of €50,000
thousand. The bond pays a fixed annual coupon of 1.768%;

- bond issued in 2017 by the Parent Company, maturing on 5 April 2024, with a nominal value of €150,000
thousand. The bond pays a fixed annual coupon of 2.165%.

- bond issued on 23 April 2019 by the Parent Company, maturing on 30 April 2024, with a nominal value of
€150,000 thousand. The bond pays a fixed annual coupon of 1.655%. The bond concerned was linked to a cash
flow hedge on future transactions, which in 2018 carried a debt balance of €12,095 thousand for the company.
The transaction entailed the liquidation of the derivative’s fair value as at the transaction date with the impact
reported in the Company’s statement of comprehensive income as described in note 38, to which reference is
made. The effective interest rate of the bond after including the hedging impact was 2.245%.

The Eurobond 2015, with a nominal value of €580,942 thousand and a maturity of 30 October 2020, was

reclassified to the other current financial payables item (see comment in note 32 below).

The changes recorded in 2019 relating to the effects of the amortised cost of the above bonds were negative at
€1,785 thousand.
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Payables and loans due to banks

This item includes euro-denominated loans entered into with leading banks; interest is mainly due at floating
market rates.

Specifically, on 31 July 2019, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. made early repayment of the term loan taken out on
3 August 2016, in the nominal amount of €300,000 thousand, and accompanied by a revolving credit facility of
€200,000 thousand; both had original maturities of August 2021.

At the same time a term loan was entered into with a nominal amount of €250,000 thousand, maturing on 31 July
2024, at an interest rate of 3-month Euribor plus a 1.25% spread.

The transaction entailed incurring non-recurring financial expenses of €1,295 thousand included in the valuation
of the amortised cost of the related financial liability.

The loan was accompanied by a revolving credit facility of the same amount and maturity, at an interest rate of 3-
month Euribor plus a 0.75% spread, as well as drawdown fees. The revolving credit facility was not used at 31
December 2019.

Payables for put options and earn-out

At 31 December 2019, the item related to a payable of €103,896 thousand, arising from the agreements signed
with the former controlling shareholders of Société des Produits Marnier Lapostolle S.A., for the purchase, by the
end of 2021, of all remaining shares held by them; the transaction to sell the property Villa Les Cédres resulted
in a liability of €52,690 thousand due to the Company’s commitment, at the launch date of the Tender Offer on 13
May 2016, to pay a price supplement to all former shareholders of Société des Produits Marnier-Lapostolle S.A..
As at 31 December 2019, a remaining payable of €7,927 thousand was recorded in relation to several members
of the former controlling shareholder family (€2,786 thousand was recorded under current financial liabilities, as
described in note 32-Payables to banks, bonds and other current financial payables below). For more information
please see paragraph ‘Significant events during the year’ in the report on operations.

The changes to these payables during the year are attributable to the revision of estimates made on the basis of
existing contractual agreements, as well as non-cash effects deriving from amortised costs and the reclassification
under current payables of the portion due to be paid in 2020.

Leases

This item includes a financial liability of €3,345 thousand reflecting the obligation to make lease payments as
specified in accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’.

32. Payables to banks, bonds and other current financial payables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
€ thousand € thousand
Payables and loans due to banks 45 -
Current portion of bond (Eurobond) issued in 2012 - 218,606
Current portion of bond (Eurobond) issued in 2015 579,982 -
Total bonds 579,982 218,606
Other financial liabilities 1,056 -
Accrued interest on bonds 8,749 8,892
Leases 1,485 -
Financial liabilities on hedging contracts 116 328
Financial liabilities for hedge derivatives, not reported using hedge accounting procedures 1,457 641
Payables for put options and earn-out 28,597 31,408
Financial liabilities with related parties 440,507 360,927
Other financial liabilities 948 1,539
Total other financial payables 482,916 403,735
Bonds

The item includes the Eurobond 2015, which has a residual nominal value of €580,942 thousand and a maturity
of 30 September 2020, was reclassified under non-current bonds in 2019. The bond pays a fixed annual coupon
of 2.75% and the issue price was 99.715% of par, corresponding to a gross return of 2.807%.

The company is in constant contact with leading financial institutions for the liability management of the maturing
debt, based on actual liquidity needs.

During the year, the Eurobond 2012, which had a residual nominal value of €219,057 thousand and a maturity of
25 October 2019, was also repaid.

At 31 December 2019, accrued interest of €8,749 thousand included the portion of accrued coupons for the
following year on the bonds issued by the Company.
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Payables for put options and earn-out

At 31 December 2019, this item related to the short-term portion (€28,597 thousand) of the payable in respect of
members of the family that used to be the controlling shareholder of Société des Produits Marnier Lapostolle S.A.;
the item includes €2,786 thousand arising from the sale of the property Villa Les Cédres (see also the comments
in note 31-Bonds and other non-current liabilities).

Changes in the reported value are related to the negative effects of the amortised cost of €698 thousand, in
addition to the redefinition of the estimated expected debt to be paid during 2020.

Financial liabilities in respect of related parties
At 31 December 2019, the item totalled €440,507 thousand, resulting from the management of cash pooling by
the Company in respect of other Group companies.

Leases
This item totalled €1,485 thousand, included the financial liability reflecting the obligation to make lease payments
as specified in accounting standard IFRS 16-‘Leases’.

33. Defined benefit plans

The employee liability indemnity (TFR), which relates to the Company’s employees, pursuant to Article 2120 of
the Italian civil code, falls under the scope of IAS 19.

TRF contributions accrued up to 31 December 2006 remain with the company; for contributions accruing from 1
January 2007, employees have the choice of allocating them to a complementary pension scheme, or to keep
them with the company, which will transfer the contributions to a fund held at the INPS (the Italian social security
agency).

Consequently, TFR contributions accrued from 1 January 2007 are classified as defined contribution plans.
Since the Company usually pays contributions through a separate fund, without further obligations, it records its
contributions to the fund for the year to which they relate, in respect of employees’ service, without making any
actuarial calculation. Since the contributions in question have already been paid by the Company at the reporting
date, no liability is recorded in the statement of financial position.

Conversely, TFR contributions accrued up to 31 December 2006 will continue to be classified as defined benefit
plans, with the actuarial valuation criteria remaining unchanged in order to show the current value of the benefits
payable on the amounts accrued at 31 December 2006 when employees leave the Company.

The tables below summarise the components of the net cost of benefits reported in the income statement and in
the statement of comprehensive income in 2019 and 2018.

€ thousand Liabilities
Liabilities (assets) at 31 December 2018 4,700
Amounts included in the income statement:

- current service costs 3
- net interest 73
Total 77
Amounts included in the statement of comprehensive income:

- gain (losses) resulting from changes in actuarial assumptions 491
Total 491
Other changes:

- benefits paid (381)
- benefits transferred 153
Total (228)
Liabilities (assets) at 31 December 2019 5,039
€ thousand Liabilities
Liabilities (assets) at 31 December 2017 4,971
Amounts included in the income statement:

- current service costs 42
- net interest 62
Total 104
Amounts included in the statement of comprehensive income:

- gain (losses) resulting from changes in actuarial assumptions (49)
Total (49)
Other changes:

- benefits paid (396)
- merger 64
- benefits transferred 6
Total (326)
Liabilities (assets) at 31 December 2018 4,700

The main assumptions used in determining the obligations resulting from TFR are indicated below.
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31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Discount rate 0.56% 1.63%
Staff turnover rate 3.39% 3.64%
Forecast inflation rate 0.80% 1.25%

Quantitative sensitivity analysis of the significant assumptions used at 31 December 2019 is shown below.

Change in the assumptions Impact of positive change Impact of negative change
Discount rate +\- 0.5% -3,70% 3,96%
Staff turnover, disability and early retirement +\- 0.5% -0,35% 0,37%
Forecast inflation rate +\- 0.5% 2,4% -2,3%

The sensitivity analysis shown above is based on a method involving extrapolation of the impact on the obligation
of reasonable changes to the key assumptions made at the end of the financial year.

The methodology and the assumptions made in preparing the sensitivity analysis remain unchanged from the
previous year.

Because pension liabilities have been adjusted on the basis of the consumer price index, the pension plan is
exposed to the inflation rate, to interest-rate risks and to changes in the life expectancy of former employees.
Since there are no assets that support the plans, the Company is not exposed to market risk in the sectors in
which the plan is invested.

The table below shows the expected payments in future years.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ thousand € thousand
Within 12 months 218 167
From 1to 5 years 824 648
From 5 to 10 years 932 771
Total 1,973 1,585
Average plan duration (years) 8 9

Cash flows expected for future payments into the plan are not likely to have a significant effect on the Company’s
statement of financial position or income statement.

34. Provisions for risks and charges

The table below shows the changes to this item during the period.
Restructuring

Tax provision L Agent severance fund Other Total
provisions

€ thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand

31 December 2018 64 2,574 1,216 - 3,854

Accruals - 310 1,000 1,310

Utilizations - (1,157) (175) - (1,332)

Releases (14) - (14)

31 December 2019 50 1,417 1,351 1,000 3,818
of which estimated outlay:

- due within 12 months 50 1,417 76 1,000 2,544

- due after 12 months - - 1,275 - 1,275

Accruals of €1,000 thousand were made to other provisions and risks during the year. Specifically, the amount
includes €500 thousand to cover the expected loss from the subsidiary Campari Services S.r.l in liquidation, and
€500 thousand for an ongoing legal dispute.

35. Trade payables and other current liabilities

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Trade payables to third-parties 83,276 75,574
Trade payables to related parties 9,905 4,880
Trade payables 93,181 80,454
Payables to staff 20,563 25,239
Payables to agents 1,228 1,015
Deferred income 673 780
Tax on alcohol production 2,644 2,108
Withholding and miscellaneous taxes 1,588 2,187
Other current liabilities with related parties 1,107 45
Payables for Group VAT 2,465 -
Other 2,032 2,110
Other current liabilities 32,300 33,483

The above payables are all due within 12 months. For further details on payables to related parties, see note 42-
Related parties.
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The following table shows a breakdown of payables by due date.

31 December 2019 On demand Within 1 year Total
€ thousand € thousand € thousand

Trade payables 12,078 81,103 93,181
of which related parties - 9,905 9,905
Other payables 1 32,298 32,300
of which related parties - 3,672 3,572
Total 12,080 113,401 125,481
31 December 2018 On demand Within 1 year Total
€ thousand € thousand € thousand

Trade payables 13,648 66,806 80,454
of which related parties 4,880 - 4,880
Other payables 327 33,156 33,483
of which related parties - 45 45
Total 13,975 99,962 113,937

The payment terms applied to suppliers are generally 60 days from the end of the month of invoice.

Capital grants
Capital grants mainly relate to the funds received for investments in production plants at Novi Ligure.

The following table provides details of changes in deferred income relating to capital grants.

Deferred income

€ thousand
31 December 2018 730
Amounts posted to the income statement (106)
Other changes 40
31 December 2019 664
36. Current income tax payables
The item breaks down as shown in the table below:
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
€ thousand € thousand
Taxes payable 389 -
Payable to controlling shareholder for tax consolidation 4,711
Total income tax payables 5,100

At 31 December 2019, the company had tax payables of €5,100 thousand due to higher taxable income for both
IRES and IRAP purposes compared with the previous year arising from the improvement in the operating result.
Payables to the Parent Company for the tax consolidation scheme (IRES) and tax payables relating to IRAP are
shown at 31 December 2019 net of advance payments and taxes deducted at source.

37. Stock option plan

The Parent Company Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. has a number of incentive plans in place; these take the
form of stock option plans, governed in accordance with the shareholders’ resolution, pursuant to applicable law,
and implemented by means of a specific regulation (‘Stock Option Regulations’) approved by the Remuneration
and Appointments Committee on the proposal of the Board of Directors.

The purpose of the Plan is to offer beneficiaries who occupy key positions in the Group the opportunity of owning
shares in Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A., thereby aligning their interests with those of other shareholders and
fostering loyalty, in the context of the strategic goals to be achieved.

The recipients are employees, directors and/or individuals who regularly work for one or more Group companies,
who have been identified by the Board of Directors of Davide Campari-Milan S.p.A., and who, on the Plan approval
date and until the date that the options are exercised, have worked as employees and/or directors and/or in any
other capacity at one or more Group companies without interruption.

The Plan regulations do not provide for loans or other incentives for share subscriptions pursuant to Article 2358,
paragraph 3, of the Italian Civil Code.

The Board of Directors of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. has the right to draft regulations, select beneficiaries,
and determine the share quantities and values for the execution of the stock option plans. In addition, Davide
Campari-Milano S.p.A. reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to modify the Plan and the regulations as
necessary or appropriate to reflect changes to the laws in force, or for other objective reasons that would warrant
such modification.

In 2019 the General Meeting of Shareholders approved a stock option plan for a total maximum number of options
resulting from the ratio of €3,450,000 and the strike price for a category of beneficiaries other than members of
the Board of Directors for whom no assignment of options was planned during that year.
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The options were therefore granted to the individual beneficiaries, with the right to exercise options in the two-

year period following the end of the fifth year from the grant date.

The total number of options granted in 2019 for the purchase of further shares was 364,400, with an average
grant price of €8.85, equivalent to the weighted average market price in the month preceding the day on which

the options were granted.

The following table shows the changes in stock option plans during the periods concerned.

31 December 2019

31 December 2018

Average Average

Number of shares allocation/exercise Number of shares allocation/exercise

price (€) price (€)

Options outstanding at the beginning of the period 60,550,159 3.87 56,402,473 3.32
Options granted during the period 364,400 8.85 11,298,000 6.25
(Options cancelled during the period) (1,311,080) 4.47 (3,071,673) 3.73
(Options exercised during the period)® (10,314,112) 2.72 (4,078,641) 2.95
Options outstanding at the end of the period 49,289,367 4.13 60,550,159 3.87
of which exercisable at the end of the period 20,796,216 2.96 15,198,854 2.64

® The average market price on the exercise date was €8.52.

The average residual life of the options existing at 31 December 2019 was

2.3 years in total, while that for those

held by the Company was 3.1 years (3.4 years and 2.7 years respectively at 31 December 2018).

The exercise prices for the options granted each year range as follows.

Average exercise price

Allocations: 2012 2.63
Allocations: 2013 2.99
Allocations: 2014 3.14
Allocations: 2015 3.54
Allocations: 2016 4.29
Allocations: 2017 6.19
Allocations: 2018 6.25
Allocations: 2019 8.85

The average fair value of options granted in 2019 was €2.18 (€1.24 in 2018).

The fair value of stock options is represented by the value of the option calculated by applying the Black-Scholes
model, which takes into account the conditions for exercising the option, as well as the current share price,
expected volatility and the risk-free rate, and the non-vesting conditions for the plans.

Volatility was estimated with the help of data supplied by a market information provider together with a leading
bank, and corresponds to the estimate of volatility recorded in the period covered by the Plan.

The following assumptions were used for the fair value measurement of options issued in 2019 and 2018:

2019 2018
Expected dividends (€) 0.05 0.05
Expected volatility (%) 22.8% 20.2%
Historic volatility (%) 22.8% 20.2%
Market interest rate 0.2% 0.7%
Expected option life (years) 7.00 7.00
Exercise price (€) 8.85 6.25
Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. has a number of own shares that can be used to service stock option plans.
The following table shows changes in the number of own shares held during the periods considered.
N. of own shares Purchase price (€ Thousand)
2019 2018 2019 2018
Balance at 1 January 14,981,958 9,053,113 99,311 55,045
Purchases®” 9,036,356 10,007,486 75,285 67,532
Disposals (10,314,114) (4,078,641) (65,884) (23,267)
Final balance 13,704,200 14,981,958 108,712 99,311
% of share capital 1.18% 1.29%

® Purchases do not include positions that have not yet been paid to the intermediary responsible for implementing the share buyback programme.

In relation to the sales of own shares in the year, which are shown in the above table at the original purchase cost
(€65,884 thousand), carried out at a market price totalling €27,990 thousand, the Company recorded a negative

difference of €37,894 thousand, which was recorded under shareholders’
€7,929 thousand from the stock option reserve.

equity and partly offset by the use of
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The value of individual categories of financial assets and liabilities held by the Company at 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2018 is shown below. These values have been revised based on the new classification rules
set out in the reference accounting standard, and on the business model identified by the Group.

31 December 2019 Measurement at amortized

Measurement at fair value

Measurement at fair value  with changes recognized in

cost through profit and loss the statement of
€ thousand comprehensive income
Cash and cash equivalents 256,971 - -
Trade receivables 106,285 - -
Current financial receivables 146,234 - -
Other non-current financial assets - 5,229 -
Other non-current assets - 92 -
Payables to banks (248,810) - -
Leases (4,830) - -
Bonds (929,355) - -
Accrued interest on bonds (8,749) - -
Other financial liabilities (2,049) - -
Put option payables (132,493) - -
Other financial liabilities with related parties (440,507) - -
Trade payables (93,181) - -
Current assets for hedging derivatives - R 94
Current liabilities for hedging derivatives - - (116)
Non-current liabilities for hedging derivatives, not reported using
hedge accounting procedures - B (1,457)
Total (1,350,485) 5,321 (1,479)

31 December 2019 Measurement at amortized

Measurement at fair value

Measurement at fair value

with changes recognized in

cost through profit and loss the statement of
€ thousand comprehensive income
Cash and cash equivalents 235,453 B -
Trade receivables 104,293 - -
Current financial receivables 152,153 - -
Other non-current financial assets 5,683 4,813 -
Other non-current assets - 99 -
Payables to banks (300,000) - -
Bonds (997,346) - -
Accrued interest on bonds (8,892) - -
Other financial liabilities (1,539) - -
Put option payables (145,320) - -
Other financial liabilities with related parties (360,927) - -
Trade payables (80,454) - -
Current assets for hedging derivatives - 3 141
Non-current liabilities for hedging derivatives - R (12,095)
Current liabilities for hedging derivatives - - (328)
Non-current liabilities for hedging derivatives, not reported using
hedge accounting procedures - - (641)
Total (1,396,896) 4,915 (12,923)

39. Financial assets and liabilities

The following information is provided in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 13-‘Fair Value Measurement’.

The models currently used by Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. to measure the fair value of financial instruments
provide for the inclusion of counterparty non-performance risk rating components. The method used to determine
fair values is described below and is consistent with the Group's guidelines.
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A summary of the financial assets and liabilities, irrespective of the proposed classification based on the applicable
business model, together with their carrying amount and corresponding fair value, is shown below.

carrying amount fair value
31 December 2019 31 December 2018 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
€ thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand
Cash and cash equivalents 256,971 235,453 256,971 235453
Current assets for forex derivatives o 144 £ 144
Current financial assets 5487 27,797 5487 27,797
Other financial current receivables from related
parties 140,747 124,357 140,747 124,357
Other non-current financial assets 5229 10,496 5229 10,496
Financial assets 408,528 398,247 408,528 398,247
Payables to bank and other 248,810 300,000 248,810 300,000
Bond (Eurobond) issued in 2012 218,606 226,498
Bond (Eurobond) issued in 2015 579,982 578,740 593,235 604,249
Bond 2017-2022 50,000 50,000 51,465 51,268
Bond 2017-2024 150,000 150,000 157,802 154,758
Bond 2019-2024 149,373 155,200
Accrued interest on bonds 8,749 8892 8,749 8892
Nor)—cqrrent liabilities for |nte(est rate swap 12,005 12,095
derivatives on future transaction
Liabilities for hgdge derivatives, not reported using 1457 611 1457 611
hedge accounting procedures
Financial liabilities on forex derivatives 11€ X% 11€ %
Leases 4830 4830
Other financial liabilities 2,049 1539 2049 1539
Other financial liabilities in respect of related
parties 440,507 360,927 440,507 360,927
Put option and earn-out liabilities 132,493 145,320 132,493 145,320
Financial liabilities 1,768,367 1,827,088 1,796,714 1,866,516
Net financial assets (liabilities) (1,359,838) (1,428842) (1,388,186) (1,468,270)

Financial instruments

Fair value of financial instruments

The method used for determining fair value is as follows:

o for financial assets and liabilities that are liquid or nearing maturity, it is assumed that the carrying amount
equates to fair value; this assumption also applies to term deposits, securities that can be readily converted to
cash, and variable-rate financial instruments;

o for the measurement of hedging instruments at fair value, valuation models based on market parameters are
used;

¢ the fair value of non-current financial payables was obtained by discounting all future cash flows to present
value under the conditions in effect at the end of the year.

Derivatives, valued using techniques based on market data, are mainly interest-rate swaps and forward
sales/purchases of foreign currencies to hedge both the fair value of the underlying instruments and cash flows.
The most commonly applied valuation methods include forward pricing and swap models, which use present value
calculations.

The models incorporate various inputs, including the credit rating of the counterparty, market volatility, spot and
forward exchange rates and current and forward interest rates.

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value based on three different valuation levels.

31 December 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
€ thousand € thousand € thousand

Assets valued at fair value

Futures currency and interest rate contracts - 94 -

Non-Current Financial Receivable 5,229 - -

Liabilities valued at fair value

Forward currency contracts - 116 -

Hedging derivatives not reported using hedge accounting procedures - 1,457 -

31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
€ thousand € thousand € thousand

Assets valued at fair value

Futures currency and interest rate contracts - 144

Current Financial Receivable 27,415 - -

Non-Current Financial Receivable 4,813 - -

Liabilities valued at fair value

Interest rate swap on future transactions - 12,095 -

Forward currency and interest rate contracts - 328 -
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In 2019, no reclassifications were made between the levels indicated above in the fair value hierarchies. The level
1 valuation for the financial assets in question was derived using methodology based on the net asset value
(NAV), which was obtained from specialist external sources.

The level 2 valuation used for financial instruments measured at fair value is based on parameters such as
exchange rates and interest rates, which are quoted on active markets or are observable on official yield curves.
No assets or liabilities were valued using the level 3 method at 31 December 2019.

Financial derivatives
A summary of financial derivatives, broken down by hedging strategy, implemented by Davide Campari-Milano
S.p.A. at 31 December 2019 is shown below.

e Fair-value hedging derivatives
At 31 December 2019, the Company had in place contracts for hedging payables and receivables in foreign
currency that meet the requirements to be shown as hedging instruments based on the relevant accounting
standards.
Specifically, it has forward contracts on receivables and payables in currencies other than the Euro recorded in
its financial statements at 31 December.
The contracts were negotiated to match maturities with incoming and outgoing cash flows resulting from sales
and purchases in individual currencies.
The valuation of these contracts at the reporting date resulted in the reporting of assets of €94 thousand and
liabilities of €118 thousand.
Below is a summary of the gains and losses on hedging instruments and on hedged instruments with regard to
all fair-value hedges, corresponding to the above-mentioned contracts.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Gains on hedging instruments 104 105
Losses on hedging instruments = (189)
Total gains (losses) on hedging instruments 104 (84)
Gains on hedged items 108 281
Losses on hedged items 97) (350)
Total gains (losses) on hedging instruments 11 (69)

e Derivatives used for cash-flow hedging

The Company uses the following contracts to hedge its cash flows:

- interest-rate swaps on the Eurobond issued in 2015. Around the time that the loan was granted, the Company
had entered into a number of interest-rate hedging agreements. On the date that the bond was listed, due to the
changes in interest rates, this agreement had entailed an initial financial liability of €1,326 thousand, recorded
under comprehensive income and expense, and released to the Income statement with the cash flows generated
by the underlying debt. In 2019, the effect on the income statement was €275 thousand.

During the year, the net change in fair value related to interest-rate swaps hedging the risk of interest-rate
fluctuations on future transactions involving the signing of new loan agreements, and recorded under
components of the statement of comprehensive income, was a negative figure of €11,200 thousand. The
negative effect in income statement of €1,294 thousand was relating to agreements that were terminated earlier
than the original maturity. The effect recorded in the income statement for 2019, which related to interest-rate
swap hedges signed in previous years and linked to new loan agreements signed in the current year, totalled
€2,180 thousand;

- Hedging of future sales and purchases in currency and interest rates on future transactions.

These cash flows only relate to interest and have not been discounted to present value.
The following table shows when the above-mentioned hedged cash flows are expected to be received, as of 31

December 2019.
31 December 2019 Within one year 1-5 years Total
€ thousand € thousand € thousand
Cash outflows (29) - (19)
Cash inflows 112 - 112
Net cash flows 93 - 93
31 December 2018 Within one year 1-5 years Total
€ thousand € thousand € thousand
Cash outflows (34) (12,095) (12,129)
Cash inflows 3 - 3
Net cash flows (31) (12,095) (12,126)
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The overall changes in the cash-flow hedge reserve and the associated deferred taxes are shown below.

Gross amount Tax effect Net amount

€ thousand € thousand € thousand

Reserve as of 31 December 2018 (12,615) 3,028 (9,587)
Booked to the income statement during the period 3,588 861 4,449
Recognized in equity during the period (11,076) 936 (10,140)
Reserve as of 31 December 2019 (20,103) 4,825 (15,278)

e Heddging derivatives not reported using hedge accounting

The breakdown shows the cash flows arising from forward foreign exchange and interest-rate contracts in respect
of future sales/purchases.

It should be noted that there are hedging derivatives not in hedge accounting for a total value recorded under
financial liabilities of €1,457 thousand.

These instruments relate to hedges of future purchases in currencies other than the Euro, in particular Sterling
and Dollars.

Non-financial instruments

Fair value of non-financial instruments:

Investment property is valued at cost, this being considered a reliable approximation of its fair value. At 31
December 2019, real estate assets amounted to €488 thousand.

The tables below detail the hierarchy of financial and non-financial instruments measured at fair value, based on

the valuation methods used:

- Level 1: the valuation methods use prices quoted on an active market for the assets and liabilities subject to
valuation;

- Level 2: the valuation methods take into account inputs other than the quoted market prices in level 1, but only
those that are observable on the market, either directly or indirectly;

- Level 3: the methods used take into account inputs that are not based on observable market data.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
31 December 2019 € thousand € thousand € thousand
Investments properties 1297

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
31 December 2018 € thousand € thousand € thousand
Investments properties 130C

In 2019, there were no changes in the valuation methods and no reclassifications between the above-mentioned
levels in the fair value hierarchies.

40. Nature and extent of the risks arising from financial instruments

The Company’s main financial instruments include current accounts, short-term deposits, short and long-term
bank loans, leases and bonds.

The purpose of these is to finance the Company’s operating activities.

In addition, the Company has trade receivables and payables resulting from its operations.

The main financial risks to which the Company is exposed are market (currency and interest rate), credit and
liquidity risks.

The following is a description of these risks and of how they are managed.

To cover some of these risks, the Company makes use of derivatives, primarily interest-rate swaps, cross-
currency swaps and forward contracts, to hedge interest-rate and exchange-rate risks.

Credit risk

Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. enters directly into commercial transactions on the Italian market, and on the
foreign markets through its Group companies.

The composition of receivables from Italian customers is extremely varied in terms of the different market
channels, their size and commercial characteristics. The market includes a high number of clients from all over
Italy, with a balance between mass retail and purchasing consortia, and traditional retail with a significant presence
in the horeca (hotels/restaurants/cafés) sector.

The Company has an extremely broad product portfolio, composed of both Campari Group’s products and
products distributed under license. There are no market concentration risks, as the Company sells internationally
both within the Group and to third-parties.
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The Company has a credit management function exclusively dedicated to monitoring the progress of receivables,
chasing up payment and managing in a targeted and timely manner the exposure of individual customers using
internal risk monitoring procedures.

Bad debts receivable are pursued regularly with the assistance of lawyers in order to continuously update progress
on individual cases. This is then reflected in the provision for doubtful receivables.

Trade receivables from third-parties for which there is impairment are classified as doubtful; these have mainly
been due for more than one year and are the subject of legal proceedings.

The other trade receivables are in respect of Group companies.

Receivables from customers are mainly denominated in Euro.

The maximum amount of risk at the reporting date is equal to the net value of trade receivables, also taking into
account the expected credit loss risk estimated by the company on the basis of the business model identified.

Liquidity risk

The Company’s ability to generate substantial cash flow through its operations allows it to reduce liquidity risk,
which is defined as the difficulty of raising funds to meet financial obligations.

The Company manages financial flows with the Italian subsidiaries through a centralised cash management
department, with transactions settled at market rates (see note 42-Related parties for more information).
Detailed information is provided below on financial payables and liabilities at 31 December 2019, compared with
the previous year.

The tables below summarise financial liabilities at 31 December 2019 and 2018 by maturity based on the
contractual repayment obligations, including non-discounted interest.

31 December 2019 Within 1 year From 1 to 2 years From 2 to 5 years after 5 years Total
€ thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand
Payables and loans due to banks 5,750 3,701 259,225 268,676
Bonds 603,532 6,614 368,074 978,220
Financial payables to related parties 440,507 - - 440,507
Leases 1,569 1,181 2,302 27 5,078
Other derivatives 1,574 - - 1,574
Total financial liabilities 1,052,931 11,496 629,600 27 1,694,055
31 December 2018 Within 1 year From 1 to 2 years From 2 to 5 years after 5 years Total
€ thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand € thousand
Payables and loans due to banks 3,689 2,900 302,900 - 309,489
Bonds 249,022 601,049 61,511 153,248 1,064,829
Derivatives on bond issues 12,095 - - - 12,095
Financial payables to related parties 360,927 - - - 360,927
Other derivatives 969 - - - 969
Total financial liabilities 626,702 603,949 364,411 153,248 1,748,310

Payables to banks for current accounts and lines of credit represent the negative balance of cash management.
The Company has also granted loans to subsidiaries, with interest charged at market rates.

Market risk

Market risk consists of the possibility that changes in exchange rates, interest rates or the prices of raw materials
or commodities (alcohol, aromatic herbs and sugar) could negatively affect the value of assets, liabilities or
expected cash flows. The Company monitors market trends for the more crucial raw materials, which historically
have not been subject to unexpected or significant fluctuations.

Price risk

The price of raw materials depends on a wide variety of factors, which are difficult to forecast and are largely
beyond the Company’s control. Although, historically, the Company has not encountered any particular difficulties
in purchasing sufficient high-quality raw materials, we cannot rule out the possibility that the emergence of any
tensions in this area could lead to difficulties in obtaining supplies, causing costs to rise, which would have
negative consequences for the Company’s financial results.

Interest-rate risk
The Company has bonds that pay interest at a fixed rate, issued directly under an agreement. The Company is
therefore exposed to fair-value risk.
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The portion of debt at fixed rates was 60% of total financial payables at 31 December 2019.

Other financial liabilities, however, which are largely taken out at variable rates, account for only a modest
proportion of total debt. For this reason, the Company is only partially exposed to the risk of interest-rate
fluctuations.

Nominal interest rate Effective interest rate Maturity 31 December 31 December

€ thousand € thousand

Payables and loans due to banks variable Euribor 3 months +1,250% 1,617% 2024 248,810 300,000
Bond issues:

- issued in 2012 (Eurobond) fixed 4.450% 4.039% 2019 - 218,606

- issued in 2015 (Eurobond) fixed 2.750% 3.068% 2020 579,982 578,740

- issued in 2017 (termination 2022) fixed 1.768% 1.768% 2022 50,000 50,000

- issued in 2017 (termination 2024) fixed 2.165% 2.165% 2024 150,000 150,000

Property leases fixed 1.655% 2.245% 2024 149,373 -

Leases interest borrowing rate interest borrowing rate 2020-2030 4,830 -

Exchange-rate risk

The Company has hedging instruments in place to minimise the exchange-rate risk, aimed at avoiding a situation
where unexpected variations in exchange rates occur on purchases and sales transactions. Any change in the
exchange rate, mainly Euro/US Dollar and Euro/Rouble, would lead to a positive change in net shareholders’
equity of up to €495 thousand and a negative change of up to €926 thousand.

Lastly, there were no significant receivables or payables exposed to exchange-rate risk at 31 December 2019.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table shows the effects on the income statement of a potential change in interest rates, if all the
Company’s other variables are held constant.

A negative value in the table indicates a potential net reduction in profit and equity, while a positive value indicates
a potential net increase in these items.

The assumptions used in terms of a potential change in rates are based on an analysis of the trends at the
reporting date.

The table illustrates the full-year effects on the income statement in the event of a change in rates, calculated for
the Company’s variable-rate financial assets and liabilities.

The impact on the income statement is shown net of taxes.

Equity (€ thousand) Income statement (€ thousand)

31 December 2019 Increase in exchange rates Decrease in exchange rates Increase in interest rates Decrease in interest rates
Euro - - (525) 525
Dollar 378 (336 - -
Other Currency 117 (590 - -
Total Effect 495 (926, (525) 525
31 December 2018

Euro - 8 (525) 525
Dollar 656 (325 - -
Other Currency 523 70 - -
Total Effect 1,179 (254 (525) 525

41. Commitments and risks
Existing contractual commitments for the purchase of goods or services, property, plant and equipment
The Company’s other commitments for purchases of goods or services are shown below.

Purchase of raw

materials, semi- . Advertising . Information . .

Purchase . ! Logistic and Packaging, Administrative .
€ thousand finished products ) ) system . Sponsorships  Other Total

of assets L costs promotional habillage . services

and finished services
costs
products

Within 1 year 2,573 16,691 2,172 8,780 10,257 12,099 15,076 840 2,208 70,696
1-5 years - 36,910 1,500 1,226 - 21,498 29,880 - 6,067 97,071
After 5 years - - - - - - 10,885 - 2,308 13,194
Total 2,573 53,601 3,672 10,006 10,257 33,597 55,842 840 10,573 180,961

Commitments in respect of raw materials mainly relate to purchases of wine and grapes for Cinzano sparkling
wines.
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Guarantees given
Guarantees given by the Company break down as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Guarantees issued to third-parties 48,348 46,173
Guarantees issued to third-parties in the interest of Group companies 126,338 99,676
Total guarantees issued to third parties 174,686 145,849
Other guarantees 1,174 4,880
Total guarantees given 175,860 150,729

Sureties to third-parties mainly represent customs bonds for excise duties and tax stamps totalling €48,348
thousand. Sureties issued to third-parties in the interests of Group companies are guarantees given by Davide
Campari-Milano S.p.A. in favor of third-parties for sureties on customs and excise duties, credit lines and other
sureties and guarantees resulting from the commercial or financial activities of Group companies.

42. Related parties

The Board of Directors has approved and adopts procedures that set out the principles to which the Company
adheres to ensure the substantive and procedural transparency and probity of transactions with related parties,
whether carried out directly or through subsidiaries, and also gives a definition of related parties (by providing and
maintaining a list of related parties).

The procedure also identifies the individuals responsible for reporting the above-mentioned information, defines
which transactions should be reported, sets out the content of the information required, and sets the timescales
within which the information must be submitted.

Relationships with Group companies and the Parent Company

The main intra-group activities, paid for at market prices, are carried out on the basis of contractual relationships,
which in particular relate to:

¢ the management of investments;

the settlement of financial flows through the centralised intra-group cash and financial management system;
the sharing of general, administrative and legal services;

information technology support;

commercial agreements.

In addition, dealings with related parties include the agreement with the ultimate shareholder, Lagfin S.C.A.
Société en Commandite par Actions, relating to the option, exercised jointly with the Group’s other ltalian
subsidiaries, to adopt the national tax consolidation scheme governed by articles 117 et seq of the Consolidated
Law on Corporate Income Tax (TUIR) for the years 2019 to 2021. At 31 December 2019, income tax payables
due to Lagfin S.C.A. Société en Commandite par Actions were €4,711 thousand.

The Company has also joined, along with the ultimate shareholder Lagfin S.C.A. Société en Commandite par
Actions, the Group VAT scheme pursuant to article 73, para. 3, of Presidential Decree (DPR) 633/72. At 31
December 2019, Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. owed Lagfin S.C.A. Société en Commandite par Actions €2,465
thousand for VAT.

The receivables and payables arising as a result of the tax consolidation procedure are non-interest-bearing.

No other transactions have taken place with controlling entities, nor with their directly and/or indirectly-owned
subsidiaries, other than with Group companies.

The Company is not subject to management and coordination activity by other companies, pursuant to Articles
2497 et seq of the Italian Civil Code, in that all decisions made by the management bodies, including strategic
decisions, are taken in complete autonomy and independence.

For further details on the relationships with Group companies, see the following below.
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Financial transactions with related parties

Receivables Other Receivables

31 December 2019 Trade Financial (payables) Other non- Trade Financial (payables) 03:2?1;
€ thousand receivables receivables for tax receivables current payables  payables for Group liabilities

consolidation assets VAT
Lagfin S.C.A., Société en
Commandite par Actions B (.711) ) 2241 . . (2:465) .
Campari America LLC 8,465 - - 1,826 - 1,616 - - -
Campari Argentina S.A. 1,661 8 - - - - - - -
Campari Australia Pty Ltd. 5,732 - - 52 - 37 - - 48
Campari Austria GmbH 3,164 - - - - - 5,686 - -
(L:tzr"npan Beijing Trading Co. 196 } } 8 } : ) )
Campari Benelux S.A. 2,322 6 - 134 - - 149,722 - -
Campari Deutschland GmbH 12,917 - - 805 - - 28,587 - 17
Campari do Brasil Ltda 858 - - 126 - 310 - - -
Campari Espafia S.L. 887 30,321 - 735 - 1,022 - - -
Campari India Pte Ltd. 15 - - - - - - - -
Campari International S.r.l. 9,778 - - 278 - 5 20,761 - 48
Campari Japan Ltd. 469 - - 167 - - - - -
Campari Mexico S.A. de C.V. 1,466 5,584 - - - 114 - - -
Campari New Zealand Ltd. 538 - - - - - - - -
Campari Peru SAC 3,109 - - 89 - - - - -
Campari RUS 000 9,064 - - 114 - 273 - - 49
Campari Schweiz A.G. 1,773 133 - 238 - 25 - - -
IQampayl Services S.r.l.in 6 306 ) a7 ) 17 : } }
iquidation
Campari Singapore Pte Ltd. - - - 297 - - - - -
Campari South Africa Pty Ltd. 616 - - 458 - 3,345 - - -
Campari Ukraine LLC 2,391 - - - - - - - -
Camparino S.r.l. 2,629 981 - - - 311 - - 29
DI.CI.E. Holding B.V. 298 43,579 - - - - - - -
Forty Creek Distillery Ltd. 545 - - 1) - 66 - - -
Glen Grant Ltd. 4,733 40,226 - 547 - 1,546 - - -
J. Wray&Nephew Ltd. 7,640 - - (24) - 241 - - -
Kaloyannies-Koutsikos
Distilleries S.A. 63 - - - - 61 - - -
Marnier - Lapostolle Bisquit
SASU 3,275 19,602 - (42) - 727 - - 855
Société des Produits Marnier 58 R : 59 : 188 235,751 ) 62
Lapostolle S.A.
Total at 31 December 2019 84,666 140,747 (4,711) 5,847 2,241 9,905 440,507 (2,465) 1,107
% 80% 96% 100% 51% 39% 11% 41% 100% 3%
Total at 31 December 2018 69,943 123,784 2,287 7,537 2,241 4,880 - 445 45

) On 12 February 2019, Alicros S.p.A., the ultimate shareholder of the Company at 31 December 2018, was incorporated into Lagfin S.C.A., Société en
Commandite par Actions.

Intra-group transactions are carried out through the centralised cash management system, with interest charged
at market rates.
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Financial transactions with related parties

31 December 2019 Advertising Adjustmepts ) o

Net sales Cost of _and Overheads to op_eratmg Dividends Financial income
€ thousand goods sold  promotional income and expenses

costs (expenses)

Campari Argentina S.A. 684 170 1 1,382 - - -
Campari Austria GmbH 21,864 53 50 564 - - -
Campari Australia Pty Ltd. 11,403 41 5 768 - - -
Campari Benelux S.A. 13,783 19 22 1,344 - 1,188 (5,072)
Campari do Brasil Ltda 938 328 5 1,509 - - -
Forty Creek Distillery Ltd. 2,938 (114) - 966 - - -
Campari Schweiz A.G. 14,018 - - 583 - - -
Campari Beijing Trading Co. Ltd. 2,025 5 1 (589) - - -
Campari Deutschland GmbH 72,566 39 (19) 2,063 - - Q)
Campari Espafia S.L. 5,023 4 12 (244) - - 315
Société des Produits Marnier Lapostolle S.A. - - - 497 - 7,023 ()]
Kaloyannies-Koutsikos Distilleries S.A. - (179) 20 164 - - -
Campari Distribution Ireland Ltd - - - - 320 - -
Davide Campari Milano S.p.A. - - @) - - - -
Campari International S.r.l. 58,360 657 512 1,391 - 4,623 1)
Campari Services S.r.l. in liquidation - 3 - (2,298) (4,400) - 17
J. Wray&Nephew Ltd. 2,484 (1,479) - 4,972 - - -
Campari Japan Ltd. 1,853 15 2 (495) - - -
Campari Mexico S.A. de C.V. 4,413 (2,372) - 1,692 - - 534
Campari New Zealand Ltd. 1,301 - - 59 - - -
Campari Peru SAC 6,350 12 3 (72) - - -
Campari RUS OO0 24,204 - 23 872 184 - -
Campari Singapore Pte Ltd. - - - 96 - - -
Campari Ukraine LLC 3,904 2 - 101 - - -
Glen Grant Ltd. 13,272 (16,627) 927 5,621 - - 1,043
Campari America LLC 40,240 (2,224) (415) 8,047 - - -
Campari South Africa Pty Ltd. 1,144 5 - (3,011) - - -
DI.CILE. Holding B.V. - - - 14 284 - 107
Camparino Srl 159 - (301) 30 - - 2
Marnier - Lapostolle Bisquit SASU 75 (5,917) 1,052 2,487 366 - 37
Total at 31 December 2019 302,999 (27,558) 1,899 28,513 (3,246) 13,457 (3,026)
% 45% 11% 3% 21% 24% 100% 22%
Total at 31 December 2018 273,202 (29,368) 3,283 26,122 55,394 16,169 (7,788)

For information on remuneration and salaries for directors and general managers, see note 42-Remuneration
owing to directors, general managers and auditors below.

43. Remuneration owing to directors, general managers and auditors
Remuneration and salaries paid to the Company’s Board of Directors was as follows:

2019 2018

€ thousand € thousand

Short-term benefits 6,658 6,259
Defined contribution benefits 58 43
Stock options®) 1,286 1,545
Total 8,002 7,847

O The value shown above also includes the liability relating to the cancellation of plans granted to outgoing directors.

At 31 December 2019, payables accrued in relation to directors amounted to €1,815 thousand.

In 2019, the members of the Board of Statutory Auditors carried out their audit duties at the Company and in some
of the companies included in the basis of consolidation. They received remuneration for these activities approved
by the relevant corporate bodies, as indicated in the report on remuneration pursuant to Article 123-ter of the
Consolidated Law on Finance (TUF) published together with the annual financial report, which amounts of €198
thousand, for activities carried out at the Company, and €49 thousand, for work carried out at subsidiaries, were
approved.
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44, Employees
All of the Company’s employees are based in Italy. The average number of staff in each category is shown below.

By category 2019 2018
Managers 146 129
White collar 479 382
Blue collar 121 124
Total 746 634

45, Publication of payments pursuant to Article 149-duodecies of the Issuers Regulation
EY S.p.A. has been engaged to audit the separate financial statements and the consolidated financial statements
of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. from 2019 to 2027.

The following table, pursuant to Article 149-duodecies of the Issuers Regulation, shows payments made for 2019
for external auditing activities and for non-audit-related services provided by companies from the EY S.p.A.
network. It should also be noted that these services are compatible with the provisions of Legislative Decree 39
of 27 January 2010 and of Regulation (EU) n. 537 of 16 April 2014.

Service provider Recipient Amounts recognised in 2019

€ thousand

Financial audit EY S.p.A. Parent Company-Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. 955
EY S.p.A. Subsidiaries 226

EY network Subsidiaries 558

Other services similar to financial auditing EY S.p.A. Parent Company-Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. 60
Other services EY network Parent Company-Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. 10
EY network Subsidiaries 32

Total 1,841

The ‘Services similar to auditing’ item includes the audit of the non-financial declaration, prepared pursuant to
Legislative Decree 254/16.

46. Off-balance sheet transactions

No off-balance sheet agreements, including between affiliates, as described in Article 2427, paragraph 1, n. 22-
ter or other regulations, were concluded during the year that could generate exposures or benefits for the
Company, where knowledge of same would be useful for assessing the Company’s financial position or operating
results.

47. Consolidated financial statements

Pursuant to Article 2427, para. 1, n. 22-quinquies, the Company, as a subsidiary, is part of the ‘larger’ group of
companies included in the consolidated financial statements of Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par
Actions, with its registered office at Rue des Bains, 3, Luxembourg; a copy of the relevant consolidated financial
statements may be obtained from this address.

48. Events taking place after the end of the period

Acquisitions and commercial agreements

Joint venture in Japan

On 14 February 2020 the Group entered into agreement to create a joint venture in Japan, CT Spirits Japan Ltd.,
with a local partner, expert in the food&beverage industry. The aim of the joint venture is to promote and develop
the Group’s portfolio in this market. The Group maintains the right to purchase the remaining 60% of the share
capital of the joint venture, starting from 2023.

Other significant events

Proposal to transfer the registered office of Davide Campari Milano S.p.A. to the Netherlands and
enhancement of current increased voting mechanism

On February 18, 2020 the Board of Directors of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. (the Company) resolved to submit
to the shareholders the proposal to transfer the Company’s registered office to the Netherlands, with simultaneous
transformation of the Company into a Naamloze Vennootschap (N.V.) governed by Dutch law with the company
name ‘Davide Campari-Milano N.V.’ (the Transaction).

The transaction is aimed at encouraging a capital structure more supportive of the Group’s long-term external
growth strategies and rewarding a shareholder base with a long-term investment horizon, in line with the Group’s
strategic guidance.
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Key elements of the transaction are as follows.

e The Transaction entails the transfer of the registered office to the Netherlands and the adoption of the company
form known as Naamloze Vennootschap (N.V.) under Dutch law, substantially equivalent to the company form
known as Societa per Azioni.

e In order to support the Group’s growth strategy through consolidation transactions in the global spirits sector,
the Transaction envisages enhancing the increased voting rights mechanism currently in force through the
adoption of a mechanism based on the assignment of special voting shares.

- Assignment of 2, 5 and 10 voting rights for each Ordinary Share which is held for 2, 5 or 10 years. The
status quo ante for shareholders already holding the increased voting benefit will be maintained through
the assignment of Special Voting Shares.

- Such additional voting rights are subject to the uninterrupted holding of Ordinary Shares. In case of
transfer of the Ordinary Shares to which the Special Voting Shares are connected, the benefit of the
increased voting shares will be lost.

e Shareholders who do not participate in the adoption of the resolution on the Transaction will be entitled to
exercise their withdrawal right.

e The Transaction is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, as the case may be) of a limited number of conditions
precedent, including the amount of cash to be paid to shareholders exercising their withdrawal right not
exceeding in aggregate the amount of Euro 150 million (calculated after taking into account the amounts
payable by the shareholders exercising their option and pre-emption rights pursuant to applicable laws and by
other third parties).

e Campari’s controlling shareholder Lagfin S.C.A., Société en Commandite par Actions (Lagfin), which today
owns 51% of Campari’s issued capital and 65.3% of the voting rights, has confirmed its long-term commitment
to the Group strategy and prospects and its support to the Transaction; commitment of Lagfin to acquire
Campari shares resulting from the exercise of the right of withdrawal (recesso) in the context of the offer and
sale process provided for under Italian law up to an aggregate amount of Euro 76.5 million.

e The Company’s Ordinary Shares will continue to be listed on the Italian Stock Exchange of Borsa ltaliana,
while the Special Voting Shares will not be tradable on the Italian Stock Exchange.

¢ No reorganization of the Group’s operational and managerial activities, which will continue to be led by the
Company on a continuous and uninterrupted basis. The Company will maintain its own legal status, without
any impact on its legal relationships, including relationships with its employees, which will continue to be
governed by Italian law.

e The tax residence will be maintained in Italy.

¢ No impact on the financial reporting. The financial statements will continue to be prepared in accordance with
IAS/IFRS.

It is envisaged that the Transaction will be consummated within the end of July 2020, subject to the satisfaction

(or the waiver, as the case may be) of the conditions precedent and the completion of all preliminary formalities

of the Transaction.

Further information on the Transaction will be made available by the Company through additional press releases

in accordance with the applicable provisions of law. All additional documents required by the applicable laws and

regulations in relation to the Transaction (including the Explanatory Report prepared by the Board of Directors,
the New Articles of Association and the Terms and Conditions for Special Voting Shares) will be made available
to the public within the terms provided by law.

Share buyback

On February 18, 2020 the Board of Directors approved the report to be presented to the Shareholders’ meeting
to authorize the purchase and/or the sale of own shares, mainly aimed at the replenishment of the portfolio of own
shares to serve the current and future stock option plans for the Group’s management, according to the limits and
procedures provided by the applicable laws and regulations. The authorization is requested until June 30th, 2021.
With regard to the execution of the buyback, compared to previous years, the Board of Directors has approved to
continue the buyback program in place but for an increased amount up to €350 million in the next twelve months.
The increase of the buyback serves the purpose of implementing the Company’s new policy of having a portfolio
of treasury shares sufficient to serve all outstanding stock options plans as opposed to the ones approaching the
vesting period only, in order to hedge the risk of the price increase of the shares underlying the options and, as a
result, contain the overall outlay to service the incentive plans. Additional details on the program will be
communicated before the commencement of the purchases through a press release in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations.
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49, Proposal for the appropriation of profit

The total amount of the dividend distributed and, consequently, the residual amount of the profits carried forward,
will vary according to the number of shares entitled, and these amounts will be defined when the dividend is
actually paid on the basis of the shares outstanding at the coupon detachment date (therefore excluding the
Company’s own shares in portfolio at that date).

In view of the above, it is proposed to:

- approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2019 and

- to allocate the profit for the year of €110,192,290.45 as follows:

(i) to distribute a dividend of €0.055 per ordinary share outstanding, except for own shares held by the
Company at the coupon detachment date (for information purposes, based on the 13,704,200 own shares
held on 31 December 2019, the total dividend is €63.1 million);

(ii) to carry forward the residual amount (for information purposes, amounting to €47.1 million on the basis of
the outstanding shares mentioned above);

- to pay the above dividend per share starting from 22 April 2020, with detachment of coupon 4 of 20 April 2020

(the date of entitlement to payment, pursuant to Article 83-terdecies of the Consolidated Finance Act (TUF),

being 21 April 2020).

Sesto San Giovanni (Ml), 18 February 2020
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Luca Garavoglia
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Certification of the consolidated financial statements

pursuant to article 81-ter of Consob regulation 11971 of 14 May 1999
and subsequent revisions and amendments

1. We, Robert Kunze-Concewitz, as managing director, and Paolo Marchesini, as managing director and the
director responsible for preparing the accounting documents of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A., hereby certify,
taking into account the provisions of paragraphs 3 and 4, TUF:

« the appropriateness, in relation to the nature of the business, and

* the effective application of the administrative and accounting procedures used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements for 2019.

2. We further certify that
2.1. The consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019:

a) were prepared in accordance with the applicable international accounting standards recognised in the
European Union pursuant to Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 19 July 2002;

b) correspond to the figures contained in the accounting records;

c¢) provide a true and fair view of the financial position of the issuer and the group of companies included
in the basis of consolidation.

2.2. The report on operations contains an accurate assessment of the company’s performance and operating
results, and on the position of the issuer and the group of companies included in the basis of consolidation,
together with a description of the main risks and uncertainties to which it is exposed.

Sesto San Giovanni (Ml), Tuesday 18 February 2020

Chief Executive Officer Chief Executive Officer

Robert Kunze-Concewitz and director responsible for preparing
the company’s accounting statements
Paolo Marchesini

This report has been translated into English from the Italian original solely for the convenience of international
readers.
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Certification of the separate financial statements

pursuant to article 81-bis of Legislative Decree 11971 of 14 May 1999
as subsequently amended and consolidated

1. We, Robert Kunze-Concewitz, as managing director, and Paolo Marchesini, as managing director and the
director responsible for preparing the accounting documents of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A., hereby certify,
taking into account the provisions of paragraphs 3 and 4, article 154-bis, of the TUF:

« the appropriateness, in relation to the nature of the business, and
» the effective application

of the administrative and accounting procedures used to prepare the annual financial statements for 2019.

2. We further certify that:
2.1. The annual financial statements to 31 December 2019:

a) were prepared in accordance with the applicable international accounting standards recognized in the
European Union pursuant to Regulation (EC) 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of
19 July 2002;

b) correspond to the figures contained in the accounting records;

c¢) provide a true and fair view of the issuer’s balance sheet, financial position and operating results.

2.2. The report on operations contains an accurate assessment of the company’s performance and operating
results, and on the position of the issuer, together with a description of the main risks and uncertainties to
which it is exposed.

Sesto San Giovanni (Ml), Tuesday, 18 February 2020

Managing Director Managing Director

Robert Kunze-Concewitz and Director responsible for preparing
the company’s accounting statements
Paolo Marchesini

This report has been translated into English from the Italian original solely for the convenience of international
readers.
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EY

Building a better
working world

Independent auditor’s report pursuant to article 14 of Legislative
Decree n. 39, dated 27 January 2010 and article 10 of EU Regulation
n. 537/2014

(Translation from the original Italian text)

To the Shareholders of
Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Campari Group (the Group), which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the consclidated
statement of income, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement

of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group as at December 31, 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union and with the regulations issued for implementing art. @ of Legislative Decree n. 38,
dated February 28, 2005.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consoiidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of Davide
Campari-Milano S.p.A. in accordance with the regulations and standards on ethics and independence
applicable to audits of financial statements under Italian Laws. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matters

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2018, were
audited by another auditor who expressed an unmoedified opinion on such financial statements on
March 21, 2019.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We identified the following key audit matters:
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Key Audit Matter

Audit Response

Valuation of Goodwill, Trademarks with indefinite useful life

As at December 31, 2019, goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful life, included in
the consolidated financial statement as
"Goodwill and trademarks", amounts to Euro
1.390,5 million and Eurc 1.028,5 million,
respectively.

The processes and the methodologies for the
evaluation and calculation of the recoverable
amount of each CGU and the trademarks, are
based on assumptions that imply directors'
judgment, with particular reference to the
expected cash flows, including in the 2020
budget and the strategic plan for 2021 - 2024,
prepared by the Group's companies and
approved by the Board of Directors of Davide
Campari-Milano 5.p.A., and from the period
beyond the five-year plans, assuming long-term
growth and discounting rates applied to future
cash flow forecasts.

Considering the significance of the amount in
the financial statements, the level of judgement
in the assessment of the methodologies and
assumptions adopited to determine the
recoverable amount of goodwill and trademarks
with indefinite useful, we assessed this matter
as a key audit matter.

Financial statements disclosures related to the
valuation of goodwill and trademark with
indefinite useful life are reported in the note 23.
“Impairment” which describes the composition
of the value as at December 31, 2019 as well as
the CGU allocation process and the
methodology applied to assess the recoverable
amount of assets, and in particular the valuation
methodology and assumptions used, and the
sensitivity analysis performed on the
recoverable amount upon the modification of
the main assumptions.

Our audit procedures related to the key audit

matter included, among others:

i. The analysis of the processes and key
controls implemented by the Company in
connection to the valuation of goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful life, as
identified in the impairment test procedure
approved by the Board of Directors;

ii. The assessment of the CGU allocation
process, the analysis of the adequacy of the
allocation to each CGU of assets and
liabilities;

iii. The analysis of the expert independent
report that supported the Group in the
impairment test;

iv. The analysis assessment of the quality of
the forecasts as compared to the historical
accuracy of the previous forecasts;

v. The assessment of the criteria used in the
determination of the long-term growth and
the discount rates.

Qur procedures were performed with the
support of our experts in valuation technigues,
that assessed the evaluation methodologies
utilized, the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation models, and performed a sensitivity
analysis on the key assumptions in order to
identify the changes in assumptions that could
hawe a significant impact on the valuation of the
recoverable amount.

Lastly, we assessed the adequacy of the
disclosure provided in the explanatory notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

Hey Audit Matter

Hey Audit Matter

2
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Revenue Recognition, including adjustments for discounts and deferred incentives

The Group recognize revenues when the
customer gains the control of goods according to
the contract terms applicable to specific
distribution channels, based on at the price
provided in the agreement, net of discounts or
estimate deferred incentives granted in line with
industry practice, which include an estimated
component at the end of the year.

The estimate of discounts and deferred
incentives due to customers in relation to sales
for the year, are recognized according to
customer agreements and historical experience.

Considering the high velume of sales
tramsactions, through different distribution
channels, the significance of the estimate of
discounts and deferred incentives, and the
complexity due to the number of variable terms
for different customers, we assessed this matter
as a key audit matter.

Financial statements disclosures related to
revenue recagnition, estimate of discounts and
deferred incentives are reported in the note 3.
"Summary of accounting principles”, in the
paragraph related to Revenues from sales and
SErvices.

Our audit procedures related to the key audit
matter included, among others:

id analysis of processes and key controls
implemented by the Group in connection
with the estimate of discounts and deferred
incentives,;

i} test of key controls specifically related to
the validation on contractual terms and
information related to sales;

iii} substantive testing on a sample of sales
transactions, estimate of discounts and
deferred incentives;

ivy comparison of prior year discount and
deferred incentives estimate against actual
results and analysis of variances;

v} substantive testing on a sample of sales
transactions recognized ad year end,
considering the different distribution
channels;

vi} comparison of the estimate with the
subsequent results;

vii) analysis of credit notes issued after the
year-end date.

Lastly, we assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures in the explanatory notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Hesponsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the

Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
Eurgpean Union and with the regulations issued for implementing art. 9 of Legislative Decree n. 38,
dated February 28, 2005, and, within the terms provided by the law, for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and,
when preparing the consolidated financial statements, for the appropriateness of the going concern
assumption, and for appropriate disclosure thereof. The Directors prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis unless they either intend to liquidate the Parent Company Davide
Campari-Milano S.p.A. or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The statutory audit committee ("Collegio Sindacale"} is responsible, within the terms provided by the
law, for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to cbtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
{ISA Ialia) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Internaticnal Standards on Auditing (I15A Italia), we have
exercised professional judgment and maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit. In
addition:
+* we have identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the consclidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, designed and performed audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and ebtained audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from frawd is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;
= we have obtained an understanding of internal contrel relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an cpinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control;
# we have evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors;
= we have concluded on the appropriateness of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to consider this matter in forming our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
CONnCern;
= we have evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the consclidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in @ manner that achieves fair
presentation;
= we have obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consclidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain sclely responsible for our audit opinion.

We have communicated with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as
required by ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal contrel that we identify
during our audit.
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We have provided those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the
ethical and independence reguirements applicable in ltaly, and we have communicated with them all
miatters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safequards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we have determined those
miatters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We have described these matters in our auditor's report.

Additional information pursuant to article 10 of EU Regulation n. 537/14

The shareholders of Davide Campari-Milano S.p A., in the general meeting held on December 19,
2017, engaged us to perform the audits of the consolidated financial statements for each of the years
ending December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2027.

We declare that we have not provided prohibited non-audit services, referred to article 5, par. 1, of EU
Regulation n. 537/2014, and that we have remained independent of the Group in conducting the
audit.

We confirm that the opinion on the consolidated financial statements included in this report is
consistent with the content of the additional report to the awdit committee (Collegio Sindacale) in
their capacity as audit committee, prepared pursuant to article 11 of the EU Regulation n. 537/2014.

Report on compliance with other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion pursuant to article 14, paragraph 2, subparagraph ), of Legislative
Decree n. 39 dated 27 January 2010 and of article 123-bis, paragraph 4, of
Legislative Decree n. 58, dated 24 February 1998

The Directors of Davide Campari-Milano 5.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the Report on
Operations and of the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure of Campari Group as
at December 31, 2019, including their consistency with the related consclidated financial statements
and their compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

We have performed the procedures required under audit standard SA Halia n. 720B, in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the Report on Operations and of specific information
included in the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure as provided for by article
123-bis, paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree n. 58, dated 24 February 1998, with the consolidated
financial statements of Campari Group as at December 31, 2019 and on their compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations, and in order to assess whether they contain material misstatements.

In our opinion, the Report on Operations and the above mentioned specific information included in
the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure are consistent with the consclidated
financial statements of Campari Group as at December 31, 2019 and comply with the applicable laws
and regulations.

With reference to the statement reguired by art. 14, paragraph 2, subparagraph &), of Legislative
Decree n. 39, dated 27 January 2010, based on our knowledge and understanding of the entity and
its envirenment obtained through cur audit, we have no matters to report.
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Statement pursuant to article 4 of Consob Regulation implementing Legislative
Decree n. 254, dated 20 December 2016

The Directors of Davide Campari-Milanc 5.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the nen-financial
information pursuant to Legislative Decree n. 254, dated 30 December 2015. We have verified that
non-financial information have been approved by Directors.

Pursuant to article 3, paragraph 10, of Legislative Decree n. 254, dated 30 December 2016, such
non-financial information are subject to a separate compliance report signed by us.

Milan, February 28, 2020

EY 5.p.A&.
Signed by: Alberto Romeo, Auditor

This report has been transiated info the English language solely for the convenience of
international readers.
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Independent auditor’s report pursuant to article 14 of Legislative
Decree n. 39, dated 27 January 2010 and article 10 of EU Regulation
n. 537/2014

(Translation from the original Italian text)

To the Shareholders of
Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Davide Campari-Milano S.p.A. (the Company), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the statement of income,
the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows

for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at December 31, 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union and with the regulations issued for implementing art. 9 of Legislative Decree n. 38,
dated February 28, 2005.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA italia). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the regulations and standards on ethics and independence applicable to audits of
financial statements under ltalian Laws. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matters

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018, were audited by
another auditor, who expressed an unmedified opinion on such financial statements on March 21,
2019.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinicn on these matters.

We identified the following key audit matters:
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Hey Audit Matier

Audit Response

Vvaluation of Goodwill, Trademarks with indefinite useful life and Investments in

subsidiaries

Az at December 31, 2019, goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful life, included in
the financial statement as “Goodwill and
trademarks”, amounts to Eurc 355, 3 million and
Eurg 239 4 million, respectively. Investments in
subsidiaries amount to Euro 2.028,2 million.

The processes and the methodologies for the
evaluation and calculation of the recoverable
amount of goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful life recorded by Davide
Campari-Milano 5.p.A. and by the other
Subsidiaries of the Group, relevant also for the
purpose of the valuation of the investments in
subsidiaries, are based on assumptions that
imply directors’ judgment, with particular
reference to the expected cash flows from the
cash generating units included in the 2020
budget and the strategic plan for the period
2021 - 2024, prepared by the Group's
companies and approved by the Board of
Directors of Davide Campari-Milano 5.p.A., and
from the period beyond the five-year plans,
assuming long-term growth and discounting
rates applied to future cash flow forecasts.

Considering the significance of the amount in
the financial statement, the level of judgement
in the assessment of the methodologies and
assumptions adopted to determine the
recoverable amount of goodwill and trademarks
with indefinite useful life, as well as the
investments in subsidiaries, we assessed this
matter as a key audit matter.

Financial statements disclosures related to this
matter are reported in the paragraph 18.
"Goodwill and Trademarks", in the paragraph
19. “Impairment” and in the paragraph 21.
“Inwestments in subsidiaries” with describes the
compasition of the value in the financial
statements as well as the methodologies and
the assumptions used, and the sensitivity
analyses performed on the recoverable amount
upon the modification of the main assumptions.

2

Our audit procedures related to the key audit

matter included, among others:

i. The analysis of the processes and key
controls implemented by the Company in
connection to the valuation of goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful life, as
identified in the impairment test procedure
approved by the Board of Directors;

ii. The assessment of the CGU allocation
process, the analysis of the adequacy of the
allocation to each CGU of assets and
liabilities;

iii. The analysis of the expert independent
report that supported the Group in the
impairment test;

iv. The variance analysis between the value of
the investing in subsidiaries and the
corresponding part of equity as result of the
consolidation report;

V. The correlation of the analysis described in
the previous paragraph with the work
carried out on the assessment of the
recoverability of the amounts of goodwill
and trademarks with indefinite life held by
the subsidiaries;

vi. The assessment of the quality of the
forecasts as compared to the historical
accuracy of the previous forecasts;

vii. The assessment of the criteria used in the
determination of the long-term growth and
the discount rates;

Our procedures were performed with the
support of our experts in valuation technigues,
that assessed the evaluation methodologies
utilized, the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation models, and performed a sensitivity
analysis on the key assumptions in order to
identify the change in assumpticns that could
have a significant impact on the valuation of the
recoverable amount.
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Lastly, we assessed the adequacy of the
disclosure provided in the explanatory notes to
financial statements.

Hey Audit Matter

Audit Response

Revenue Recognition, including adjustments for discounts and deferred incentives

The Company recognizes revenues when the
customer gains the control of goods according to
the contract terms applicable to specific
distribution channels, based on the price
provided in the agreement net of discounts or
estimate deferred incentives granted in line with
industry practice, which include an estimated
component at the end of the year.

The estimate of discounts and deferred
incentives due to customers in relation to sales
for the year, are recognized according to
customer agreements and historical experience.

Considering the high volume of sales
transactions, through different distribution
channels, the significance of the estimate of
discounts and deferred incentives, and the
complexity due to the number of variable terms
for different customers, we assessed this matier
as a key audit matter.

Financial statements disclosures related to
revenue recagnition, estimate of discounts and
deferred incentives are reported in the paragraph
3. "Summary of accounting principles”, in the
paragraph related to Revenues from sales and
SErvices.

Our audit procedures related to the key audit
matter included, among others:

iy analysis of processes and key controls
implemented by the Company in connection
with the estimate of discounts and deferred
incentives;

i} test of key controls specifically related to
the validation on contractual terms and
information related to sales;

iii} substantive testing on a sample of zales
transactions, estimate of discounts and
deferred incentives;

iv) comparison of prior year discount and
deferred incentives estimate against actual
resulis and analysis of variances;

v) substantive testing on a sample of sales
transactions recognized ad year end,
considering the different distribution
channels;

vi) comparison of the estimates with the
subseguent results;

viiy analysis of credit notes issued after the
year-end date.

Lastly, we assessed the adeguacy of the
disclosures in the explanatory notes to the
fimancial statements regarding the recognition
of revenues from sales and services.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial

Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union and with the regulations issued for implementing art. 9 of Legislative Decree n. 38, dated
February 28, 2005, and, within the terms provided by the law, for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to emable the preparation of financial staterments that are free from material

3
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misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and,
when preparing the financial statements, for the appropriatensss of the going concern assumption,
and for appropriate disclosure thereof. The Directors prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The statutory audit commitiee ("Collegio Sindacale") is responsible, within the terms provided by the
law, for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guaranteze
that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (154 ltalia) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (15A ltalia), we have
exercised professional judgment and maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit. In
addition:
= we have identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, designed and performed audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtained audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;
= we have obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control;
= we have evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors;
= we have concluded on the appropriateness of Directors' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
fo draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to consider this matter in forming our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going
CONCETT;
+ we have evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We have communicated with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as
required by ISA talia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

4
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We hawve provided those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the
ethical and independence requirements applicable in ltaly, and we have communicated with them all
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we have determined those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We have described these matters in our auditor's report.

Additional information pursuant to article 10 of EU Regulation n. 537/14

The shareholders of Davide Campari-Milano S.p_A., in the general meeting held on December 19,

2017, engaged us to perform the audits of the financial statements for each of the years ending
December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2027.

We declare that we have not provided prohibited non-audit services, referred to article 5, par. 1, of EU
Regulation n. 537/2014, and that we have remained independent of the Company in conducting the
audit.

We confirm that the opinion on the financial statements included in this report is consistent with the
content of the additional report to the audit commities (Collegio Sindacale) in their capacity as audit
committee, prepared pursuant to article 11 of the EU Regulation n. 537/2014,

Report on compliance with other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion pursuant te article 14, paragraph 2, subparagraph e), of Legislative
Decree n. 39 dated 27 January 2010 and of article 123-bis, paragraph 4, of
Legisiative Decree n. 58, dated 24 February 1998

The Directors of Davide Campari-Milano S_p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the Report on
Operations and of the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure of Davide Campari-
Milano S p A as at December 31, 2019, including their consistency with the related financial
statements and their compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

We have performed the procedures required under audit standard SA Italia n. 7208, in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the Report on Operations and of specific information
included in the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure as provided for by article
123-bis, paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree n. 58, dated 24 February 1998, with the financial
statements of Davide Campari-Milane S p A, as at December 31, 2019 and on their compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations, and in order to assess whether they contain material
misstatements.

In owr opinion, the Report on Operations and the above mentioned specific information included in
the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure are consistent with the financial
statements of Davide Campari-Milanc S.p.A. as at December 31, 2019 and comply with the applicable
laws and regulations.
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With reference to the statement reguired by art. 14, paragraph 2, subparagraph e), of Legislative
Decree n. 39, dated 27 January 2010, based on our knowledge and understanding of the entity and
its environment obtained through our audit, we have no matters to report.

Milan, February 258, 2020

EY 5.pA
Signed by: Alberto Romego, Auditor

This report has been fransiated into the English language solely for the convenience of
international readers.

G
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The Board of Statutory Auditors” Feport to the Shareholders’ Meeting

pursuant to art. 153 of Lemslative Decree 58/1998 and art. 2429, para. 2 of the Italian Civil Code

Diear Sharsholders,

The Shareholders” Meeting of 16 Apnl 2019 appomted the new Board of Statutory Auditors consistmg of
Statutory Auditors Ines Gandini (Chairman), Fabio Facching and Chiara Lazzarim; Ms Lazzarini resigned on
5 December 2019 by means of a letter sent to the Chaimman of the Board of Directors and the Chairman of the
Board of Statutory Auditors, and was replaced by Piera Tula, who had already been appointed as Altemnate
Anditer during the aforementioned Shareholders” Meeting from the same list as Ms Lazzanni. Ms Tula will
remain in the office until the term of the Board of Statutery Auditors expires pursuant te the terms of the
Articles of Association of Davide Campar Milano 5 p A (heremafter “DCM™ or the “Company™).

Dhiring the year ended 31 December 2019, the DCM Board of Statutory Auditors performed the supervisory
activifies prescribed by law. In particular, pursuant to the combined provisions of art. 149, para. 1 of Legislative
Decree no. 58 of 24 Febmary 1998 (the Consolidated Law on Finance; heremafter the “TUF™) and art 19,
para. 1 of Legislative Decree no. 39 of 27 January 2010 (hereinafter “Decree 39/20107), the Board of Statutory
Anditors momtored:

- compliance with the law and the Arficles of Association, as well as with the principles of proper
administration when performing corporate activities:

- the adequacy of the Company’s organisational stucture, to the extent of its competence;

- the implementation methods of the corporate governance rules set out in the Code of Corporate Govemance
for Listed Companies (hereinafter the “CAD™), to which DCM adheres;

- the adequacy of the orders given by the Company to its subsidiaries to enable them to comply with statutory
disclosure requirements;

- the financial reporting process and the adequacy of the Company’s accounting admimistration system, as
well as how reliable it 15 at properly representing operational events:

- the external audit of the annual financial statements and conselidated accounts, as well as the independence
of the external aunditor EY S.p A (hereinafter “EY™);

- the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control and nsk management system

While performing its supervisory duties, the Board of Statutory Auditors took mto account the content of
Eegulation (E1T) No. 537 of 16 Apnl 2014 (hereinafter “EU Regulation 337/20147), the principles of conduct
of the Board of Statutory Auditors for listed companies as recommended by the Consiglio Nazionale dei
Dottore Commercialisii e degli Esperti Contabili (Ttalian national accountancy bedy), CONSOB's provisions
on corporate confrols and the CAD's conduct suidelines.

Thiz Feport also recognizses the supervisory activities performed in 2019 in accordance with the requirements
of CONSO0B Communication DEM/1023364 of 6 April 2001, as subsequently amended and supplemented.

The Board of Statutory Auditors uncovered ne crtical 1ssues when performing the appropriate controls and
checks on the aforementioned activities and areas.

In particular, the Board of Statutory Auditors reports that:
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1. 1t has monitored compliance with the law and the Arficles of Association, and has no comments to make in
that regard;

2. it has received from the Directors, on a quarterly basis, including via attendance of meetings of DCM's
Board of Directors and Control and Fisks Commmuttes, adequate information about the activities carmed out,
the general operating performance and outlook, and the transacfions with the greatest impact on the
Company’s results, assets and habilities and cash flows in 2019, including where such transactions were
carried out via direct or indirect subsidiaries, pursuant to art. 150, para. 1 of the TUF. In this regard, the
Board of Statutory Auditors has verified that the decisions and subsequent implemented actions comply
with the law, the Arficles of Association and the principles of proper admunistration and may provide
reasonable assurance that the operations resolved upon are not manifestly nsky or imprudent, susceptible
to a conflict of interests, in conirast to shareholder resolutions or a threat fo the infegnity of the Conpany’s
assets. The charactenistics of the transactions with the greatest impact on the Company s results, assets and
liabilities and cash flows are described in the notes to Gruppe Campari’s consolidated financial statements
and to DCM's separate financial statements, as well as in the 2019 Eeport on Operations;

3. it did not identify during the course of the vear any atypical and’or unusual transactions with third parties
or related parties (including Gruppo Campan companies), nor did it receive any information thereon from
the Board of Directors, the independent auditors or the director responsible for the infernal control and nisk
management system;

4. information regarding the main intra-group and related-party transactions cammied out in 2019, as well as a
description of their characteristics and related economic effects, is properly reported in the notes to Gruppo
Campan’s consolidated financial statements and to DCWMs separate financial statements {under “Related
Parties™), as well as i the 2019 Beport on Operations. This note should be referred to m order to identify
the type of ransactions in question and their effects on the results, assets and liabilities and cash flows. It
15 acknowledged that the Company has endowed itself with suitable Felated Party Procedures, in
compliance with the provisions of art. 2391 bis of the Ttalian Civil Code and of CONSO0EB Eegulation 17221
of 12 March 2010, which are summarised in the 2019 Eeport on Corporate Govemance and Ohwnership
Structure. Pursuant to art. 4 of the aforementioned CONS0B Fegulation, the Board of Stautory Anditors
verified that the Procedures complied with said Regnlation, and checked that they were being followed. All
the related-party transactions mentioned in the notes to Gruppo Campari”s conselidated financial statements
and to DCW s 2019 separate financial statements were part of crdinary operations and camied out under
market condiions in the interests of the Company and/or the Group. The Board of Statutory Aunditors was
periodically kept up to date;

5. 1t has monitored, to the extent of its competence, the adeguacy of the Company’s organisational structure
{and more generally that of Gruppe Campan as a whole) and how it has changed, gathering information
from heads of the relevant departments as well as meetings with representatives from the external auditor
EY and with the Board of Statutory Auditors of Italian subsidiary Campan Intemational Srl for the
purpose of exchanging relevant data and information, from which no critical issues emerged. Taking into
account the information obtained, the Board of Statutory Auditors believes that activities were conducted

in compliance with the principles of correct adminisiration, and that the organisational struchre, intemal
control system and accounting administration system are fully adequate for corporate requirements.

6. with regard to relations with the external auditor EY, the Beard of Statutory Auditors, inits capacity as the
Internal Control and Andit Committee, reports that:
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(1) on Febmary 28, the external auditor EY issued ungqualified reports pursuant to articles 14 and 16 of
Legislative Decree 39/2010 and art. 10 of EU Fegulation 53772014, stating that separate finamcial
statements of DCM and the consolidated financial statements of Gruppe Campan for the year ended 31
December 2019 conform to the Infernational Financial Reporfing Standards adopted by the European Union
and to the measures 1ssued to mplement art. 9 of Legislative Degree no. 38 of 2005, are presented clearly
and provide a true and fair picture of the results, assets and liabiliies and cash flows of the Company and
the Group. In these reports, the external aunditor also confirms that the Eeport on Operations and the
information contained in the Report on Corporate Govemance and Owmership Structure pursuant to art.
123-bis, para. 4 of the TUF is consistent with DCM's financial statements and the consclidated financial
statements of the Group as at 31 December 2019;

(1) on the same date, EY also released the Additional Feport to the Internal Control and Audit Conmmittee
pursuant fo art. 11 of EU Fegulation 537/2014 which, m presenting the results of the external andit,
1dentifies no material shorifalls in the financial reporting mternal contrel system nor in the Company’s
accounting system and includes the declaration of ndependence mentioned m art. §, para. 2, lett. a) of the
aforementioned Fegulation The Board of Statutory Auditors shall inform the Company’s Boeard of
Directors of the outcome of the external audit, forwarding for this purpose the Additional Feport as
provided for by art. 19 para. 1 lett. a) of Le@slafive Decree no. 39/20110;

(11} alse, on the same date, EY released the Report on the Consclidated Non-Financial Declaration pursuant
to art. 3 of Legislative Decree no. 254 of 30 December 2016 and art. 5 of CONSOB Regulation no. 20267
of 18 Janwary 2012, which confirms that, based on the work camed ont, thete 13 no reason to believe that
Gruppoe Camparn’s conselidated non-financial declaration pertaiming to the year ended 31 December 2015
was not drafted, in all sigificant aspects, m compliance with the requirements of arficles 3 and 4 of the
aforementioned Legislative Decree;

(1) 1t has momtored the independence of the external anditor and received from EY specific wnitten
confimuation of such status, as required by arficles 10, para. 2, lett. £) and 11, para. 2, leit. a) of EU
Fegulation 337/2014. In this regard, the Board of Statutory Auditors alse monitored the nature and scale of
the vanous services other than the pnmary extenal audit engagement provided to the Company and other
Gruppe Campan companies by EY and other enfines belonging to its network, the fees for which are
indicated in the notes to DCMs separate financial statements pursuant to art. 149-duodecies of the Issuers’
Fegulation. The awarding of these engagements was approved in advance by the Board of Statutory
Anditors in accordance with the “Procedure for awarding engagements other than the external audit fo
Gruppe Campari s external auditor” and, based on the checks carmied out, the Board of Statutory Aunditors
believes there are no cntical 1ssues regarding the independence of the external auditor EY;

() 1t has, pursuant te art. 150, para. 3 of the TUF, held regular meetings with semor figures from the
external auditer. dunng which appropnate mformation was exchanged and nothing emerged that warmants
reporfing here. The Board of Statutory Auditors has analysed the activity carmed out by the external anditor,
particularly the methodology, the audit approach used for the different major parts of the finamcial
staternents and the work schedule, and shared with the external auditor the issues relating to corporate risks,
thereby enabling it to assess the safeguards put in place by the Company and the adeguacy of what the
auditor has planned. The Board of Statutory Auditors has also been informed about EY s checks that the
accounts are being properly kept and that operating events are being propetly logged in the accounting
records. There were no observations in this regard;
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7. 1t has monitored the financial reporting process and the adequacy of the Company’s accounting
administration system, as well as how reliable it is at properly representing operational events, including
by gathenng information from the Company’s management, examining Company documents and the
results of the work conducted by the external auditor, and examining the reports drawn up the Head of
Internal Audit, including information on the outcome of any remedial actions wndertaken following the
audit activity, and that it has no observations to make in this regard. The Board of Statutory Auditors has
acknowledged the declarations made by DCM’'s Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer about the
approprateness, in relation to the nature of the business, and the effective application of administrative and
accounting procedures for the preparation of the separate financial statements and Gruppo Campari’s
consolidated financial statements during 2019.

The Board of Statutory Auditors has checked that the 2019 impairment test procedure conforms to the
recommendations in the joint Bank of Italy - CONSOB - ISVAP document no. 4 of 3 March 2010 and the
guidelines provided by CONSO0B in Commmmication no. 7780 of 28 Jamuary 2016, intended to ensure the
transparency of methods adopted by listed companmies when performing impairment tests of mtangible
assets with indefinite life. To this end, the impairment test procedures were cared out in compliance with
IAS 36, discussed in a dedicated meeting of the Board of Statutory Auditors and expressly approved by the
Board of Directors in 2 meeting prior to the one that approved the 2019 annual financial reports. See
“Impairment™ in Gruppo Campari’s consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019 and DCM s
separate financial statements.

With regard to the provisions of art. 15, para. 1, lett. ¢}, point it) of the CONSOB Markets Fegulation
(conditions for the listing of shares of parent companies that control companies mcorporated under and
regulated by the law of couniries not in the European Undon), the Board of Statutory Auditors, also taking
into account mformation obtained from the external auditor and the Company’s management, found no
evidence that the accounting administration system used by the subsidiaries was mmable to propetly provide
the management and anditor of the parent company with the information about results, assets and liabilities
and cash flows needed to prepare the consolidated financial statements;

8. it has momtored the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control and nsk management system,

primarily by holding regular meetings with the Company’s Head of Internal Audit and managers from that
department. and by attending meetings of the Confrol and Eisks Committee where the regular audit reports
were analysed and the policies relating to Gruppo Campan’s sustamability and privacy and data secunty
compliance were examined. The Board of Statutory Auditors then monitored the statns of the Audit
Schedule, obtaiming complete information on the outcome of the checks camied cut and the schedule and
status of the related follow-up activities, determuning that there was ne significant information that
warranted menfioning m this Report, notwithstinding ongoing momitoring of compliance with the
timeframes established for implementing the remedial actions identified following the checks.
The Beard of Statatory Auditors has acknowledged the overall assessment of the internal control and nsk
management system given by the Control and Risks Committee, stating that: “accounfing principles when
preparing the consolidated financial siatements were used correcily and consistenily, in view of the size
and structure of the Group the Company ‘s intamal control system is adequate for the purpose of idsntifving,
measuring and managing the main corporate risks, and the Company and its strategic subsidiaries have
an adequate organisaiional, administrative and general accounting system, paviicularly in relation fo the
internal conirol and risk management system ™.

DCM's infernal control and risk management system also includes the Organisation and Management
Model (Modello Organizzative & Gestionale) aimed at preventing offences that may incur the hability of
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the Company pursuant to Lemslative Decree no. 231/2001. The Board of Statutory Aunditors acknowledges
that the Supervisory Body (Organisme di 1igilanza), which momters the fimetioning and updatng of the
Model and compliance therewith, consists of two Statutory Anditors from the Company and one Statutory
Anditor from the Italian subsidiary Campan International S.rl., and that this composition contributed to a
contimpal and mmediate mutial exchange of information regarding the orgamisational and procedural
activities implemented by the Company during 2019, In particular, the Board of Statutory Aunditors has
verified the fimctioning and effectiveness of the aforementioned Model, including in relation to its
adequacy and updating, and foumd nothing that warranted mentioning in this Feport.

In light of the information received from the aforementioned bodies and teams at the Company, and in the
absence of any cnifical 1ssues bemng uncovered, we have reason to believe that the internal conirol and nsk
management system is adequate and effective;

9. it has ascertained that the orders given by DCM to its subsidiaries pursuant to art. 114, para. 2 of the TUF
are sufficient to fulfil the disclosure requirements pursuant to said article. In this regard. it should be noted
that the Company has adopted a dedicated procedure for the internal management and processing of
privileged information that can be viewed on its website;

10. it has, since the date of its inception dunng the year, issued the following opimons:

- a favourable opimon, pursuant to art. 2389, para_ 3 of the Italian Civil Code, on the Appointments and
Eemunerations Committee’s proposals to define the remmmeration of executive directors, mcluding the
chief executive officers;

- a favourable opimion, pursuant to art. 154-bis, para. | of the TUF and art. 21 of the Articles of Association,
on the decision to re-appoint the Chief Financial Officer;

- a favourable opinion. pursuant o art. 7, para. 1 of the CAD, on the re-appointment of the Head of Internal
Andit;

- a favourable opimon on the Appomtment and Fenmmeration Committes’s proposals regarding the setting
of 2019 targets for the short-term meentive (STI) plans of executive directors, ncluding the chief executive
officers.

11. it is not aware of any facts or statements that should be reported to the Shareholders’ Meeting. During the
activity performed from its inception until the date of this Feport, the Board of Statutory Auditors
uncovered no omissions, non-conformities or nregularities, no complaints were made by shareholders
pursuant to art. 2402, para. 3 of the Italian Civil Code, and no petitions of any kind were submitted;

12, in 2019, since its incephion, it held seven meetings, all of which were attended by the Head of Intemal
Andit, and it also had a presence at all six meetings of the Board of Directors and all five meetings of the
Control and Risks Commuttes;

13, it momtored how the CAD, to which the Company adheres, is actually being mplemented, checking that
DCM's corporate govemance system conforms to the recommendations set out in the CAD. Detailed
information about the corporate governance system adopted by DCM is contained in the 2019 Feport on
Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure approved by the Board of Directors on 18 February 2020,
Said Report comfains a detailed description of how the Company is adhenng to the CADs
recommendations, including precise reasons in any cases where said recommendations are not being
applied, either in full or in part. During the first Board of Directors” meeting held after its appointment by
the Shareholders” Meeting on 16 Apnl 2019, the Board of Statutery Auditors was able to check, pursuant
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to Ponciple 3, para. 5 of the CAD), that the ascertainment procedures and criteria adopted by the Board of
Directors to evaluate the independence of its non-executive members were being correctly applied. Duning
the first meeting following its appointment on the same date, the Board of Statutory Auditors also checked
that its own members complied with the professionalism independence, integrity and competence criteria.
With regard to “self-evaluation”, the Board of Statutory Auditors has verified most recently in December
when the Alternate Auditor replaced the outgoing Statutory Aunditor, that its members possess the
requirements set out mn the TUF and the CATY, and has sent the results of flus venfication to the Board of
Directors, which has in tun included them in the Feport on Corporate Governance and Ownership
Structure;

14. it received in good time from the Board of Directors DCM's separate finaneial statements and Gruppo
Campan’s consolidated financial statements, together with the 2019 Feport on Operations.

Following the supervisory activity performed as illustrated above, and taking into account the outcome of
the specific work camed out by the external anditor EY in relation to suditing the accounts and venifying
the reliability of the financial statements, the Board of Statutery Auditors unanimously expresses a
favourable opimion on the approval of DCM's separate financial statements at 31 December 2019 and on
the Board of Directors” draft resolution regarding the appropriation of income.

Milan, 28 February 202(
For the Board of Stafutory Auditors
The Chairman
Ines Gandini
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